
CABINET
AGENDA

Wednesday, 16 October 2019

The Jeffrey Room, The Guildhall, St. Giles 
Square, Northampton, NN1 1DE

6:00 pm

Members of the Cabinet:

Councillor: Jonathan Nunn (Leader of the Council)

Councillor: Phil Larratt (Deputy Leader)

Councillors: Mike Hallam, Tim Hadland, Stephen Hibbert, Brandon Eldred, Anna King 
and James Hill. 

Chief Executive George Candler

If you have any enquiries about this agenda please contact 
democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk or 01604 837722 

mailto:democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk


PORTFOLIOS OF CABINET MEMBERS

CABINET MEMBER TITLE

Councillor J Nunn Leader

Councillor P Larratt Deputy Leader
 

Councillor M Hallam Environment

Councillor B Eldred Finance

Councillor T Hadland Regeneration and Enterprise 

Councillor S Hibbert Housing and Wellbeing

Councillor A King Community Engagement and Safety

Councillor J Hill Planning

SPEAKING AT CABINET MEETINGS
Persons (other than Members) wishing to address Cabinet must register their intention to do so by 12 noon on the day of 
the meeting and may speak on any item on that meeting’s agenda.

Registration can be by:

Telephone: (01604) 837722
(Fax 01604 837057)

In writing: Democratic and Member Services Manager
The Guildhall, St Giles Square, Northampton NN1 1DE
For the attention of the Democratic Services Officer

By e-mail to democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk

Only thirty minutes in total will be allowed for addresses, so that if speakers each take three minutes no more than ten 
speakers will be heard.  Each speaker will be allowed to speak for a maximum of three minutes at each meeting.  Speakers 
will normally be heard in the order in which they registered to speak.  However, the Chair of Cabinet may decide to depart 
from that order in the interest of hearing a greater diversity of views on an item, or hearing views on a greater number of 
items.  The Chair of Cabinet may also decide to allow a greater number of addresses and a greater time slot subject still to 
the maximum three minutes per address for such addresses for items of special public interest.

Members who wish to address Cabinet shall notify the Chair prior to the commencement of the meeting and may speak on 
any item on that meeting’s agenda.  A maximum of thirty minutes in total will be allowed for addresses by Members unless 
the Chair exercises discretion to allow longer.  The time these addresses take will not count towards the thirty minute period 
referred to above so as to prejudice any other persons who have registered their wish to speak.

KEY DECISIONS
  denotes the issue is a ‘Key’ decision: 

 Any decision in relation to the Executive function* which results in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the 
making of saving which are significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 
decision relates. For these purpose the minimum financial threshold will be £250,000;  

 Where decisions are not likely to involve significant expenditure or savings but nevertheless are likely to be significant 
in terms of their effects on communities in two or more wards or electoral divisions; and

 For the purpose of interpretation a decision, which is ancillary or incidental to a Key decision, which had been 
previously taken by or on behalf of the Council shall not of itself be further deemed to be significant for the purpose of 
the definition.

mailto:democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk


NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET

Your attendance is requested at a meeting to be held:
in The Jeffrey Room, The Guildhall, St. Giles Square, Northampton, NN1 

1DE
on Wednesday, 16 October 2019

at 6:00 pm.
George Candler
Chief Executive 

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES  

2. MINUTES  

3. INTENTION TO HOLD PART OF THE MEETING IN PRIVATE IF NECESSARY  

4. DEPUTATIONS/PUBLIC ADDRESSES  

5. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

6. ISSUES ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES  

7. REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA) POLICY 
UPDATE  

   (Copy herewith) 

8. REVIEW OF PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 2017  

   (Copy herewith)
 

9. PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER - JEYES JETTY  
(Copy herewith)

 

10. DRAFT NORTHAMPTONSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE AND SEXUAL VIOLENCE 
STRATEGY 2019-2022  

  (Copy herewith)
 

11. MUSEUM POLICY DOCUMENTS  
  (Copy herewith)

 



12. TOWN CENTRE MASTERPLAN  

   (Copy herewith)
 

13. PROPOSED DESIGNATION OF AN ADDITIONAL HMO LICENSING SCHEME  

   (Copy herewith)
 

14. BOROUGHWIDE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION FOR HOUSES IN MULTIPLE 
OCCUPANCY  

   (Copy herewith)
 

15. LONG LEASE OF PUBLIC OPEN SPACE AT STONE CIRCLE ROAD  
 (Copy herewith)

 

16. SIXFIELDS - ENFORCEMENT STRATEGY - UPDATE  
(Copy herewith)

 

17. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS  
THE CHAIR TO MOVE:
“THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM THE REMAINDER OF THE 
MEETING ON THE GROUNDS THAT THERE IS LIKELY TO BE DISCLOSURE TO 
THEM OF SUCH CATEGORIES OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED BY 
SECTION 100(1) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS LISTED AGAINST 
SUCH ITEMS OF BUSINESS BY REFERENCE TO THE APPROPRIATE PARAGRAPH 
OF SCHEDULE 12A TO SUCH ACT.” 



1
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 11 September 2019

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

Wednesday, 11 September 2019

PRESENT: Councillor Nunn (Chair); Councillor Larratt (Deputy Chair); Councillors 
Hadland, Hallam, J Hill, Hibbert and King

APOLOGIES: Councillor Eldred

1. APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Eldred. 

2. MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 21 August 2019 were agreed and signed by the Leader. 

3. INTENTION TO HOLD PART OF THE MEETING IN PRIVATE IF NECESSARY
The Leader explained that Item 14 (Investment Acquisition Opportunity) had been exempted 
under schedule 12A, Part 3, (1) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

4. DEPUTATIONS/PUBLIC ADDRESSES
There were none. 

5. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor King declared an interest in Item 11 – Update on the Grant of Property Leases 
and Management Agreements to Northampton Leisure Trust (Unity Leisure) as a member of 
the board. 

6. ISSUES ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

7. RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  -   
HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPERS

Councillor Lane as chair of Overview and Scrutiny presented the report and expressed 
thanks to Councillor Russell as chair of the Scrutiny Panel, Councillor King, and Tracy Tiff 
for her excellent report.  He particularly highlighted the recommendations for increasing bed 
space for homeless women (2.1.2), providing solutions for those not eligible for benefits 
(2.1.3), sharing the report with others in the unitary area (2.1.8) and increasing social media 
presence to counter the perception that the council does nothing about homelessness 
(2.1.6).

Councillor Russell recommended the Housing First model (2.1.1) and highlighted the 
importance of developing and strengthening relationships (2.1.5).  In relation to 2.1.7 a 
scheme had been set up in Cambridge to encourage giving to a fund by contactless card 
rather than giving directly to people on the streets. Updating the recruitment policy to 
interview those with experience of rough sleeping (2.1.9) would also be a positive step. 

Councillor Birch as a member of the Scrutiny Panel was concerned that interim action was 
needed with the onset of colder weather, since most of the recommendations addressed 
longer term issues.  The Leader asked how participation could be encouraged by those who 
choose not to engage with services provided.  Councillor Birch considered that recruiting ex-
homeless people to explain how they got off the streets could be helpful.

1

Agenda Item 2



2
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 11 September 2019

Councillor Stone welcomed the recommendations.  She considered that the tie-in with 
mental health services needed to be improved, more and better quality temporary 
accommodation was required, serious case reviews needed to be implemented for each 
early death so that lessons were learned, and sexual assault needed to be taken more 
seriously.

Councillor Hibbert thanked the task panel for their presentation and work.  He noted that a 
single homelessness forum was being developed, the rough sleeper strategy was being 
reviewed, a winter shelter was being considered and housing stock was being built up.  He 
also pointed out that serious case reviews were led by NCC.

The Head of Housing and Wellbeing stated that there had previously been tensions between 
organisations, but partnerships were now stronger.  Government funding had resulted in 
additional posts to boost the work on rough sleeping.  Housing First provided a pathway to 
help those not able to access services by the normal route and funding had contributed to 
that.  He also pointed out that not everyone sleeping in a tent was homeless; the situation 
was complex.  

Councillor King reported that Navigators were available at the One Stop Shop.  16 Days of 
Activism in November would focus on domestic abuse.  She stated that she would report 
back on recommendation 2.1.7 (alternative giving scheme).

Councillor Russell queried whether part of the new funding would support people with 
tenancies, since this would reduce vulnerability by enabling them to develop life skills and 
resources.  The Head of Housing and Wellbeing stated that a mental health outreach worker 
was in post for a year and two people had been funded via NPH and NASH to provide 
tenancy support.  This enabled support to be provided to those who would not otherwise 
receive it.

RESOLVED:

Cabinet noted the report and recommendations. 

8. RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  -   
IMPACT OF THE MOVE OF THE UNIVERSITY

Councillor Lane as chair of Overview and Scrutiny outlined the report and thanked 
Councillor Walker (chair of the Scrutiny Panel), members of the panel and Tracy Tiff for their 
help.  The panel had been set up as a result of anti-social behaviour following the University 
move.  The recommendations were straightforward and required NBC to write to the 
University.

Councillor Hadland agreed that there needed to be engagement with the University.  He was 
unsure whether the roads mentioned in recommendation 2.1.3 were adopted highway, 
which could impact implementation.

Councillor King noted that the University had used a unit in Market Walk to showcase their 
activities.

RESOLVED

Cabinet noted the report and recommendations. 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  - 
EVALUATION OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY REPORTS

2



3
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 11 September 2019

Councillor Lane as chair of Overview and Scrutiny outlined the report and noted that NBC 
had carried out the overview and scrutiny function well.  Most recommendations had 
become policy, and one of the reports had been shortlisted for a good scrutiny award by the 
Centre for Public Scrutiny. Call ins were very rare and had been dealt with well.  More detail 
would be provided in the annual report to Council next week.  Particular thanks were 
expressed to Tracy Tiff for her input.

Councillor Larratt stated that the value of scrutiny was well-recognised.  It worked well and 
delivered for the people of Northampton.  It was important that there was a focus on scrutiny 
for the new authority.  Councillor Lane asked that the report and its recommendations be 
shared with colleagues in other authorities.

RESOLVED:

Cabinet noted the report and recommendations. 

10. FINANCE MONITORING - PERIOD 4
In the absence of Councillor Eldred, the Chief Finance Officer outlined the report and noted 
that the forecast overspend for the general fund revenue budget was £0.743m, which was a 
slight improvement from the previous figure of £0.768m.  Pressure had resulted from the 
Government’s change to DWP guidance, a reduction in the value of recycling, and higher 
cost of temporary accommodation.  He stated that front line services would not be 
compromised and any underfunding would be met from reserves.

Councillor B Markham considered that the report would have been more helpful in tabular 
rather than narrative form.  Councillor Stone agreed and also expressed concern at 
underspending on staff costs.  The Chief Finance Officer pointed out that this was not 
intended to be a cost saving measure and there was active recruitment to vacant posts.  
Councillor Stone queried how benefits overpayments occurred.  The Chief Finance Officer 
explained that although benefits payments were regularly reviewed, overpayments could 
occur, for example, if there was a delay in advising of changed circumstances.  In response 
to a query about the HRA, the Chief Finance Officer pointed out that the funds were 
available so that houses could be purchased if the opportunity arose.

The Chief Finance Officer stated that there could be costs associated with changing the 
format of the report.  The Leader advised that the options would be considered and reported 
back.

RESOLVED:

2.1 Cabinet noted the contents of the report and noted that future reports will set out the 
actions being taken by Corporate Management Board (CMB) to address issues 
arising.

2.2 Cabinet noted the amendments to the capital programme as set out at paragraph 
3.5.1.

2.3 Cabinet approved the draft Medium Term Financial Strategy as set out at appendix 
1, and adopted the strategic principles therein.

 

11. CORPORATE PERFORMANCE.  ALL MEASURES AND OUTTURN REPORT 
QUARTER 1 - 1 APRIL 2019 - 30 JUNE 2019

Councillor Larratt as the relevant Cabinet Member referred to the revised report circulated at the 
meeting.  This showed a good outcome for the quarter in question; for example, BV012V staff 3



4
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 11 September 2019

sickness had significantly improved.  The red issues were continuing to be addressed.

Councillor Beardsworth noted that the report was useful.  She queried whether EC09 (fly tipping) 
was a result of opening times at NCC’s household waste recycling centres.  

Councillor Beardsworth considered that more needed to be done regarding temporary 
accommodation (HML01).  The Head of Housing and Wellbeing stated that the numbers in 
temporary accommodation were a concern to all.  There were currently 9 households in B&B (with 
shared facilities) but only one with a pregnancy/child.  Councillor Birch queried how many children 
were in temporary accommodation and whether there was any relationship between NPH evictions 
and those in temporary accommodation.  The Head of Housing and Wellbeing confirmed that the 
majority of households in temporary accommodation had children and agreed to provide Councillor 
Birch with the numbers.  Councillor Hibbert stated that there were not many formal evictions by NPH, 
who tried to maintain tenancies wherever possible.

Councillor Birch queried whether HMO08 (HMO licensing) was affected by resources.  Councillor 
Larratt was not aware of this, but agreed to investigate.  In respect of Councillor Birch’s concerns 
regarding MPE01 and MPE02 (NWEZ businesses/jobs) Councillor Larratt stated that the narrative 
went some way towards explaining the current situation and that he would be happy to clarify any 
further details.

RESOLVED:

2.1 Cabinet reviewed the contents of the performance report (Appendix 1) and recommended 
actions to be taken to address any issues arising.

2.2 Cabinet agreed that the Annual Performance Report will be presented in June of each year to 
the Audit Committee.

 

12. UPDATE ON THE GRANT OF PROPERTY LEASES AND MANAGEMENT 
AGREEMENTS TO NORTHAMPTON LEISURE TRUST (UNITY LEISURE)

Having declared an interest in this item, Councillor King left the room and took no part in the 
discussion.

Councillor Hadland as the relevant Cabinet Member stated that the current complex 
Management Agreement with Northampton Leisure Trust was no longer required.  A report 
in March 2018 had suggested amendments, but termination of the agreement altogether 
would free Northampton Leisure Trust to carry out their work more effectively, and release 
NBC from monitoring responsibility.

Councillor Beardsworth was delighted that Northampton Leisure Trust had been so 
successful and supported the recommendations.

RESOLVED:

2.1 Cabinet approved:

a) The termination of the existing Management Agreement between the Council and 
Northampton Leisure (Unity Leisure) dated 31st March 2011 and attached as appendix 1 to 
facilitate the completion of the proposed lease arrangements with the Trust.

b) Delegated authority to the Economic Growth and Regeneration Manager, the Borough 
Secretary and Head of Finance in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Regeneration 
and Enterprise to complete the necessary leases.

c) Authorised officers to negotiate and agree terms and conditions in the said lease 
4



5
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 11 September 2019

arrangements to ensure as far as possible the continuing provision of the requisite leisure 
services to the public in the three leisure centres now being managed and controlled by the 
Trust, but which do not fall foul of the Public Contract Regulations 2015.

d) Noted that by moving to lease arrangements, that will involve the Council losing 
substantial control over the delivery of leisure facilities in Northampton.

e) Further reports to future meetings of the Cabinet on any issue arising which the officers 
concerned consider need further discussion and decision by Cabinet before completion of 
the new lease arrangements.

f) To seek any further external legal advice deemed necessary to conclude the transaction. 

13. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS
The Chair moved that the public and Press be excluded from the remainder of the meeting 
on the grounds that there was likely to be disclosure to them of such categories of exempt 
information as defined by Section 100(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 as listed against 
such items of business by reference to the appropriate paragraph of Schedule 12A to such 
Act.

The Motion was Carried. 

14. INVESTMENT ACQUISITION OPPORTUNITY
This item was heard in private. 

The meeting concluded at 7.10 pm

5



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Service Area:

Accountable Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

 16 October 2019

No

N/A

Yes

Borough Secretary

Councillor Jonathan Nunn

All

1. Purpose

1.1 To seek Cabinet approval of a revised Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
Policy (as amended)(RIPA Policy)

2. Recommendations

2.1 Cabinet note the update on the outcome of the desktop Inspection carried out 
by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office (IPCO) dated 16th August 
2019.

2.2 Approve the updated RIPA Policy attached as Appendix 1; and

2.3 delegate authority to the Borough Secretary and Monitoring Officer to

a) Update the RIPA policy to include the name and contact details of new 
Authorising Officers after they have been appointed, and

b) Make such future amendments to the Policy which are in the opinion of 
the Borough Secretary and Monitoring Officer minor and are necessary 
to reflect either legislative requirements, relevant guidance or current 
good practice.

Report Title Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 – Policy 
Update

Appendices
1. Updated RIPA 
Policy

7

Agenda Item 7



3. Issues and Choices

3.1 Report Background

3.1.1 Local authorities are required to respect various rights of it citizens including 
their rights to private and family life, their homes and correspondence, their 
possessions and their right to a fair trial in accordance with the Human Rights 
Act 1998.  These rights are qualified and interference is allowed when it is 
necessary and proportionate and carried out in accordance with the law.  

3.1.2 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) contains powers for 
various bodies to carry out covert surveillance and engage covert human 
intelligence sources.  Certain covert surveillance powers under RIPA are 
available to local authorities and can be used in appropriate circumstances in 
accordance with the requirements of the Act to support the delivery of their 
functions.

3.1.3 The Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office (IPCO) oversees the use of 
covert surveillance powers under RIPA by local authorities.  This role was 
previously performed by the Office of Surveillance Commissioners (OSC) 
however, the OSC and other similar bodies have now been replaced by the 
IPCO.

3.1.4 The Council has a RIPA Policy in place that covers the use of directed 
surveillance and covert human intelligence sources by the Council.  

3.1.5 Directed surveillance is surveillance that is covert, is conducted for the 
purposes of a specific investigation or operation, is likely to result in the 
obtaining of private information about a person and is conducted otherwise 
than by way of an immediate response to events.  In summary a person is a 
covert human intelligence source if they establish or maintain a personal or 
other relationship with a person and they covertly use the relationship to 
obtain information or provide access to any information to another person, or 
they covertly disclose information obtained through such a relationship or as 
a consequence of the existence of such a relationship.  While the Council’s 
RIPA Policy clearly states that the use of covert human intelligence sources 
has not been identified as an investigative technique applied by the Council, 
the Policy still covers the processes that would need to be applied if a 
situation ever arose in the future where the Council did use a covert human 
intelligence source. 

3.1.6 Only specific officers within the Council are able to authorise the use of RIPA 
powers.  (The use of RIPA powers must also be judicially approved following 
approval by an Authorising Officer).  Such officers have to be of a sufficient 
level of seniority, as defined by statute and must also be appointed internally 
as Authorising Officers.  

3.1.7  The Council’s use of RIPA powers is minimal.  Since the Office of 
Surveillance Commissioners last inspection on the 1st December 2015 the 
Council has not authorised the use of RIPA powers.  

8



3.2 Issues

3.2.1 Inspections are carried out by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office 
approximately once every three years.  In August 2019, the Investigatory 
Powers Commissioner’s Office carried out its most recent desktop RIPA 
inspection. This inspection was carried out by Mr Paul Gration and the findings 
have has been formally reported by The Investigatory Powers Commissioner 
The Rt. Hon. Lord Justice Fulford.

3.2.2 The Inspection correspondence was very positive and the training regime 
undertaken by the Council has been recognised as relevant and consistent.  
Francis Fernandes, the Council’s Senior Responsible Officer under the Codes 
of Practice issued under RIPA, was both active in the inspection and informed 
in the outcome.  In summary there are only 2 observations from the inspection 
which are as follows:

a) Your RIPA Policy has recently been reviewed and is an extremely 
comprehensive document.  It does however include some matters 
that are not relevant to your organisation such as the paragraph 
which relates to ‘Relevant Sources’.  
This has been removed in the attached tracked change document.

b) Relevant guidance relating to the investigative use of the Internet.  
This is also a well written document and should be made available 
to all staff at the earliest opportunity to ensure full compliance.  
This document will be shared with Authorising Officers and will be 
placed on the intranet.  Also all staff will receive a copy of the guidance 
electronically.

3.2.3 Cabinet is asked to approve adoption of the amended RIPA Policy at 
Appendix 1.  The amendments are shown as tracked changed.  The main 
proposed amendments are:

c) Para 2.5.4 (page 8) updating of wording in relation to covert recording 
of noise.  This has been removed in the 2018 code 

d) Para 3.8 (page 17) new section relating to reviews of authorisations.
e) Para 3.9 (page 18) new section relating to renewals of authorisations
f) Para 3.10 (page 19) new section regarding cancellation of 

authorisations
g) Section 4 (pages 30,31) new section regarding error and serious 

errors
h) Section 6 (pages 33-38) new section regarding safeguards

3.2.4 Cabinet is asked to delegate authority to the Borough Secretary and 
Monitoring Officer to make such future amendments to the Policy which are in 
the opinion of the Borough Secretary and Monitoring Officer minor and are 
required only to reflect legislative requirements, relevant guidance or current 
good practice.   It is important that Councillors are satisfied that the RIPA 
Policy is fit for purpose and are regularly involved in setting the Policy.  
Therefore any significant amendments to the Policy or changes in policy 

9



direction would only be made with Members’ approval and not pursuant to 
powers delegated to an officer.      

3.3 Choices (Options)

3.3.1 Members are recommended to adopt the amended RIPA Policy attached at 
Appendix 1.   Alternatively, Members may choose not to accept the amended 
RIPA Policy, but this course of action is not recommended because the 
amendments have been recommended by the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner and, under the Codes of Practice issued under the Act, the 
Council should implement such recommendations.  

3.3.2 Members are recommended to delegate authority to the Borough Secretary 
and Monitoring Officer as set out in paragraph 2.3 b) to make minor changes 
to the RIPA Policy in the future.  The alternative is not delegating this 
authority, which could lead to the impractical situation of all minor changes 
being brought before Cabinet for consideration.  

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1 Policy

4.1.1 This report has implications for the Council’s RIPA Policy 2000 as it 
recommends amendments to this Policy.  

4.2 Resources and Risk

4.2.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this Report.  

4.3 Legal

4.3.1 If the Council needs to undertake any surveillance covered by the Regulation 
of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) for any purpose it must do so in 
accordance with both the provisions of that Act and of any Codes of Practice 
issued under it.

4.3.2 The Council’s RIPA policy is central to ensuring that the Council’s 
authorisation and record keeping procedures comply with the Act.  The 
Council is required to co-operate with the Investigatory Powers Commissioner 
in relation to any inspection and to implement any recommendations made 
following such an inspection.  The recommendations set out in the body of the 
Report will ensure that the Council complies with its duties and, should a need 
to undertake surveillance arise, ensure that appropriate safeguards are in 
place to protect the rights of its citizens.  

10



4.4 Equality and Health

4.4.1 This is a policy update rather than a whole new policy.  Having considered the 
equality impacts in relation to the policy changes the view is that there are no 
equality and health implications arising directly from this report.  

4.5 Consultees (Internal and External)

4.5.1 Given that changes to the report arose from a RIPA Inspection no internal 
consultations have taken place although Departments will be consulted and 
engaged with following Cabinet’s consideration of the report.

4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

4.6.1 The RIPA Policy links indirectly to the priority in the Corporate Plan to invest in 
safe, cleaner neighbourhoods because having a fit for purpose RIPA Policy 
provides the Council’s officers with an additional tool that can be used in 
appropriate circumstances to support investigations carried out in relation to 
some of the Council’s enforcement activities.  

4.7 Other Implications

4.7.1 No other implications.

5. Background Papers

5.1. Post inspection letter dated 16th August 2019.
6. Next Steps

6.1 If Cabinet agree the amended report then the Senior Responsible Officer will 
present a yearly report to the Standards Committee on the number of RIPA 
applications submitted and approved by the Magistrate’s Court.

Francis Fernandes
Borough Secretary and Monitoring Officer (Senior Responsible Officer)

Ext 7337

11



This page is intentionally left blank



1

                                                                                                       

RIPA POLICY

July 2019
 

Version Control
Document owner Published on Version Changed on Amended by
F Fernandes 03/03/2010 V.1   
F Fernandes 09/02/2015 V.2  17.6.2014  Management Board
F Fernandes 03/11/2015 V.3  29.10.2015 **  Francis Fernandes 
F Fernandes 08/07/2016 V.4  08.06.2016  Cabinet
F Fernandes V.5  Francis Fernandes

V.6 David Kitson

** Please note that the Home Office issued revised Codes of Practice in August 2018:
- Covert Surveillance and Property Interference Code of Practice
- Covert Human Intelligence Sources Code of Practice

The Codes of Practice must be considered together with this Policy.    

13

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742041/201800802_CSPI_code.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742042/20180802_CHIS_code_.pdf


2

Contents

Section Page

1A. Introduction to RIPA 2000 3 – 4

1B. Policy Summary 5 – 6 

2. Definitions 7 – 12 

3. The Use of a Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS) 13 – 20 

4. Authorisation of Surveillance 21 – 33 

5. Social Media 33 – 34 

6. Safeguards 34 – 39 

7. Complaints 39 – 40 

Appendix Appendix content Page

1 Standard Form – Surveillance Application 41

2 Standard Forms – Surveillance Renewal 47

3 Standard Forms – Surveillance Cancellation 51

4 Standard Forms – Monthly Review 53

5a Flow Chart - Authorisation Procedures - General 56

5b  Flow Chart - Authorisation Procedures -  Directed 

Surveillance       

57

5c Flow Chart – Authorisation Procedures -  CHIS                                 58

6 Application for judicial approval – standard form 59

7 Flow Chart – Procedures relating to judicial 

approval application

60

14



3

1A. Introduction
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (as amended)

1.1 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) was enacted to provide a 
clear statutory framework for the operation of certain intrusive investigative 
techniques, to provide for compliance with the Human Rights Acts 1998.  The main 
purpose of the Act is to ensure that individuals’ rights are protected whilst allowing 
law enforcement and security agencies to do their jobs effectively and act 
proportionately.

1.2 RIPA covers theacquisition and disclosure of communications data (Part I of 
RIPA); the carrying out of surveillance and use of covert human intelligence 
sources (Part II); and the investigation of electronic data protected by encryption 
(Part III).

1.3 Northampton Borough Council is included within this framework with regard to 
Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources, in accordance with 
section 28 and section 29 of RIPA.

1.4 Northampton Borough Council is not empowered to undertake:

(a) Intrusive Surveillance; or

(b)  entry onto or interference with property or wireless telegraphy.

1.5 This document will focus on the provisions of Part II of RIPA (as amended) that 
cover the use and authorisation of directed surveillance and the steps that must be 
taken by Council Officers to comply with the Act.

1.6 The use of Covert Human Intelligence Sources has not been identified as an 
investigative technique applied by the Council, and this document does not 
therefore go into depth on this topic.

1.7 For each of the above powers, RIPA (as amended) ensures that the law clearly 
covers:

 the purposes for which they may be used;

 which authorities can use the powers;

 who should authorise each use of power;

 the use that can be made of material gained;

 independent judicial oversight and approval;

 a means of redress for the individual.

1.8 Surveillance is not simply for the targeting of criminals but is also a means of 
protecting the public from harm and preventing crime.

15



4

1.9 The provisions of RIPA do not cover authorisation for the use of overt CCTV 
surveillance systems.  Members of the public are aware that such systems are in 
use, for their own protection, and to prevent crime.

1.11 The Investigatory Powers Act 2016 (IPA) also provides for the appointment of an 
independent Investigatory Powers Commissioner and Judicial Commissioners who 
will oversee the exercise by public authorities of their powers and duties under the 
Act (Part 8 of IPA).

16



5

1B. Policy Summary
1.12 Local authorities are required to respect the private and family life of citizens, their homes 

and correspondence in accordance with the Human Rights Act 1998.  This right is qualified 
where interference is necessary and proportionate and carried out in accordance with the 
law.  

1.13 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (‘RIPA’) and the Investigatory Powers Act 
2016 (‘IPA’) contain powers for various bodies to carry out covert surveillance and other 
covert activities.  Certain covert powers under RIPA are available to local authorities and 
can be used in appropriate circumstances in accordance with the requirements of the 
legislation to support the delivery of their functions.  The Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner’s Office oversees the use of covert powers under RIPA by local authorities.

1.14 This Policy covers the use of Directed Surveillance and the deployment of Covert Human 
Intelligence Sources by the Council.

1.15 In summary, Directed Surveillance is surveillance that is covert (but not intrusive), is 
conducted for the purposes of a specific investigation or operation, is likely to result in the 
obtaining of private information about a person and is conducted otherwise than by way of 
an immediate response to events.  

1.16 In summary, a person is a Covert Human Intelligence Source (‘CHIS’) if they establish or 
maintain a personal or other relationship and they covertly use the relationship to obtain 
information or provide access to any information to another person, or they covertly 
disclose information obtained through that relationship or as a consequence of the 
existence of that relationship.  

1.17 Use of Directed Surveillance (or deployment of a CHIS) could potentially be used by the 
Council in an investigation as a means of obtaining information.   Use of Directed 
Surveillance or deployment of a CHIS must be authorised.  There are designated officers 
within the Council (‘Authorising Officers’) who are able to authorise such activity.  The 
Authorising Officer must consider the detailed legal tests when deciding whether to 
authorise the covert activity.  If the Authorising Officer does authorise the activity, it is still 
subject to a judicial approval process.  This means that an application must be made to the 
Magistrates Court for approval of the authorisation and it cannot take effect until such 
approval is obtained.    

1.18 In practical terms, if you consider that you might wish to carry out directed surveillance or 
deploy a CHIS as part of an investigation, (or even if you are not certain whether the 
activities that you are proposing require a RIPA authorisation), please ensure that you seek 
legal advice from the Council’s lawyers early on and consult the Monitoring Officer as 
appropriate.  

1.19 If you do require a RIPA authorisation for your proposed activity, you will then need to 
contact the Authorising Officer.  This should be done via the Borough Secretary’s 
department who maintain a secure Central Register of all requests for authorisation.  (You 
will be issued with a unique reference number).  The Borough Secretary’s Department also 
retain all original RIPA forms.       

1.20 It is important to be aware that once a RIPA authorisation has been granted by the 
Authorising Officer and approved by the Magistrates Court, and you are carrying out the 
activity, you must still adhere to this Policy.  There are ongoing requirements concerning 
review of the authorisation for example and record keeping requirements.  

17



6

2. Definitions
2.1        What is Surveillance?

Surveillance is:

 Monitoring, observing or listening to persons, their movements, their 
conversations or their other activities or communications

 Recording anything monitored, observed or listened to in the course of 
surveillance

 Surveillance by or with the assistance of appropriate surveillance device(s).

Surveillance can be overt or covert.

2.2 Overt Surveillance

2.2.1 Most of the surveillance carried out by the Borough Council will be done 
overtly – there will be nothing secretive, clandestine or hidden about it. In 
many cases, Officers will be behaving in the same way as a normal member 
of the public (e.g. in the case of most test purchases), and/or will be going 
about Council business openly (e.g. a market inspector walking through 
markets). 

2.2.2 Similarly, surveillance will be overt if the subject has been told it will happen 
(e.g. where a noisemaker is warned (preferably in writing) that noise will be 
recorded if the noise continues, or where an entertainment licence is issued 
subject to conditions, and the licensee is told that Officers may visit without 
notice or identifying themselves to the owner/proprietor to check that the 
conditions are being met).

2.3       Covert Surveillance

2.3.1  Covert Surveillance as defined in Section 26(9)(a) RIPA:

“Surveillance is covert if, and only if, it is carried out in a manner that is 
calculated to ensure that persons who are subject to the surveillance are 
unaware that it is or may be taking place”.

2.3.2 General observation forms part of the duties of many enforcement officers. 
Such observation may involve the use of equipment or merely reinforce 
normal sensory perceptions, such as binoculars or the use of cameras, 
where this does not involve systematic surveillance of an individual. It forms 
part of the everyday functions of law enforcement or other public bodies. 
This low level activity will not usually be regulated under the provisions of 
RIPA.

2.3.3 The installation of CCTV cameras for the purpose of generally observing 
activity in a particular area is not surveillance which requires authorisation. 

18



7

Members of the public are aware that such systems are in use, for their own 
protection and to prevent crime.

2.3.4 An authorisation may be required if a CCTV camera is to be used for 
surveillance as part of a specific investigation or operation otherwise than 
as an immediate reaction to events.  In such circumstances either the 
Council or the police may give the necessary authorisation.  If an 
authorisation is given by the police then a record of the authorisation will be 
kept to ensure any surveillance is within its terms.

2.3.5 Part II of RIPA applies to the following conduct:

 Directed surveillance;

 Intrusive surveillance; and

 The conduct and use of covert human intelligence sources (CHIS).

2.4 Directed Surveillance Section 26(2) RIPA

2.4.1 Surveillance will be covert where it is carried out in a manner calculated to 
ensure that the person or persons subject to the surveillance are unaware 
that it is or may be taking place.  

2.4.2 Directed surveillance is conducted where it involves the observation of a 
person or persons with the intention of gathering private information to 
produce a detailed picture of a person’s life, activities and associations.  
However, it does not include covert surveillance carried out by way of an 
immediate response to events or circumstances which, by their very nature, 
could not have been foreseen.  For example, enforcement officers would 
not require authorisation to conceal themselves and observe a suspicious 
person who they come across in the course of their normal duties.  
However the longer the observation continues, the less likely it would be 
considered to be an immediate response.

2.4.4 Below are some examples where directed surveillance is conducted by the 
Council:

 Monitoring of noise complaints

 Monitoring of benefit claimants who have not declared that they are 
working/living with a partner etc

 Surveillance for formal investigations

Please note that the above list is not exhaustive.  On reading of this document, 
managers must consider any actions within their department, which could fall 
within RIPA.

2.4.5 Where it is anticipated that mobile surveillance will be an integral part of any 
directed surveillance operation Authorising Officers must be satisfied that it is 

19



8

necessary and the need is proportionate to the investigation being undertaken.  
Mobile surveillance is a specialist skill and should, at all times, be assessed for 
risks to health and safety of operatives engaged in this activity.  At no times should 
road traffic laws or regulations be ignored by officers engaged in mobile 
surveillance.  Due regard should be afforded to the driving and surveillance skills 
of operatives engaged in such activity.  Under no circumstances will officers 
engage in high-speed pursuit of vehicles involved in Directed Surveillance 
operations.

2.4.6 Where surveillance using airborne crafts or devices, for example helicopters or 
unmanned aircraft (colloquially known as ‘drones’), is planned, this could amount 
to direct (or even intrusive) surveillance and there will be a requirement to 
determine whether a surveillance authorisation is appropriate. In considering 
whether the surveillance should be regarded as covert, account should be taken of 
the reduced visibility of a craft or device at altitude.

2.5 Intrusive Surveillance – Section 26(3) RIPA

2.5.1 Local Authorities cannot conduct intrusive surveillance  as regulated 
by the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000.  

2.5.2 Surveillance is 
intrusive, only if it is covert surveillance that is carried out in relation to anything taking 
place on residential premises or in any private vehicle.  This kind of surveillance may take 
place by means either of a person or device located inside residential premises or a 
private vehicle of the person who is subject to the surveillance, or by means of a device 
placed outside which consistently provides a product of equivalent quality and detail as a 
product which would be obtained from a device located inside. Thus, an observation post 
outside premises, which provides a limited view and no sound of what is happening inside 
the premises would not be considered as intrusive surveillance.

2.5.4 The 2010 Legal Consultations Order also provides that any directed 
surveillance that is carried out on premises ordinarily used for legal 
consultations, at a time when they are being so used, is to be treated as 
intrusive surveillance.

2.5.5 The covert recording of noise where the recording is of decibels only or 
constitutes non-verbal noise (such as music, machinery or an alarm), or the 
recording of verbal content which is made at a level that does not exceed 
that which can be heard from the street outside or adjoining property with 
the naked ear, are unlikely to constitute either direct or intrusive 
surveillance. In the latter circumstance, the perpetrator would normally be 
regarded as having forfeited any claim to privacy.

2.6 Interference with property and wireless telegraphy

20



9

Local authorities cannot authorise property interference (entry onto or 
interference with property or with wireless telegraphy) as regulated by the Police 
Act 1997, the Intelligence Services Act 1994, and in certain respects the 
Investigatory Powers Act 2016.

2.7 Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS) – Section 26(8) RIPA

A person is a covert human intelligence source (CHIS) if:

 they establish or maintain a personal or other relationship with a person for 
the covert purpose of facilitating one or both of the following;

 they covertly use such a relationship to obtain information or to provide 
access to any information to another person; or

 they covertly disclose information obtained by the use of such a 
relationship, or as a consequence of the existence of such a relationship.

In establishing or maintaining a relationship, a covert purpose exists where the 
relationship is conducted in such a manner that it is calculated to ensure that one 
of the parties to the relationship is unaware of the use or disclosure in question.

Further information about the use of CHIS is dealt with in section 3 of this policy.

2.8 Private Information

“Private information”, in relation to a person, includes any information relating to 
that person’s private or family life. As a result this can include any aspect of a 
person’s private or personal relationships with other, such as family and 
professional or business relationships.

Although people may have a reduced expectation of privacy in public places, those 
persons may still have a reasonable expectation of privacy, and covert surveillance 
of a person’s activities in public may still result in obtaining private information. The 
same principle applies to public areas of the internet, in particular social media 
sites (concerning which see section 5 of this policy for further guidance).

2.9 Private Vehicle

“Private Vehicle” means any vehicle that is used primarily for the private purpose of 
the person who owns it or of a person otherwise having the right to use it.  This 
does not include a person whose right to use the vehicle derives only from his 
having paid, or undertaken to pay, for the use of the vehicle and its driver for a 
particular journey.  A vehicle includes any vessel, aircraft or hovercraft.  

2.10 Confidential Material

This consists of:

 Matters subject to legal privilege - for example oral and written 
communications between a professional legal adviser and his client or any 
person representing his client, made in connection with the giving of legal 

21



10

advice to the client or in contemplation of legal proceedings and for the 
purposes of such proceedings, as well as items enclosed with or referred to 
in such communications.  Communications and items held with the intention 
of furthering a criminal purpose are not subject to legal privilege where there 
is evidence that the professional legal advisor is intending to hold or use 
them for a criminal purpose.

 Confidential personal information - which is information held in 
confidence concerning an individual (living or dead) who can be identified 
from it, and relating to a) his physical or mental health or b) to spiritual 
counselling or other assistance given or to be given, and which a person 
has acquired or created in the course of any trade, business, profession or 
other occupation, or for the purposes of any paid or unpaid office.  It 
includes oral and written information and also communications as a result of 
which personal information is acquired or created.  Information is held in 
confidence if:

It is subject to a restriction on disclosure or an obligation of 
secrecy contained in existing or future legislation

 Confidential journalistic material - which includes material acquired or 
created for the purposes of journalism and held subject to an undertaking to 
hold it in confidence, as well as communications resulting in information 
being acquired for the purposes of journalism and held subject to an 
undertaking.

2.11 Residential Premises

“Residential premises” means any premises occupied or used, however 
temporarily, for residential purposes or otherwise as living accommodation. This 
includes a hotel room or prison accommodation that is occupied or used for 
residential purposes, but does not include common areas that a person has 
access to in common with others and in connection with their use of 
accommodation. 

22



11

2.12 Right to Privacy

The right to respect for private and family life is enshrined in Article 8 which is set 
out in Part I of Schedule 1 of the Human Rights Act 1998 as follows:

“Everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his 
correspondence.”

The right to privacy is not absolute but is qualified, meaning that it can be 
interfered with where this is necessary and in accordance with the law. RIPA 
authorisation amounts to an approved interference.

Great care is required as the right to privacy can also extend to business premises 
or residential premises used for business purposes.  It is essential that Authorising 
Officers seek legal guidance on this matter prior to authorisation.

2.13 Collateral Intrusion

This is interference with the privacy of a person other than the surveillance subject.  

2.12.1 Before authorising applications for directed surveillance, the authorising 
officer should also take into account the risk of obtaining private 
information about persons who are not subjects of the surveillance activity.

2.12.2 Measures should be taken, wherever practicable, to avoid or minimise the 
unnecessary intrusion into the privacy of those who are not the intended 
subjects of the surveillance activity.  Where such collateral intrusion is 
unavoidable, the activities may still be authorised, provided the intrusion in 
considered proportionate to what is sought to be achieved.  The same 
proportionality tests apply to the likelihood of collateral intrusion as to 
intrusion into the privacy of the intended subject of the surveillance.  

2.14 Authorising Officer

This is the person designated, for the purpose of the Act, to grant authorisation for 
directed surveillance (which is then subject to judicial approval).

 2.15 Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office

The Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office is responsible for reviewing our 
activities carried out under RIPA 2000.  All authorities are subject to review and 
inspection.  Inspection will cover policy and procedures as well as individual 
investigations.

23



12

3. The use of a Covert Human Intelligence 
Source (CHIS)
The concept of “covertness” is very similar to that used in relation to directed 
surveillance. Here, however, it is used at two stages, both of which must be met 
for an authorisation to be required: the covert purpose of the relationship; and the 
covert actions of obtaining or providing access to information and of disclosing 
such information. If a person has a relationship with another person which is 
not established or maintained for a covert purpose, the fact that he or she 
does in fact covertly disclose information to the local authority will not 
require an authorisation and that person will not be a CHIS.

There is no use of CHIS merely because a person offers information to the local 
authority that may be material to the investigation of an offence, but there would be 
if the authority asks the person to obtain further information.

Reference should be made to the more detailed guidance in the Home Office 
Code of Practice

3.1 The use of Covert Human Intelligence Sources

Authorisation for the use and conduct of a source is required prior to any tasking, 
i.e. an assignment given to the source. There will normally be two persons 
involved in the process of the authorisation of the person carrying out the 
surveillance. There will be the person who completes and signs the application 
form by which authorisation is applied for and the Authorising Officer (legal advice 
must be sought via the Borough Secretary before embarking on a CHIS 
authorisation) to whom the form must be submitted for consideration.  In the case 
of the use of CHIS, whilst it is not unlawful for the source to make the application 
him or herself, the extensive welfare provisions that have to be made for him 
or her make this inappropriate (see below).

Where confidential material is likely to be particularly sensitive (see below) then 
the Authorising Officer should be the Head of Service, or in his/her absence the 
Monitoring Officer.

The test is set out in Section 29(2) RIPA and is listed for convenience in the 
authorisation. Included in the requirements under Section 29 are that sufficient 
arrangements must be made to ensure that the source is independently managed, 
records are kept of the use made of the source, and that the identities of the 
source are protected from those who do not need to know it (see below).

3.2 Authorising a CHIS – See flow chart at Appendix 5c

3.2.1 This is similar to the authorisation of directed surveillance. Firstly, the 
authorisation must be necessary on the same ground as for directed 
surveillance, for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or preventing 
disorder.

24

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742042/20180802_CHIS_code_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742042/20180802_CHIS_code_.pdf


13

3.2.2 Secondly, the authorised conduct or use of the source must be 
proportionate to the goal sought. In this connection, and on the question 
of proportionality, it may be considered that the chances of collateral 
intrusion are particularly significant in the case of the use or conduct of 
CHIS. The Home Office Code of Practice recommends that the application 
includes a risk assessment for collateral intrusion.

3.2.3 As with the authorisation of directed surveillance, the forms themselves set 
out clearly what information is required from the applicant and also from the 
Authorising Officer in order to give a valid authorisation.  (Both the person 
applying for the authorisation and the Authorising Officer must complete the 
forms in handwriting).   

3.2.4 From 1st November 2012 the authorisation process for use of a CHIS 
has been subject to judicial approval meaning that any authorisation 
granted will require the approval of a Justice of the Peace, which 
necessitates making an application to the Magistrates Court.  (See 
paragraph 3.6 for further detail).  

3.2.5 The Authorising Officer must be satisfied that arrangements exist for the 
proper oversight and management of the source that satisfy the 
requirements of section 29(5) of the Act and such other requirements as 
may be imposed by order made by the Secretary of State.

3.3 Covert Human Intelligence Sources may only be authorised if the following 
arrangements are in place: 

 Section 29(5) requires:

• that there will at all times be an officer within the local authority who will 
have day to day responsibility for dealing with the source on behalf of the 
authority, and for the source’s security and welfare (section 29(5)(a));

• that there will at all times be another officer within the local authority who will 
have general oversight of the use made of the source (section 29(5)(b));

• that there will at all times be an officer within the local authority who has 
responsibility for maintaining a record of the use made of the source (section 
29(5)(c));

• that the records relating to the source maintained by the local authority will 
always contain particulars of all matters specified by the Secretary of State 
in Regulations.

(The current regulations are The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Source 
Records) Regulations 2000). These particulars are:

(a) the identity of the source;

(b) the identity, where known, used by the source;

25

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742042/20180802_CHIS_code_.pdf


14

(c) any relevant investigating authority other than the authority maintaining 
the records;

(d) the means by which the source is referred to within each relevant 
investigating authority;

(e) any other significant information connected with the security and welfare 
of the source;

(f) any confirmation made by a person granting or renewing an 
authorisation for the conduct or use of a source that the information in 
paragraph (d) has been considered and that any identified risks to the 
security and welfare of the source have where appropriate been 
properly explained to and understood by the source;

(g) the date when, and the circumstances in which, the source was 
recruited;

(h) the identities of the persons who, in relation to the source, are 
discharging or have discharged the functions mentioned in section 
29(5)(a) to (c) of the Act (see bullet points above) or in any order made 
by the Secretary of State under section 29(2)(c);

(i) the periods during which those persons have discharged those 
responsibilities;

(j) the tasks given to the source and the demands made of him in relation 
to his activities as a source;

(k) all contacts or communications between the source and a person acting 
on behalf of any relevant investigating authority;

(l) the information obtained by each relevant investigating authority by the 
conduct or use of the source;

(m) any dissemination by that authority of information obtained in that way; 
and

(n) in the case of a source who is not an undercover operative, every 
payment, benefit or reward and every offer of a payment, benefit or 
reward that is made or provided by or on behalf of any relevant 
investigating authority in respect of the source's activities for the benefit 
of that or any other relevant investigating authority

• that records maintained by the local authority that disclose the identity of the 
source will not be available to persons except to the extent that there is a 
need for access to them to be made available to those persons.

These requirements make it very unlikely that an investigation could involve the use 
of a CHIS without there having been prior planning within the investigating 
department/section. It is important to realise that it may well be a member of staff of 
the department and, indeed, an investigator him or herself, who becomes the 

26



15

source, depending on the manner of working used. It is not only persons outside 
the employ of the local authority who may be used as a source. If it is intended to 
make use of CHIS, then appropriate and specific training should be arranged for 
the officers responsible for the functions under section 29(5) (a) to (c) of RIPA and 
also for any officer of the Council who is to be the CHIS.

It is very important that the two forms of authorisation are not confused, because of 
the important welfare provisions listed above attaching to the CHIS. Whilst those 
requirements are detailed and specific, it is recognised that they fall into line with 
the approach that the Council takes for the welfare of its staff. The Council 
recognises a duty of care to its covert sources and it is important that a risk 
assessment and management approach is taken with regard to the welfare of the 
source. The risks to the source may not only be physical but also psychological, for 
example, relating to stress caused by the very activity itself.

It must be made clear that the source is not also engaging in criminal activity 
(excluding activity that would be criminal but is rendered lawful by authority under 
the Act – e.g. the lawful interception of communications).

3.4 Juveniles and vulnerable persons as CHIS. 

This is governed by the Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Juveniles) Order 2000. 
A person under 16 cannot be used as a CHIS if the relationship that would be 
covertly used is between the juvenile and his/her parent or person with parental 
responsibility for him/her. (Whether or not a person who is not a parent has parental 
responsibility for a child may only be determined by having sight of documentation, 
e.g. a court order providing for that person to have parental responsibility. Further, 
a person may have parental responsibility for a juvenile, even though they no 
longer live together).

The Regulations also provide in the case of a source under 16 that there is at all 
times a person within the local authority responsible for ensuring that an 
appropriate adult (parent or guardian, any other person who has assumed 
responsibility for the juvenile’s welfare, or where there are no such persons, any 
responsible person over 18 who is not a member or employee of the local authority 
– therefore a local authority social worker is not eligible to act as appropriate adult) 
is present at meetings between the juvenile source and any person representing 
the investigating authority.

Where the source is under 18, authorisation may not be granted or renewed unless 
there has been made or updated a risk assessment sufficient to demonstrate that 
the nature and magnitude of any risk of physical injury or psychological distress to 
the juvenile arising out of his or her use as a source has been identified and 
evaluated.

The Authorising Officer must have considered the risk assessment and satisfied 
him/herself that the risks are justified and have been properly explained to and 
understood by the source. The Authorising Officer must also be clear whether or 
not the covert relationship is between the juvenile and any relative, guardian or 
person who has assumed responsibility for his/her welfare and, if it is, has given 
particular consideration to whether the authorisation is justified (“necessary” and 
“proportionate”) in the light of that fact.

27



16

The Code of Practice on Covert Human Intelligence Sources also makes provision 
for vulnerable persons. These are individuals who are or may be in need of 
community care services by reason of mental or other disability, age, illness or who 
are unable to take care of themselves or unable to protect themselves against 
significant harm or exploitation. Any such individual should only be used as a 
source in the most exceptional circumstances. As with confidential information, the 
authorisation of the Chief Executive, or the Monitoring Officer in their absence, is 
required to use a juvenile or vulnerable person as a source.

With juveniles and vulnerable persons, particular emphasis must be placed on the
operation of the provisions for the source’s welfare.

3.5 What Conduct of a CHIS is Authorised by an Authorisation? 

• any conduct that is comprised in any such activities as are specified or 
described in the authorisation; and

• any conduct by or in relation to the source specified or described in the 
authorisation; and

• which is carried out for the purposes of or in connection with the 
investigation or operation that is specified or described.

3.6 Judicial Approval of CHIS authorisations

3.6.1 The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 amended RIPA 2000 to make local 
authority authorisation of a CHIS subject to judicial approval. The change 
means that local authorities need to obtain an order from a Justice of the 
Peace, approving the grant or renewal of an authorisation, before it can take 
effect. If the Justice of the Peace is satisfied that the statutory tests have 
been met and that the use of the technique is necessary and proportionate 
he/she will issue an order approving the grant or renewal for the use of the 
technique as described in the application. 

3.6.2 This judicial approval mechanism is in addition to the existing 
authorisation process.  The requirements to internally assess necessity 
and proportionality, complete the RIPA authorisation/application forms 
and seek approval from an Authorising Officer remain.  Therefore, there 
is a two-stage process.  First, an authorisation must be obtained from 
an Authorising Officer.  Secondly, approval of the authorisation must 
be obtained from a Justice of the Peace.  This involves applying to a 
Magistrates Court.  

3.6.3 A Justice of the Peace will only give approval to the granting of an 
authorisation for use of a CHIS if they are satisfied that:

o at the time the Authorising Officer granted the authorisation, there were 
reasonable grounds for believing that the authorisation was necessary 
and that the activity being authorised was proportionate, that 
arrangements existed that satisfied section 29(5) (see paragraph 3.3),  
that the Authorising Officer was a designated person for the purposes of 

28



17

section 29 of RIPA, that the grant of the authorisation was not in breach 
of any restrictions imposed by virtue of section 29(7)(a) or 30(3) of RIPA, 
that any other conditions provided for by any Order were satisfied; and

o that there remain reasonable grounds for believing that the necessary 
and proportionate tests are satisfied and that any other requirements 
provided for by Order are satisfied.    

3.7 CHIS Record Keeping 

Records should be kept as prescribed by the Code of Practice (please see 
paragraph on Records and Documentation below). Where a source wearing or 
carrying a surveillance device is invited into residential premises or a private vehicle 
and records activity taking place inside those premises or vehicle, authorisation for 
use of that covert source should be obtained in the usual way.

The source should not use an invitation into residential premises or private vehicle 
as a means of installing equipment. If equipment is to be used other than in the 
presence of the covert source, an intrusive surveillance authorisation is necessary 
which cannot be granted by the local authority.

3.8 Reviews

Regular reviews of authorisations should be undertaken by the Authorising Officer 
to assess whether it remains necessary and proportionate to use a CHIS and 
whether the authorisation remains justified. The review should include:

(a) the use made of the CHIS during the period authorised,

(b) the tasks given to the CHIS,

(c) the information obtained from the CHIS; and

(d) if appropriate to the Authorising Officer’s remit, the reasons why executive action 
is not possible at this stage.

The results of a review should be retained for at least five years and particular 
attention should be given to the need to review authorisations frequently where they 
involve a high level of intrusion into private life or significant collateral intrusion, or 
the use of a CHIS may provide access to particularly sensitive information. At the 
point the Council is considering applying for an authorisation, it must have regard to 
whether the level of protection to be applied in relation to information obtained 
under the authorisation is higher because of the particular sensitivity of that 
information.

In each case, unless specified by the Secretary of State or Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner, the Authorising Officer within should determine how often a review 
should take place. This should be as frequently as is considered necessary and 
proportionate, but should not prevent reviews being conducted in response to 
changing circumstances.

29



18

In the event that there are any significant and substantive changes to the nature of 
the operation during the currency of the authorisation, the Council should consider 
whether it is necessary to apply for a new authorisation.

3.9 Renewals

CHIS authorisations can be renewed on more than one occasion if necessary and 
provided that they continue to meet the criteria for authorisation. Before an authorising 
officer renews an authorisation, they must be satisfied that a review has been carried out 
of the use of a CHIS and that the results have been considered.

All renewals are subject to authorisation from a Justice of the Peace, and take effect at the 
time at which the authorisation would have ceased to have effect but for the renewal. 
Documentation of the renewal should be retained for at least five years.

When deciding if the relevant source is authorised as part of the 'same investigation or 
operation' in calculating the period of total or accrued deployment or cumulative 
authorisation periods, the following should be considered:

• common subject or subjects of the investigation or operation;

• the nature and details of relationships established in previous or corresponding 
relevant investigations or operations;

• whether or not the current investigation is a development of or recommencement to 
previous periods of authorisation, which may include a focus on the same crime 
group or individuals;

• previous activity by the relevant source that has a bearing by way of subject, locality, 
environment or other consistent factors should be considered in calculating the 
period;

• the career history of the ‘relevant source’.

All applications for the renewal of an authorisation should record:

• whether this is the first renewal or every occasion on which the authorisation has 
been renewed previously;

• any significant changes to the information in the initial application;

• the reasons why it is necessary for the authorisation to continue;

• the use made of the CHIS in the period since the grant or, as the case may be, latest 
renewal of the authorisation;

• the tasks given to the CHIS during that period and the information obtained from the 
use or conduct of the CHIS; and

• the results of regular reviews of the use of the CHIS.

3.10 Cancellation

30



19

The Authorising Officer who granted or renewed the authorisation must cancel it satisfied 
that the use or conduct of the CHIS no longer satisfies the criteria for authorisation, or that 
arrangements for the CHIS’s case no longer satisfy the requirements described in section 
29 of the 2000 Act. Where the Authorising Officer is no longer available, this duty will fall to 
the person who has taken over the role of Authorising Officer or the person who is acting 
as Authorising Officer.

Where necessary and practicable, the safety and welfare of the CHIS should continue to 
be taken into account after the authorisation has been cancelled, and risk assessments 
should be maintained. The Authorising Officer will wish to satisfy themselves that all 
welfare matters are addressed, and should make appropriate comment in their written 
commentary.

31



20

4. Authorisation (see flowchart at appendix 5b)
4.1 Authorisation of Surveillance

4.1.1 Since 1st November 2012, when the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 
amended RIPA 2000, the framework governing how local authorities 
use RIPA has changed.  Authorisation of the use of certain covert 
powers, including the use of directed surveillance, will only have 
effect once an order approving the authorisation has been granted by 
a Justice of the Peace.    This judicial approval mechanism is in 
addition to the existing authorisation process.  The current processes 
of assessing necessity and proportionality, completing the RIPA 
application forms and seeking authorisation from an Authorising 
Officer remain the same.  

4.1.2 Therefore, there is a two-stage process.  First, an authorisation must 
be obtained from an Authorising Officer.  Secondly, approval of the 
authorisation must be obtained from a Justice of the Peace.  This 
involves applying to a Magistrates Court.  Further detail about the 
judicial approval process is set out in paragraphs 4.1.18 to 4.1.23. 

4.1.3 Authorising Officers will be nominated in writing by the Monitoring Officer 
following the Monitoring Officer being satisfied they are appropriately 
trained to undertake the task.

4.1.4 Written authorisations must be completed whenever an investigation 
involves the use of Directed Surveillance.  This provides lawful authority to 
carry out covert surveillance.  Authorisation must be sought before 
surveillance is undertaken.

4.1.5 All applications for authorisation of Directed Surveillance must be in 
writing and record:

 the grounds on which authorisation is sought (i.e. for the prevention 
and detection of crime and disorder only); NB The power to authorise 
surveillance exists only for the prevention and detection of crime and 
disorder and no other purpose for local authorities.

 an assessment of the Directed Surveillance Crime Threshold.   
Directed surveillance can only be authorised under RIPA to prevent or 
detect criminal offences that are either punishable, whether on 
summary conviction or indictment, by a maximum term of at least 6 
months imprisonment.  (There are certain specified offences related to 
the underage sale of alcohol or tobacco which are exempt from the 
directed surveillance crime threshold.  However, investigation of these 
offences does not form part of the Borough Council’s functions).   

o Further information about the implications of the Directed 
Surveillance Crime Threshold are outlined in paragraph 4.1.6 
below     

32



21

 consideration of why the Directed Surveillance is proportionate to what 
it seeks to achieve;

 what other options for the gathering of information have been 
considered and that Directed Surveillance is necessary; 

 the nature of the surveillance;

 the identity or identities, where known, of those to be the subject of 
Directed Surveillance;

 the action to be authorised and level of authority required;

 an account of the investigation or operation;

 an explanation of the information which it is desired to obtain as a 
result of the authorisation;

 any potential for collateral intrusion and why such intrusion is justified;

 the likelihood of acquiring any confidential or privileged material, and 
the details of such material;

 where the purposes include obtaining information subject to legal 
privilege, as an explanation as to why there are exceptional and 
compelling circumstances that make this necessary.

Both the person applying for the authorisation and the Authorising Officer 
must complete the forms in handwriting.   

Standard Document: See Appendix 1 – Surveillance Application Form

4.1.6 The Directed Surveillance Crime Threshold was introduced by The 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert 
Human Intelligence Sources) (Amendment) Order 2012 which came into 
force on 1st November 2012.  The introduction of this new threshold means 
that the Council may continue to authorise the use of Directed Surveillance 
in more serious cases provided the other tests are met (ie. that it is 
necessary and proportionate and that prior approval from a Justice of the 
Peace has been obtained).  However, it also means that the Council may 
not authorise the use of Directed Surveillance to investigate disorder that 
does not involve criminal offences, or to investigate low level offences, 
which may include, for example, littering, dog control and fly-posting.  

4.1.7 Those carrying out the covert surveillance should inform the Authorising 
Officer if the operation/investigation unexpectedly interferes with the privacy 
of individuals who are not the original subjects of the investigation or 
covered by the authorisation in some other way.  In some cases the original 
authorisation may not be sufficient and consideration should be given to 
whether a separate authorisation is required.

33



22

4.1.8 Any person giving an authorisation should first satisfy him/herself that the 
authorisation is necessary on particular grounds and that the surveillance 
is proportionate to what it seeks to achieve.  It is important that sufficient 
weight is attached to considering whether the surveillance required is 
proportionate. These concepts of “necessity” and “proportionality” occur 
regularly throughout human rights law and RIPA and they must be 
considered afresh in the case of each authorisation of surveillance. 
Therefore this will involve balancing the intrusiveness of the surveillance on 
the target and others who might be affected by it against the need for the 
surveillance in operational terms.  The surveillance will not be proportionate 
if it is excessive in the circumstances of the case or if the information which 
is sought could reasonably be obtained by other less intrusive means.  All 
surveillance should be carefully managed to meet the objective in question 
and must not be arbitrary or unfair.

4.1.9 When proportionality is being assessed, the following elements should be 
considered:

 balancing the size and scope of the proposed activity against the gravity 
and extent of the perceived crime or offence;

 explaining how and why the methods adopted will cause the least 
possible intrusion on the subject and others;

 considering whether the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation 
and a reasonable way, having considered all reasonable alternatives, of 
obtaining the necessary result; and

 evidencing, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods had 
been considered and why they were not implemented.

4.1.10The Authorising Officer must be able to produce evidence that the relevant 
issues have been considered for monitoring purposes, for example a note 
of the documents and information available to the officer at the time the 
authorisation is given, together with a note of the date and time 
authorisation was given. It is essential that the Authorising Officer considers 
each request for an authorisation on its merits and a rubber stamping 
approach must never be used. In this respect the Authorising Officer should 
complete any relevant forms by hand.

4.1.11The fullest consideration should be given in cases where the subject of the 
surveillance might reasonably expect a higher degree of privacy, for 
instance in his/her home, or where there are special sensitivities, such as 
where the surveillance may give access to confidential material or 
communications between a minister of any religion or faith and another 
individual relating to that individual relating to that individual’s spiritual 
welfare.

4.1.12 An authorisation should not be sought or obtained where the sole purpose 
of the authorisation is to obtain legally privileged material.  However, an 
authorisation may be appropriate for other purposes but which, incidentally, 
catches legally privileged material.

4.1.13 Particular consideration should be given to collateral intrusion on or 
interference with the privacy of persons other than the subject(s) of 

34



23

surveillance.  Such collateral intrusion or interference would be a matter of 
greater concern in cases where there are special sensitivities, for example 
in cases of premises used by lawyers or for any form of medical or 
professional counselling or therapy.

4.1.14 An authorisation request should include assessment of any collateral 
intrusion or interference.  This will be taken into account, by the Authorising 
Officer, particularly when considering the proportionality of the surveillance.

4.1.15 Directed surveillance undertaken by the Council requires the written 
approval of a post holder identified in 4.1.17 of this document.  

4.1.16 Authorising Officers should not be responsible for authorising their own 
activities, i.e. those directly involved in undertaking surveillance.

4.1.17 The following table identifies appropriate authorisation levels in the 
Council’s staffing structure.

Type of Request Authorising Officer
1 Written authorisation to 

conduct investigations using 
Directed Surveillance.

Director, Head of Service , Service 
Manager or equivalent (SI 2010/521) 
Officers specifically designated by the 
Monitoring Officer as Authorising 
Officers 

2 Written authorisation to 
conduct investigations using 
Directed Surveillance likely to 
obtain confidential information.

Head of Paid Service or in his 
absence, the acting Head of Paid 
Service

NB   For the avoidance of doubt, only those Officers outlined above and 
designated and certified (and also notified to the Monitoring Officer) to be 
“Authorising Officers” for the purpose of RIPA can authorise “Directed 
Surveillance”.   The Monitoring Officer will only certify Authorising Officers if 
he or she is satisfied that they have had appropriate training to undertake 
the role.

Contact Details for Authorising Officers:

Name Job Title E-mail Address Tel. No. 
Phil Harris Head of 

Housing and 
Wellbeing

pharris@northampton.gov.uk 01604 
837666

Ruth Austen Environmental 
Health and 
Licensing 
Manager

rausten@northampton.gov.uk 01604 
837794

David 
Kennedy

Chief 
Executive

dkennedy@northampton.gov.uk 01604
837726

35



24

4.1.18 Judicial approval

a) Where an Authorising Officer has granted an authorisation (for 
Directed Surveillance), the authorisation is not to take effect until 
a Justice of the Peace has made an order approving the grant of 
the authorisation.

b) A Justice of the Peace will only give approval to the granting of an 
authorisation for Directed Surveillance if they are satisfied that:

o at the time the Authorising Officer granted the authorisation, 
there were reasonable grounds for believing that the 
authorisation was necessary and that the surveillance being 
authorised was proportionate, that the Authorising Officer was a 
designated person for the purposes of section 28 of RIPA, that 
the grant of the authorisation was not in breach of any 
restrictions imposed by virtue of section 30(3) of RIPA, that any 
other conditions provided for by any Order were satisfied; and

o that there remain reasonable grounds for believing that the 
necessary and proportionate tests are satisfied.    

c) If a Magistrates’ Court refuses to approve the grant of the 
authorisation, then it may make an order to quash that authorisation. 

4.1.19 No activity permitted by the authorisation granted by the Authorising 
Officer may be undertaken until the approval of the Magistrates Court 
of that authorisation has been obtained.

4.1.20 Authorising Officers must when making authorisations be aware that 
each authorisation (or renewal of an authorisation) will be subject to 
judicial approval.  The Council is required to make an application 
without notice to the Magistrates Court to seek judicial approval.     

4.1.21 Therefore, any Authorising Officer who proposes to approve an 
application for the use of directed surveillance must immediately 
inform the Monitoring Officer who will then make arrangements for 
an application to be made by the Council’s lawyers or an appropriate 
officer to the Magistrates Court for an order to approve the 
authorisation to be made.

4.1.22 There is no need for a Justice of the Peace to consider either cancellations 
or internal reviews.  

4.1.23 The Council will provide the Justice of the Peace with a copy of the original 
RIPA authorisation form and the supporting documents setting out the 
case.  This forms the basis of the application to the Justice of the Peace 
and should contain all information that is relied upon.  In addition, the 
Council will need to provide the Justice of the Peace with a partially 
completed judicial application/order form, which is shown for information at 
Appendix 6 of this Policy.  The flow-chart at Appendix 7 shows the 

36



25

procedure for making an application to a Justice of the Peace seeking an 
Order to approve the grant of a RIPA authorisation or notice.  

4.2 Duration of authorisations

4.2.1 A written authorisation for directed surveillance will cease to have effect at 
the end of a period of three months beginning with the day on which it took 
effect.

4.2.2 An authorisation for a CHIS will cease to have effect at the end of a period 
of twelve months beginning with the day it took effect. However, an 
authorisation concerning a juvenile CHIS will cease to have effect after 
four months from the date it took effect.

4.2.3 An authorisation under which it is intended to obtain, provide access to or 
disclose knowledge of matter subject to legal professional privilege is 
instead 3 months for the Council.

4.2.4 Urgent oral authorisations will unless renewed cease to have effect after 
72 hours.

4.3 Renewals

4.3.1 If at any time before an authorisation would cease to have effect, the 
Authorising Officer considers it necessary for the authorisation to continue 
for the purpose for which it was given, he/she may approve a renewal in 
writing for a further period of three months, beginning with the day when 
the authorisation would have expired but for the renewal.

Authorisations may be renewed more than once, provided they continue to 
meet the criteria for authorisation.

4.3.2 All requests for the renewal of an authorisation for Directed Surveillance 
must record:

 whether this is the first renewal or every occasion on which the 
authorisation has been renewed previously;

 the information required in the original request for an authorisation, as 
listed in section 4.1.5 above together with;

(a) any significant changes to the information in the previous 
authorisation;

(b) why it is necessary to continue with the surveillance;

(c) the content and value to the investigation or operation of the 
information so far obtained by the surveillance;

(d) an estimate of the length of time the surveillance will continue to be 
necessary.

37



26

Standard Document: See Appendix 2 – Surveillance Renewal form

4.3.3 Renewals of authorisations will also be subject to approval by the 
Magistrates Court.  The Authorising Officer must therefore advise the 
Monitoring Officer immediately when they are minded to grant a 
renewal.  

4.3.4 Applications for renewals should not be made until shortly before the 
original authorisation period is due to expire but officers must take account 
of factors which may delay the renewal process (eg. intervening weekends 
or the availability of the Authorising Officer and a Justice of the Peace to 
consider the application).  

4.4 Cancellations

4.4.1 The Authorising Officer must cancel an authorisation if he/she is satisfied 
that the Directed Surveillance or the conduct of the CHIS no longer meets 
the criteria for authorisation.  When cancelling an authorisation, an 
Authorising Officer must ensure that proper arrangements have been 
made for the activity’s discontinuance, including the removal of technical 
equipment, and directions for the management of the product. Further, 
where necessary and practicable, the safety and welfare of the CHIS 
should continue to be taken into account after the authorisation has been 
cancelled, and risk assessments maintained. In the context of CHIS the 
Authorising Officer will want to satisfy themselves that all welfare matters 
are addressed, and should make appropriate comment in their written 
commentary.

Standard Document: See Appendix 3 – Surveillance Cancellation form.

4.4.2 Authorisations for Directed Surveillance, and any subsequent renewals 
and cancellations, are subject to review by the Government appointed 
Investigatory Powers Commissioner.

4.5 Reviews

4.5.1 Authorising Officers will review all “Directed Surveillance” and CHIS 
applications and authorisations that they have granted regularly to assess 
whether they remain necessary and proportionate. The results of a review 
should be recorded on the appropriate form, and kept in the central record 
of authorisations. The Authorising Officer should determine how often the 
review should take place. This should be done as frequently as is 
considered necessary and practicable, but not later than once a month 
following the date of authorisation; sooner where the surveillance provides 
access to confidential material or involves collateral intrusion.

4.5.2 Reviews of an authorisation for Directed Surveillance must record:

 whether this is the first renewal or every occasion on which the 
authorisation has been renewed previously;

38



27

 any significant changes to the information in the previous 
authorisation;

 why it is necessary to continue with the surveillance;

 the content and value to the investigation or operation of the 
information so far obtained by the surveillance;

 an estimate of the length of time the surveillance will continue to be 
necessary.

Standard Document: See Appendix 4 – Monthly Review Form

4.6 Records and Documentation

4.6.1 All documentation regarding Directed Surveillance should be treated as 
confidential and should be kept accordingly.

4.6.2 Records should be maintained for a period of at least three years from the 
ending of the authorisation.  Where it is believed that the records could be 
relevant to pending or future criminal proceedings, they should be retained 
for a suitable period, commensurate to any subsequent review.

4.6.3 A record of the following information pertaining to all authorisations shall be 
centrally retrievable within the Council for a period of at least three years 
from the ending of each authorisation. This information should be regularly 
updated whenever an authorisation is granted, renewed or cancelled and 
should be made available to the Investigatory Powers Commissioner and 
inspectors who support the work of the Commissioner upon request. More 
guidance on the recording of magistrates’ decisions is available in Home 
Office-issued guidance available on the .gov.uk website.

 the type of authorisation/warrant;

 the date the authorisation was given;

 name and rank/grade of the authorising officer;

 the unique reference number (URN) of the investigation or operation 
(if applicable);

 the title of the investigation or operation, including a brief description 
and names of subjects, if known;

 whether the urgency provisions were used, and if so why;

 details of attendances at the magistrates’ court to include the date of 
attendances at court, the determining magistrate, the decision of the 
court and the time and date of that decision;

39



28

 the dates of any reviews;

 if the authorisation has been renewed, when it was renewed and who 
authorised the renewal, including the name and rank/grade of the 
authorising officer;

 whether the authorised activity is likely to result in obtaining 
confidential or privileged information;

 whether the authorisation was granted by an individual directly 
involved in the investigation;

 the date the authorisation was cancelled;

 where any application is refused, the grounds for refusal as given by 
the issuing authority or Judicial Commissioner;

 a record of whether, following a refusal of any application by a Judicial 
Commissioner, there is an appeal to the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner;

 where there is such an appeal and the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner also refuses the issuing of an application, the grounds 
for refusal given.

4.6.4 If there is any reason to believe that the results obtained during the course 
of investigation might be relevant to that investigation or to another 
investigation or to pending or future civil or criminal proceedings then it 
should not be destroyed but retained in accordance with established 
disclosure requirements.  Particular attention is drawn to the requirements 
of the Code of Practice issued under the Criminal Procedure and 
Investigations Act 1996, which requires that material should be retained if it 
forms part of the unused prosecution material gained in the course of an 
investigation, or which may be relevant to an organisation.

4.6.5 Authorising Officers are reminded of the importance of safeguarding 
confidential and sensitive information.  They must also ensure compliance 
with the appropriate data protection requirements and any relevant codes of 
practice produced by individual authorities in the handling and storage of 
material.  Where material is obtained by surveillance, which is wholly 
unrelated to a criminal or other investigation or to any person who is subject 
of the investigation, and there is no reason to believe it will be relevant to 
future civil or criminal proceedings, it should be destroyed immediately.  
Consideration of whether or not unrelated material should be destroyed is 
the responsibility of the Authorising Officer.

4.6.6 Each Service Department undertaking Directed Surveillance must ensure 
that adequate arrangements are in place for the secure handling, storage 
and destruction of material obtained through the use of covert surveillance.

40



29

4.6.7 There is nothing in the 2000 Act, which prevents results obtained through the proper 
use of the authorisation procedures from being used on other Council Department 
Investigations. However, the disclosure outside of surveillance results obtained by means 
of covert surveillance and its use for other purposes should be authorised only in the most 
exceptional circumstances.  Before doing so the Authorising Officer must be satisfied that 
the release of material outside of the Council, complies with and meets Human Rights Act 
requirements.

4.6.8 The Director is responsible for ensuring that arrangements exist for 
ensuring that no information is stored by the authority, except in so far as is 
necessary for the proper discharge of its functions.  Such persons are also 
responsible for putting arrangements in place to ensure that no information 
is disclosed except in specified circumstances e.g. where it is necessary for 
the proper discharge of the authority’s functions, for the purpose of 
preventing or detecting serious crime for the purpose of any criminal 
proceedings.

4.6.8 A copy of all authorisations must be sent to the Borough Secretary, so that 
there is a central record maintained, and so that in his role as the 
Monitoring Officer he can ensure the Act is being complied with.

Authorisation forms are also open to inspection by the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner’s.

4.7 Monitoring of Authorisations

Information must be supplied to the Monitoring Officer using the forms attached to 
this guidance. The Monitoring Officer will maintain a Central Register of all forms 
completed by the Authorising Officer. Authorising Officers are responsible for 
sending the original authorisation in the appropriate form for each authorisation, 
cancellation and renewal granted, to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion in the 
Central Register and keeping a copy for their own records in the individual 
departments.

A review will be carried out regularly to ensure all forms have been sent for 
inclusion in this Central Register. The Monitoring Officer is required by law to 
ensure that the Council does not act unlawfully.  

Authorising Officers are required to ensure that:-

• Authorisations have been properly cancelled at the end of the period of 
surveillance

• Surveillance does not continue beyond the authorised period

• Current authorisations are regularly reviewed

• At the anniversary of each authorisation, the destruction of the results of 
surveillance operations has been considered

• At the fifth anniversary of each authorisation the destruction of the forms of 
authorisation, renewal or cancellation has been considered.

41



30

The Monitoring Officer will:

• Monitor the authorisations to ensure correct procedure has been followed

• Receive and investigate complaints by members of the public who reasonably 
believe they have been adversely affected by surveillance activities carried 
out by the Council.

The Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office has a duty to keep under review 
the exercise and performance of the Council of its surveillance powers. The 
Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office will regularly inspect the Council and 
may carry out spot checks unannounced.

4.8 Refusals

All refusals to grant authority to undertake Directed Surveillance must be recorded 
and retained for inspection.

4.9 Errors

Regular reviews of errors will be undertaken with a written record made of each 
review.

An error must be reported if it is a “relevant error”, which is defined under section 
231(9) of the IPA as being any error by the Council in complying with any 
requirements that are imposed on it by any enactment which are subject to review 
by a Judicial Commissioner. This would include compliance by public authorities 
with Part II of RIPA. Examples of relevant errors occurring would include 
circumstances where:

 Surveillance or Covert Human Intelligence Source activity has taken place 
without lawful authority.

 There has been a failure to adhere to the safeguards set out in the relevant 
statutory provisions and Codes.

All relevant errors made by the Council of which it is aware must be reported to 
the IPC as soon as reasonably practicable, and no later than ten working days (or 
as agreed with the Commissioner). Where the full facts of the error cannot be 
ascertained within that time, an initial notification must be sent with an estimated 
timescale for the error being reported in full and an explanation of the steps being 
undertaken to establish the full facts of the error.

From the point at which the Council identifies that a relevant error may have 
occurred, it must take steps to confirm the fact of an error as quickly as it is 
reasonably practicable to do so. Where it is subsequently confirmed that an error 
has occurred and that error is notified to the Commissioner, the Council must also 
inform the Commissioner of when it was initially identified that an error may have 
taken place.

42



31

A full report must be sent to the Investigatory Powers Commissioner as soon as 
reasonably practicable in relation to any relevant error, including details of the 
error and, where it has not been possible to provide the full report within ten 
working days (or as agreed with the Commissioner) of establishing the fact of the 
error, the reasons this is the case. The report should include information on the 
cause of the error; the amount of surveillance conducted and material obtained or 
disclosed; any unintended collateral intrusion; any analysis or action taken; 
whether any material has been retained or destroyed; and a summary of the steps 
taken to prevent recurrence.

The Investigatory Powers Commissioner may issue guidance as necessary, 
including guidance on the format of error reports. The Council must have regard to 
any guidance on errors issued by the Investigatory Powers Commissioners.

4.10 Serious Errors

If the Investigatory Powers Commissioner considers that the error is a serious 
error and that it is in the public interest for the person concerned to be informed of 
the error, they must inform them. An error is a serious error where it is considered 
to have caused significant prejudice or harm to the person concerned.

In deciding whether it is in the public interest for the person concerned to be 
informed of the error, the Commissioner must in particular consider:

 The seriousness of the error and its effect on the person concerned;

 The extent to which disclosing the error would be contrary to the public interest 
or prejudicial to:

o national security;

o the prevention or detection of serious crime;

o the economic well-being of the United Kingdom; or

o the continued discharge of the functions of any of the security and 
intelligence services.

Before making his or her decision, the Commissioner must ask the Council to 
make submissions on the matters concerned, and the Council must take all such 
steps as notified to them by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner to help 
identify the subject of a serious error.

When informing a person of a serious error, the Commissioner must inform the 
person of any rights that the person may have to apply to the Investigatory Powers 
Tribunal, and provide such details of the error as the Commissioner considers to 
be necessary for the exercise of those rights.

Breach of RIPA

43



32

Evidence gathered where RIPA has not been complied with may not be 
admissible in Court and could lead to a challenge under Article 8 of the Human 
Rights Act.

Any perceived breach of this policy or the RIPA procedures should be reported to 
the Monitoring Officer in order that he/she may notify the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner immediately

5.      Social Media 
5.1 It is important to be aware that use of social media in an investigation could, 

depending on how it is used and the type of information likely to be obtained, 
constitute covert activity that requires authorisation under RIPA.  

5.2 The rule of thumb, is that researching ‘open source’ material would not require 
authorisation, but return visits in order to build up a profile could change the position 
– this may constitute directed surveillance depending on the circumstances.  
Examples of ‘open source’ material, are materials you could view on social media 
without becoming a friend, subscriber or follower.     

5.3 The internet may be used for intelligence gathering and/or as a surveillance tool. 
Where online monitoring or investigation is conducted covertly for the purpose of a 
specific investigation or operation and is likely to result in the obtaining of private 
information about a person or group, an authorisation for directed surveillance 
should be considered. Where a person acting on behalf of a public authority is 
intending to engage with others online without disclosing his or her identity, a CHIS 
authorisation may be needed

5.4 Where it is intended to access a social media or other online account to which the 
Council has been given access with the consent of the owner, the Council will still 
need to consider whether the account(s) may contain information about others who 
have not given their consent. If there is a likelihood of obtaining private information 
about others, the need for a directed surveillance authorisation should be 
considered, particularly (though not exclusively) where it is intended to monitor the 
account going forward.

5.5 Officers should not use false personae (eg. a false Facebook profile or Twitter 
handle) to disguise their online activities.  False personae should not be used for a 
covert purpose without authorisation.    

5.6 In order to determine whether an authorisation should be sought for accessing 
information on a website as part of a covert investigation or operation, it is 
necessary to look at the intended purpose and scope of the online activity it is 
proposed to undertake. Factors that should be considered in establishing whether a 
directed surveillance authorisation is required include:

• Whether the investigation or research is directed towards an individual or 
organisation;

44



33

• Whether it is likely to result in obtaining private information about a person or 
group of people;

• Whether it is likely to involve visiting internet sites to build up an intelligence 
picture or profile;

• Whether the information obtained will be recorded and retained;

• Whether the information is likely to provide an observer with a pattern of 
lifestyle;

• Whether the information is being combined with other sources of information or 
intelligence, which amounts to information relating to a person’s private life;

• Whether the investigation or research is part of an ongoing piece of work 
involving repeated viewing of the subject(s);

• Whether it is likely to involve identifying and recording information about third 
parties, such as friends and family members of the subject of interest, or 
information posted by third parties, that may include private information and 
therefore constitute collateral intrusion into the privacy of these third parties.

5.6The Home Office Codes of Practice on covert surveillance and CHIS contain essential 
guidance in relation to online covert activity and must be consulted.  

5.7 To ensure that no unauthorised online covert activity takes place within the Council, 
please ensure that legal advice is sought from LGSS Law.  

6.       Safeguards
6.1 Material obtained through surveillance may include private information, legally 

privileged information, or other confidential material including journalistic material 
and constituency business of Members of Parliament.

6.2 The Council must ensure that any information it obtains through surveillance is 
handled in accordance with the safeguards the Council has put in place, any 
relevant frameworks (such as data protection), and the Home Office Codes.

6.3 Dissemination, copying and retention of material must be limited to the minimum 
necessary for authorised purposes. Something is necessary for the authorised 
purposes where the material:

(a) is (or is likely to become) necessary for the surveillance purposes set out in 
the legislation;

(b) is necessary for facilitating the carrying out of the functions of the Council 
under the surveillance legislation;

(c) is necessary for facilitating the carrying out of any functions of the 
Commissioner or Investigatory Powers Tribunal;

45

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covert-surveillance-and-covert-human-intelligence-sources-codes-of-practice


34

(d) is necessary for the purposes of legal proceedings; or

(e) is necessary for the performance of the functions of any person by or under 
any enactment.

Evidence

6.4 When information obtained under a surveillance authorisation is used evidentially, 
the Council should be able to demonstrate how the evidence has been obtained, 
to the extent required by the relevant rules of evidence and disclosure.

6.5 Where the product of surveillance could be relevant to pending or future criminal 
or civil proceedings, it should be retained in accordance with established 
disclosure requirements.

Reviews

6.6 As set out at sections 3.8 and 4.5 of this document and within the Home Office 
Codes, regular reviews of all authorisations should be undertaken during their 
lifetime to assess the necessity and proportionality of the conduct. Particular 
attention should be given to the need to review authorisations frequently where 
they involve a high level of intrusion into private life or significant collateral 
intrusion, or particularly sensitive information is likely to be obtained.

Dissemination of information

6.7 The Council will likely need to share information obtained through surveillance 
within the Council and between the Council and other public bodies where legally 
necessary. This must be limited to the minimum necessary. If a summary of the 
information will be sufficient to meet necessity, no more than that should be 
disclosed.

6.8 When sharing this type of information the Council will ensure that it has 
appropriate safeguards and agreements in place to ensure compliance.

Copying

6.9 Information and material obtained through surveillance must only be copied to the 
extent necessary. Copying includes direct copies as well as summaries and 
extracts.

Storage

6.10 All information and material obtained through surveillance and all copies, extracts 
or summaries must be stored securely to minimise the risk of theft or loss. Only 
those with appropriate legal authority and security clearance should be able to 
access the information.

6.11 The Council will ensure that it has in place:

(a) physical security to protect premises where the information is stored or can be 
accessed;

46



35

(b) IT security to minimise risk around unauthorised access to IT systems;

(c) An appropriate security clearance regime to provide assurance that those who 
have access to the information are reliable and trustworthy.

Destruction

6.12 Information obtained through surveillance, and all copies, extracts and summaries 
which contain such material, should be scheduled for deletion or destruction and 
securely destroyed as soon as they are no longer needed for the authorised 
purpose(s). If such information is retained, it should be reviewed at appropriate 
intervals to confirm that the justification for its retention is still valid.

Confidential or privileged information

6.13 Where the material contains information that is legally privileged, confidential 
journalistic material or where material identifies a journalist’s source, where 
material contains confidential personal information or communications between a 
Member of Parliament and another person on constituency business, 
authorisations can only be granted by the Head of Paid Service.

6.14 Where there is a renewal application in respect of an authorisation which has 
resulted in the obtaining of confidential or legally privileged items, that fact should 
be highlighted in the renewal application.

Confidential personal information and confidential constituent information

6.15 Confidential personal information is information held in confidence concerning an 
individual (whether living or dead) who can be identified from it, and relates to his 
or her physical or mental health or to spiritual counselling. Such information is held 
in confidence if it is held subject to an express or implied undertaking to hold it in 
confidence or it is subject to a restriction on disclosure or any legal obligation of 
confidentiality. For example, confidential personal information might include 
consultations between a health professional and a patient, or information from a 
patient’s medical records.

6.16 Confidential constituent information is information relating to communications 
between a Member of Parliament and a constituent in respect of constituency 
business. Again, such information is held in confidence if it is held subject to an 
express or implied undertaking to hold it in confidence or it is subject to a 
restriction on disclosure or an obligation of confidentiality contained in existing 
legislation.

6.17 The reasons for acquiring information of this type must be clearly documented and 
the specific necessity and proportionality of doing so must be carefully considered.

6.18 Material which has been identified as confidential personal or confidential 
constituent information should be retained only where it is necessary and 
proportionate to do so in accordance with the authorised purpose or where 
otherwise required by law. It should be securely destroyed when its retention is no 
longer needed for those purposes.

47



36

6.19 Where confidential personal or constituent information is retained or disseminated 
to an outside body, reasonable steps should be taken to mark the information as 
confidential. Where there is any doubt as to the lawfulness of the proposed 
handling or dissemination of confidential information, advice should be sought 
from a legal adviser to the Council before any further dissemination of the material 
takes place.

6.20 Any case where confidential personal or constituent information is retained, other 
than for the purpose of destruction, and disseminated should be reported to the 
Investigatory Powers Commissioner as soon as reasonably practicable, and any 
material which has been retained should be made available to the Commissioner 
on request so that the Commissioner can consider whether the correct procedures 
and considerations have been applied.

Applications to acquire material relating to confidential journalistic material 
and journalist sources

6.21 There is a strong public interest in protecting a free press and freedom of 
expression in a democratic society, including the willingness of sources to provide 
information to journalists in confidence.

6.22 Confidential journalistic material includes material acquired or created for the 
purposes of journalism and held subject to an undertaking to hold it in confidence, 
as well as communications resulting in information being acquired for the purposes 
of journalism and held subject to such an undertaking. Confidentiality can continue 
to attach to confidential journalistic material when it is sent to or held by a person 
who is neither the journalist nor the source (for example, a news editor who has 
been sent some notes by a journalist).

6.23 An application for authorisation where the purpose, or one of the purposes, of the 
authorisation is to authorise the acquisition of material of this type must contain a 
statement in those terms. The person to whom the application is made may issue 
the authorisation only if they consider that appropriate safeguards relating to the 
handling, retention, use and disclosure of the material are in place.

6.24 When this type of material is retained and disseminated to an outside body, 
reasonable steps should be taken to mark it as confidential. Where there is any 
doubt as to the lawfulness of the proposed handling or dissemination of such 
information, advice should be sought from a legal adviser to the Council before 
any further dissemination of the content takes place.

6.25 Where this type of information has been obtained and retained, other than for the 
purposes of destruction, the matter should be reported to the Commissioner as 
soon as reasonably practicable.

Items subject to legal privilege

6.26 The acquisition of material subject to legal privilege is particularly sensitive and is 
therefore subject to additional safeguards which provide for three different 
circumstances where legally privileged items will or may be obtained. They are:

48



37

(a) where privileged material is intentionally sought;

(b) where privileged material is likely to be obtained; and

(c) where the purpose or one of the purposes is to obtain items that, if they were 
not generated or held with the intention of furthering a criminal purpose, 
would be subject to privilege.

6.27 Further details and guidance about each of the above circumstances are set out in 
the Home Office Codes.

Covert surveillance of legal consultations

6.28 The 2010 Legal Consultations Order provides that surveillance that is carried out 
in relation to anything taking place on so much of any premises specified in article 
3(2) of the Order as is, at any time during the surveillance, used for the purposes 
of ‘legal consultations’, shall be treated for the purposes of Part II of RIPA as 
intrusive surveillance. As a result, such authorisations are not available to the 
Council.

Lawyers’ material

6.29 Where a lawyer, acting in this professional capacity, is the subject of surveillance, 
it is possible that a substantial proportion of any material which will or could be 
acquired will be subject to legal privilege. In addition to considering the 
applicability of the 2010 Legal Consultations Order, the Council will need to 
consider which of the three circumstances that apply when items subject to legal 
privilege will or may be obtained is relevant, and what processes should therefore 
be followed.

6.30 Any case involving lawyers’ material should also be notified to the Commissioner 
during their next inspection, and any material which has been retained should be 
made available to the Commissioner on request.

Handling, retention, and deletion of legally privileged material

6.31 Additional arrangements apply to legally privileged items where the intention is to 
retain them for a purpose other than their destruction:

(a) A legal adviser to the Council must be consulted and is responsible for 
determining whether that material is privileged;

(b) Material which has been identified as legally privileged (and is being retained 
for purposes other than its destruction) should be clearly marked as subject to 
legal privilege; and

(c) the Investigatory Powers Commissioner must be notified of the retention of the 
items as soon as reasonably practicable.

7. Complaints 

49



38

7.1 Procedure

The Council will maintain the standards set out in this guidance and the current 
Codes of Practice.  The Investigatory Powers Commissioner has responsibility for 
monitoring and reviewing the way the Council exercises the powers and duties 
conferred by the legislation.

Contravention of the RIPA or the IPA (and associated legislation) may be reported 
to the Investigatory Powers Commissioner at:
Investigatory Powers Commissioner's Office

PO Box 29105

London

SW1V 1ZU

Email: info@ipco.org.uk

Telephone: 0207 389 8999

7.2 Contravention of the Data Protection Act 2018 and/or GDPR may also be reported 
to the Information Commissioner.

7.3 However before making such a reference, any person who reasonably believes 
they have been adversely affected by surveillance activity by or on behalf of the 
Council may complain to the Monitoring Officer who will investigate the complaint. 
A complaint concerning a breach of this Policy and Guidance document should be 
made using the Council’s own internal complaints procedure. To request a 
complaints form, please contact the Monitoring Officer/Complaints Officer, 
Northampton Borough Council, The Guildhall, St Giles Square, Northampton NN1 
1DE or telephone 01604 837334.  

Please ensure that this Guidance and the Home Office Codes of Practice are 
available at all offices involved in surveillance operations, and also available 
for public inspection in each department.

50

mailto:info@ipco.org.uk


39

APPENDIX 1

PART II OF THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY
POWERS ACT (RIPA) 2000

APPLICATION FOR AUTHORISATION TO CARRY OUT
DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE

Public Authority
(including full address)

Name of Applicant Unit/Branch/Division

Full Address

Contact Details

Investigation/Operati
on Name (if 
applicable)
Investigating Officer 
(if a person other 
than the applicant)
DETAILS OF APPLICATION
1. Give rank or position of Authorising Officer in accordance with the Regulation 

of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence 
Sources) Order 2010; No. 521 . 

51



40

2. Describe the purpose of the specific operation or investigation.

3.  Has the Directed Surveillance crime threshold been reached?  How? Please 
specify the offence that is being investigated.   

4. Describe in detail the surveillance operation to be authorised and expected 
duration, including any premises, vehicles or equipment (e.g. camera, 
binoculars, recorder) that may be used.

5. The identities, where known, of those to be subject of the directed 
surveillance.

 Name:
 Address:
 DOB:

 Other information as appropriate:

6. Explain the information that it is desired to obtain as a result of the directed 
surveillance.

52



41

7. Explain why this directed surveillance is necessary for the purpose of 
preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder (Section 28(3)(b) 
RIPA).  
(This is the only statutory ground available to local authorities upon which 
applications for directed surveillance may be authorised – SI 2010/521).  

8. Supply details of any potential collateral intrusion and why the intrusion is 
unavoidable. Describe precautions you will take to minimise collateral 
intrusion.

53



42

9. Explain why this directed surveillance is proportionate to what it seeks to 
achieve. How intrusive might it be on the subject of surveillance or on 
others?  And why is this intrusion outweighed by the need for surveillance in 
operational terms or can the evidence be obtained by any other means?

10. Confidential information.
Indicate the likelihood of acquiring any confidential information:

11. Applicant’s Details.

Name (print) Tel No

Grade/Rank Date

Signature

54



43

12. Authorising Officer's Statement. (Spell out the “5 Ws” – Who; What; Where; 
When; Why and How – in this and the following box.)

I hereby authorise directed surveillance defined as follows: (Why is the surveillance 
necessary? Whom is the surveillance directed against? Where and When will it take 
place? What surveillance activity/equipment is sanctioned? How is it to be achieved?)

13. Explain why you believe the directed surveillance is necessary.
Explain why you believe the directed surveillance to be proportionate to what is 
sought to be achieved by carrying it out.

55



44

14. (Confidential Information Authorisation) Supply detail demonstrating 
compliance 

Date of first review

Programme for subsequent reviews of this authorisation: Only complete this box if 
review dates after first review are known. If not or inappropriate to set additional 
review dates then leave blank.

Name (print) Grade/Rank

Signature Date and time

Expiry date and time (eg authorisation 
granted on 1 April 2005 – expires on 30 
June 2005, 23:59)

56



Operation Reference Number* 
(*Filing Ref)

APPENDIX 2

45

PART II OF THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY
POWERS ACT (RIPA) 2000

APPLICATION FOR RENEWAL OF A DIRECTED
SURVEILLANCE AUTHORISATION

(Please attach the original authorisation)

Public Authority
(including full address)

Name of Applicant Unit/Branch/Division

Full Address

Contact Details

Investigation/Operation 
Name (if applicable)

Renewal Number

DETAILS OF RENEWAL
1. Renewal numbers and dates of any previous renewals. 
Renewal Number Date

57



Operation Reference Number* 
(*Filing Ref)

APPENDIX 2

46

2. Detail any significant changes to the information as listed in the original 
authorisation as it applies at the time of the renewal.

3. Detail any significant changes to the information as listed in the original 
authorisation as it applies at the time of the renewal.

4. Detail why the directed surveillance is still proportionate to what it seeks to 
achieve.

5. Indicate the content and value to the investigation or operation of the 
information so far obtained by the directed surveillance.

58



Operation Reference Number* 
(*Filing Ref)

APPENDIX 2

47

6. Give details of the results of the regular reviews of the investigation or 
operation.

7. Applicant’s Details

Name (Print) Tel No

Grade/Rank Date

Signature

8. Authorising Officer’s Comments.  This box must be completed.

59



Operation Reference Number* 
(*Filing Ref)

APPENDIX 2

48

9. Authorising Officer’s Statement.

I, [insert name], hereby authorise the renewal of the directed surveillance operation as 
detailed above.  The renewal of this authorisation will last for 3 months unless renewed 
in writing.

This authorisation will be reviewed frequently to assess the need for the authorisation 
to continue.

Name 
(Print)

Signatu
re

Grade/Rank

Date

Renew
al 
From:

Time: Date:

Date of first review.

Date of subsequent 
reviews of this 
authorisation

60



49

APPENDIX 3
PART II OF THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY

POWERS ACT (RIPA) 2000

CANCELLATION OF A DIRECTED
SURVEILLANCE AUTHORISATION

Public Authority
(including full 
address)

Name of Applicant Unit/Branch/Division

Full Address

Contact Details

Investigation/Oper
ation Name (if 
applicable)

DETAILS OF CANCELLATION
1. Explain the reason(s) for the cancellation of the authorisation: 

61



50

2. Explain the value of surveillance in the operation: 

3. Authorising Officer’s statement. 

I, [insert name], hereby authorise the cancellation of the directed surveillance 
investigation/operation as detailed above.

Name 
(Print)

Signatur
e

Grade

Date

4. Time and Date of when the Authorising Officer instructed the surveillance to 
cease. 

Date: Time:

5. Authorisation 
cancelled

Date: Time:

62



APPENDIX 4
PART II OF THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY

POWERS ACT (RIPA) 2000

REVIEW OF A DIRECTED
SURVEILLANCE AUTHORISATION

Public Authority
(including full address)

Name of Applicant Unit/Branch/Division

Full Address

Contact Details

Operation Name Operation Number*
*Filing Ref

Date of authorisation or last 
renewal

Expiry date of 
authorisation or last 
renewal

Review Number

DETAILS OF REVIEW
1. Explain the reason(s) for the cancellation of the authorisation: 
Review Number Date

63



52

2. Summary of the investigation/operation to date, including what private 
information has been obtained and the value of the information so far 
obtained. 

3. Detail the reasons why it is necessary to continue with the directed 
surveillance. 

4. Explain how the proposed activity is still proportionate to what it seeks to 
achieve. 

5. Detail any incidents of collateral intrusion and the likelihood of any further 
incidents of collateral intrusions occurring 

6. Give details of any confidential information acquired or accessed and the 

64



53

likelihood of acquiring confidential information 

7. Applicant’s Details

Name (Print) Tel No

Grade/Rank Date

Signature

8. Review Officer’s Comments, including whether or not the directed 
surveillance should continue.

9. Authorising Officer’s Statement.

I, [insert name], hereby agree that the directed surveillance investigation/operation as 
detailed above [should/should not] continue [until its next review/renewal][it should be 
cancelled immediately].

 Name 
(Print)

Signature

Grade/Rank

Date

10. Date of next review.

65



54

Authorising Officer must: 
Cancel authorisation when 
it is no longer necessary or 
proportionate to need the 
same.

FLOW-CHART – AUTHORISATION PROCEDURES - GENERAL                           APPENDIX 5a 

Requesting Officer ('the Applicant') must:
 Read the Surveillance Policy and be aware of any other relevant guidance.
 Determine that directed surveillance and/or a CHIS authorisation is required.
 Assess whether authorisation is necessary under RIPA and whether the surveillance could be done 

overtly.
 Consider whether surveillance is necessary and proportionate (if in doubt consult Legal Services) 

Authorising Officer must:
 Consider in detail whether all options have been duly considered, including taking into account 

the Surveillance Policy and any other relevant guidance
 Consider whether the proposed surveillance is necessary and proportionate.
 Authorise only if an overt or less intrusive option is not practicable.
 Sign approval and record in Central Register
 Set an appropriate review date (normally one month after authorisation date) 

NB: If in doubt, seek advice from the Borough Solicitor / Monitoring Officer BEFORE any directed 
surveillance and or CHIS is authorised, renewed, cancelled, or rejected.

FLOW-CHART – DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE AUTHORISATION PROCEDURES      APPENDIX 5b
 

If a less intrusive 
option is available 
and practicable 
use that option!

If authorisation is necessary and 
proportionate, prepare and submit an 
application for approval to the Authorising 
Officer

The Applicant must:
REVIEW REGULARLY 
(complete Review Form) 
and submit to Authorised 
Officer on date set.

The Applicant must:
If operation is no longer 
necessary or 
proportionate, complete 
CANCELLATION FORM 
and submit to Authorised 
Officer

Authorising Officer must: 
If surveillance is still 
necessary and 
proportionate:
 Review authorisation
 Set an appropriate 

further review date

ESSENTIAL

Originals of all 
forms (and any 
signed order of the 
Justice of the 
Peace) must be sent 
to the Monitoring 
Officer for inclusion 
in the Central 
Record.

Authorising Officers 
to retain a copy of 
each form

Authorising Officer must: when proposing to approve an application for the use of directed 
surveillance or for the use of a Covert Human Intelligence Source immediately inform the Monitoring 
Officer who must then make arrangements for an application to be made by the Council’s lawyers to 
the Magistrates Court for an order to approve the authorisation to be made.

If the Magistrates Court approve the authorisation/renewal:

Requesting Officer (“the Applicant”) must:
 Read the RIPA Policy document and be aware of any other guidance issued by the Borough Secretary & 

Monitoring Officer
 Determine that directed surveillance is required. (For CHIS, see Appendix 5c)
 Assess whether authorisation will be in accordance with the law and satisfies the directed crime threshold 
 Assess whether authorisation is necessary under RIPA or whether it could be done overtly
 Consider whether surveillance will be proportionate

66



55

FLOW-CHART – CHIS AUTHORISATION PROCEDURES                                   APPENDIX 5C

If a less intrusive option 
is available and 
practicable: use that 
option!

If authorisation is necessary 
and proportionate, prepare and 
submit an application to the 
Authorising Officer.

Authorising Officer must:
 Consider the RIPA Policy and any other guidance issued by the Borough Secretary 

& Monitoring Officer  and  whether all options have been duly considered
 Consider whether proposed surveillance is in accordance with the law, necessary 

and proportionate
 Authorise only if an overt or less intrusive option is not practicable
 Set an appropriate review date 

The Applicant must:
REVIEW REGULARLY
Complete Review Form and 
submit to Authorising  Officer on 
date set

The Applicant must:
Complete CANCELLATION FORM and 
submit to Authorising Officer if operation is 
no longer necessary or proportionate.

Authorising Officer must: 
If surveillance is still necessary 
and proportionate after 
authorised period:

 Renew authorisation
 Set an appropriate 

further review date and 
use appropriate form

ESSENTIAL
Applications for Directed 
Surveillance 
authorisations will be 
entered onto a secure 
electronic database (the 
Central Register) 
maintained by the 
Borough Secretary’s 
Department.  The 
Applicant will be given a 
unique reference 
number.  Originals of all 
forms (including when 
authorisation has been 
refused) and any 
signed order of the 
Justice of the Peace) 
must be sent to the 
Monitoring Officer for 
inclusion in the Central 
Record.  

Authorising Officer must:
Cancel authorisation when activity 
is no longer necessary or 
proportionate

DON’T FORGET: All authorisations and renewals must also be approved 
externally by a Magistrate/Justice of the Peace before they can take effect.

If the Magistrates Court approve the authorisation:

Requesting Officer (“The Applicant”) must:
 Read the RIPA Policy document and be aware of any other guidance issued by the Borough Secretary 

and Monitoring Officer
 Determine that deployment of CHIS is required 
 Assess whether authorisation will be in accordance with the law 
 Assess whether authorisation is necessary under RIPA or whether it could be done overtly
 Consider whether surveillance will be proportionate

67



56

APPENDIX 6

If a less intrusive option 
is available and 
practicable: use that 
option!

If authorisation is necessary 
and proportionate prepare and 
submit an application to the 
Authorising Officer

Authorising Officer must:
 Consider the RIPA Policy and any other guidance issued by the Borough Secretary 

& Monitoring Officer  and  whether all options have been duly considered
 Consider whether proposed use of CHIS is in accordance with the law, necessary 

and proportionate
 Authorise only if an overt or less intrusive option is not practicable
 Set an appropriate review date 


The Applicant must:
REVIEW REGULARLY
Complete Review Form and submit to 
Authorising Officer on date set

The Applicant must:
Complete CANCELLATION FORM and 
submit to Authorising Officer if operation is 
no longer necessary or proportionate.

Authorising Officer must: 
If surveillance is still necessary and 
proportionate after authorised period:

 Renew authorisation
 Set an appropriate further review 

date and use appropriate form

Authorising Officer must:
Cancel authorisation when 
activity is no longer 
necessary or proportionate 
to need the same

DON’T FORGET: All authorisations and renewals must also be approved 
externally by a Magistrate/Justice of the Peace before they can take effect.

If the Magistrates Court approve the authorisation:

ESSENTIAL
Applications for 
Directed Surveillance 
authorisations will be 
entered onto a secure 
electronic database  
(the Central Register) 
maintained by the 
Borough Secretary’s 
Department.  The 
Applicant will be given 
a unique reference 
number.  Originals of 
all forms (including 
when authorisation 
has been refused) 
and any signed order 
of the Justice of the 
Peace) must be sent 
to the Monitoring 
Officer for inclusion 
in the Central 
Record.  

68



57

Application for judicial approval

Application for judicial approval for authorisation to obtain or disclose 
communications data, to use a covert human intelligence source or to conduct 
directed surveillance. Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 sections 23A, 
23B, 32A, 32B.

Local authority:................................
Local authority department:................................
Offence under investigation:................................
Address of premises or identity of suspect:................................
................................
................................
Covert technique requested: (tick one and specify details)

Communications Data [ ]
Covert Human Intelligence Source [ ]
Directed Surveillance [ ]

Summary of details
................................................................................................................................................
................................................................................................................................................
................................................................................................................................................
................................................................................................................................................
................................................................................................................................................
................................................................................................................................................

Note: this application should be read in conjunction with the attached RIPA 
authorisation/RIPA application or notice.

Investigating Officer:................................
Authorising Officer/Designated Person:................................
Officer(s) appearing before JP:................................
Address of applicant department:...........................................................................................
................................................................................................................................................
Contact telephone number:................................
Contact email address (optional):................................
Local authority reference:................................
Number of pages:................................

APPENDIX 7

69



58

This flow chart is an extract from the October 2012 Home Office publication “Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 – changes to provisions 
under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) – Home Office guidance to local authorities in England and Wales on 
the judicial approval process for RIPA and the crime threshold for directed surveillance”.     
 

70



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Service Area:

Accountable Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

16 October 2019

YES

YES

NO

Chief Executive

Cllr Anna King

All Wards

1. Purpose

1.1 To seek permission to commence a consultation process regarding the review 
of the current Public Spaces protection Order (PSPO) (2017) which will expire 
on 31 March 2020 within the Borough of Northampton pursuant to provisions 
of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 2014.  In addition, to seek 
the views of the general public on the additional behaviours of busking and 
cycling on pavements which have been the subject of complaints from 
members of the public.

2. Recommendations

2.1 Cabinet are recommended to

2.1.1 Authorise the Chief Executive to undertake a 12 week consultation period 
regarding whether the review of current PSPO 2017 under the Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 2014 should be renewed for a further three 
years and whether any additional activities or behaviour ought to be included 
in it as detailed in Appendix 1.

2.1.2 In addition, authorise the consultation on additional behaviours which have 
been brought to our attention (busking, cycling on pavements).

Report Title Review of Public Spaces Protection Order 2017

Appendices
1

71

Agenda Item 8



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

2.1.3 Receive a further report, following completion of the statutory public 
consultation, which considers any representations received and, if appropriate, 
seek approval of the PSPO(s).

3. Issues and Choices

3.1 Report Background

3.1.1 On 20 October 2014 the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 2014 
came into force.  The purpose of the Act is to give Local Authorities and the 
Police more effective powers to tackle anti-social behaviour (ASB), providing 
better protection for victims.

3.1.2 Amongst these new tools and powers are PSPOs which are designed to stop 
all individuals or a specific class of persons committing anti-social behavour in 
a public space.  

3.1.3 The criteria that must be satisfied when considering whether to make a PSPO 
is whether a particular activity or activities has or is likely to have a detrimental 
effect on the quality of life of those in the locality and that the activity is or is 
likely to be persistent or continuing in nature or that the activity is 
unreasonable and any restriction is justified.

3.1.4 There is a requirement to undertake a statutory public consultation exercise.  
The Council must consult with the following for the proposed area to be 
restricted:-
(a) the chief officer of police, and the local policing body for the area 
(b) whatever community representatives the local authority thinks it 

appropriate to consult 
(c) the owner or occupier of land within the area
(d) the parish council or community council (if any) for the area and
(e) the county council (if any) for the area.

3.1.5 PSPOs provide Councils with a flexible power to implement local restrictions 
to address a range of anti-social behaviour issues in public places in order to 
prevent future problems.

3.1.6 It is important that PSPOs are used proportionately and that they are not seen 
to be targeting behaviour of the children/young people where there is a lack of 
tolerance and understanding by local people.

3.1.7 Restrictions and requirements can be placed on an area where activities have, 
or are likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of local people, is 
persistent or continuing in nature and is unreasonable.  These can be blanket 
restrictions or requirements or can be targeted against certain behaviours or 
certain groups at certain times.

3.1.8 The legislation provides they can be extended at the end of the period, but 
only for a further maximum of up to three years.  However, Orders can be 
extended more than once.  Local Authorities can increase or reduce the 

72



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

restricted area of an existing Order, amend or remove a prohibition or 
requirement, or add a new prohibition or requirement.  They can also 
discharge an Order.  Both variation and discharge of an Order are subject to 
statutory consultation requirements.

3.1.9 Enforcement may be shared between the Council and the Police.  Breach of a 
PSPO is a criminal offence which can result in the issuing of a Fixed Penalty 
Notice (FPN) or a prosecution resulting in a fine of up to £1,000 on conviction.  
Enforcement can be undertaken by Council Officers, any person designated 
by a local authority for the purpose of issuing fines for breaches of a PSPO, 
and Police Officers.

3.1.10 Before making the Order, the local authority must notify potentially affected 
people of the proposed Order and notify them of how long they have to make 
representations.  Officers will then consider any representations made with the 
intention of bringing a report back to Cabinet.

3.1.11 Consultation will last 12 weeks and will be carried out on Survey Monkey via 
the Council’s website and promoted through Facebook and Twitter.  
Community groups, Parish Councils, Residents Associations, Park 
Management Committees and Friends of groups will all be notified. 

3.2 Issues

3.2.1 The current PSPO allows for greater enforcement and control of certain 
behaviours seen to be anti-social behaviour and it would be beneficial to 
continue with a PSPO.  However, we need to ensure the PSPO is relevant and 
up to date with current issues facing our residents and visitors to the town.

3.2.2 Cycling on pavements continues to be an issue in the Town Centre and along 
Kingsley front.  This offence of committing nuisance by wilfully riding on a 
footpath is currently technically enforceable by the Police under Section 72 of 
the Highway Act 1835, but the Council would not be seeking to simply 
replicate this offence as a prohibition.  The PSPO would also allow 
enforcement by way of issuing a fixed penalty notice by accredited Council 
Officers as well as Police Officers.

3.2.3 Busking can add to the good feel of the town.  The PSPO proposed 
consultation will ask businesses, residents and users of the town centre 
whether they think the Council ought to have powers to manage buskers more 
effectively so that they do not stay in one place for too long with a suggested 
time of 2 hours.  The consultation will also seek views on allowing a non-
busking period on a particular day/time (yet to be determined) to allow 
Northampton to become an autism friendly town.

3.2.4 The general public will also be asked to consider the use of amplifiers by 
buskers following complaints.

3.3    Choices (Options)

3.3.1 Do nothing – the current PSPO will naturally expire on 31 March 2020.  The 
conduct prohibited in the Order will be prohibited no longer.

73



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

3.3.2 Commence a consultation review on PSPO 2017 as set out in Appendix 1 and 
ask for views on 2 additional behaviours for possible inclusion in a new PSPO, 
namely busking in the town centre and cycling on pavements in certain 
specific areas with the intention of creating new themed PSPOs for the 
Borough as follows – 

 Intoxicating substances
 Begging in the town centre and on Kingsley Front.
 Dogs 
 Urinating and defecating in a public space
 Busking in the town centre
 Cycling on pavements
 Spitting 

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1   Policy

4.1.1 This approach supports the multi-agency Countywide Anti-Social Behaviour 
Policy that Northampton Borough Council is signed up to.

4.2     Resources and Risk

4.2.1 A PSPO can be enforced by both Police and Council. The Council will be the 
agency to process the Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN’s), regardless of which 
agency issues them as agreed for PSPO1.

4.2.2 There is a financial implication in that the PSPO areas will require signage to 
allow enforcement to take place.  The cost is estimated at £9.50 a sign. How 
many signs required depends on results of consultation. 

4.2.3 Any income generated by payment of FPN’s must be directed back into the 
management of the PSPO process.

4.2.4 Any additional costs will be met from existing community safety budgets 
already in place for activity of this nature.

4.3 Legal

4.3.1 A PSPO can be made by a Local Authority (Section 59) if satisfied on 
reasonable grounds that two conditions are met.  Firstly that –
(a) Activities carried out in a public place within the authority’s area have had a 

detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality; and
(b) It is likely that activities will be carried on in a public place within that area 

and that they will have such an effect.

4.3.2 The second condition is that the effect of the activities is, or is likely to be, of a 
persistent or continuing nature such as to make the activities unreasonable 
and therefore justifies the restrictions imposed by the notice.

74



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

4.3.3 There is a statutory requirement for a local authority to consult with the 
persons or public bodies identified in 3.1.4 above before considering whether it 
would be necessary to make a PSPO.

4.3.4 The statutory consultation and consideration of any representations received 
is important because, if a PSPO is eventually made, it can be challenged in 
the High Court by any interested person directly affected by the making of the 
Order within 6 weeks of the Order being made. 

4.3.5 The text of the Order, if made, must be published.

4.4 Equality and Health

4.4.1 Incidents of ASB will continue to be dealt with in line with the Council’s 
equalities framework.

4.4.2 These legislative changes are designed to have a significant community 
impact in preventing and limiting anti-social behaviour.

4.5 Consultees (Internal and External)

Director of Customers & Communities, NBC
Legal Services, LGSS
Finance, LGSS
Environmental Health & Licensing Manager, NBC
Northamptonshire Police
Cabinet Member for Community Safety, NBC
Town Centre Manager, NBC
Direct Services Manager, NBC
Head of Service for Housing and Wellbeing, NBC

4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

One of the Council’s priorities is ‘invest in safer, cleaner neighbourhoods’ and 
the PSPO would contribute to this priority.

4.7 Other Implications

4.7.1 Information technology – The Council’s website and social media channels will 
be utilised for the consultation process.

5. Background Papers

5.1.1 Anti-Social Crime & Policing Act 2014.

5.1.2 Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 2014: Reform of anti-social 
behaviour powers statutory guidance for frontline professionals.

6. Next Steps

75



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

6.1 Following the consultation period and consideration of any representations 
received, Cabinet will be asked to approve PSPO.

George Candler
Chief Executive

01604 838725

Appendices:-
1: PSPO 2017 – existing PSOP expiring in March 2020.

76



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

APPENDIX 1 - PSPO 2017 – existing PSOP expiring in March 2020

Public Spaces Protection Order
Covering the Borough of Northampton

 
Northampton Borough Council ("the Council") makes the following Public Spaces 
Protection Order under section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act 2014 (“the Act"): 

1. The land described by the appendices map(s) being land in the area of the Council 
is land to which the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 applies 
and will be protected by this Order. 

2. The Order may be cited as the Northampton Borough Council Public Spaces 
Protection Order for the Borough.

By this Order

3.  The following conditions are imposed on the use of the land: 

(a) In this area any person who continues to carry out activities from which they are 
prohibited commits an offence namely; 

I. Persons within the area (Appendix 1) will not ingest, inject, smoke or 
otherwise use intoxicating substances. Intoxicating substances being 
defined as substances with the capacity to stimulate or depress the central 
nervous system (i.e. alcohol, illegal drugs or psychoactive substances). 
Psychoactive substances - commonly referred to previously as ‘legal 
highs’- but does not include tobacco or prescription medication.

II. Persons within this area (Appendix 1) will not have in their possession any 
open containers of intoxicating substances as defined in paragraph 3(a)(I) 

III. Persons within the area (Appendix 1) will not have any item that can be 
used to assist in the taking of intoxicating substances defined in paragraph 
3(a)(I) above. This includes any device for smoking substances other than 
e-cigarettes, it also includes needles - save for those packaged and sealed 
by the manufacturer and stored in a hard case. 

IV. No person shall urinate or defecate in any public place (Appendix 1); this 
does not include public toilets. 

V. Persons within the town centre tennis racquet area (Appendix 1A) will not 
place themselves with the intention to make any verbal, non-verbal or 

77



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

written request from a standing, sitting or lying-down position for money, 
donations or goods – including the placing of hats or containers for money.

VI. Persons within the Kingsley shopping area (Appendix 1B) will not place 
themselves with the intention to make any verbal, non-verbal or written 
request from a standing, sitting or lying-down position for money, donations 
or goods – including the placing of hats or containers for money

VII. Persons who are in charge of a dog must remove its faeces from the land 
(Appendix 1) forthwith unless:

a. there is reasonable excuse for failing to do so (not being in 
possession of a bag to remove the faeces would not be 
acceptable); or 

b. the owner, occupier or other person or authority having control of 
the land has consented (generally or specifically) to his failing to do 
so

VIII. A person in charge of a dog on land detailed below must keep the dog on 
a lead in:

a. all children’s play areas in public parks
b. all cemeteries
c. Northampton town centre (tennis racquet area, Appendix 1A)

(b) In this area any person who fails to comply with any requirement within the 
Order commits an offence if they fail to adhere to the following; 

i. Persons within the area will, on the request of a Police Officer, Police 
Community Support Officer or an authorised Council Officer surrender 
any open containers of intoxicating substances in their possession. 

ii. Persons within the area will, on the request of a Police Officer, Police 
Community Support Officer or an authorised Council Officer surrender 
any item used to assist in the taking of intoxicating substances and 
comply immediately with the reasonable request of the requestor to 
secure safe disposal of any needles in their possession not sealed and 
stored as directed in Paragraph 3(a)(III) 

iii. Persons within the area will, on the request of a Police Officer, Police 
Community Support Officer or an authorised Council Officer cease 
drinking alcohol and will dispose of or surrender any containers of alcohol 
in their possession. 

This Order is subject to the Exemptions at Appendix 2

4. A person guilty of an offence of failing to comply with the Order under Section 
67 of the Act, is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 
3 on the standard scale (currently £1,000.00) or if in receipt of a 
Fixed Penalty Notice to a penalty of a maximum £100.00.  

78



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

i. No proceedings may be taken for the offence before the end of the 14 
day period following the date of notice; and

ii. The person may not be convicted of the offence if the person pays the 
fixed penalty before the end of that period.

5. Any person who without reasonable excuse continues consuming alcohol in 
breach of this Order in the Order area when asked to desist by a Police 
Officer, Police Community Support Officer or authorised person from the 
Council under Section 63, or fails to surrender any alcohol in his possession 
when asked to do so by a Police Officer, Police Community Support Officer or 
authorised person from the Council under Section 63 commits an offence and 
is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard 
scale (currently £500.00) or if in receipt of a Fixed Penalty Notice to a penalty 
of a maximum of £100.00. 

6. In consulting regarding this Order before it was made the Council has had 
particular regard to the rights of freedom of expression and freedom of 
assembly set out in Articles 10 and 11 of the European Convention on Human 
Rights.

.
 

Dated ……………………………………….

Signed ……………………………………………………….
David Kennedy
Chief Executive
Northampton Borough Council

79



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Directorate:

Accountable Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

16 October 2019

Yes

Yes 

No

Community Safety & Engagement 

Cllr Anna King

Castle

1. Purpose

1.1 To ask Cabinet to agree to make a Public Spaces Protection Order (“PSPO”) 
as set out in sections 59 to 68 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014 (“the Act”) in order to restrict the public right of way over the 
highway known as Jeyes Jetty, which runs from The Drapery to College 
Street.

2. Recommendations

That Cabinet:

2.1.1 Resolve to make a PSPO as per Appendix 1 to this report restricting the public 
right of way over Jeyes Jetty for a period of three years after taking into 
account the results of a public consultation carried out between 19th June and 
11th September 2019.

Report Title PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER – JEYES JETTY

Appendices - 4

81

Agenda Item 9



2

2.1.2 Resolve to delegate to the Borough Secretary the authority to comply with all 
legal steps and processes required by Chapter 2 of Part 4 of the Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 for the Council to make a PSPO 
restricting the public right of way over Jeyes Jetty for a period of three years 
as per Appendix 1 in order to give effect to the decision at 2.1.1. 

2.1.3 Resolve to delegate to the Chief Executive authority to make an application for 
listed building planning permission for the installation of secure gates at each 
end of Jeyes Jetty and, subject to approval being granted, arrange for the 
installation, operation and maintenance of said gates.

2.1.4 Resolve to delegate to the Chief Executive authority to enforce a PSPO made 
under the power delegated at 2.2 and to authorise Council officers and 
appropriately trained external contractors working on behalf of the Council as 
authorised persons to issue fixed penalties of £100 to any person suspected 
of committing an offence under section 67 of the Act.

3. Issues and Choices

3.1 Report Background

3.1.1 On 20th October 2014 the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
came into force.  The purpose of the Act is to give local authorities and the 
Police more effective powers to tackle anti-social behaviour (“ASB”), providing 
better protection for victims. Amongst these new tools and powers are 
PSPOs, which are designed to stop all individuals or a specific class of 
persons committing anti-social behaviour in a public space. 

3.1.2 The statutory criteria that must be satisfied when considering whether to 
make a PSPO is whether a particular activity is likely to have a detrimental 
effect on the quality of life of those in the locality and that the activity is or is 
likely to be persistent or continuing in nature or that the activity is 
unreasonable and any restriction is justified.

3.1.3 There is a requirement to undertake a statutory public consultation exercise 
and to consider any responses prior to making any PSPO. The Council must 
consult with the following for the proposed area to be restricted;

 (a) the chief officer of police, and the local policing body for the area;

(b) whatever community representatives the local authority thinks it 
appropriate to consult;

(c) the owner or occupier of land within the area;

(d) the parish council or community council (if any) for the area and 

(e) the county council (if any) for the area.

82



3

3.1.4 PSPOs provide Councils with a flexible power to implement local restrictions 
to address a range of anti-social behaviour issues in public places in order to 
prevent future problems. It is important that PSPOs are used proportionately 
and that they are not seen to be targeting behaviour of the children/young 
people where there is a lack of tolerance and understanding by local people.

3.1.5 Restrictions and requirements can be placed on an area where activities 
have, or are likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of local 
people, is persistent or continuing in nature and is unreasonable.  These can 
be blanket restrictions or requirements or can be targeted against certain 
behaviours or certain groups at certain times.

3.1.6 The legislation provides they can be extended at the end of the period, but 
only for a further maximum period of up to three years. However, Orders can 
be extended more than once. Local authorities can increase or reduce the 
restricted area of an existing order, amend or remove a prohibition or 
requirement, or add a new prohibition or requirement. They can also 
discharge an order. Both variation and discharge of an Order are subject to 
statutory consultation requirements.

3.1.7 Enforcement may be shared between the Council and the Police. Breach of a 
PSPO is a criminal offence which can result in the issuing of a Fixed Penalty 
Notice (“FPN”) for a maximum of £100 or a prosecution resulting in a fine of 
up to £1,000 on conviction.  Enforcement can be undertaken by Council 
Officers and any person designated by a local authority for the purpose of 
issuing fines for breaches of a PSPO and Police officers.

3.1.8 Once the PSPO has been made the Council must publish it on its website and 
erect notice or notices on or adjacent to Jeyes Jetty setting out the effect of 
the order. On 22 May 2019 Cabinet authorised the undertaking of a statutory 
consultation on the introduction of a PSPO to restrict the public right of way 
over Jeyes Jetty.

3.2 Outcome of Consultation

3.2.1 The Council engaged in a 12 week online public consultation via an open 
access online survey using ‘Survey Monkey’.  This was promoted through;

 Council’s social media sites
 Councillors for the Ward
 Adjacent businesses & residents
 Community Safety Partnership
 Town Centre Tasking Group
 Council Officers
 Northamptonshire Office of Police & Crime Commissioner
 Northamptonshire Police
 Northamptonshire County Council
 Members of the public
 Local press and media channels
 Northampton Town Centre BID

83



4

Paper copies of the consultation were also made available on request and 
were also posted through the letterboxes of residents living in the immediate 
vicinity of Jeyes Jetty.

3.2.2 The consultation sought views on the levels and frequency of ASB witnessed 
and reported to the Council, views on the acceptability of the reasonable 
alternative route and also asked for other comments and ideas for dealing with 
ASB issues in Jeyes Jetty. Full results of the consultation are available to view 
in Appendices 2 and 3. The Council received 188 responses to this 
consultation in total.

3.2.3 81.9% of the responders felt that anti-social behaviour was a problem in Jeyes 
Jetty, whilst 47.9% had directly experienced anti-social behaviour there.

3.2.4 Below provides a summary of incidents that have specifically taken place in 
the last 12 months;

 Crimes and Incidents at 
Jeyes Jetty in the Central 
Area of Northampton 
between 24/09/2018 –
24/09/2019

Crime Type Details

2019-02 Violence with injury Male is enticed down an 
alley way by 5 or 6 known 
males and beaten up. 

2019-02 Robbery of Personal 
Property

Male caller is walking down 
an alleyway near to the 
drapery McDonalds when 
he a male approaches him, 
trips him over, and while 
the ip is on the floor, the 
suspect takes his rucksack 
and runs off with the bag 
and contents. Nothing of 
value inside the bag. 

2019-03 Other Sexual Offences Male i/p was urinating in 
the alleyway between 
Timpson's and McDonalds 
when a white male who 
had also been urinating 
came and stood by the side 
of the i/p and tried to grab 
his penis. I/p challenged 
the male and he tried to 
laugh it off before running 
to get in to a taxi.

2019-04 Drug Possession In enclosed area of college 

84



5

street and the alleyway that 
leads to drapery, 
Northampton strong smell 
of cannabis and only male 
smoking in the area is 
spoken to who states "he is 
just finishing his spliff."

2019-01 Suspicious Circumstances Deliberate fire reported at 
Jeyes Jetty which is an 
alleyway leading from the 
Drapery through to College 
Street. 

2019-04 Concern for Safety Wallet was stolen from IP 
whilst walking through the 
alleyway towards College 
Street.

2019-04 Rowdy or Inconsiderate 
Behaviour

Screaming and breaking 
glass –caller reported male 
and female voices 
screaming and shouting in 
the alleyway leading to 
College Street. Caller also 
heard breaking glass. 
Caller can't see anyone but 
he can hear 

3.2.5 70.21% of respondents support the closure of Jeyes Jetty, 24 hours a day, 7 
days a week. 73.36% of the respondents agreed that there is a suitable 
alternative route. 31 additional comments were made by members of the 
public supporting the closure of the alleyway (under the any further comments 
to be made question).

3.2.6 9.57% of the responders felt that anti-social behaviour isn’t a problem in Jeyes 
Jetty and 51.6% haven’t directly experienced anti-social behaviour in Jeyes 
Jetty. 

3.2.7 42 comments were received to the alternative proposal question. These 
comments included the installation of CCTV, lighting, daily street-cleaning and 
policing. 7 of the respondents suggested temporary closure, just of an 
evening.  

3.2.8 In summary, the public consultation supports the making of a PSPO with 
70.21% of respondents in favour of gating Jeyes Jetty for 24 hours a day, 7 
days a week.  47.87% of 188 respondents suffered ASB in Jeyes Jetty. 
Further details of the consultation responses can be seen in Appendix 2 and 
responses from statutory consultees in Appendix 3.

3.2.9 The Jetty is in the All Saints Conservation Area and is adjacent to a Grade II 
Listed Building. The public consultation highlights the historic significance of 

85



6

the route. As a result it is important to note that whilst access would be 
restricted, the design of the gates would be such as to enable a visual 
appreciation of the historic route.

3.3 Choices (Options)

3.3.1 Cabinet can decide to do nothing, taking into the representations objecting to 
the making of a PSPO restricting access to Jeyes Jetty.  However, this is not 
recommended because it would not meet the needs of the wider community or 
address the ASB issues and criminal activities being experienced in Jeyes 
Jetty on a regular basis. The negative responses suggest that the PSPO 
would remove a much needed route between Derngate and College Street 
and that it would result in the loss of a historic asset. However, it would seem 
sensible to reject these on the grounds that a suitable alternative route 
between Derngate and College Street is available via Gold Street and that the 
Council’s duty to prevent ASB and crime outweighs the benefit in keeping the 
alleyway, albeit a historically significant one, open. The alleyway, as 
previously mentioned, will be preserved and fitted with secure ornate gates. 
Rights of public access over the alleyway are not being removed completely 
and any PSPO can only last a maximum of three years before it must be 
reviewed and, if appropriate, renewed following a full statutory consultation 
process.

3.2.2 Cabinet can decide to make a PSPO to remove the public right of way over 
Jeyes Jetty for a period of 3 years as per the draft PSPO at Appendix 1 and 
also to install gates to restrict access, as supported by all of the statutory 
consultees and 70.21% of responses to the public consultation. This is 
recommended as it will remove the alley as a site of anti-social and criminal 
behaviour for a period of three years. Emergency services and employees of 
local businesses will continue to have access to Jeyes Jetty.

3.2.3 Cabinet can decide to make a PSPO restricting the public right of way 
between specific times of the day in order to try and reduce ASB in the 
alleyway but still allow it to be used as a public right of way at certain times. 
However, this is not recommended because the evidence indicates that anti-
social behaviour takes place in the alleyway throughout the day and that only 
gating for specific hours would not completely eradicate the criminal activity 
and ASB that is taking place.  

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1 Policy

4.1.1 The approach supports the multi-agency Countywide Anti-Social Behaviour 
Policy that Northampton Borough Council is signed up to.

4.1.2 Under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, any local authorities 
have a statutory duty to;

86



7

 “exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the 
exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to 
prevent crime and disorder in its area, including anti-social and other 
behaviour adversely affecting the local environment, the misuse of drugs , 
alcohol and other substances and re-offending ”. 

In practice, the Council works in partnership with statutory, non-statutory, 
community and voluntary agencies to develop and implement strategies and 
policies for tackling crime, disorder and ASB.

4.1.3 Should the PSPO made, listed building planning permission pursuant to 
section 57 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 will be required before 
the Council can install gates at either end of Jeyes Jetty in order to restrict 
access. Installation of these gates does not qualify as permitted development 
pursuant to the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as advised by NBC Planning.

4.2 Resources and Risk

4.2.2 A PSPO can be enforced by both the Police and appropriately authorised 
Council officers or external contractors. The aim is that the Council will be the 
agency to process any Fixed Penalty Notices (“FPNs”) issued to any person 
found to have breached the PSPO, as an alternative to prosecution, 
regardless of which agency issues them, but this has yet to be agreed with the 
Police.  

4.2.3 There are financial implications for the Council with regard to making an 
application for listed building planning permission, purchasing two sets of 
gates and installation and ongoing maintenance of the same. Initial costs will 
be covered from the Community Safety budget and ongoing maintenance 
costs from the PSPO FPN pot. Three quotes will be obtained for cost and 
installation of the gates, this is expected to be approximately £15,000 to 
£18,000. 

4.2.4 It would be very difficult to make any projection as to the number of FPNs that 
will be issued and therefore what income can be reasonably be expected to be 
generated through the making of this PSPO. Any income generated by 
payment of FPN’s for a PSPO is not required to be directed back into 
management of the PSPO process as the 2014 Act is silent on this issue.

4.3 Legal

4.3.1 A PSPO can be made by a Local Authority under section 59 of the Act for a 
maximum of three years if it is satisfied on reasonable grounds that two 
conditions are met.  Firstly, that;

(i) Activities carried on in a public place within the authority’s area have 
had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality; or

(ii) It is likely that activities will be carried on in a public place within that 
area and that they will have such an effect

87



8

The second condition is that the effect of the activities is, or is likely to be, of a 
persistent or continuing nature such as to make the activities unreasonable 
and therefore justifies the restrictions imposed by the notice.

4.3.2 A prohibition in a PSPO may apply to all persons or persons in, or not in, 
specified categories and it may apply at all times.

4.3.3 Once a PSPO is made it must be published on the local authority’s website 
and notices must be erected on or adjacent to the public place to which the 
PSPO relates in sufficient number to draw the public’s attention to it and its 
effect.

4.3.4 With regard to restricting the public right of way over a highway, a local 
authority must consider the likely effect of making such a PSPO on the 
occupiers of premises adjoining or adjacent to the highway and other persons 
in the locality, such as other residents living locally. In a case where the 
highway constitutes a through route, the local authority must also consider the 
availability of a reasonably convenient alternative route. This statutory 
requirement to consider applies with regard to the proposed PSPO for Jeyes 
Jetty.

4.3.5  The local authority must also consider any representations that have been 
made by persons potentially affected by the proposed PSPO. A local authority 
should consider whether the consequences of restricting access by the public 
would be disproportionate compared to the consequences of allowing ASB to 
occur and/or continue in or on that highway.

4.3.6 The Order must also not restrict the public right of way over a highway for the 
occupiers of premises adjoining or adjacent to the highway or where the 
highway if the only or principal means of access to a dwelling.

4.3.7 The PSPO must also not restrict a highway that is the only or principal means 
of access to business premises during periods when the premises are 
normally used for those purposes.

4.3.8 Any public right of way over a highway which is restricted by a PSPO does not 
cease to be a highway in law, but a local authority may authorise, install, 
operate and maintain a barrier or barriers to enforce the restriction. 

4.3.9 An individual who lives in the area restricted by a PSPO or who regularly 
works in or visits that area may apply to the High Court to question the validity 
of that Order. The only grounds for such an application are that the local 
authority did not have power to make the Order or to, in this case, restrict the 
public right of way over the highway in question and/or that the local authority 
did not comply with a statutory requirement with regard to the making of the 
PSPO. Any such challenge must be made within 6 weeks of the PSPO being 
made and the High Court has a discretion whether or not to suspend the 
operation of the Order until the final determination of the challenge. 

88



9

4.3.10 The High Court may quash any PSPO or any prohibition if it is satisfied that 
the local authority lacked the power to make the Order or any prohibition or if it 
is satisfied that the interests of the applicant have been substantially 
prejudiced by a failure to comply with a statutory requirement with regard to 
the making of the Order.

4.4   Equality and Health

4.4.1 Incidents of ASB will continue to be dealt with in line with the Council’s 
equalities framework. 

4.4.2 These legislative changes are designed to have a significant community 
impact in preventing and limiting anti-social behaviour, improving the quality of 
life for those people living and working in the area.

4.4.3 Equality Impact Assessment screening has been carried out and can be 
viewed at Appendix 4.

4.5   Consultees (Internal and External)

Legal Services
Environmental Health & Licensing Manager, NBC
Community Safety and Engagement Manager, NBC
Northants Police
Cabinet Member for Community Safety and Engagement, NBC
Highways Authority
Northants Fire Service
Planning Department, NBC
Conservation Team, NBC
Local Businesses
Landlords
Residents living in the vicinity of Jeyes Jetty
Members of the public who work in or visit the area

4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

4.6.1 One of the Council’s priorities is “invest in safer, cleaner neighbourhoods” and 
the PSPO has the potential to contribute towards this priority.

4.7 Other Implications

4.7.1 Five businesses have premises adjoining Jeyes Jetty. Although supportive of 
restricting the public right of way over the alleyway, they do have requirements 
with regard to access. With regard to business premises, A PSPO must not 
restrict a highway that is the only or principal means of access to those 
premises during periods when the premises are normally used for business 
purposes. This does not apply to any of the five businesses in question and 
therefore the Council has a discretion whether to permit access as an 
exemption to the Order for either general or specific purposes.

89



10

4.7.2 Access arrangements with these businesses as an exemption to the Order 
have been agreed in principle on the condition that the gates are kept locked 
and the alleyway kept clean and tidy. Failure to comply with these conditions 
may result in enforcement action and specifically withdrawal of this exemption, 
subject to a right of appeal to the Chief Executive through the Council’s 
complaints procedure. 

4.7.3 There will be ongoing monitoring of the alleyway by the Neighbourhood 
Warden to ensure acceptable levels of cleanliness. 

5. Appendices
 

Appendix 1 – Draft Jeyes Jetty PSPO.
Appendix 2 – Consultation results.
Appendix 3 – Responses from statutory consultees.
Appendix 4 – Equality impact assessment.

6. Background Papers

6.1  Chapter 2 of Part 4 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 2014

6.2  Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014: Reform of Anti-Social 
Behaviour Powers Statutory Guidance for Frontline Professionals – August 
2019 – Para 2.5 (pages 47 to 56)

George Candler
Chief Executive

90



11

APPENDIX 1

THE ORDER 

ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR, CRIME AND POLICING ACT 2014

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL (JEYES JETTY) PUBLIC SPACES 

PROTECTION ORDER 2019

Northampton Borough Council in exercise of its powers under Section 59, 64 and 72 
of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 2014 (‘the Act’) hereby makes the 
following Order:-

1. This Order shall come into operation on (….) and shall have effect for a period of 3 
years thereafter, unless extended by further orders under the Council’s statutory 
powers.

2. This Order relates to Jeyes Jetty, which runs from The Drapery to College Street 
as shown in the attached plan (‘the Restricted Area’).

3. The effect of this Order is to restrict the public right of way over the Restricted Area 
24 hours a day, 7 days a week for the period of 3 years (“the Restriction”)

4. The alternative route for pedestrians from The Drapery to College Street will be 
along Gold Street or through Swan’s Yard, as shown in the plan which forms the 
Schedule to this Order

5. Responsibility for the maintenance of any gates installed in order to enforce the 
Restriction will lie with Northampton Borough Council, The Guildhall, St Giles Square, 
Northampton, NN1 1DE.

6. Police, Fire and Ambulance emergency services, statutory undertakers with 
equipment situated under, over, along or in the highway, council officers and other 
persons authorised by the Council shall be exempt from the provisions of this Order.

7.  The Council may exempt from the provisions of this Order such specific persons 
as authorised by any owner or director of those businesses whose premises are 
adjacent to the highway. The Council may withdraw any exemptions issued to such 
persons as a matter of discretion at any time, subject to a right of appeal to the 
Council’s Chief Executive within seven calendar days.

8. The Council is satisfied that the conditions set out in Sections 59, 64 and 72 of the 
Act have been satisfied and that it is in all the circumstances expedient to make this 
Order for the purposes of reducing anti-social behaviour, specifically street drinking, 
drug taking and fly tipping in the restricted area. The Council makes the Order 

91



12

because the anti-social behaviour has had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of 
those in the locality. The effect or likely effect of this is of a persistent or continuing 
nature such as to make this unreasonable and justifies the restrictions imposed by 
the Order.

FIXED PENALTY NOTICES AND OFFENCES

9. It is an offence for a person without reasonable excuse to engage in any activity 
that is prohibited by this Order.

10. In accordance with section 67 of the Act, a person found to be in breach of this 
Order is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard 
scale (£1000).

11. In accordance with section 68 of the Act, a person may be offered the opportunity 
to avoid prosecution for an offence under section 67 by paying a fixed penalty notice 
of £100. If the penalty notice is paid within 10 days, then the lower amount of £80 will 
be accepted by the Council in full and final settlement of that notice.

APPEALS

12. If any interested person desires to question the validity of this Order on the 
grounds that the Council had no power to make it or that any requirement of the Act 
has not been complied with in relation to this Order, he or she may apply to the High 
Court within six weeks from the date on this this Order is made.

Given under the Common Seal of Northampton Borough Council

On the day of 20

The Common Seal of the Council 

Was hereunto affixed in the presence of 

………………………………………………. Authorised Signatory

92



13

SCHEDULE

93



14

APPENDIX 2

CONSULTATION RESULTS

94



15
95



16

    

96



17

Q7 If you do not agree with the gating of Jeyes Jetty as outlined in the attached plan, 
what other alternatives do you suggest?

Sep 11 2019 10:19 AM Police it properly

Sep 11 2019 12:07 AM Has drug use got so bad that closing off alleyways is the only solution?

Sep 09 2019 07:12 PM Increase policing and street cleaning activities

Sep 08 2019 12:10 AM A clean up and possibly more lights. Not rocket science!

Sep 07 2019 12:49 PM Provide some public toilets in the town centre, so that there is no need for the homeless to 
defecate in places like this. And make the police do their primary job, which is maintaining 
public order. I cannot think when I last saw an officer walking a beat anywhere in town, even 
in the town centre.

Sep 05 2019 12:27 PM Better paving, lighting, clean it up.

Sep 04 2019 02:29 PM Leave it as is. Honestly, the town is full of smelly alley ways, you are more likely to get 
mugged in Bridge Street, Abington Street or on the Barrack Road. Locking of streets is no 
substitute for proper cleaning, proper social welfare services and effective policing; none of 
which are much in evidence in central Northampton.

Sep 04 2019 01:19 PM Leaving it open

Sep 04 2019 12:42 PM Use gates over night, and you can get the cheaper than the £20k quoted, you're being ripped 
off, but get some high quality CCTV cameras and an automatic spotlight then you will have 
clear images of the offenders AND CAN ACTUALLY PROSECUTE THEM rather than doing 
nothing to stop the antisocial behaviour.

97



18

Sep 04 2019 11:17 AM Just gate it at night.

Sep 04 2019 10:37 AM Dont close it

Aug 20 2019 10:55 AM CCTV

Aug 08 2019 01:50 PM Lighting, cleaning, regular warden checks, ASB warning signs, enforcement

Aug 07 2019 09:07 AM clean it up/maintenance

Jul 31 2019 01:12 PM as above; address the issue, install more CCTV; light the area to discourage anti-social 
behaviour

Jul 19 2019 02:44 PM Spend some money on the town centre and get the cleaners to go down there and power 
wash the hell out of it.

Jul 19 2019 12:33 PM Gate and lock at night only.

Jul 12 2019 05:28 AM See my previous comment

Jul 11 2019 10:34 PM Possibly gating from nightfall to dawn bit open during dat light hours. The jetty is not the only 
place that is unhygienic and foul. For example St Giles Street stinks after the weekend as all 
the doorways are used as urinals or vomitaria by drunks. Surely the councillors can see that 
this is a much bigger problem than one alleyway? The whole town centre is dirty, uncared for 
and pretty disgusting. This needs sorting out. You can't gate the whole town!

Jul 11 2019 01:21 PM Keeping it clean, providing adequate toilet facilities in the area, regular monitoring and 
patrols. Closing it permanently just moves the problem elsewhere

Jul 11 2019 01:02 PM The same issues exist in swan yard

Jul 11 2019 11:01 AM Clean the alleyways! Signpost businesses! Hanging baskets! Buskers! Lighting schemes. 
Policing them! Work with businesses.

Jul 05 2019 02:50 PM Keep it open. Police and local businesses to coordinate on palliative measures.

Jul 05 2019 01:19 PM Camera and community policing would protect the users of this ancient right of way.

Jul 05 2019 12:48 PM If people are using an alley as a toilet, then they probably can’t find anywhere else to go, if 
they had access to a public toilet that was open and clean surely they would use that instead.

Jun 30 2019 08:42 AM CCTV, windows overlooking the jetty, public education, more residential on upper floors to 
bring more activity into the jetty.

Jun 28 2019 06:41 PM Again you cannot put all the blame on ASB, if we don't have toilets where do the rough 
sleepers go? I'm not condoning the filth Swan yard also has human waste and rubbish 
dumped from the flats

Jun 28 2019 02:48 PM The council cleaning services hose and clean the area on a regular basis, police patrol it on a 
regular basis at night.

Jun 28 2019 08:30 AM Increased patrols or other visible deterrents.

Jun 27 2019 04:48 PM Find a means of reclaiming safe use for the public. Very limited closure, for example 
overnight, might be acceptable if accompanied by other positive use measures - such as re-
introducing adequate 24hr public toilets in the area.

Jun 27 2019 01:44 PM Can you not shut it off at night?  What about efficient security cameras?

Jun 27 2019 10:55 AM Think the area should be covered by CCTV and streetlighting to deter anti social behaviour.

98



19

Jun 27 2019 10:21 AM Have you considered a camera link to the police .

Jun 27 2019 09:46 AM if its not to be used then why not brick it up?

Jun 26 2019 10:46 PM I do agree with it but I also have another idea u could install CCTV so can still see what is 
going on an maybe more wardens or police presence In the alley.

Jun 26 2019 10:03 PM Anti -social behaviour in this jetty has been a feature of Northampton for the last 50 years to 
my certain and personal knowledge but it has increased during these recent times of 
increased tolerance by the authorities. this disgraceful behaviour is almost always perpetrated 
at night time or in periods of darkness and it is during these hours that access should be 
denied.

Jun 26 2019 09:47 PM Gate at night only. Increase use of CCTV.

Jun 26 2019 08:18 PM Clean up the whole town. Invest and move it forward

Jun 26 2019 07:36 PM Open public toilets and patrol the area until the problem is solved, prosecute offenders as 
necessary.

Jun 26 2019 06:31 PM Daily cleaning - as happens in many such areas of town centres across Britain and Europe. If 
necessary - use of better lighting and low cost cctv monitoring to detect and prevent anti-
social behaviour. Increased policing is probably too much to ask given the current demolition 
of public service funding - but that would be the single best option.

Jun 26 2019 06:22 PM CCTV cameras and prosecute antisocial behaviour

Jun 26 2019 05:27 PM Already mentioned alternative in above answer

Jun 26 2019 12:36 PM Police the area to remove the ant social behaviour with wardens, police officers, cctv and 
sensible punishments for those caught committing crime or acting in an anti social manner

Q8 Do you have any other comments relevant to the potential gating of Jeyes Jetty?

Sep 11 2019 10:19 AM You are stopping historic public access by withdrawing a service route because of money.

Sep 11 2019 09:46 AM The alleyway is very narrow and does not allow for people to pass who are approaching from 
different directions. This could be used to the advantage of criminals targeting individuals 
using the alleyway.

Sep 11 2019 12:07 AM You said its part of Northampton's historical network and yet...... you are closing it off. It'll be 
demoted from living history to lost history.

Sep 09 2019 07:12 PM This is a right of way being closed to mask council and police lack of funding

Sep 08 2019 12:10 AM Another over thought plan that benefits no one. The issue with it being used as a toilet is 
easier sorted with toilets provided in the town in the form of pop ups at busy or night time. And 
lights will obviously stop most other problems. Honestly. You need this asking?

Sep 07 2019 09:15 PM I don’t use the area due to anti-social behaviour and the general area as it smells so bad.

Sep 07 2019 09:11 PM It’s disgusting and seems like people just use it as a toilet or for the use of drugs. But from my 
experience on that night an attempt at using a knife.

Sep 07 2019 12:49 PM Is this a proper use of a PSPO? The relevent law allows PSPOs to prevent certain activities 
being done in an area, but so far as I can see it does not give a power to prevent people being 
in that area.

99



20

Sep 06 2019 07:50 AM I would like this to stay open as I use it for emergencies when running late for the train station.

Sep 05 2019 02:05 PM It needs to be closed permanently to stop it from being used by antisocial behaviour, drinks 
and homeless. It smells constantly of urine and vomit.

Sep 05 2019 12:27 PM Another piece of historic Northampton gone!

Sep 04 2019 10:33 PM Before you lock it up with a gate you will need to have a good deep clean down the jitty before  
locking it, Otherwise  you will still smell all off the urine  from the Jitty, Timpsons and the Old 
DW Sports.

Sep 04 2019 09:23 PM As a young woman I’m scared to walk past or near it at night

Sep 04 2019 08:14 PM Please get this done as soon as possible - there are alternative routes people can use

Sep 04 2019 04:00 PM Take into account clues clothes shop, everyone will have to walk past Circus to get there and 
Clues may lose business due to this

Sep 04 2019 02:29 PM This is a blinkered fetishistic response to complex urban issues. There has not been a shred 
of comparative empirical evidence put forwards to make this case. Blaming physical spaces 
for human problems is utterly ludicrous. Why not try restoring Northampton's lanes and jettys? 
Actually make something of them as heritage spaces like other towns and cities do? Revel in 
what is left of the town's few unique features rather than simply fantasising that padlocking 
them will magically fix problems that are pretty visible on every major thoroughfare in the town 
centre.

Sep 04 2019 01:37 PM Close it asap it is a disgusting Health risk and nobody needs to experience the depth of 
hideousness of that alley

Sep 04 2019 01:19 PM Shutting down the statue did not stop antisocial behaviour, it just moved to another area of 
town centre- closing alleyways will not stop illicit behaviour, just move it to other alleyways in 
town

Sep 04 2019 01:18 PM I shall be happy if it is gated off and preserved as a heritage area due to the Jates connection. 
Is there any way it can be preserved and made to look nice behind the new gates. (Rather 
than looking like a black entrance to Hell?) Or will the new gates be totally solid anyway so we 
can no longer see down there??

Sep 04 2019 01:10 PM Close the street or properly illuminate it! Stop the thugs using it to pry on innocent and 
vulnerable people!

Sep 04 2019 12:42 PM As above, dont get ripped off and do something about the behaviour, if you close this alley 
way it will only move to a different one.

Sep 04 2019 12:06 PM The whole Town needs Cleaning from disgusting Behavior lets start cleaning the Town by 
closing these Jetty'S

Sep 04 2019 11:20 AM Action must be taken to ensure that the antisocial behaviour is not simply displaced to Swan 
Yard. Were this to occur, then this alternative route would essentially be closed to the law-
abiding public, particularly with regard to vulnerable groups, and local amenity would be 
compromised.

Sep 04 2019 11:16 AM GET ON WITH IT—SOMETHING REALLY HORRIBLE COULD HAPPEN ALONG THERE

Sep 04 2019 10:56 AM There is nothing nice about this alley, I do not use it anymore as it is always dirty smells off 
urine and is just generally dirty

Sep 04 2019 10:11 AM I have concerns for how the neighbouring buildings whose fire escapes lead out onto Jeye's 
Jetty will be able to get out in case of an emergency. Please consider some sort of emergency 
catch release inside the gates.

100



21

Aug 29 2019 06:04 PM Yes, please also close swan yard as people are peeing in there and dealing drugs. Residents 
can’t even open windows at home as it always smell like urine. Drug dealers and homeless 
people spend a lot of time in there as well and disturb the residents who live in there

Aug 21 2019 02:38 PM Can the area be redeveloped, added lighting, shops, retail, to entice people to use the area 
positively?

Aug 21 2019 01:04 PM If not closed, making it larger, better lighting/ CCTV/ alarms would be alternatives

Aug 20 2019 02:38 PM Gate all the Jetty's, there are alternative routes and access. The Jetty's are no longer 
required, they all attract ASB and crime, they are dirty and unsightly.

Aug 20 2019 11:00 AM I don't use it because it smells

Aug 20 2019 10:56 AM Needs to be cleared of rubbish. Full of rats.

Aug 20 2019 10:53 AM I avoid using the jetty at all costs. I support the closure.

Aug 20 2019 10:52 AM doesn't feel safe

Aug 13 2019 10:47 AM I agree that Jeyes Jetty has become a hotspot for Anti Social Behaviour. I feel geuninely sorry 
for the cleansing team who have to visit here, to pick up human waste and be forced to visit 
an area which smells highly of urine. They have a losing battle from the moment it is cleaned, 
to the state it becomes, how can this area be maintained? 

Many people avoid this area anyway, opting for the better alternative of Gold Street/Swan 
Yard, which is a safer route. I certainly wouldnt give directions down the Jetty. I also have 
concerns that there is a restaurant which Jeyes Jetty backs on to, which surely would have a 
negative impact.

Regarding the history of the jetty; surely a better way of keeping a part of the history is to 
protect an area instead of letting it become a dirty eyesore.

Aug 13 2019 10:20 AM I choose not to use the Jetty because of the issues present

Aug 12 2019 06:22 PM I personally avoid Jeyes Jetty as I would not feel safe using this walkway.  I consider that it is 
an area that can and is easily used for crime and disorder during the daytime and nigh time 
economy.

Aug 08 2019 02:07 PM In the night time economy I am aware there have been a number of assaults and other 
criminal issues in the jetty. I would not feel safe using the alleyway alone.

Aug 08 2019 02:03 PM Arrest the culprits

Aug 08 2019 02:02 PM No need for it to be open.

Aug 08 2019 02:02 PM Is a good alternative if the drapery is over crowded but would be better if no ASB. Other 
routes are good alternatives if this was closed.

Aug 08 2019 02:01 PM Jetty could be a good route if it was nicer.

Aug 08 2019 01:50 PM Good to be consulting with the public

Aug 08 2019 01:43 PM Do it!!

Aug 08 2019 01:40 PM The entrance is too small. Unless it was being cleaned hourly it will never be a suitable 
walkway. Swan Yard is better to use. The state of the alleyway at the back of the restaurant 
puts me off eating there.

Aug 08 2019 01:34 PM I refuse to use it as it is a state. It should have been closed years ago.

101



22

Aug 08 2019 09:43 AM The gating would stop those using the areas for illegal activities and will improve public safety.

Aug 01 2019 08:53 AM Concerned that the ASB will just transfer to Swan Yard

Jul 19 2019 02:44 PM It's just a simple solution why can't you think out of the box why do you always have to go to 
the lowest common denominator?

Jul 19 2019 12:33 PM As above, gate and lock only at night

Jul 11 2019 01:21 PM Please look after our town, keep it clean and safe. Don’t just shut it down

Jul 11 2019 11:01 AM Just that it is a stupid idea. Pay to block off an access route instead of being innovati0ve. 
No. Don’t do it.

Jul 07 2019 06:01 PM The cost £15000-£20000. ??? Seems excessive

Jul 05 2019 02:50 PM Jetties are a characteristic and historical asset of Northampton.

Jul 05 2019 10:34 AM I don't see it having and relevance or significance to the town centre. It attracts nothing 
positive and would benefit us all for it to be entirely removed as opposed to just gated up

Jun 30 2019 08:42 AM The jetties are a key part of Northapton's heritage and should be protected.

Jun 28 2019 06:41 PM Jayes Jetty and Swan lane are disgusting however, it seems the shops and businesses can 
get away with dumping their rubbish and allowing staff to smoke to the rear which results in 
hundreds of dog ends and filth they just dump at the rear doors. should you need any pics let 
me Know. it should be gated. but it really annoys me to see business getting away with 
dumping their rubbish in them.

Jun 28 2019 02:48 PM This walk-way is a public right of way and no council has the right to deprive the public of the 
use of it.

Jun 28 2019 09:32 AM you should public protection to control travellers in Npton

Jun 28 2019 09:21 AM I don’t really want to lose a piece of our history but for the foreseeable future we have to stop 
it being abused in such disgusting ways. For safety of persons too. It would be nice to have 
the option of opening gates for such things as Heritage Days, etc. 
Our history is vital.

Jun 27 2019 08:28 PM I am a police officer and have seen this whilst at work being used as a toilet and an escape 
route for offenders and ASB gathering point.  I have also seen 100+ rats emerging from the 
bins stored down there and this along with the constant smell of urine makes this jetty 
disgusting and a health risk.  please close this off soonest.

Jun 27 2019 04:48 PM It's important to retain and protect historic parts of Northampton rather than aid in their loss. It 
may not be easy but it is vital. Loss of Jeyes Jetty to public use will otherwise contribute to the 
ongoing piecemeal loss of historic components of our town. This is not acceptable.

Jun 27 2019 01:44 PM It will only drive people to Swan Yard.  Then you will want to shut that.   These cut through's 
are extremely useful getting to and from College Street.  It is an awful long way round to walk 
if you have to go via Gold Street when shopping/walking into the town during the day.   To 
easy a way round doing this.  Northampton does not need any closures, however small!

Jun 27 2019 10:21 AM Seems unfair for people who use the alley way for good reasons

Jun 27 2019 08:19 AM Jeyes jetty has been in the news for being a place where people have been seriously injured, 
sexually assaulted and drug dealing and appears to be a place where criminals can hide, 
commit crime and escape being caught by using it as a cut through. Its not safe and I believe 
it should totally be fayed of 24/7.

102



23

Jun 27 2019 03:35 AM I live in area near the Wellingborough Road pub which has many 'rat runs' ie alleys where 
scum can escape quickly.At present there is an epidemic of smashing car windows & 
residents want one closed here.

Jun 26 2019 10:37 PM Well i just think, in general,  that sooo many people lack respect nowadays.

Jun 26 2019 10:03 PM A higher light intensity along the length of this alley should be installed with a concentration of 
GOOD QUALITY CCTV.
It should be realised that if access to this area is totally denied the current perpetrators will 
almost certainly move to another area close by to continue their misdeeds. You will only move 
the location of their activities to another area and will not have solved the problem.
What do you do then - presumably continue closing areas until there is nothing left to close. 
This means the yobs win and the general public suffers.

Jun 26 2019 08:18 PM Absolute joke it’s a part of the heritage of the town centre and should be cleaned up along 
with the rest of the town centre

Jun 26 2019 07:17 PM The sooner the better!

Jun 26 2019 06:31 PM If the gating does go ahead consideration should be given to regular cleaning of the areas 
behind the gates since they are likely to become litter traps / flytipping hotspots - further 
degrading the appearance of the town centre. Heaven knows it needs all the help it can get 
right now.

Jun 26 2019 05:27 PM Gate  it off . But  have it open during the day and locked during the night.

Jun 26 2019 04:37 PM Save some money and brick up both ends

Jun 26 2019 04:30 PM I think it will be safer for all involved, and cheaper for the Local Authority in that they wont 
have to pay to get it cleaned

Jun 26 2019 03:48 PM Only Gold Street is an acceptable alternative route, not Swan Yard where other behaviour 
takes place

Jun 26 2019 03:44 PM Places like Jeyes Jetty have become unsafe due to the high crime rate around the town 
centre, I believe if people continue using it there may be a serious incident as it is already a 
dangerous place and the number of attacks centred around northampton town centre have 
not diminished

Jun 26 2019 03:13 PM Would this not push the ASB onto Ally Ways so just moving the problem rather than resolving 
it from the Town Centre.

Jun 26 2019 12:36 PM Don’t close another piece of our history

103



24

What’s in a name – losing our heritage.

There is talk of gating off an ancient right-of-way for a cost of somewhere between 
£15,000 and £20,000.  Described as a ‘notorious alley’ it is proposed to gate off 
Jeyes Jitty [please note the correct word is ‘Jitty’ NOT jetty it has been a jitty for time 
out of mind, we are about as far away from the sea as one can be!].

104



25

Alderman Frank Lee published in the Archaeological Journal in 1954 his theory, ‘A 
New Theory of the Origins And early Growth of Northampton’ in which he discusses 
‘certain narrow passage-ways or ‘jitties’ as they are called locally’ and theorises that 
these occurred when parts of the old Anglo-Saxon palisade was thrown down and 
ways made through from the old Anglo-Saxon Town to the New Norman Borough.

We think the Ditch was finally completely filled in around the revamping and 
extension of the Town c1300.  The explanation given in a Council ‘guide’ that it 
comes from buildings jetting out on the second storey is unfounded and ignorant 
rubbish!

The Saxon defenses would have lain between the double streets seen on the map 
thought Frank Lee.  In the 1970s we put several trenches through areas where we 
could and confirmed his theory, but for the actual line of the Ditch.

He lists several including Francis Jitty [Bridge Street to Kingswell Street], Jeyes Jitty 
[Drapery to College Street], and one widened now to form Bradshaw Street.  
Excavations by Northampton Development Corporation in the 1970s largely 
confirmed Alderman Lee’s theory.   

Jeyes Jitty is a part of our heritage and I feel should remain open, there has always 
been some crime along here, in past days the common name was ‘Cut-Purse Alley’.  
However without spending fifteen to twenty thousand pounds on gates I would 
suggest removing the large waste bins at the western end, and install some proper 
lighting, there is one dim light at the eastern narrow end and a sort of lantern with no 
bulb that I can see in it half-way along.  And installing some CCTV.  A regular once a 
week clean through would help, maybe the use of a pressure wash would remove the 
smell of urine.  The solution to the problem of people urinating and occasionally 
defecating is, of course, to have the public toilets open.

Note:

The known jitties are: -

Jeyes Jitty.

Connects College Street with the Drapery at the southern end.  It is named after 
Philadelphus Jeyes a chemists that were in Northampton from 1635 to 1969 when 
they departed for Earls Barton.  Called College Yard on Laws Map 1847 after the All 
Saints’ College in college Street.  The wall sign and arch sign both have ‘Jeyes Jetty’ 
– ugh!

Alley Yard.

Connects Silver Street with Sheep Street.  Now to all intents and purposes lost to the 
recent development of the so-called ‘’Bus Interchange’ popularly known as 
‘Mackintosh’s Folly’ or ‘The Shed’.  I have no idea as to why this jitty is called ‘Alley 
Yard’.

105



26

Swan Yard.

Connects College Street with the Drapery near the middle.  Named after the long 
gone Swan Inn.  I have no definite closure date, but Law’s Map of 1847 has Swan 
Yard marked and I’m sure if the inn was still running it would have been indicated.  
(Northampton Public Houses and Their Signs Jack Plowman, Azlan Publications 
Northampton 2010).

Francis Jitty

Connects Kingswell Street and Bridge Street.  The Earliest O/S Plan that gives this 
name is 1964.  I imagine the name is derived from a business close by.

Other probable Jitties are, Bradshaw Street, Upper and Lower Cross Street and 
Fort Street.  

106



27

APPENDIX 3 - RESPONSES FROM STATUTORY CONSULTEES

Northamptonshire Council Council Highways:

I can confirm that Northamptonshire County Council, acting as Highway Authority, 
have no objection to the temporary gating of Jeyes Jetty, Northampton by way of a 
Public Spaces Protection Order.

However, I must point out that this order will not affect the legal status of this route. 
Northampton Borough Council will be obliged to continue with their duties along 
Jeyes Jetty, as on any other section of highway within their jurisdiction, such as 
street cleansing.

Northamptonshire Fire & Rescue Service

The fire service has attended eight incidents involving fire at Jeyes Jetty, these fires 
have ranged from discarded rubbish wheelie bins against walls and unknown 
homeless persons possession’s (bedding, Clothing), I have attended Jeyes Jetty 
several times to carry out inspections regarding the incidents that we have attended, 

107



28

upon my inspection it was evident that the this alley was being used by the homeless 
for sleeping and as a toilet as the smell of urine was quite strong and human faeces 
was evident, there was also discarded drug paraphernalia evident within the confines 
of Jeyes Jetty.  
Jeyes Jetty is a target of anti-behaviour and more recently the location of a stabbing.
There are several fire escapes that exit into to the alley and as well as business 
wheelie bins and the fear from the fire service is that if a wheelie bin was to be 
moved against one of these exits and set alight then escape from these exit would be 
compromised thus endangering life.
It is important that if the alleyway is to be gated that they are of fire escape standard 
but at the same inaccessible from person trying access the alley from the drapery 
and College street.
The cost to the service attending these fires £7200.00
This cost only includes first attending appliance and does not include any attending 
officers. 

East Midlands Ambulance Service

Thank you for asking East Midlands Ambulance Service to comment on the 
consultation on the closure/gating of Jeyes Jetty in Northampton. 

2 Operational Paramedics, one a Clinical Operations Manager, The other a Staff 
Side Lead and Cycle Response Paramedic undertook a local review with one using 
data available, local knowledge and a site visit.    

Both Paramedics identify no new operational risk in directly linked to the closure of 
Jeyes Jetty, however both identify current risks of removing patients for tight sections 
of the Jetty, access for equipment to extricate or treat a patient currently provides 
challenges. 

The previous 12 months data states that we responded to >175 calls in the vicinity of 
Jeyes Jetty mainly in the area of The Drapery or MacDonald’s with a high number 
relating to the Night-time Economy   

I would support the closure of Jeyes Jetty, for these main reasons
 difficulty of accessing patients with our equipment.
 extrication of patients forms the tight sections of the alleyway     

Northamptonshire Police

I am the Neighbourhood Policing Inspector for Northampton and am responsible for 
Community Policing across the Borough of Northampton. 

Part of the role includes overseeing long term problem solving initiatives and linking 
in with the public and other agencies.

108



29

I have held the equivalent position under different titles, covering the Town Centre of 
Northampton, since March 2008 and have a good working knowledge of Town 
Centre matters, including those occurring during the Night Time Economy.

An issue of concern that has been raised to the local Police Officers on numerous 
occasions is Jeyes Jetty, which cuts through from The Drapery to College Street, 
Northampton. 

This has been through previous environmental visual audits undertaken by Crime 
Prevention Officers and by numerous Police Officers of varying ranks, including CID 
supervisors, who have investigated serious crimes at the location.

From a policing perspective it is difficult to see what is going on in the alley unless 
people are directly in front of the entrance. It is dark, relatively narrow and has no 
way out for anyone who is threatened. 

Although individual statistics are difficult to obtain for Jeyes Jetty itself due to the 
standardised computer recording locations, there have been 257 incidents called into 
the Force Control Room and 529 occurrences logged onto the Police Recording 
database from 1st September 2018 to 1st September 2019 for The Drapery. In the 
same period there have been 15 incidents and 72 occurrences logged for College 
Street.

From personal knowledge I can say that there have also been incidents of robbery, 
sexual assaults and serious violence in Jeyes Jetty itself.

Local Officers and PCSO’s have also identified the area as an emerging key location 
for Class “A” Drug dealing, with various Stop Searches having been conducted in the 
Jetty.

If Jeyes Jetty were no longer accessible to members of the public, I am confident this 
would have an impact on the incident and crime numbers in the vicinity. It would also 
increase public safety and reduce the burden on police resources.

As such, from the Policing perspective, I would fully support the gating of the 
alleyway through the introduction of a Public Spaces Protection Order in order to 
prevent crime and disorder and increase public safety.

Environmental Health and Licensing Manager

I have worked in Environmental Health at Northampton Borough Council for over 
thirty years and for the last ten years I have been part of the environmental health 
management team.  During the time that I have worked for the Council I have been 
aware of anti-social behaviour associated with Jeyes Jetty, in particular reports of 
urination and defaecation and accumulations of litter in the alleyway.   

A 2007 report prepared by Northamptonshire Police as part of a proposal to develop 
a cumulative impact policy notes that “the second largest night time street crime 

109



30

hotspot in the town was The Drapery and the main crimes were violence and 
robbery.  Many of these crimes occurred in the alleyways leading off The Drapery.  
Other crimes in these alleyways included urinating in a public place and a murder 
during this period (2000 – 2007).”

In 2014 /15 a Northampton Borough Council Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
considered the topic of Keep Northampton Tidy.  One of the recommendations of the 
panel was “consider the gating of jetties at night in the town centre that are currently 
subject to anti-social behaviour.” I provided officer support to this panel and can 
confirm that Jeyes Jetty was one of the main focus of their discussions on this topic.

Police Crime Prevention Officer

I have been in post since 1994 and in my capacity as the Town Centre Crime 
Prevention Officer and latterly as the Crime Prevention Design Adviser I have over 
that time repeatedly visited Jeyes Jetty at the request of local companies, the 
Community Safety Partnership and latterly the Town Centre Violence Group (now 
known as the TCTG) to provide advice on ways of gating the space or to recommend 
ways of enhancing the environment to reduce the anti-social behaviour associated 
with it.  It has always been a place where shop lifters removed tags, where homeless 
people and intoxicated people urinated or defecated due mostly to its narrow 
character and lack of town centre CCTV. It is an environment where criminal 
behaviour will go unnoticed and provides a perfect example of the behaviour 
described by Skogan in his book ‘Disorder and Decline’

Where disorder is common and surveillance capabilities are minimal criminals will 
feel their chances of being identified are low and may be confident that no-one will 
intervene in their affairs.  Certain disorders are self-propagating, once they appear 
they generate more disorder unless they are energetically stamped out.  Skogan 
Disorder and Decline 1992

Gating this alley is a good example of energetically stamping out the behaviour.

CCTV

From a point of view of the CCTV Operators, all though we don’t have a CCTV 
camera that see’s down the alleyway we do believe a lot of very different issues 
occur in and around the area and it is our opinion if this alley was closed, it would 
help alleviate these issues, as well as prevent drug dealing and potentially reduce 
crime and ASB in that area. Closing it would also force people that have committed 
offences to take a route that is covered by CCTV and therefore assist the police to 
identify and track offenders when they are reviewing the footage for incidents that 
have occurred in other areas of town, but they use this as an escape. 

This alley is often used by shoplifters to transfer stolen goods between each other, 
hide goods whilst they commit further offences and use it to evade security the 
police, and the CCTV operators tracking them. The CCTV operators have become 

110



31

familiar with the towns drug dealers, and have (in the past) seen them go in and out 
of this alley. Again because we cannot see down it we can only assume they are 
carrying out their deals in the alley. As we are only seeing them meet up with people, 
go in the alley, come out and go their separate ways, and as we can’t see a 
transaction take place, we are not able to see the deal and so there for we are not 
able to call upon the police.

When the street drinkers congregate on the benches (during the day) outside 
Timpson they are also seen to go in and out of the alley during the time they are 
there, and again use it to relieve themselves. That said it is not just the street 
drinkers and homeless that use it for a toilet. 

111



32

APPENDIX 4 – Equality Impact Assessment

Equality Impact Assessment

Part 1: Screening

When reviewing, planning or providing services Northampton Borough Council needs 
to assess the impacts on people. Both residents and staff, of how it works - or is 
planning to – work (in relation to things like disability). It has to take steps to 
remove/minimise any harm it identifies. It has to help people to participate in its 
services and public life. “Equality Impact Assessments” (EIAs) prompt people to 
think things through, considering people’s different needs in relation to the law on 
equalities. The first stage of the process is known as ‘screening’ and is used to come 
to a decision about whether and why further analysis is – or is not – required. EIAs 
are published in line with transparency requirements. 

A helpful guide to equalities law is available at: www.northampton.gov.uk/equality. A 
few notes about the laws that need to be considered are included at the end of this 
document. Helpful questions are provided as prompts throughout the form.

1 Name of 
policy/activity/project/practice

Public Places Protection Order – Jeyes 
Jetty

2. Screening undertaken (please complete as appropriate)

Director of Service George Candler

Lead Officer for developing the 
policy/activity/practice

Vicki Rockall

Other people involved in the screening 
(this may be people who work for NBC or 
a related service or people outside NBC)

Legal Services

Finance, LGSS

Environmental Health & Licensing 
Manager, NBC

112

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/equality


33

Environmental Services Manager, NBC

Northants Police

Cabinet Member for Community Safety, 
NBC

Highways, KIER WSP

3. Brief description of policy/activity/project/practice: including its main 
purpose, aims, objectives and projected outcomes, and how these fit in with 
the wider aims of the organisation.

 A Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) allows a local authority to introduce a 
series of measures into a defined locality. 

 The proposed PSPO will allow gating of the highway known as Jeyes Jetty, a 
hotspot for anti-social behaviour and criminal activities for many years.

 Gating Jeyes Jetty will make it more difficult for offenders to evade the police.

 This is a legal order that can last for up to three years and it will prohibit a number 
of anti-social behaviour activities in the area including street drinking and fly-
tipping. 

 If an element of this order is breached, the outcome could be that the individual is 
issued with a fixed penalty notice for £100 or fined up to a maximum of £1000 if at 
court. 

4 Relevance to Equality and Diversity Duties 

A Public Spaces Protection Order is designed to stop all individuals or a specific 
group of persons committing anti-social behaviour in a public space.  This Order 
allows gating of a highway known as Jeyes Jetty.  This highway is currently for 
pedestrian through access only.  There are 2 parallel pedestrian through access 
routes close by – Gold Street and Swan’s Yard.

If you have indicated there is a negative impact on any group, is that impact: 

No – all individuals/sections of the community will be dealt with in the same manner.  

113



34

Incidents of ASB will continue to be dealt with in line with our equalities framework

Legal? 

N/A

 

Please explain:  

 

5 Evidence Base for Screening 

 

Equality Human Rights Commission

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/resources/case-studies-of-how-
organisations-are-using-the-duties/case-studies-equality-impact-assessments/

Section 72 of the Anti-Social Behaviour and Policing Act 2014 requires the Cabinet 
as decision maker to pay particular regard to rights of freedom of expression and 
freedom of assembly set out in articles 10 (the right to freedom of expression) and 11 
(freedom of assembly and association) of the European Convention on Human 
Rights in considering the making any such order.  The making of the said order is 
considered to be proportionate and will fulfil a legitimate aim of curbing anti-social 
behaviour in public places for the benefit of the law abiding majority and hence will 
not infringe article 11 ECHR.

6 Requirements of the equality duties:

(remember there’s a note to remind you what they are at the end of this form and 

114

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/resources/case-studies-of-how-organisations-are-using-the-duties/case-studies-equality-impact-assessments/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/resources/case-studies-of-how-organisations-are-using-the-duties/case-studies-equality-impact-assessments/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/resources/case-studies-of-how-organisations-are-using-the-duties/case-studies-equality-impact-assessments/


35

more detailed information at www.northampton.gov.uk/equality)   

Will there be/has there been consultation with all interested parties?

 A 12 week online public consultation via an open access online survey using 
‘Survey Monkey’ Councils social media accounts, the following stakeholders 
have been consulted with:

- Businesses adjacent to Jeyes Jetty

- Councillors

- Community Safety Partnership

- Town Centre Task Group 

- Council Officers

- Northamptonshire Office of Police & Crime Commissioner

- Northamptonshire Police 

- Northamptonshire County Council

- Members of the public

- Local press and media channels

- Town Centre BID

Are proposed actions necessary and proportionate to the desired outcomes?

Yes/No  Public Spaces Protection Order is designed to stop all individuals or a 
specific group of persons committing anti-social behaviour in a public space

Where appropriate, will there be scope for prompt, independent reviews and 
appeals against decisions arising from the proposed policy/practice/activity?

Yes/No  The implementation of the PSPO can be challenged by any interested 

115

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/equality


36

person within 6 weeks of the making of the Order, the challenge is made at the High 
Court. Anyone who is directly affected by the making of the PSPO can challenge the 
order

Does the proposed policy/practice/activity have the ability to be tailored to fit 
different individual circumstances?

Yes/No Public Spaces Protection Orders provide the opportunity to address specific 
problems in specific areas and create an ‘Order’ to enable appropriate and 
proportionate action to be taken.

Where appropriate, can the policy/practice/activity exceed the minimum legal equality 
and human rights requirements, rather than merely complying with them?

The making of the said order is considered to be proportionate and will fulfil a 
legitimate aim of curbing anti-social behaviour in public places for the benefit of the 
law abiding majority and hence will not infringe article 11 ECHR.

From the evidence you have and strategic thinking, what are the key risks (the 
harm or ‘adverse impacts’) and opportunities (benefits and opportunities to promote 
equality) this policy/practice/activity might present?

Risks (Negative) Opportunities (Positive)

Race There is no evidence that 
the ‘Order’ will impact on 
any specific person based 
on their race

Disability

 

Mental Health issues and 
physical disability will be 
taken into account by 
officers. 

The restriction on the 
consumption of alcohol 

The ‘Order’ may well have 
the opposite effect and 
encourage those that are 
drug/alcohol dependant to 
engage with the support 
that is available and this in 

116



37

could also affect those 
that are alcohol 
dependant.  The proposed 
‘Order’ will not bring in any 
new powers in this area 
and will simply replace the 
existing Designated Public 
Spaces Protection Order.  

turn will deliver health 
benefits.  

Gender or Gender 
Identity/Gender 
Assignment

There is no evidence that 
the ‘Order’ will impact on 
any specific person based 
on their gender

Pregnancy and Maternity 
(including breastfeeding)

There is no evidence that 
the ‘Order’ will impact on 
any specific person based 
on pregnancy or maternity.  
If required pregnant 
women will be referred into 
safeguarding mechanisms

Sexual Orientation There is no evidence that 
the ‘Order’ will impact on 
any specific person based 
on their sexual orientation

Age (including children, 
youth, midlife and older 
people)

Young people will be 
referred into safeguarding 
mechanisms.  In some 
cases parent/guardian of 
under 16’s will be spoken 
to

Religion, Faith and Belief There is no evidence that 
the ‘Order’ will impact on 
any specific person based 
on their beliefs or religion

117



38

Human Rights Some people may feel   
the consultation process 
will provide the opportunity 
to capture their views.

The ‘Order’ has been 
proposed due to the 
volume of incidents that 
are occurring that are 
having a significant impact 
on the peoples quality of 
life.  The introduction of 
this ‘Order’ will have a 
positive impact on 
residents, businesses, and 
visitors to the town.

7 Proportionality

All cases will be treated on an individual basis, and any decisions reached will be 
within existing legislative guidelines.  Use of the PSPO powers and advice given will 
be recorded in pocket note books and on ECIN’s data base.  The information will be 
analysed to determine whether the implementation of the powers has had a 
disproportionate effect upon the equality factors.

Enforcement action will always be seen as a last resort.  Through the multi-agency 
groups and individual case management, support and intervention will continue to be 
offered.

8 Decision

Set out the rationale for deciding whether or not to proceed to full impact assessment 

Full Equality Impact Assessment is not required as all sections of the community are 
treated fairly. The proposed restrictions will impact positively on people whose 
protective characteristics are impacted upon by the anti-social behaviour the order is 
designed to address

118



39

Date of Decision: 

We judge that a full impact assessment is not necessary since there are no 
identified groups affected by these changes.

                                                                                                                                          

119



40

1. Equality Duties to be taken into account in this screening include:

Prohibited Conduct under The Equality Act 2010 including: 
Direct discrimination (including by association and perception e.g. carers); Indirect discrimination; 
Pregnancy and maternity discrimination; Harassment; third party harassment; discrimination 
arising from disability. 

Public Sector Duties (Section 149) of the Equality Act 2010 for NBC and services provided 
on its behalf: (due to be effective from 4 April 2011)
NBC and services providing public functions must in providing services have due regard to the 
need to:  eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; advance equality 
of opportunity and foster good relations between different groups. ‘Positive action’ permits 
proportionate action to overcome disadvantage, meet needs and tackle under-representation. 

Rights apply to people in terms of their “Protected Characteristics”: 
Age; Gender; Gender Assignment; Sexual Orientation; Disability; Race; Religion and Belief;                                     
Pregnancy; Maternity. But Marriage and Civil Partnership do not apply to the public sector duties.

Duty to “advance equality of opportunity”:
The need, when reviewing, planning or providing services/policies/practices to assess the impacts 
of services on people in relation to their ‘protected characteristics’, take steps to remove/minimise 
any negative impacts identified and help everyone to participate in our services and public life. 
Equality Impact Assessments remain best practice to be used. Sometimes people have 
particular needs e.g. due to gender, race, faith or disability that need to be addressed, not 
ignored. NBC must have due regard to the duty to make reasonable adjustments for people 
with disabilities. NBC must encourage people who share a protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or any other activity in which their participation is too low. 

Duty to ‘foster good relations between people’
This means having due regard to the need to tackle prejudice (e.g. where people are picked on 
or stereotyped by customers or colleagues because of their ethnicity, disability, sexual orientation, 
etc) and promote understanding. 

Lawful Exceptions to general rules: can happen where action is proportionate to achieve a 
legitimate aim and not otherwise prohibited by anything under the Equality Act 2010. There are 
some special situations (see Ch 12 and 13 of the Equality Act 2010 Statutory Code of Practice – 
Services, Public Functions and Associations).

2. National Adult Autism Strategy (Autism Act 2009; statutory guidelines) including:

3. to improve how services identify and meet needs of adults with autism and their families. 

4. Human Rights include:

120



41

5. Rights under the European Convention include not to be subjected to degrading treatment; 
right to a fair trial (civil and criminal issues); right to privacy (subject to certain exceptions 
e.g. national security/public safety, or certain other specific situations); freedom of 
conscience (including religion and belief and rights to manifest these limited only by law and 
as necessary for public safety, public order, protection of rights of others and other specified 
situations); freedom of expression (subject to certain exceptions); freedom of peaceful 
assembly and to join trade unions (subject to certain exceptions); right not to be subject 
to unlawful discrimination (e.g. sex, race, colour, language, religion, political opinion, 
national or social origin); right to peaceful enjoyment of own possessions (subject to 
certain exceptions e.g. to secure payment of taxes or other contributions or penalties); right 
to an education; right to hold free elections by secret ballot. The European Convention 
is given effect in UK law by the Human Rights Act 1998.

121



This page is intentionally left blank



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/

CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Service Area:

Accountable Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

16 October 2019

YES

YES

NO

Community Safety and Engagement 

Cllr Anna King

All Wards

1. Purpose

1.1 Developed at the request of Northamptonshire’s Community Safety Board, the 
draft Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy 2019-2022.

1.2 The strategy reflects the Board’s priorities of improving support to vulnerable 
people and ensuring that, wherever possible, people receive early help and 
support in order to prevent any escalation of harm. 

1.3 The Strategy is designed to improve the co-ordination of local services that 
prevent and respond to domestic abuse and sexual violence, to enable 
everyone to understand the contribution that they can make as individuals and 
organisations, and improve how we work together to keep people safe and 
improve the life chances of children, young people and adults who are 
affected by domestic abuse and sexual violence.

2. Recommendations

2.1 Cabinet are recommended to:

2.1.1 Consider and adopt the draft Countywide Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Strategy 2019-2022.

Report Title DRAFT Northamptonshire Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Strategy 2019-2022

Appendices

123

Agenda Item 10



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/

2.1.2 Commit to work with partner agencies to ensure the development and delivery 
of the strategy and associated action plans, through the community safety 
governance structures that are proposed. 

2..1.3 Receive further reports on the implementation and progress of this strategy as 
and when necessary. 

3. Issues and Choices

3.1Report Background
 

3.1.1   Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence continues to be a major concern 
within our county. 

3.1.2 Offences involving violence against the person accounted for 80.5% of 
Domestic Abuse offences, which equates to 36.0% of all recorded 
violent crimes (Northants Police, May 2019). Those acts of violence 
without injury, which includes stalking and harassment, account for 2 
out of every 3 domestic violence offences. 

3.1.3 Northamptonshire Police have identified an increasing trend in the 
repeat victimisation rate for victims of Domestic Abuse within the last 12 
months. In April 2019 Police data identified that 39.3% of domestic 
crime recorded involved a repeat victim, as did 45% of all domestic 
related crime and non-crime incidents.

3.1.4 Between September 2017 and September 2018 a total of 16,139 
incidents were recorded by Northamptonshire Police, in 14,425 of these 
cases children were found to have been present. The impact that such 
exposure to abuse can have upon a child has been subject to 
significant research and it is known that adverse childhood experiences 
may impact significantly on all areas of a child’s development. 

3.1.5 Sexual offences within Northamptonshire in the last year have been 
increasing however this is a national trend and Northamptonshire is not 
an outlier.  In July 2019 Northamptonshire Police data indicated that 
sexual violence made up 3.78% of all crime in the last year and during 
this period the Force saw an 18% increase in reported rapes and 
17.3% increase in reported other sexual offences. 

3.1.6 Local data on Female Gentile Mutilation within Northamptonshire is 
limited with no local criminal prosecutions. 

3.2 Issues

3.2.1 Domestic abuse, sexual violence and Coercive Behaviours cause significant 
harm to those people affected within our communities. In order to reduce the 
level of abuse, we need to prioritise prevention, provision and protection 
methods at the earliest opportunity.

124



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/

3.2.2 The strategy has five strategic objectives and by 2022 the ambition is that 
across the county we will have:

3.2.3

i) Developed targeted prevention and intervention initiatives that evidence can 
demonstrate have impact and deliver the outcomes that are required. We will 
work as a partnership to review current services and commission further 
services based on need and outcomes.  

ii) Improved everyone’s responses to people affected by Domestic Abuse, 
Sexual Violence and Coercive Behaviour by ensuring that appropriate 
awareness raising is undertaken, training is delivered to those in our 
organisations and communities and everyone knows how to recognise signs, 
be responsive to these signs, respond appropriately to disclosure and know 
which service they can access in order to get support for the victim.

iii) Ensure appropriate access to services for children, young people and adults 
affected by Domestic Abuse, Sexual Violence and Coercive Behaviour by 
developing and embedding clear referral and service pathways that can 
effectively support service users regardless of their gender, race, ethnicity and 
sexuality.  

iv) Developed safe and appropriate accommodation options for those who are 
victim of abuse. We will adopt a new approach to supporting victims, where 
possible keeping them safe in their own homes using a range of interventions 
or facilitating access to alternative housing such as social housing and refuge.

v) Appropriate civil and criminal justice response to Domestic Abuse, Sexual 
Violence and Coercive Behaviour incidents that ensures perpetrators are dealt 
with effectively by adopting a case management approach within the criminal 
justice system that is seamless and utilises all available disposals including 
the new Conditional Caution and Perpetrators programme. In addition victims 
will have been supported in utilising the appropriate Civil Court Orders to 
prevent re-victimisation.

3.3    Choices (Options)

3.3.1 Decide not to adopt the Countywide Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
Strategy 2019-2022.

3.3.2 Adopt the Countywide Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy 2019-
2022 and the commitment to work with partner agencies to ensure the 
development and delivery of the associated action plans. 

125



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1   Policy

4.1.1 The Strategy will allow a consistent policy approach across Northamptonshire. 

4.2     Resources and Risk

4.2.1 There is an expectation that the Community Safety Board will take the lead on 
the governance for the Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy for 
Northamptonshire 2019-2022 and that the Health and Wellbeing, 
Safeguarding Adults and Safeguarding Children’s board will all contribute to 
this. The Community Safety Board will identify a lead co-ordinator responsible 
for each strategic objective and be able to report progress to the Board

4.2.2 The Strategy does not require any additional financial commitment. There is 
an assumption that the existing commitment to the Sunflower Centre and 
MARAC (Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference) continues. This cost is 
£23,742 and is within existing budgets. 

4.3Legal

4.3.1 There are no legal implications at present arising from this report.  Legal 
advice has been sought in relation to specific actions to ensure what is 
proposed is in accordance with relevant statutory provisions and council 
policy.

4.4 Equality and Health

4.4.1 Anyone can be a victim of Domestic Abuse, Sexual Violence or Coercive 
Behaviour and anyone can perpetrate it. Victims are female and male, and 
may be in heterosexual, same sex or non-intimate relationships. Abuse may 
occur amongst all groups regardless of protected characteristics, including 
age, religion, race, disability, education or economic status. 

4.4.2  Many abused victims find it difficult to function in their daily lives because of 
the effects of abuse. Absences from work due to injuries or visits to the doctor 
often cause them to lose their jobs, making them less able to leave their 
abusive situations.

4.4.3 The abuse experienced by victims who are Black, Asian or from a minority 
ethnic group as well as those who have been refugees can be further 
complicated by other relevant abusive factors such as forced marriage.  
Women from Black, Asian or minority ethnic communities are likely to face 
additional barriers to receiving the help that they need; the most profound 
barrier being communication for non-English speakers.

4.4.4 Research shows that 1 in 4 Lesbian, Gay and Bi-sexual people will experience 
domestic abuse along with 80% of the Trans community. Nationally LGBT 
reporting to the Police is underrepresented due to a number of barriers that 

126



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/

include a reluctance to report, confidence in being taken seriously and 
responses that are insensitive to same sex partners.

4.4.5 Regardless of the age at which the abuse occurred or whether the perpetrator 
was known to the victim or not, the violation, shame and stigma will have an 
impact on health and wellbeing and feeling able to seek support for the effects 
may be a process that can take months or years.

4.4.6 The Domestic Abuse Strategy makes a positive contribution to the equalities 
agenda in Northampton, focusing on the most vulnerable people within our 
communities.  All proposed actions and initiatives will be appropriately 
screened to achieve maximum positive impact for the community and to 
ensure there are no unintended negative consequences.

4.5 Consultees (Internal and External)

Countywide Community Safety Board
Northamptonshire County Council 
National Probation Service 
District and Borough Councils 
Nene Clinical Commissioning Group 
East Midlands Ambulance Service
Adult and Children’s safeguarding Boards
Northamptonshire Police
Office of Northamptonshire Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner 
Cabinet Member for Community Safety, NBC
Head of Housing and Wellbeing, NBC
Legal Services, NBC
Finance, LGSS
Service Providers, including; Northamptonshire Domestic Abuse Service, 
Sunflower Centre, Eve, Serenity and Northamptonshire Rape Crisis

4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

4.6.1 This Strategy is consistent with the aims of the council’s Corporate Plan and 
contributes to a wide range of the Council’s priority outcomes, including; ‘to 
work with partners to reduce violent crime, anti-social behaviour and hate 
crime’ and ‘to build stronger and more resilient communities’.

5. Background Papers

5.1.1  National Strategy to end Violence against Women and Girls 2016-2020

6. Next Steps

6.1 Action plans to be further developed and governance arrangements to be put 
in place to ensure delivery of the strategy. 

127



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/

George Candler
Chief Executive

Appendices:

1. Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy 2019 - 2022

128



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Service Area:

Accountable Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

16 October 2019

No

Yes

Yes

Customer and Cultural Services

Cllr Anna King

Borough Wide

1. Purpose

1.1 The cabinet agree to adopt the updated and revised policies for Northampton 
Museums and Art Gallery.

1.2 Policies to be adopted are

Collections Development Policy
Care of Collections and Conservation Policy
Documentation Policy
Access Policy

2. Recommendations

2.1 That cabinet agree the adoption of the updated and revised Collections 
Development Policy; Care of Collections and Conservation Policy; 
Documentation Policy and Access Policy.

2.2 That cabinet note Section 1 Overarching Principles and Section 16. Disposal 
Procedures in the Collections Development Policy relating to financially 

Report Title Museum Policy Documents

Appendices
4

129

Agenda Item 11



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

motivated disposals and the undertakings contained therein. 

3. Issues and Choices

3.1 Report Background

3.1.1 The policies for approval are:

Collections Development Policy
This policy sets out the rationale for future acquisitions to the 
collections. 

Care of Collections and Conservation Policy
Defines and provides a framework for how we care for our collections 
with the aim of long term preservation through preventative and 
remedial means to ensure that the collections are accessible to 
staff/volunteers and our audiences.

Documentation Policy
Defines and provides a framework for how we document our collections 
with the aim of recording knowledge of the collections and their use 
(including commercial) to ensure that the collections are accessible to 
staff/volunteers and our audiences.

Access Policy
A framework for maintaining and improving access to the Council’s 
museum’s buildings, facilities, displays, collections, associated 
information, staff and knowledge.

3.1.2 Policies are revised and updated from previous policies to reflect changes in 
professional practice, legislation and policies and procedures from other 
cognate bodies. This includes undertaking to abide by all Arts Council England 
and Museums Association policies, procedures and guidelines regarding 
financially motivated disposals.

3.2 Issues

3.2.1 The policies are revisions and updates of previous policies and have no major 
implications for the council or Borough or future unitary council. 

3.2.2 The Collections Development Policy will need to be reviewed in light of unitary 
status in April 2021 with respect to geographical boundaries and the position 
of the museum within the county.

3.3 Choices (Options)

3.3.1 Option 1 – approve the policies
The preferred option is for council to approve the policies as set out in the 

130



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

appendices. This will enable the museum to apply for museum accreditation.

3.3.2 Option 2 – reject the policies
If the policies are rejected the museum service will not meet the requirements 
of the accreditation scheme and will be ineligible for museum accreditation. 
Without accreditation the museum service will be ineligible for Arts Council 
funding, Heritage Lottery Fund applications and many other significant funding 
streams.

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1 Policy

4.1.1 These policies are updates to existing policies and have no new or further 
implications for the council. 

4.2 Resources and Risk

4.2.1 The Museums Finance and Business Partner has reviewed the policies and 
there are no significant financial or resource implications. 

4.3 Legal

4.2.2 Legal Services have reviewed the policies and there are no legal implications 
of the policies. 

4.4 Equality and Health

4.4.1 The policy has been evaluated under the Council’s Equality Impact 
Assessment procedures.

4.4.2 There are no health implications for the policies.

4.5 Consultees (Internal and External)

4.5.1 Consultees in the development of the policies were museum curatorial staff, 
Arts Council England advisor, access consultant Access and More; 
consultation with the public came through results of public consultation 
through phone interviews, questionnaires and focus groups by the Audience 
Agency as part of the audience development programme for the new museum 
development.   

4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

4.6.1 The polices support all aspects of the museums work and therefore contribute 
towards the following priority outcomes: A Stronger Economy; Resilient 
Communities; Exceptional Services to be Proud of

131



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

4.7Other Implications

4.7.1 None.

5. Background Papers

5.1 Previous policy documents

Documentation Policy
Care of Collections and Conservation Policy 
Collections Development Policy 
Access and Learning Policy Statement 

6. Next Steps

6.1 Subject to approval by Cabinet, the policies will be adopted.  They will then be 
reviewed every 5 years, with the exception of the Collection Development 
Policy, which will be reviewed one year into the operation of the new unitary 
council. 

Marion Goodman
Head of Customers and Communities

Appendices

Access Policy
Collections Care Policy
Collections Development Policy
Documentation Policy

132



Page 1 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Northampton Museums & Art Gallery 
Collections Development Policy

133



Page 2 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Equality Impact Assessment

The Council strives to ensure equality of opportunity for all both as a major employer 
and as a service provider.

The Access Policy has been equality impact assessed to ensure fairness and 
consistency for all. 

Author (Post Holder Title) Cultural Services Manager
Type of Document Policy
Version Number V01
Document File Name Northampton Museums & Art Gallery 

Collections Development Policy
Issue date To be completed at the end when 

published
Document Held by (name section) Museums
For internal publication only or external 
also

Internal and external

Document stored on council website
Next Review July 2021
Approved by CMB

Version Control Schedule for Northampton Museum & Art Gallery Collections 
Development Policy

Change History Date Comments

Version 1 24 September 2019
Version 2
Version 3
Version 4

134



Page 3 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Northampton Museums and Art Gallery Collections Development 
Policy

1. Relationship to other Plans and Policies and Guiding Principles
This policy supports the NMAG Forward plan and should be considered alongside 
the Access Policy, Care and Collections Policy, Documentation Policy and other 
NMAG plans and procedures.

Vision: To be a focus for Northampton’s arts, heritage and culture and the 
international centre of excellence for shoe heritage, valued and enjoyed by all.

Mission: Using our collections, knowledge and expertise, we engage people 
with Northampton’s rich history, culture, art and our world class shoe 
collection. 

Overarching guiding principles

 The governing body will ensure that both acquisition and disposal are carried 
out openly and with transparency.

 By definition, the museum has a long-term purpose and holds collections in 
trust for the benefit of the public in relation to its stated objectives. The 
governing body therefore accepts the principle that sound curatorial reasons 
must be established before consideration is given to any acquisition to the 
collection, or the disposal of any items in the museum’s collection.

 Acquisitions outside the current stated policy will only be made in exceptional 
circumstances.

 The museum recognises its responsibility, when acquiring additions to its 
collections, to ensure that care of collections, documentation arrangements 
and use of collections will meet the requirements of the Museum Accreditation 
Standard. This includes using Spectrum primary procedures for collections 
management. Spectrum is the UK collections management standard 
developed by the Collections Trust. It will take into account limitations on 
collecting imposed by such factors as staffing, storage and care of collection 
arrangements.

 The museum will undertake due diligence and make every effort not to 
acquire, whether by purchase, gift, bequest or exchange, any object or 
specimen unless the governing body or responsible officer is satisfied that the 
museum can acquire a valid title to the item in question.

 The museum will not undertake disposal motivated principally by financial 
reasons.

135



Page 4 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

2. Background: The History of the Collections
NMAG has a long history and a range of diverse collections, many driven by the 
passions and the ambitions of the founders of the Museum in 1865. The founders 
aimed ‘to illustrate the history and products of the county’ but also, through their 
actions, to bring the curiosity of the wider world to Northampton. The collections 
developed erratically in the early days, and were influenced by collecting fashions, 
the interests of individuals and the particular landscape and people of Northampton 
and shire. Now the collections reflect NMAG’s regional status with a national and 
international industry represented in the shoe collection.

The early Museum committee were interested in random curios, some of which 
survive in the collections today. Curiosity is still an important driver for NMAG today. 

More focussed collecting was driven by the archaeology and geology of the 
landscape disciplines that were developing in this period led by Sir Henry Dryden. 
Through Councillor Hensman, and the artist TL Shoosmith there was a local interest 
in developing an art collection that would both inspire and reflect local artists driven 
by local pride. Acquisitions of Egyptian archaeology and geology from Lord 
Northampton’s collection helped to widen the breadth of the collections. This was 
significantly enhanced with further donations and the purchase of Beeby 
Thompson’s exceptionally well recorded local fossil collection. Interest in 
numismatics of the county and the world was driven by initial founders with Cowper 
donating Roman coins from Duston in 1898. An early 20th century curator, Mr 
George, working with two local collectors, Shoosmith and Manfield, had a strong 
interest in ceramics thus creating a significant British and Oriental decorative art 
collection. The late 19th and early 20th century saw the growth of the ethnographic 
collections as local people donated curios and objects. In the mid-late 20th century 
the art collections continued to develop particularly in relation to Italian art through 
auction purchases led by the curator Mr Terry. From the 1960s, driven by the growth 
of the town, significant archaeology collections developed. The late 20th century saw 
a focus on social history with the development of collections reflecting everyday life. 
This collection continues to grow significantly, including costume with a donation in 
the 1960s of a large Victorian collection. The Regimental and Yeomanry collections 
have a long history of their own but were acquired by the council in the 1990s under 
trust agreements. The most significant collection held at NMAG is the shoe collection 
which is unique in terms of place and Northampton’s role in shoe industry worldwide. 
This was the significant vision of the museum founders encouraged by Manfield and 
the creation of a collection of research footwear now used by the footwear industry 
across the world. The history of the collections reflect a vision to bring collections to 
Northampton and to use collections to bring Northampton to the world. 

Some of the collection has been acquired with external funding support including 
Heritage Lottery Fund, V&A purchase grant, Contemporary Art Society, Art Fund, 
ACE, PRISM, and Friends of Northampton Museum.

136



Page 5 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

3. Overview of Current Collections
Past collecting was focussed on specific and defined typological areas. As the 
collections have grown they have become more complex and as result our collection 
definitions have become far more fluid and the significance of our collections is 
focussed around how they interrelate and support each other.

Shoe Collection
The shoe collection is one of the largest collections of shoes and shoe heritage in 
the world with over 60,000 objects and is designated as being of national and 
international importance by Arts Council England. Its strengths lie in its scope and 
range with particular emphasis on shoemaking post 1858 when the occupation was 
industrialised. It includes 15,000 shoes and shoe accessories worn by all genders 
and ages of people from all strata of society from working to upper class and from 
rural to urban. It also covers world footwear, and the history of making (shoe tools 
and machinery) and retailing around shoes, shoe and shoe care. An archive of 
journals, photographs and design material and artworks and trinkets reflecting shoe 
themes complete the collection. Stories within the collection support identity and 
cultural association which is an area for development. The concealed shoes and the 
concealed shoe index and index of shoemakers support the collection. 

Social History
This is a unique collection reflecting the history and development of Northampton 
and the surrounding rural county. The collection covers material from the 1600 to the 
present day. Much of the material supports stories connected with a ‘sense of local 
place’  in particular highlighting what it was like to live and work in the county from 
1800-1950. This includes some material relating to surrounding towns and also the 
rural hinterland reflecting an earlier collecting policy when NMAG acted as a county 
collection. The Lace collection covers the county and surrounding region of 
Buckinghamshire and Bedfordshire. Early collecting is poorly provenanced with a 
typological focus. Later collecting acknowledges historical value and local 
associations. Objects and photographs represent local industry, retail, architecture, 
domestic life and social activity. The categories of material held are wide and diverse 
but include objects from large furniture and machinery to small toys and badges, 
photographs and negatives, ephemera, oral histories and films.

Historically there has not been a focus on creating a specific APM collection however 
objects have been acquired that relate to Abington across the other collections. 
There are approx.100 objects with such a link and these include objects that link to 
the families that lived here, and items linked to Pritchard and the mental asylum. 

Numismatics
An extensive and comprehensive collection of coins, tokens, checks and 
commemorative medals representing Northampton, Northamptonshire and the wider 
world. The collection includes examples of most currency types expected in Britain 
from the period of the Roman invasion until the twentieth century plus examples from 
prehistory. The collection also supports our understanding of local history through 
the Northampton mint and local tokens and coins found beneath the ground in the 
town and hinterland. There is also a reasonably large collection of coinage and 
commemorative medals with national and international significance representing a 

137



Page 6 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

wide range of historic world currencies. The collection contains a number of local 
hoards. 

Archaeology
This collection reflects the development of Northampton and the surrounding 
hinterland with material from excavations and material found by individuals dating 
from 1840 to the present day. The collection covers most archaeological periods 
from prehistory to the twentieth century and therefore forms a good cohesive 
representative collection with a particular strength in relation to the medieval period, 
reflecting the era when Northampton was most important as a town. The bulk of the 
excavated material is from 1960-1980 when there was substantial excavation activity 
in Northampton due to the growth of the town and the rise in ‘modern and developer 
led archaeology. There are a few recent excavations but currently large archives 
from 2010 onwards tend to remain with Museum of London Archaeology (MOLA). 
There is a substantial stone archaeological collection. 

Costume
The collection includes costume and accessories associated with male, female and 
children’s dress covering both day and night wear. The strength of the collection lies 
in the typological scope and range with a significant proportion of the costume 
associated with local people, companies and organisations. The collection dates 
from 1560 until 2012 but most objects pre-date 1960. A focus on 1800-1970 
women’s’ costume reflects the interest of past curators and donors. Much of the 
collection does not have strong provenance and is collected as a typological 
example. 

Military
The collection consists of two collections, the Northamptonshire Regiment and the 
Northamptonshire Yeomanry collection covering the period 1741 until 1971 and 
following supporting organisations including the Anglian Regiment. The Council acts 
as sole trustee for both collections. The Northamptonshire Regimental collection 
consists of both physical objects and documentary archives and the 
Northamptonshire Yeomanry collection consists of physical objects only whilst the 
archive is currently owned by the Northamptonshire Yeomanry Association Benefit 
Fund (NYABF) and held by the Record Office. Both collections are supported by a 
library of reference books. The Regiment and Yeomanry were deployed across the 
world and some of the collection objects reflect this including souvenirs and gifts. 

Fine Art
The artwork covers the period from the 15th century to the present day. Aside from 
the Italian collection and some European/American artists, the collection is wholly 
British. The collection includes oil, works on paper, artist prints, sculpture, and mixed 
media and includes genre scenes, still life, landscapes, history paintings, portraits, 
abstract art and preparatory works. The collection contains representation of key 
names in national and international art up until 1970s and reflects the development 
of British Art. The Italian collections includes Renaissance and baroque artworks by 
less well-known masters.  The collection has good representation of Town and 
County presidents and other local artists from the 1800 onwards. 

Decorative Art

138



Page 7 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

This collection is defined by hand crafted and manufactured decorative objects that 
are also functional. Objects include ceramics in various forms, glass in various 
forms, furniture including chairs, occasional tables and chests, cast metal decorative 
objects, carved bone, stone and ivory ornamental objects. The collection currently 
covers both Western European and Eastern artefacts. The collection ranges from 
valuable pieces to throw-away pieces that were fashionable at the time of production 
or anniversary souvenirs. The British factory ceramics are comprehensive but this 
does not apply to the oriental ceramics. The ceramic collection, forms the core of the 
decorative art collection and numbers some 2,500 pieces. Most of the collection is 
non-local, however, there are a number of pieces dating from the 1890s to the 1920s 
where excavated examples from Northampton have been accessioned into this 
collection. The collection was developed through a number of bequests and has 
been supported by the friends in recent years.

Geology
The collection consists of approximately 41,915 specimens including 500 rocks, 
38915 fossils and 2500 minerals. This includes 100 type, figured and cited 
specimens including ammonite material. The collection is made up of specimens and 
Victorian geological cabinets and is supported by books and notebooks from the 
collectors (specifically Beeby Thompson currently held at the Local Studies Library). 
About 75% specimens are from Northamptonshire Jurassic sites. The other 25% 
relates to a range of geological material of British and foreign provenance. The 
collection was developed through a number of local collectors.

Ethnography
The collection consists of approximately 524 objects and was acquired by the 
museum mainly by donation between the late 19th century and the late 20th century. 
The objects come from a wide geographical spread including Asia, Oceania, and 
Africa, North and South America and a few pieces from distinct ethnic groups within 
Europe. This is not a complete typological collection and has a wide diversity in 
terms of the object styles and use. The ethnographic material held at Northampton 
Museum was acquired by the museum mainly through donation between the late 
19th century and the mid-20th century and by the 1980s was a closed collection. In 
the 1990s it underwent rationalisation. There are links to the social history collections 
and the history of the museum.

Natural History
NMAG has a small collection of natural history specimens. The collection was 
acquired in the 1890s to furnish Abington Park Museum in a period when this type of 
collection was very fashionable. The collection includes material from 1800 to 1900. 
The majority of the collection was disposed of in the early 2000s. The collection now 
include a few mounted specimens including those shot by local people, a mollusca 
collection of approximately 3,200 items, and a small collections of birds’ eggs. 

Egyptology
A small Ancient Egyptian collection consisting of approximately 250 items from 
prehistory to the Ptolemaic period. Much of the collection was acquired by Lord 
Northampton alongside other donors.

Education

139



Page 8 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

NMAG holds a collection of items used for on-site handling, outreach sessions and 
loan boxes in the delivery of formal learning programmes for schools, other formal 
education groups, Further Education and Higher Education. In broad terms the 
objects fall into the following collecting areas; shoes, archaeology, art, ethnography, 
social history, and military. Some are accessioned whilst others have handling 
numbers.

4. Themes and Priorities for Future Collecting

4.1 General Principles of Collecting
NMAG will take an active approach to collecting as follows:
Active and co-collecting:

 Working with identified communities/individuals we will collect objects to 
support public programming including exhibitions and events.

 Working with identified communities/individuals we will collect objects to 
support projects led by outreach, learning, curatorial and other areas of 
NMAG.

 Working with identified communities/individuals we will collect to fill the gaps 
identified in the collections, in particular contemporary collecting.

 Develop co-collecting activity with organisations and community groups to 
ensure our collections are relevant to our communities. This could include 
community panels or partnership projects.

 Co-collecting with other museums to ensure that objects of relevance to more 
than one organisation can be accessed widely and resources regarding 
storage/display can be shared.

 Create and commission artworks for specific collection areas.

 Future collecting will be influenced by unitary boundary changes and NMAG 
will actively collect in these areas to ensure that the collections are 
representative of place and people.

 As the biggest museum in the county and with such diverse collections NMAG 
will renew its focus with a county wide collecting approach to illustrate the 
history and products of the county.

 Where appropriate within collecting areas we will develop digital collections 
both audio and visual.

 Collecting around specific APM activity including weddings and commercial 
hire as part of APM archive.

140



Page 9 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

 Collecting around marketing and NMAG events and exhibitions as part of 
NMAG archive.

 Archive of museum general activity including collections/curatorial, public 
programming, commercial (weddings), facilities, visitor services.

 Working with identified communities to ensure that our collections are 
representative of female, gender, disabled people and LGBTQIA histories.

 Collecting supporting material including letters/emails.

 Collecting to represent our audience segmentation groups. Our audiences 
need to be represented by and see themselves in NMAG. 

Reactive collecting

 Where unsolicited donations support the gaps in collections and areas of 
collecting noted in this policy.

4.2. Specific Collection principles
The following principles and priorities apply to specific named collections.

Shoes
Our aim is to develop NMAG as an international ‘centre of excellence’ for shoes and 
shoe related material. .As a Designated collection it is the foremost collection of its 
type and consequently we will collect to ensure that is both comprehensive in scope 
and worldwide in coverage whilst maintaining a focus on British and Western 
European footwear. Shoe machinery tends to be similar across the world we will 
focus on collecting Midlands’s machinery. Particular gaps are in areas pre 1800 
(including pre-history) and world footwear pre-1900. We are particularly interested in 
objects that support the following themes:

 Material relating to the retail trade (specifically shoe shops and advertising).

 Examples of men, women and children’s high fashion and bespoke footwear 
from 1800 to the present day (designers, fashion brands and the high street) 
and associated owner/wearer/maker stories.

 Companies/makers not represented in the collection.

 Shoes worn by notable persons such as the footwear of public figures, 
celebrities or people who have been present at, or associated with, key 
historical events. 

 World footwear particularly in relation to the continents of Australia and South 
America.

 Design catalogues from under-represented companies.

 Archive relating to the making and selling of shoes including fashion 
forecasting. 

 Concealed shoes and concealed shoe index.

141



Page 10 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

 Shoes representing identity and western sub-cultures with specific wearers’ 
stories.

 World footwear representing cultural identity, rites of passage, religious belief 
with specific wearers’ stories from across the world.

 Shoes representing gender-neutral fashion with specific wearers’ stories.

 Shoes representing global interactions with specific industrial stories from 
across the world.

 Collections relating to specific collectors including oral histories.

 Updates to the trainer collection including oral histories.

 Shoes for work associated with under-represented professions and 
associated stories.

 Shoes for school associated with personal stories.

 Shoes for war after 1945 with personal stories.

 Shoes for entertainment late 20th early 21st century with personal stories.

 Shoes for sport including those worn by sports personalities including 
personal stories.

 Shoes for animals and associated personal stories.

 Shoes that are customised and associated personal stories.

 Contemporary shoes made of new contemporary materials.

 Northampton made shoes and other materials from under-represented 
factories and personal stories of the wearers’.

 Material associated with sizing and measuring late 20th and early 21st 
centuries.

 Shoe shop furniture and advertising.

 Trade union material.

 Shoe company branding.

 Modern production/making equipment in particular trainers. When collecting 
tools and machinery we only collect items with a provenance.  While we need 
to continue collecting machines made after 1940, there is no space at present 
to store them.

We will not collect material that would be better kept in the area where it was made 
or used e.g. items relating to a local person of significance in their own locality 
unless we consider the item to be a key example of the national picture of the 
industry.

Social History
We will ensure that our collection is relevant to the people of Northampton Borough 
and its diverse communities. The collection needs to reflect the relationship between 
the town of Northampton and the surrounding hinterland. The collection is not 

142



Page 11 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

comprehensive in later 20th and early 21st century material. We are particularly 
interested in objects that support the following themes:

 Transport objects (canals, railways, trams in particular)

 Sport related objects (Cricket, football and rugby)

 Health and well-being

 First and Second World War home-front material

 The gaol-block building that houses the Museum

 Suffragette and women’s/gender history related objects

 Formula One and motor industry engineering

 Town growth and development post 1960

 Political movements and protests including the civil war, Brexit

 Key significant events such as the great fire, swing riots

 Northampton social events e.g. Balloon festival, carnival, music 
festivals

 Religion – all religions represented in Northampton

 Diversity of Northampton communities

 Identified contemporary issues affecting Northampton e.g. 
homelessness

 Key individuals from Northampton, with a focus on women, who have 
had an impact both locally and beyond.

 Supporting key social history focussed exhibitions including We Are 
Northampton, Music.

 Northampton town building development post 1960 including 21st 
century regeneration of the town including Greyfriars

 University of Northampton

 Unitary changes in 21st century

 Technology and use in Northamptonians work and leisure

 Contemporary Northampton businesses including Avon, Carlsberg

 Gaps in Northamptonshire toy industry

 Music industry in the town

 Objects representing local communities that make up Northampton

We will ensure that our collection supports the stories of APM, the people that have 
lived and worked there and its distinct identity including its diverse communities. The 
collection is defined by the borders of Abington parish and include the house 
building, park/estate and urban areas. The date range will cover the earliest 
occupation by people to the present day but with a focus on late 20th and early 21st 

143



Page 12 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

century Abington. We are particularly interested in objects that support the following 
themes:

 Key individuals from Abington who have had an impact both locally and 
beyond.

 Families and individuals who have lived at APM

 Businesses from Abington

 Use of the park including work (business/industry), live and play

 Health and well-being including the park and the asylum

 Photos of the use of the building and the park

 Ephemera relating to the use of the building and the park

 Art relating to the use of the building and the park

 Religious groups 

 Diverse communities based in Abington

Numismatics
The numismatics and archaeological collections are closely aligned and material will 
be fluid across both collections. The collection needs to reflect the relationship 
between the town of Northampton and the surrounding hinterland. The collection is 
weaker in areas of Iron Age, Viking and early Saxon periods. Commemorative local 
medals from late 20th and early 21st century are also weak. We are particularly 
interested in objects that support the following themes:

 Coin hoards (which will be collected in their entirety) and significant individual 
finds

 Medals relating to West Northants and Northampton not already represented

 Tokens and checks relating to West Northants and Northampton not already 
represented

 Medieval coins with a relationship to Northampton including Northampton mint

 Archaeological coins may be collected from the wider county if there is no 
other place of deposit

Archaeology
Priority will be given to excavated material that contributes new information on the 
people living in the Northampton area from earliest hominids to the present day. The 
acceptance of formally excavated material within the Borough of Northampton will be 
the main way in which NMAG adds to its archaeological collection together with 
occasional finds resulting from individual metal detecting and field walking including 
the Portable Antiquities Scheme. Future collecting is limited by capacity to collect 
physically and digitally and ensure that collections are accessible and available for 
use and engagement. There are opportunities to enhance/develop the quality of the 
collection, in particular working with Museum Of London Archaeology who hold 

144



Page 13 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

archive from our collecting area after 2000 due to lack of space including good 
quality excavations to fill geographic and chronological gaps. As the largest museum 
in the county where appropriate we will work with the PAS scheme to ensure that 
significant objects found by individuals in Northamptonshire and perhaps classed as 
treasure remain in public ownership. The collection is weaker in areas of pre-history, 
specifically Bronze Age and collecting will be prioritised in this area. The collection is 
strong in medieval history but we will continue to acquire objects in this area that 
enhance to story of Northampton as a medieval centre of importance. We are 
interested in opportunities to work with local community groups to excavate, collect 
and work on existing specific collections of specific sites such as Hunsbury, Castle 
etc.

Costume
We will ensure that our collection is relevant to the people of Northampton Borough 
and its diverse communities. The collection also needs to reflect the relationship 
between the town of Northampton and the surrounding hinterland. Due to the lack of 
recent collecting after 1950 the collection is not comprehensive in later 20th and early 
21st century. We are particularly interested in objects that will:

 Represent our diverse communities

 Relate to specific individuals or have associated stories.

 Represent male costume

 Complement the shoe collection. To this effect we will collect garments that 
will complement shoes from outside the Borough of Northampton

 Represent working life in Northampton

Military
We will continue to collect material from across the UK and beyond that represents 
the Northamptonshire Yeomanry and the Northamptonshire Regiment. We will also 
focus on collecting county material that tells the wider story of the interaction 
between the county and the Regiment. The collection is lacking in pre Second Boer 
war material, post-war Second World War material, and material relating to the 
national service period 1950-1970 and antecedent regiments. Themes: We are 
particularly interested in objects that will:

 Tell biographical stories of individual soldiers and their families

 Depict individual soldiers including photographs and portrait artworks

 Illustrate uniforms, especially battle dress

 Represent National Service material

 Represent recollections through oral histories including family histories

 Show the military on film (digital)

 Represent the relationship between the military and Northampton civilian life

 Represent military during First and Second World Wars 

145



Page 14 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

 Represent sport and marching bands in military life

 Represent cavalry and horse material

 Represent Yeomanry use of armoured vehicles and cavalry/horses

 Represent the end of the Yeomanry and Regiment

Art: Fine Art: Although a good collection, there are a number of gaps to improve its 
comprehensiveness. We will continue to collect material from across the UK and 
beyond filling gaps in terms of a representation of British and International Art. We 
will also continue to collect local artists and artworks depicting Northampton, 
Northamptonshire and local people. We will continue collecting Baroque and Italian 
art. We are particularly interested in the following themes where they fill gaps in the 
collection:

 Renaissance and Baroque Italian works

 Portraits from contemporary artists representing local people 

 Portraits representing key figures from Northampton and 17th and 18th century 
local portraits

 Sculptural pieces representing genre art and still-life

 Genre works representing Northampton life

 Pre-18th century landscape works and contemporary Northampton landscapes

 Artist prints 1990-present

 Fine art photography

 Current local artists and up-coming young artists

 Late 20th and early 21st century British and International Artists 

 Early modern art and art post 1970

 Local artists not already represented in our collection

 17th and 18th century British portraiture

 Dutch and Northern European painting 1500-1800

 The sculpture collection is currently small and would benefit from additions. 
This includes larger works, non-figurative/portrait, abstract, still-life, genre 
pieces and sculpture in non-traditional mediums. 

 Art by female artists and/or is representative of female, gender and 
LGBTQTIA histories.

Decorative Art
The collection as a whole is wide and varied and future collecting needs to be more 
focussed to enhance the strengths of the collection on British ceramics and Chinese 
Oriental ceramics. We will continue to collect material from across the UK that is 
defined as decorative art. We will also add UK studio artist works to the collection 
including Northamptonshire artists. The collection is lacking in 20th and 21st century 

146



Page 15 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

studio artist ceramics and 17th-19th century Plymouth wares. We are particularly 
interested in the following themes where they fill gaps in the collection:

 Studio pottery from contemporary artists. Examples will be acquired from the 
following or similar artists Bernard Leach, Michael Cardew, Lucie Rie, Hans 
Coper, Alison Britton, Ruth Duckworth, and Jill Crowley.

 Studio pottery from local  Northamptonshire artists

 Plymouth porcelain

 Oriental ceramics that fill significant gaps

 Factory or studio Glassware not represented in the collection

 Local souvenir or other social historical ceramics

 Studio pottery by female artists and/or is representative of female, gender and 
LGBTQTIA histories.

Geology
This is a closed collection and there are no plans for any further collecting of 
geological specimens however there is a need to collect material relating to the 
history of key collectors including Lord Northampton, Beeby Thompson, Walter 
Drawbridge Crick, and Thomas Jesson. 

Ethnography
This is a closed collection and there are no plans for any further collecting. 

Natural History
This is a closed collection and there are no plans for any further collecting. 

Egyptology
This is a closed collection and there are no plans for any further collecting. 

Learning
The very nature of handling collections is that wear and tear will eventually lead to 
damage and disintegration of the objects. Where possible education and learning 
collections will be sourced from the collection. In some cases this may not be 
possible due to the fragile nature of the collections or possible hazards.  In this case 
objects will be sought by donation or purchase. Collecting will be guided by the 
National Curriculum, Higher Education and FE and the needs of pupils and learners. 
Specific areas for collecting are shoes, Anglo-Saxons, Vikings, toys from all periods. 

5. Themes and Priorities for Rationalisation and disposal
The museum recognises that the principles on which priorities for rationalisation and 
disposal are determined will be through a formal review process that identifies which 
collections are included and excluded from the review. The outcome of review and 
any subsequent rationalisation will not reduce the quality or significance of the 
collection and will result in a more useable, well managed collection. The procedures 
used will meet professional standards. The process will be documented, open and 
transparent. There will be clear communication with key stakeholders about the 

147



Page 16 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

outcomes and the process.

5.1 General priorities
NMAG has a significant number of diverse collections which were collected over a 
long period of time and we will from time to time review the significance of these 
collections at NMAG ensuring that they support our vision and mission and of 
appropriate quality. The unitary process will also affect collecting areas with an 
expansion to the West and South Northamptonshire and we will need to ensure that 
the collections are fit for purpose to serve the people in these areas.

NMAG has limited availability of suitable storage and seeks to dispose of items that 
are no longer relevant.  Rationalisation will form part of this process to ensure better 
storage practice. 

NMAG has developed a new exhibitions and events programme and interpretation 
plan that will inform public programming and collections use and a new access policy 
will address collections access and this will influence rationalisation.

As a 21st century public museum it is important to ensure that the collections are fit 
for purpose and we will review collections in this context. Taking this into account 
ethical rationalisation will be an area of activity post opening of the NMAG site in 
spring 2020. During this rationalisation process any disposals will be undertaken in 
accordance with the procedures set out in section 13 and following the Museum 
Association code of ethics. 

We will be mindful of objects of relatively low significance that require considerable 
storage space. We will also dispose for legal, safety care or conservation reasons 
including spoliation, radiation, infestation, repatriation. 

5.2 Specific priorities

Decorative Art
The Decorative Art Collection is extremely diverse in nature and much of it has not 
been displayed for several decades. The definition of this collection is vague (for 
example it includes archaeology, social history, sculpture and ethnographical 
objects) and this needs further work to define its core purpose. In recent years the 
definition of Decorative Art Collections in museums has undergone further academic 
research and this current thinking should be brought to bear on this collection.  We 
would like to review this collection, with appropriate specialist advice, in order to 
ensure that it is relevant and appropriate to the future of the museum.

Social history and costume
We will be reviewing the significance of our Social History and Costume Collections 
in the light of the redefined purpose of the Museum and the changing needs of our 
communities. Typological collecting in the past has meant that the social history 
collection has a large number of items which do not support our current collecting 
priorities. Many of the items have no recorded provenance. These items are mainly 
low value items, with no connection to the history of the Northampton. This process 
will run alongside an identified need for active contemporary collecting.

148



Page 17 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Archaeology
We will be reviewing the significance of our Archaeological collections in the light of 
the redefined purpose of the museum and the changing needs of our communities 
and the county development of the Archaeological Resource Centre by 
Northamptonshire County Council. All opportunities and risks will be considered 
regarding this.  

Ethnography and Geology
We will be reviewing the significance of our Ethnographical and Geological 
collections with the support from specialist advisers in the light of the redefined 
purpose of the museum and the changing needs of our communities as a 
complement to our contemporary collecting. 

Military Collections
We will review if the Regimental paper archive should be better stored at 
Northamptonshire Record Office.

Fine Art
We will be reviewing loose frames that relate to works in the collection but are now 
no longer used for conservation and public programming reasons. These will be 
reviewed in terms of the historical importance with the rational to dispose of frames 
of little importance, where work has been reframed or doesn’t require a frame or a 
frame has been damaged beyond repair.

6. Legal and Ethical Framework for Acquisition and Disposal of 
Items

NMAG recognises its responsibility to work within the parameters of the Museum 
Association Code of Ethics when considering acquisition and disposal.

7. Collecting Policies of Other Museums

NMAG will take account of the collecting policies of other museums and other 
organisations collecting in the same or related areas or subject fields. It will consult 
with these organisations where conflicts of interest may arise or to define areas of 
specialism, in order to avoid unnecessary duplication and waste of resources.

Specific reference is made to the following museums:

 Museum of Leathercraft (specifically leather industry in Northampton and 
relationship to the shoe collection)

 Kettering Museum and Art Gallery (local artists, shoe industry and local 
history objects)

 Leicestershire Museums Service (art and shoe industry)

 Canons Ashby (Sir Henry Dryden)

 Corby Heritage Centre (local artists, shoe industry and geology)

149



Page 18 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

 Daventry Town Council Museum (archaeology, social history, shoe industry)

 Leicester City Museums (art, shoe industry)

 Milton Keynes Museum (archaeology, social history, shoe industry and 
geology including Deanshanger)

 Bedford Museum (art, shoe industry)

 Royal East Anglian Regiment Museum (Anglian Regiment)

 Rugby Museum & Art Gallery (art, shoe industry)

 Rushden Museum (archaeology, social history, shoe industry)

 Wellingborough Museum (archaeology, social history, shoe industry)

 Northamptonshire Record Office

 Northamptonshire Local Studies Library

 Sulgrave Manor (Washington)

 The Canal Museum, Stoke Bruere (social history)

 Towcester Museum (shoe industry, archaeology and local history objects)

 Desborough Heritage Centre (archaeology, social history, shoe industry)

 Rothwell Heritage Centre (archaeology, social history, shoe industry)

 Oundle Museum (archaeology, social history, shoe industry)

 Kelmarsh Hall

In keeping with our role as the lead museum for footwear, we aim to benefit other 
museums by collecting as widely as possible and ensuring that the collection is 
accessible to the wider museum community and their audiences. Where we believe 
there may be a shared interest in objects we will consult with the appropriate local 
museum.  We will also ensure that our collecting complements the following 
museums:

 Museum of Leathercraft

 The V & A

 The Science Museum

 The University Arts London (including the Cordwainer Collection)

 Museum of Fashion, Bath

 Clarks Museum

 Norwich Museum Service

 Bata Shoe Museum, Canada 

 Dutch Shoe & Leather Museum 

 SONS Museum, Belgium 

150



Page 19 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

NMAG has an agreement with the Museum of Leathercraft Trust (MOL) to care for 
its collection. The MOL is now set-up as an independent Trust but if necessary 
NMAG would manage MOL collecting according to this policy.

8. Archival holdings
NMAG holds the following archives:

 Shoe collection paper archive

 History of the Museum paper archive

 Paper documentation associated with archaeological archive

 Northamptonshire Regimental paper archive

As NMAG holds archives, including photographs and printed ephemera, its 
governing body will be guided by the Code of Practice on Archives for Museums and 
Galleries in the United Kingdom (3rd edition, 2002). 

9. Acquisition
The policy for agreeing acquisitions

All possible acquisitions whether gift or purchase are proposed at monthly 
acquisitions panels where the merits of acquisition are discussed with guidance from 
this policy. Those objects accepted at panel are formerly recorded and Spectrum 
procedures followed and transfer of title sought. Records of this process are 
maintained. The authority for acceptance into the collection is devolved from the 
Governing body. As part of projects community collecting panels or co-collecting 
through partnerships or community groups may be set up but all authorisation and 
acceptance is through monthly collecting panels. 

Used or un-used objects may be acquired from individuals and companies and 
organisations. Archaeological objects may be acquired through excavation or as a 
result of individual finds (including through the Portable Antiquities Scheme). Objects 
are generally gifted with purchases made in exceptional circumstances due to limited 
resources.

NMAG will not acquire any object or specimen unless it is satisfied that the object or 
specimen has not been acquired in, or exported from, its country of origin (or any 
intermediate country in which it may have been legally owned) in violation of that 
country’s laws. (For the purposes of this paragraph ‘country of origin’ includes the 
United Kingdom).

In accordance with the provisions of the UNESCO 1970 Convention on the Means of 
Prohibiting and Preventing the Illicit Import, Export and Transfer of Ownership of 
Cultural Property, which the UK ratified with effect from November 1 2002, and the 
Dealing in Cultural Objects (Offences) Act 2003, the museum will reject any items 
that have been illicitly traded. The governing body will be guided by the national 

151



Page 20 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

guidance on the responsible acquisition of cultural property issued by the 
Department for Culture, Media and Sport in 2005.

10. Human Remains
As the museum holds or intends to acquire human remains from any period, it will 
follow the procedures in the ‘Guidance for the care of human remains in museums’ 
issued by DCMS in 2005.
The Museum has a separate Human Remains policy.

11. Biological and Geological material
NMAG will not acquire by any direct or indirect means any biological or geological 
specimen that has been collected, sold or otherwise transferred in contravention of 
any national or international wildlife protection or natural history conservation law or 
treaty of the United Kingdom or any other country, except with the express consent 
of an appropriate outside authority.

12. Archaeological material
The museum will not acquire archaeological material (including excavated ceramics) 
in any case where the governing body or responsible officer has any suspicion that 
the circumstances of their recovery involved a failure to follow the appropriate legal 
procedures.

In England, Wales and Northern Ireland the procedures include reporting finds to the 
landowner or occupier of the land and to the proper authorities in the case of 
possible treasure (i.e. the Coroner for Treasure) as set out in the Treasure Act 1996 
(as amended by the Coroners & Justice Act 2009).

13. Exceptions
Any exceptions to the above clauses will only be because the museum is:

 acting as an externally approved repository of last resort for material of local 
(UK) origin

 acting with the permission of authorities with the requisite jurisdiction in the 
country of origin

In these cases the museum will be open and transparent in the way it makes 
decisions and will act only with the express consent of an appropriate outside 
authority. The museum will document when these exceptions occur.

14. Spoliation
The museum will use the statement of principles ‘Spoliation of Works of Art during 
the Nazi, Holocaust and World War II period’, issued for non-national museums in 
1999 by the Museums and Galleries Commission.

15. The Repatriation and Restitution of Objects and Human 
Remains
The museum’s governing body, acting on the advice of the museum’s professional staff, 
if any, may take a decision to return human remains (unless covered by the ‘Guidance 
for the care of human remains in museums’ issued by DCMS in 2005), objects or 

152



Page 21 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

specimens to a country or people of origin. The museum will take such decisions on a 
case by case basis; within its legal position and taking into account all ethical 
implications and available guidance. This will mean that the procedures described in 
16.1-5 will be followed but the remaining procedures are not appropriate.
The disposal of human remains from museums in England, Northern Ireland and 
Wales will follow the procedures in the ‘Guidance for the care of human remains in 
museums’.

16. Disposal procedures
All disposals will be undertaken with reference to the Spectrum primary procedures 
on disposal.

The governing body will confirm that it is legally free to dispose of an item. 
Agreements on disposal made with donors will also be taken into account.

When disposal of a museum object is being considered, the museum will establish if 
it was acquired with the aid of an external funding organisation. In such cases, any 
conditions attached to the original grant will be followed. This may include repayment 
of the original grant and a proportion of the proceeds if the item is disposed of by 
sale.

When disposal is motivated by curatorial reasons the procedures outlined below will 
be followed and the method of disposal may be by gift, sale, and exchange or as a 
last resort – destruction.

The decision to dispose of material from the collections will be taken by the governing 
body only after full consideration of the reasons for disposal. Other factors including 
public benefit, the implications for the museum’s collections and collections held by 
museums and other organisations collecting the same material or in related fields will 
be considered. Expert advice will be obtained and the views of stakeholders such as 
donors, researchers, local and source communities and others served by the museum 
will also be sought.

A decision to dispose of a specimen or object, whether by gift, exchange, sale or 
destruction (in the case of an item too badly damaged or deteriorated to be of any use 
for the purposes of the collections or for reasons of health and safety), will be the 
responsibility of the governing body of the museum acting on the advice of professional 
curatorial staff, if any, and not of the curator or manager of the collection acting alone.

Once a decision to dispose of material in the collection has been taken, priority will 
be given to retaining it within the public domain. It will therefore be offered in the first 
instance, by gift or sale, directly to other Accredited Museums likely to be interested 
in its acquisition.

If the material is not acquired by any Accredited museum to which it was offered as a 
gift or for sale, then the museum community at large will be advised of the intention 
to dispose of the material normally through a notice on the MA’s Find an Object web 
listing service, an announcement in the Museums Association’s Museums Journal or 
in other specialist publications and websites (if appropriate).

153



Page 22 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

The announcement relating to gift or sale will indicate the number and nature of 
specimens or objects involved, and the basis on which the material will be transferred to 
another institution. Preference will be given to expressions of interest from other 
Accredited Museums. A period of at least two months will be allowed for an interest in 
acquiring the material to be expressed. At the end of this period, if no expressions of 
interest have been received, the museum may consider disposing of the material to 
other interested individuals and organisations giving priority to organisations in the public 
domain.

Any monies received by the museum governing body from the disposal of items will 
be applied solely and directly for the benefit of the collections. This normally means 
the purchase of further acquisitions. In exceptional cases, improvements relating to 
the care of collections in order to meet or exceed Accreditation requirements relating 
to the risk of damage to and deterioration of the collections may be justifiable. Any 
monies received in compensation for the damage, loss or destruction of items will be 
applied in the same way. Advice on those cases where the monies are intended to 
be used for the care of collections will be sought from the Arts Council England.

The proceeds of a sale will be allocated so it can be demonstrated that they are 
spent in a manner compatible with the requirements of the Accreditation standard. 
Money must be restricted to the long-term sustainability, use and development of the 
collection.

Full records will be kept of all decisions on disposals and the items involved and 
proper arrangements made for the preservation and/or transfer, as appropriate, of 
the documentation relating to the items concerned, including photographic records 
where practicable in accordance with Spectrum procedure on deaccession and 
disposal.

Disposal by exchange
The nature of disposal by exchange means that the museum will not necessarily be 
in a position to exchange the material with another accredited museum. The 
governing body will therefore ensure that issues relating to accountability and 
impartiality are carefully considered to avoid undue influence on its decision-making 
process.

In cases where the governing body wishes for sound curatorial reasons to exchange 
material directly with Accredited or non-Accredited museums, with other 
organisations or with individuals, the procedures in paragraphs 16.1-5 will apply.

If the exchange is proposed to be made with a specific accredited museum, other 
accredited museums which collect in the same or related areas will be directly 
notified of the proposal and their comments will be requested.

If the exchange is proposed with a non-Accredited museum, with another type of 
organisation or with an individual, the museum will place a notice on the MA’s  Find 
an Object web listing service, or make an announcement in the Museums 
Association’s Museums Journal or in other specialist publications and websites (if 
appropriate).

154



Page 23 of 23
Policy No CC145 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Both the notification and announcement must provide information on the number and 
nature of the specimens or objects involved both in the museum’s collection and those 
intended to be acquired in exchange. A period of at least two months must be allowed 
for comments to be received. At the end of this period, the governing body must 
consider the comments before a final decision on the exchange is made.

Disposal by Destruction
If it is not possible to dispose of an object through transfer or sale, the governing 
body may decide to destroy it.

It is acceptable to destroy material of low intrinsic significance (duplicate mass-
produced articles or common specimens which lack significant provenance) where 
no alternative method of disposal can be found.

Destruction is also an acceptable method of disposal in cases where an object is in 
extremely poor condition, has high associated health and safety risks or is part of an 
approved destructive testing request identified in an organisation’s research policy.

Where necessary, specialist advice will be sought to establish the appropriate method 
of destruction. Health and safety risk assessments will be carried out by trained staff 
where required.

The destruction of objects should be witnessed by an appropriate member of the 
museum workforce. In circumstances where this is not possible, e.g. the destruction 
of controlled substances, a police certificate should be obtained and kept in the 
relevant object history file. 

155



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 10
Policy No CC144 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Northampton Museums & Art Gallery Care of 
Collections and Conservation Policy

157



Page 2 of 10
Policy No CC144 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Equality Impact Assessment

The Council strives to ensure equality of opportunity for all both as a major employer 
and as a service provider.

The Access Policy has been equality impact assessed to ensure fairness and 
consistency for all. 

Author (Post Holder Title) Cultural Services Manager
Type of Document Policy
Version Number V01
Document File Name Northampton Museums & Art Gallery 

Care of Collections and Conservation 
Policy

Issue date To be completed at the end when 
published

Document Held by (name section) Museums
For internal publication only or external 
also

Internal and external

Document stored on council website
Next Review October 2024
Approved by CMB

Version Control Schedule for Northampton Museum & Art Gallery Care of 
Collections and Conservation Policy

Change History Date Comments

Version 1 24 September 2019
Version 2
Version 3
Version 4

158



Page 3 of 10
Policy No CC144 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Northampton Museums and Art Gallery Care of Collections and 
Conservation Policy

1. Introduction 
Caring for our collections appropriately is a fundamental duty of NMAG and is central 
to the Museums core purpose. Linked to our mission to become an audience 
focussed museum, collections care and associated knowledge is essential to enable 
engagement for our audiences. Best practise in collections care is essential to 
achieve the ambition of an international centre of excellence for shoe heritage as 
detailed in our vision. 

Vision: To be a focus for Northampton’s arts, heritage and culture and the 
international centre of excellence for shoe heritage, valued and enjoyed by all.

Mission: Using our collections, knowledge and expertise, we engage people 
with Northampton’s rich history, culture, art and our world class shoe 
collection. 

2. Scope 
This policy covers all collections including accessioned and non-accessioned objects 
(including handling collections) and collections on loan. The standard of care may 
vary according to significance; irreplaceability; fragility, use, ethics and our audience 
access requirements. For loans owner requirements will define care. This policy 
covers collections in all buildings managed by NMAG and NMAG collections on loan 
to other organisations. 
Collections include physical objects, archival material, reference material (including 
books) and digital material. Digital collections require a virtual and physical approach 
to ensure storage in particular is appropriate. The collections include the shoe 
collection which has Designated status from Arts Council England. Given the 
significance of this collection the scope includes the opportunity to develop research 
into best practise in shoe collections care.  

3. Purpose 
This policy defines and provides a framework for how we care for our collections with 
the aim of long term preservation through preventative and remedial means to 
ensure that the collections are accessible to staff/volunteers and our audiences. It 
does so by recognising barriers to care including financial resource, controlling the 
environment, and capacity and the need to achieve best value and prioritise across 
the physical and digital Museum. This policy defines the principles and minimum 
standard which apply to the care and conservation of objects underpinned by 
effective collections management procedures.

4. Definition of Terms

 Preventative conservation 
Covers the measures necessary to slow down or minimise deterioration of 
museum objects, and specimens and structures. This includes physical and 

159



Page 4 of 10
Policy No CC144 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

digital objects. This often involves passive conservation.

 Remedial conservation 
Involves a treatment to an object to bring it to a more acceptable condition, to 
stabilise it or enhance some aspects of its cultural or scientific value. This also 
includes digital and conservation of a corrupt digital object.

5. Responsibility 
NMAG acknowledges that collections care and conservation crosses all service 
areas and everyone has responsibility to ensure good practise in collections care. All 
members of permanent, temporary and freelance staff, contractors and volunteers 
working for NMAG must be aware of and adhere to this policy. The development of 
staff/volunteer knowledge and skills is the responsibility of management.

NMAG may commission remedial conservation. The role of a conservator involves 
the examination, conservation and preservation of cultural heritage using methods 
that are proven in keeping objects in as close to an original condition as possible, for 
as long as possible. This will involve surveying and assessment with minimal 
intervention and use of appropriate reversible materials and methods reducing 
possible problems for future treatments, investigation and use. For digital this may 
also include copying existing digital files. Digital methods may also include collecting 
data on an object which may be stored to help future preservation or creation of a 
replica. There will be full documentation of all work undertaken and comprehensive 
consultation with NMAG throughout treatment.

6. Guiding Principles
Caring for collections is a fundamental duty of all museums. NMAG will undertake 
the best possible care within the resources available.

Collections care is focussed on enabling and improving access to the collections. 

NMAG will document all activities covered by the policy to the standards outlined in 
Spectrum. Spectrum is the UK collections management standard developed by the 
Collections Trust.

Conservation priorities are established based on the following criteria: 

 An emergency situation 
 Mitigating/minimizing risk
 Audience interests and public programming requirement
 Acquisition and loan requirement
 Required for a curatorial project, significant treatment or research

7. Preventative Conservation
This section details NMAG’s approach to preventative conservation.

7.1 Disaster Prevention and Response
NMAG will maintain an emergency plan and procedure and mitigate risk through risk 
management. 

160



Page 5 of 10
Policy No CC144 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

7.2 Security 
Security is required at all levels for objects on display, in storage and in activity and 
collection holding areas and in digital folders and files. The provision of general site 
security and the security role of attendant staff is managed by NMAG. The provision 
of digital security and access is managed by ICT at NBC.

7.3 Environmental Monitoring and Control
NMAG aims to provide environmental conditions in line with current recognized 
Accreditation standards in exhibition, secure holding and storage areas. All action 
will take into account the climate change emergency declared by NBC and the need 
to take a sustainable passive approach. To ensure that a co-ordinated approach to 
improvements is made all proposed alterations to any environmental service 
provision (heating, cooling, lighting, humidity, filtration) within museum buildings is 
discussed during the planning and development stage. Respect for the historical 
integrity of the buildings will be recognised when taking action. Digital original files 
will be maintained in a separate digital environment with restricted access. 

Environmental monitoring of temperature, humidity and lux will be routinely carried 
out in all areas in which collections are housed including display and in storage. All 
records will be kept and this data will be used to achieve the conditions that promote 
the longevity of collections and in improvement activity. As a minimum, the normal 
climatic characteristics of buildings will be understood through recording over 
suitable periods of time. Original digital folders will be monitored to ensure corruption 
is minimal.

Light levels (Lux and UV Values) will also be routinely monitored and recorded in all 
collections areas, including stores and exhibition spaces, and will be adjusted as 
required. Lux hours will be recorded and used to manage light exposure.
Loan conditions and monitoring/evidence gathering will be put in place to ensure 
management of external loans. 

7.4 Handling and Use of Collections
Even in acceptable environmental conditions the physical handling of objects can 
cause damage and issues of deterioration. Poor handling is one of the main causes 
for the need of remedial conservation. All staff and volunteers will be trained in 
handling practises and procedures. Trained staff and volunteers will manage object 
handling by audiences including risk assessing to minimise and avoid damage (to 
both objects and people). All staff will be trained in managing digital archival storage. 
Objects on display will be rotated where resources are available.

7.5 Transporting Collections
When moving collections the risk of damage to objects is enhanced. Alongside poor 
handling, moving is one of the main causes for the need of remedial conservation. 
All staff and volunteers will be trained in moving practises and procedures which will 
take into consideration the size weight and type of packed object. This will include 
risk assessing to minimise and avoid damage (to both objects and people), 
assessing route and defining internal or external courier, insurance and where 
applicable lender requirements. All routes will be assessed in advance of moving.

7.6 Pest Management

161



Page 6 of 10
Policy No CC144 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Biological agents of decay including insects, rodents, mould and fungi can seriously 
damage collections and affect our service provision. Besides damage, attacks have 
serious cost implications and reduce access to collections. For environmental and 
hazard (COSHH) reasons prevention through risk reduction is the most economic 
and sustainable option. Procedures for site monitoring will be re-introduced and a 
strategy for pest management developed. 

Pests thrive in conditions where building maintenance and housekeeping are poor. 
All areas in museums, particularly those housing collections, require regular and 
thorough cleaning following the agreed guidelines. NMAG will keep the buildings and 
the contents clean and well maintained for the benefit of the collections as well as for 
our visitors and staff. 

7.7 Condition Checking and Collections Conditions Overview
The preservation of NMAG’s cultural assets will be optimised by assessment and 
reduction of risks, with priorities decided in the light of their needs and significance. 
The Museum will check and record the condition of all items entering the collections 
in order to establish a planned programme of conservation work.  If there is concern 
of infestation that could be spread within the collection the suspect item/s will be 
quarantined and treated. Individual and collection-wide condition surveys in line with 
best practise as defined by Benchmarks in Collections Care for Museums, Libraries 
and Archives Self-Assessment Checklist’ and Reviewing Significance 3.0 will be 
carried out as necessary to prioritise and establish a planned programme of 
conservation work.  Digital collections will be audited and condition checked as per 
The National Archive standards.

7.8 Housekeeping
On the spot’ issues regarding maintenance and cleaning are dealt with by staff.  The 
Integrated Pest Management plan will be implemented in areas that are known to be 
at risk. Stores and public areas are regularly inspected and cleaned and objects on 
display are regularly checked. Collection and the facilities functions meet regularly to 
ensure that work undertaken is balanced against available budgets and time frames.

7.9 Displays and Exhibitions
When new displays and exhibitions are planned, conservation implications will be 
considered at an early stage. Preventative conservation will be considered in all new 
exhibitions following guidance principles. Objects may have remedial conservation 
before they are put on display. All works once acquired by the Museum are 
photographed and given a full condition report before going on display or into store.

7.10 Building Maintenance
Poor buildings maintenance causes poor display and storage environments. NMAG 
will seek to ensure that all collections are housed in buildings that meet agreed 
minimum standards of construction and condition. 

Buildings managed by NBC and NMAG will work closely with colleagues in the 
Corporate Asset Management team, architects and builders to ensure that all 
building developments, repair programmes and changes of use are sustainable, 
cost-effective and benefit the collections. This includes involvement in planning of 
projects that may impact upon the collections. 

162



Page 7 of 10
Policy No CC144 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Consideration should be undertaken in relation to repair activity to ensure external 
contractors work in a manner compliant with museum best practice. 

NMAG recognises that the maintenance of a building’s fabric and services is 
fundamental to the preservation of collections and will seek adequate funding to 
enable this. When planning new stores and buildings conservation guidance will be 
considered.

7.11 Acquisitions and Loans
All proposed acquisitions will be assessed and if there are cost implications of 
conservation and long-term care then this may influence collecting decisions. In 
certain circumstances objects will not be accepted into the collection due to 
condition. 

We will ensure that lenders’ conservation requirements can be met before agreeing 
to borrow objects. An assessment of risk will be made before NMAG agrees to lend 
objects. 

All objects that are either borrowed or sent out on loan are condition checked on exit 
and entry.

Loans out are condition checked every 3 years and loans into the Museum are 
checked according to lenders requirements or annually. 

When a new work is commissioned, staff liaise with the commissioned artist/maker, 
ensuring that relevant information is obtained pertaining to the artistic process and 
materials used.

7.12 Insurance
Objects within the permanent collection and on loan to the Museum are 
commercially insured with an ‘all-risks’ policy. 

In the case of loans out the borrower must insure all objects on loan from NMAG and 
proof of insurance must be evidenced. 

In the case of loans in the Museum will insure against loss and damage for the whole 
of the loan period including transit.

7.13 Public Profile and Volunteering
NMAG will share and recognise our conservation and collections care practice by 
raising the profile of this activity where possible. 

Where appropriate we will engage our audiences with behind the scenes activities. 

Much of our collections care and conservation work is supported by volunteers and 
we aim to promote and share this. We aim to engage our communities in all our 
activity and will upskill volunteers engaging them in our collections care practise. 

7.14 Digital Space and Maintenance

163



Page 8 of 10
Policy No CC144 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

It is important to preserve the original accessioned digital file. Digital objects will be 
maintained in both hard copy form such as a drive or DVD but also on digital servers 
which will be backed up by NBC. Original digital objects will be secured in such a 
way that they cannot be accessed or copied.  

8. Remedial Conservation

This section will detail the NMAG approach to remedial conservation.

NMAG will use external conservation expertise for remedial conservation work. Such 
staff will be ICON Accredited and have previous, relevant experience with a good 
working knowledge in their areas.  

The remedial treatment of objects will be carried out following the agreed procedures 
for documentation and consultation prior to treatment. 

All conservation work will approved by staff and be defined by a clear brief. 

All outside contractors will be expected to adhere to the standards and specification 
laid down in the contract. 

Where the need for remedial treatment has been identified the Museum will make 
every effort to carry out the necessary work as soon as funding and other priorities 
permit.  

NMAG will document all activities covered by the policy to the standards outlined in 
Spectrum, making sure that all conservation information is accessible via the object 
number, and is up-to-date, with the name of the person who performed the work, the 
organisation to which they belong and the date on which it took place. 

9. Relationship to Other Policies, Plans Standards and Ethics
This policy should be considered alongside the Care and Collections Plan, 
Collections Development Policy, Documentation Policy, Documentation Plan and 
Emergency Plan, Collections Documentation Procedures Manual and Collections 
Documentation Process Catalogues.

The standards adopted by the service will be based on those noted below , but will 
be tailored to the requirements of our collection specifically the Designated Shoe 
collection where we will aim for best practise standards and develop standards in 
this area. Basic standards we must achieve for conservation and collection care 
include: 

 BS EN 16893:2018 Conservation of Cultural Heritage
 BS5454/pd5454 ‘Recommendations for storage and exhibition of archival 

documents’ 
 Benchmarks in Collections Care, 
 Spectrum procedures
 DCMS Guidance for the Care of Human Remains 2005
 PAS 197:2009 Code of practice for cultural collections management

164



Page 9 of 10
Policy No CC144 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

 Arts Council England Accreditation 
 International Council of Museum (ICOM) Conservation Standards, United 

Kingdom Institute for Conservation (now ICON) Code of Professional Practice
 Institute of Conservation Code of Conduct 
 Institute of Conservation Professional Standards 
 Museum Association Code of Ethics 
 Health and Safety at work (1974) 
 Control of Asbestos regulations (2012) 
 COSHH regulations (2002) 
 The National Archives Digital standards.

These standards are the minimum that we should aspire to. Conservation aims to 
raise standards above these levels where possible particularly in relation to the shoe 
collection and to assist in the development of new standards and measurable 
performance indicators for shoes.

10. Resources

10.1 Resources and Expertise
NMAG will balance the available resources of against the needs of the collections in 
the forward/business planning process. 

NMAG aims to make sustainable use of resources contexts and where possible 
support local suppliers. Objects in our care often require specialist housing 
requirements, plus a knowledge of preservation requirement is needed for staff 
responsible for their care. 

NMAG will employ qualified and experienced staff to implement the policy, training 
them as necessary in preventative and some remedial conservation. 

NMAG will train volunteers enabling them to develop skills and experience in these 
areas.  All staff have some basic training in handling objects and hanging paintings. 

All volunteers involved in handling collections should be trained by supervising staff. 

Contract conservators are used for all remedial conservation projects or specialist 
advice and where possible special provision should be made in a project budget. 

Costs must be included in planning for permanent and temporary exhibitions if 
external specialists are required. 

Digital advice is sought from ICT and external digital consultants.

Dedicated stores maintained to a specific environment are available for specific 
collections. We will aim to improve conditions and consolidate collections storage. 
NMAG will seek to obtain appropriate specialist advice, working with contractors 
where necessary, under the direction of staff. 

10.2 Finance

165



Page 10 of 10
Policy No CC144 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

There are limited resources to cover ongoing preventative and remedial conservation 
costs including materials. Exhibition projects and site developments must include a 
budgetary provision for preventive and remedial conservation. This should also 
include consideration of mounting and supporting collections for display, safe 
movement and packaging materials and as noted above the potential use of external 
specialists.

Fundraising campaigns in partnership with our audiences may be instigated to 
support the conservation of specific elements of the collection. NMAG will seek 
external funding for specific conservation projects. When acquiring large collections, 
NMAG will seek endowments for their housing, care and conservation including a 
charge on archaeological archive.

10.3 Partnerships and Advice
NMAG will seek to develop partnerships with organisations such as the 
Northamptonshire Record Office in the care of archives and other paper-based 
collections and seek advice accordingly. NMAG will seek to develop other 
appropriate partnerships around the conservation and care of collections and will 
also consult with audiences regarding prioritisation. 

166



Page 1 of 8
Policy No CC142 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Northampton Museums & Art Gallery 
Documentation Policy

167



Page 2 of 8
Policy No CC142 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Equality Impact Assessment

The Council strives to ensure equality of opportunity for all both as a major employer 
and as a service provider.

The Access Policy has been equality impact assessed to ensure fairness and 
consistency for all. 

Author (Post Holder Title) Cultural Services Manager
Type of Document Policy
Version Number V01
Document File Name Northampton Museums & Art Gallery 

Documentation Policy
Issue date To be completed at the end when 

published
Document Held by (name section) Museums
For internal publication only or external 
also

Internal and external

Document stored on council website
Next Review October 2024
Approved by CMB

Version Control Schedule for Northampton Museum & Art Gallery 
Documentation Policy

Change History Date Comments

Version 1 24 September 2019
Version 2
Version 3
Version 4

168



Page 3 of 8
Policy No CC142 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Northampton Museums and Art Gallery Documentation Policy

1. Introduction
Good documentation is a fundamental duty of NMAG and underpins all aspects of 
the Museum’s collections activity. As highlighted in our mission maintaining a record 
of all collections and associated use ensures legal accountability and supports 
collections care and conservation. Most importantly it enables access and use of 
collections by our audiences. Best practise in documentation is essential to achieve 
the ambition of an international centre of excellence for shoe heritage as detailed in 
our vision. 

Vision: To be a focus for Northampton’s arts, heritage and culture and the 
international centre of excellence for shoe heritage, valued and enjoyed by all.

Mission: Using our collections, knowledge and expertise, we engage people with 
Northampton’s rich history, culture, art and our world class shoe collection. 

2. Scope
This policy covers documentation of all collections including accessioned and non-
accessioned objects (including handling collections) and collections on loan. This 
policy covers collections in all buildings managed by NMAG and collections on loan 
to other organisations. Collections include physical objects, archival material, 
reference material (including books) and digital material. Digital collections require a 
virtual and physical approach to ensure they are appropriately documented. The 
collections include the shoe collection which has Designated status from Arts 
Council England. Given the significance of this collection the scope includes the 
opportunity to develop best practise in terminology and documenting this collection.

3. Purpose
This policy defines and provides a framework for how we document our collections 
with the aim of recording knowledge of the collections and their use (including 
commercial) to ensure that the collections are accessible to staff/volunteers and our 
audiences. It does so by recognising barriers, including financial resource and 
capacity, and the need to achieve best value and prioritise across the physical and 
digital Museum. This policy defines the principles and minimum standard as defined 
by Spectrum which apply to collections documentation but we will aim to achieve 
best practise. Spectrum is the UK collections management standard developed by 
the Collections Trust.

4. Definition of terms
Museum documentation is concerned with the development and use of information 
about the objects within a museum collection and the procedures which support the 
management of the collection.’ Documentation Committee of the International 
Council of Museums (ICOM-CIDOC)

Levels of cataloguing are defined as follows:

 Inventory level: This includes sufficient key information to allow any object(s) in 
our care to be individually identified and verified. All accessioned items, loans 

169



Page 4 of 8
Policy No CC142 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

inward and outward, and any other un-accessioned objects as appropriate are 
documented at this level. 

 Catalogue level: We will identify the collections/objects that merit further, more 
detailed, documentation, thus raising the standard of information to catalogue 
level. Such documentation will include the known history of an object, and 
references to any relevant publication and exhibition records, rights recording 
and collections use etc. 

5. Responsibility
NMAG acknowledges that documentation crosses all service areas and everyone 
has responsibility to ensure good practise in collections documentation. All members 
of permanent, temporary and freelance staff, contractors and volunteers working for 
NMAG must be aware of and adhere to this policy. The development of 
staff/volunteer knowledge and skills is the responsibility of management. The 
collections function of the Museum has responsibility to ensure that documentation 
adhere to Spectrum principles. 

6. Policy
6. 1. Guiding principles
NMAG will undertake to achieve the best possible standards for all incoming material 
and retrospective documentation to at least the basic standard laid down in 
Spectrum and will work towards bringing documentation up to the highest standards 
within the resource available. 

NMAG documentation is focussed on: 

 Enabling and improving access to the collections and engaging our audiences 
through use of collections.

 Encouraging audiences to understand documentation processes and raising 
profile of audience activity.

 Ensuring that NMAG is accountable for all digital and physical objects in the 
collection and can locate them as per legal and ethical requirements. 
Maintaining an audit record for insurance/legal purposes. 

 Protecting collections through condition checking and recording collections 
care and conservation activity.

 Monitoring audience interest in collections by recording collections used in 
public programming, audience research and learning.

 Improving the documentation of our shoe collection to ensure it is fit as a 
Designated collection

 Supporting emergency procedures and situations

 Helping with research and enquiries particularly regarding the Designated 
shoe collection

 Recording use and intellectual property rights for commercial purposes

Documentation priorities are established based on the following criteria: 

170



Page 5 of 8
Policy No CC142 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

 An emergency situation
 Maintaining legal records 
 Mitigating/minimizing risk of information loss
 Audience interests and public programming requirement
 Acquisition and loan requirement
 Required for a curatorial project, significant treatment or research
 Delivering documentation plan (including projects such as rationalisation and 

significance assessment)

6.2. Standards
NMAG will commit to maintain minimal professional standards as laid out in 
Spectrum including: 

 Entry: There will be a unique record of any item that enters the Museum 
through an object entry form, whether for identification, loan or as a potential 
acquisition. 

 Accession records: The Museum will maintain an accessions register which 
records the formal acceptance of items into the museum’s permanent 
collection, allocates a permanent identity number, and provides sufficient 
information for collections management.

 Location/movement recording: The location and movement of items within 
the museum will be recorded using object movement tickets and updating the 
Modes system. The location and movement of objects external to the Museum 
will be maintained through loan agreements which will include 
courier/transport requirements.

 Inventory: We maintain the ability to produce an inventory of each object in 
the collection including information on the specific collection area they belong 
to. 

 Cataloguing: Every object or group of objects (as in the case of 
archaeological excavation) will be documented to inventory or catalogue level. 
For most objects in the collection we will aim to document to a catalogue level. 
The levels of cataloguing for the shoe collection will be significantly higher 
than other collections to meet the requirements of the Shoe Resources 
Centre. New objects will be catalogued as soon as possible and within three 
months of acquisition (excluding large donation groups which will be treated 
as projects). 

 Object exit: Object exit occurs as a result of return of unwanted gifts, loans 
in, objects left for identification, loans out and transport to another 
organisation, transfer to another organisation, deaccession / disposal 
(including destruction). Entry forms, loans agreements and exit forms should 
be used to control exit.  

171



Page 6 of 8
Policy No CC142 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

 Loans in: Inward loans will only be accepted for specific purposes and for 
fixed terms, usually not exceeding three years.  Whilst inward loans have a 
role in broadening the range of material on public display there is a 
presumption against the use of long-term inward loans as a mechanism for 
augmenting permanent collections.

 Loans out: Whilst outward loans from the collections provide an important 
mechanism for broadening access to the collections, the safety and long term 
preservation of the items concerned must be regarded as being of primary 
importance.  Requests to borrow material will be considered on their individual 
merits

 Documentation planning: NMAG has a documentation plan detailing and 
prioritising documentation activity including backlog. Retrospective 
documentation must be undertaken in accordance with NMAGs various 
cataloguing procedures. 

 Digitisation: NMAG collections are documented with a combination of both 
physical cards and digital databases and spreadsheets including Modes and 
Excel. NMAG is working to digitise cards and ensure that all objects (or 
groups) in the collection have a record conforming to Spectrum requirements 
as a bare minimum. The shoes in the NMAG shoe collection are also digitised 
with high resolution images and updated records. 

 Accessibility: NMAG is committed to improving public access to collections 
and information, and engaging wider audiences with collections. NMAG will 
facilitate access while ensuring that security and preservation of the 
collections are not compromised and will facilitate access to collections 
information and knowledge taking into account legal and ethical issues. The 
museum is planning to improve access through collections on-line, through 
public programming activity and reviewing current restrictive documentation 
system. To this end all object research, including that by external researchers 
will be added to records where possible.  Access to catalogues improves 
collections care by reducing un-necessary handling. All requests for 
information will be considered in terms of compliance with relevant legislation 
relating to freedom of information, Data Protection and copyright will be 
adhered to. Access to Modes is limited to Museum staff and trained 
volunteers.

 Security against information loss: We have measures in place to ensure 
the physical security and long-term preservation of all documentation records, 
whether paper or digitised. Regular backups will be made to secure digital 
data as NMAG is part of NBC. Where possible back-ups of paper archive will 
be stored off-site. All registers are stored in a fire resistant safe and copies are 
kept off-site. Staff and volunteers who work directly with the Collection and 
have undergone necessary training. The majority of users input as well as 
retrieve data. Data entry and procedural data management is carried out in 
accordance with detailed guidelines written in the Documentation Procedures 
Manual.

 Future proofing: All data is backed up by NBC and hard-drive and cloud 
storage for digital imagery. In order to ensure that our current electronic 
system does not become obsolete, the museum will remain informed of 

172



Page 7 of 8
Policy No CC142 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

technological advances and ensure the long term accessibility of the 
information held.

7. Relationship to Other Policies, Plans, Standards and Ethics
This policy supports the NMAG Forward plan and should be considered alongside 
the Care and Collections Plan, Care and Collections Policy, Documentation Plan and 
Emergency Plan and Collections Documentation Procedures Manual, Collections 
Documentation Process Catalogues. The standards adopted by the service will be 
based on those noted below , but will be tailored to the requirements of our collection 
specifically the Designated Shoe collection where we will aim for best practise 
standards and develop standards in this area. Basic standards we must achieve for 
conservation and collection care include: 

 Spectrum procedures

 BS EN 16893:2018 Conservation of Cultural Heritage

 BS5454/pd5454 ‘Recommendations for storage and exhibition of archival 
documents’ 

 Benchmarks in Collections Care

 DCMS Guidance for the Care of Human Remains 2005

 PAS 197:2009 Code of practice for cultural collections management

 Arts Council England Accreditation 

 International Council of Museum (ICOM) Conservation Standards, United 
Kingdom Institute for Conservation (now ICON) Code of Professional Practice

 Institute of Conservation Code of Conduct 

 Institute of Conservation Professional Standards 

 Museum Association Code of Ethics 

 Health and Safety at work (1974) 

 Control of Asbestos regulations (2012) 

 COSHH regulations (2002) 

 The National Archives Digital standards.
These standards are the minimum that we should aspire to. NMAG aims to raise 
standards above these levels where possible particularly in relation to the shoe 
collection.

8. Resources
Resources and expertise
NMAG will balance the available resources against the needs of documentation in 
the forward/business planning process. NMAG aims to make sustainable use of 
resources in local/regional/global contexts and where possible support local 
suppliers. Documentation requires specific recording systems based on Spectrum 
standards and staff involved in documentation require knowledge and understanding 
in this area. NMAG will employ qualified and experienced staff to implement the 

173



Page 8 of 8
Policy No CC142 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

policy, training them as necessary in documentation and Spectrum. NMAG will train 
supportive volunteers enabling them to develop skills and experience in these areas.  
Only those trained on Modes can edit records. Costs must be included in planning 
for permanent and temporary exhibitions and rationalisation of specific collections if 
external specialists are required to undertake significance assessment. Commercial 
advice is provided internally. Digital advice is sought from ICT, Modes and external 
digital consultants.  As part of the Shoe Resources Centre specialised on-line 
catalogues required to ensure access to the collection will be planned and developed 
requiring external resource. 

Finance
There are limited resources to cover documentation including subscriptions to the 
current cataloguing system Modes or future content management system. Where 
objects require documentation to support public programme activity including 
movements for exhibitions and events then this capacity requires planning. 
Exhibition projects and site developments must include a budgetary provision for 
preventive and remedial conservation. This should also include consideration of 
mounting and supporting collections for display, safe movement and packaging 
materials and as noted above the potential use of external specialists. NMAG will 
seek external funding for specific on-line documentation projects and catalogues 
including collections on line and the Shoe Resources Centre catalogue. When 
acquiring large collections, NMAG will seek endowments for their housing, care and 
conservation including a charge on archaeological archive storage.

Partnerships and Advice
NMAG will seek to develop partnerships with organisations such as the Northampton 
Record Office in the documentation of archives and other paper-based collections 
and seek advice accordingly. NMAG will seek to develop other appropriate 
partnerships around the documentation of collections including the Collections Trust 
and will also consult with audiences regarding prioritisation. 

174



Page 1 of 7
Policy No CC143 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Northampton Museums & Art Gallery Access 
Policy

175



Page 2 of 7
Policy No CC143 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Equality Impact Assessment

The Council strives to ensure equality of opportunity for all both as a major employer 
and as a service provider.

The Access Policy has been equality impact assessed to ensure fairness and 
consistency for all. 

Author (Post Holder Title) Cultural Services Manager
Type of Document Policy
Version Number V01
Document File Name Northampton Museums & Art Gallery 

Access Policy
Issue date To be completed at the end when 

published
Document Held by (name section) Museums
For internal publication only or external 
also

Internal and external

Document stored on council website
Next Review October 2024
Approved by CMB

Version Control Schedule for Northampton Museum & Art Gallery Access 
Policy

Change History Date Comments

Version 1 24 September 2019
Version 2
Version 3
Version 4

176



Page 3 of 7
Policy No CC143 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Northampton Museums and Art Gallery Access Policy

1. Introduction

Northampton Museums & Art Gallery (NMAG) is committed to, and believes that all 
people and sectors of the community have a fundamental right to engage with, use 
and enjoy the collections and services it provides.

NMAG is committed to ensuring that all aspects of its museums’ activities are fully 
accessible to all sectors of the community by removing or reducing any physical, 
sensory, cultural or intellectual barriers to access.

NMAG adopts the social model of disability which recognises that disability is the 
loss of opportunity to take part in mainstream activities due to physical, social, 
attitudinal, information or communication barriers.  The problem is not with the 
individual.

2. Scope

This policy covers provision at the Council’s premises at NMAG, Abington Park 
Museum, museum stores, our digital presence, and all aspects of service provision. 
It also covers venues where outreach programmes are delivered.

3. Purpose

The purpose of this policy is to provide a framework for maintaining and improving 
access to the Council’s museum’s buildings, facilities, displays, collections, 
associated information, staff and knowledge. It does so by recognising that there are 
many barriers to access at all levels with the overall aim of achieving equality, 
diversity and inclusion.

This policy applies to the provision of our services to all users both in person and 
online. It includes access to exhibitions, events, activities, resources and access to 
collections and collections knowledge.

4. Definition of Terms

In the context of this policy, access means the opportunity to engage with our 
buildings, collections, content and expertise. There are a number of key barriers to 
access:

Physical access – ensure that those with physical disabilities have access to 
and are able to appreciate all parts of the museum. To ensure that the needs 
of the elderly and those caring for young children are also considered as 
potentially having physical access requirements

177



Page 4 of 7
Policy No CC143 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

Sensory access – to ensure that those with sensory impairments are able to 
fully participate in the activities taking place in the museum’s buildings, 
exhibitions and collections 

Intellectual access – we recognise that our users have different learning 
styles and we will use and develop appropriate interpretation methods taking 
into account their varying needs and preferred styles of learning when 
creating content to enable them to fully engage with our services 

Cultural access – we will give consideration to the needs of those for whom 
English is their second language or whose knowledge of museum subject 
areas may be limited

Social access - ensuring that people from any background, regardless of 
education, belief, culture or age are able to access our services

Emotional and attitudinal access – ensure that all sections of the 
community feel welcomed and included

Economic access – we recognise that provision may need to be made to 
ensure that people of all income levels are able to participate the services we 
provide

5. Responsibilities

The Council’s Cultural Services Manager is responsible for ensuring that NMAG 
adheres to the Equality Act (2010) by carrying out everything reasonably possible to 
ensure access to NMAG is available to the widest range of people.

Managers need to ensure that all staff are aware of and take into account the need 
to address the barriers outlined above. They have a responsibility in providing 
services to increase access by reducing where possible these barriers. 

Everyone involved in developing, delivering or maintaining spaces, activities, 
resources and other services for our users is responsible for making them as 
accessible as possible. This includes not only staff but others working for the NMAG 
(e.g. designers, artists, contractors, session leaders) and volunteers.

6. Policy

NMAG is committed to maximising and /or improving access by:

Physical access

 Upholding the statutory requirements of the Equality Act (2010) by taking 
reasonable steps to ensure that policies, practices and procedures do not 
discriminate against disabled people; by providing auxiliary aids and services 
which enable disabled people to use the services we provide; and by 

178



Page 5 of 7
Policy No CC143 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

removing, altering or circumventing physical barriers within our physical 
environment.

 NMAG staff to be aware of parking facilities for blue badge holders.

 NMAG creates a safe environment by implementing the Council’s Health and 
Safety Policy and through the training of its staff, including risk assessments. 
(Is this relevant?)

 NMAG is committed to providing an accessible digital presence that gives 
online visitors full access to its digital resources.

 The museum environment is accessible for wheelchairs and buggies at 
NMAG and to the ground floor at Abington Park Museum  (APM)

 There are lifts to all levels of the building at NMAG. Listed status at APM does 
not allow this at present.

 There are wheelchair accessible toilets, baby changing facilities and seating 

 At our events and activities provision is made for users with a range of 
physical disabilities e.g.at APM where possible activities will be provided on 
the ground floor, at NMAG there is access to all activities on the ground floor 
and via lifts to other locations.

Sensory access

 Assistance dogs are welcome in all museum buildings.

 Hearing enhancement systems are fitted in key areas, at NMAG e.g. main 
reception, shop, café servery. Central Hall (events/conferencing space) and 
The Studio (workshop/event space) 

 The museum service makes provision for users with needs relating to their 
condition or impairment e.g. cognitive impairments e.g. dementia

 The museum service ensures that the presentation of displays follows best 
practice guidelines as laid down in the ‘Style Guide: a guide for gallery text at 
Northampton Museums and Art Gallery’. This guide is DDA compliant.

Intellectual access

 Users have different needs and the museum service is committed to an 
inclusive approach that recognises a range of different learning styles and 
needs 

 Public programming utilises a wide range of approaches appropriate to users - 
these include online and downloadable resources, print and digital marketing, 
formal and informal learning resources, guided tours, hands-on practical 
workshops, facilitated sessions, outreach, lectures and public talks, access to 
collections, research facilities, loans to other organisations, temporary 
exhibitions.

179



Page 6 of 7
Policy No CC143 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

 Where practicable the museum service aims to tailor workshops to people 
with a range of abilities, including those with special educational needs. 

 The museum service offers a range of formal learning opportunities to schools 
and colleges which take place both on and off site.

 Ensuring that the text used in our galleries, exhibitions, educational resources, 
publications, website and social media channels is carefully tailored to the 
needs of their intended users, in line with the ‘Style Guide: a guide for gallery 
text at Northampton Museums and Art Gallery’  This guide is DDA compliant.

 The museum service aims to support students from universities and higher 
education institutions through a range of methods including but not exclusive 
to lectures and workshops.

 The museum welcomes research visits to view collections off display by 
appointment, if suitable resources and supervision is available.

Cultural access

 Making the museum and its programmes as relevant as possible to our 
culturally and socially diverse users

Social access

 The museum aims to attract new users from low and non-user groups through 
developing new activities, programmes and outreach activities. 

 The museum offers a range of volunteering opportunities through an open 
and inclusive recruitment process. 

Emotional and attitudinal access 

 All members of staff receive Equalities training. Induction for staff with public-
facing roles also includes access awareness. 

 All public facing members of staff have appropriate training in customer care 
and an awareness of the possible barriers and access issues associated with 
using our services.

 The museum seeks opportunities to work in partnership with other 
organisations to ensure ongoing improvements to the services we provide. 

 Museum staff offer a programme of education sessions and resources that 
are suitable for a range of users with differing needs.

Economic access

 Admission to the NMAG and APM is free. An option is retained for charging 
for some temporary exhibitions, though this will only be under exceptional 

180



Page 7 of 7
Policy No CC143 POL

Reviewed 09/2019

circumstances, not the norm. Consideration is given to the setting of fees and 
charges for events and activities in relation to museum users’ financial 
situation.

 Offering concessions where possible e.g. for students, senior citizens and 
registered carers and companions.

 Provision of outreach services for schools where travel to the museum is cost 
prohibitive for them.

7. Related Policies, Legislation and Guidance

The museum works within the relevant legal framework. Those relevant to this policy 
include: 

Equality Act 2010

Disability Discrimination Act 1995 & 2005

BS8300 Design of buildings and their approaches to meet the needs of 
disabled people (Updated 2018)

BS 8477:2007 Code of practice for customer service

PAS 197:2009 Code of practice for cultural collections management

PAS78 Guide to good practice in commissioning accessible websites and 
meets WCAG standards

Freedom of Information Act 2000 

Style Guide: a guide for gallery text at Northampton Museums and Art Gallery 

181



This page is intentionally left blank



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Service Area:

Accountable Cabinet Members: 

Ward(s)

16th October 2019

YES

NO

YES

Economy, Assets and Culture. 

Cllr. Tim Hadland,

Castle

1. Purpose

1.1 To approve the Northampton Town Centre Masterplan (2019), which 
establishes a clear vision for the town centre and enables the delivery of the 
transformational change required for Northampton to once again have a town 
centre that residents, visitors and businesses will be proud of.

1.2 It will provide Northampton Borough Council, our partners and future investors 
with a framework to guide the development of the town centre and will be the 
tool to deliver change.

2. Recommendations

It is recommended that:

2.1 Cabinet approve the Northampton Town Centre Masterplan which sets the 
Principles and the approach that will be taken in order to deliver 
transformational change.

2.2 Cabinet notes the results of the consultation and how the masterplan has 
accounted for these within its design.

Report Title Northampton Town Centre Masterplan

Appendices 2

183

Agenda Item 12



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

2.3 The Masterplan is used to inform emerging planning policy within the town 
centre

2.4 Cabinet note the progress made to date, timescales and next steps for the 
Future High Street Fund application and the priority areas for intervention.

3. Issues and Choices

3.1Report Background

3.1.1 Structural changes to retail are taking place in town centres across the 
country, affecting the way people shop and communities use their town 
centres. People are shopping more online while out of town shopping 
locations continue to pull people away from traditional town centre locations.

3.1.2 Change on the high street is not a new phenomenon with the way people use 
their high streets constantly evolving. However, the speed of these changes 
has increased dramatically in recent decades. The unprecedented growth of 
online shopping in particular has had a big effect on high streets. Between 
2007 and 2018 online sales increased six-fold while the growth of in-store 
sales lagged behind. In 2000 online retailing accounted for less than 1% of 
total retail sales while in October 2018 almost a fifth of all retail sales took 
place online

3.1.3 The speed of this change has meant that high streets and local areas have not 
had sufficient time to adapt to meet these challenges. While there are 
examples of successful regeneration of town centres, many places across the 
country are struggling to transform in response to these structural changes.

Northampton Town Centre
3.1.4 Northampton Town Centre plays a vital role as a major centre serving the 

town and a wider catchment of over 1m people. Northampton has a long 
history dating back before the Middle Ages and the town centre reflects this in 
its mix of modern and historic buildings and the varied uses that they host.

3.1.5 Retailing is the predominant land use within Northampton town centre 
alongside other significant uses include cultural, entertainment and leisure.

3.1.6 Over the last 25 years, the town centre has not seen the level of retail 
investment that would be expected for a centre of its size.  Although there has 
been some small-scale retail investment, this has not addressed the needs of 
modern town centre retailers.  

3.1.7 Large stores are still vacant following the closures of BHS and M&S, which are 
dated in terms of floorplates, causing them to be unattractive to potential 
retailers. Whilst Northampton’s catchment population has a high level of 
spending per person, the Abington Street and the Grosvenor Centre are 
currently regarded by retail operators as primarily catering for lower income 
groups.

184



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

3.1.8 Northampton, similarly to many of these other towns across the country, has 
seen vacancy rates and footfall data support the analysis above, with vacancy 
rates for the whole of the town centre area increasing from 12.7% in 2015 to 
13.9% in 2019. Within the primary shopping area, this increase is even more 
pronounced increasing from 14.7% in 2015 through to 17.5% in 2019. Footfall 
has fallen by over 15% in the town centre over the past 3 years, from 24.5m in 
2016 down to 20.6 in 2018.

Northampton Forward
3.1.9 Northampton Borough Council recognised the need for change within the town 

centre in late 2018 and invited a range of key local stakeholders to meet to 
establish how this change could be realised.

3.1.10 Northampton Forward was established, made up of Northampton Borough 
Council, Northamptonshire County Council, South East Midlands Local 
Enterprise Partnership, The University of Northampton, private sector 
representatives, Northamptonshire Police, Northamptonshire Chamber of 
Commerce, Royal and Derngate, Community representative, Northampton 
Town Centre Business Improvement District.

3.1.11 Northampton Forward is an informal partnership with the primary role of co-
ordinating and driving forwards the integrated regeneration and growth within 
Northampton, including Northampton Town Centre.

3.1.12 To represent the views of the widest range of local stakeholders Northampton 
Forward will develop a number of thematic sub groups in order to focus on 
specific areas of activity. These may include but are not limited to; marketing, 
young people, and heritage. 

Future High Street Fund
3.1.13 Before Northampton Forward were due to first meet, MHCLG released details 

of a new funding source called the Future High Street Fund (FHSF) at the very 
end of 2018. The Future High Street Fund is a £620m fund that is designed to 
support places by co-funding transformative, structural changes to overcome 
challenges in their area.

3.1.14 The first stage of the application process, Phase 1, called for places to come 
forward with Expressions of Interest (EoI) by 22 March 2019 setting out their 
challenges and strategic approach to regenerating town centres.

3.1.15 In order to achieve this Northampton Town Centre needed to establish a 
strategic approach for the town centre. In January 2019, 5plus Architects were 
appointed to undertake a high-level masterplan study of Northampton’s town 
centre area. 

3.1.16 A series of development and regeneration opportunities were devised to 
establish a transformative vision for the town centre. These opportunities 
helped illustrate the bold ambitions to re-imagine the town centre and support 
the EoI to secure funding from the Government’s Future High Street Fund.

3.1.17 The concept masterplan was focused around 5 Opportunity Areas: 
1. The Arrival: Marefair and Gold Street.

185



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

2. Market Square, the heart of the town.
3. Greyfriars.
4. Fish Street and St. Giles Street.
5. Abington Street.

3.1.18 The vision that was included within the EoI stated that Northampton Town 
Centre will be a vibrant and attractive place where people can live, work and 
enjoy life to the fullest. Our Vision is based around the key principles of:
 Transforming the heart
 Smaller and stronger retail core
 Creating a residential community
 Culture, History and Heritage

3.1.19 Transforming the Heart - We will transform the heart of the town by 
overhauling the current Market Square area into a high-quality space that 
reflects the ambition and pride within the town. We will focus on what makes 
Northampton unique; creating a new event space, a refashioned market and 
greatly enhanced public realm that will all work together to act as a regional 
attractor

3.1.20 Smaller and stronger retail core - At the same time, we will allow the retail core 
to shrink, creating a smaller but stronger retail area anchored around stable 
retailers and cultural assets in the town centre. Encouraging existing 
halo/independent retailers from fringes of the town centre into the new units 
around the Market Square, adding further to the newly created offer in this 
area and driving a different demographic into the heart of the town centre. We 
will actively encourage and repurpose vacant retail units and the space above 
retail into new residential, office and leisure opportunities.

3.1.21 Creating a residential community - We will bring residential communities back 
into the town centre through transforming tired shopping areas into attractive 
mixed-use developments and unlocking brownfield sites. New opportunities for 
North-South links will be created to reconnect the Greyfriars area with the rest 
of the town centre opening up this 4 acre residential opportunity.

3.1.22 Culture, History and Heritage - With the largest cluster of world class shoe 
manufacturers based in the town, a great history of sporting achievements, 
and the University of Northampton’s new £330m campus recently opening on 
the edge of the town centre there is a lot to celebrate and help to catalyse 
success. With our transformative vision working alongside these great assets 
we will boost the morale of this too-often overlooked town, repositioning 
Northampton as a major creative centre where talent, ideas & enterprise meet.

3.1.23 Following a submission of proposals to the Future High Street Fund, 
Northampton Borough Council commissioned a detailed masterplan to be 
established in order to develop out these principles.

Detailed Masterplan

3.1.24 The first activity in progressing the detailed masterplan was to carry out a 
consultation with the public in order to seek the views of what had been 
proposed and submitted as part of the vision within the FHSF EoI.

186



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

3.1.25 Careful consideration was given to this consultation process, to enable and 
allow a broad range of views to be shared from all aspects of the town centre 
community.

3.1.26 The six week consultation ran from mid-May until June 30th and included:
o A public exhibition attended by Council representatives and members of 

Northampton Forward held over six days and across two locations.
o Online publication of the consultation material
o An online survey
o A survey questionnaire printed in the local paper for postal submission
o Leaflets and flyers distributed at the consultation sessions, Libraries and 

community buildings

3.1.27 Over 1500 people were spoken to across the events held and over 650 written 
consultation responses received, the results of which have been collated and 
used to inform the development of the detailed masterplan proposals.

3.1.28 The main themes from the consultation were around: Heritage, Retail, Food 
and Beverage, Appearance, Community, Green Spaces, Pedestrianisation, 
Leisure and Residential

3.1.29 The Masterplan demonstrates how these have been addressed within the 
document and a separate appendix on the consultation is included to view the 
responses to each question in detail.

3.1.30 The Masterplan analyses a wide variety of elements in order to ensure that the 
opportunities fully account the complex nature and history of the town centre. 
These include Strategic Context, Planning Context, Historic Context, Land 
Uses, Existing Conditions, Character Areas, Heritage, Movement, Public 
Realm and Ownerships

3.1.31 Themes for the town centre were drawn from the site analysis topics. These 
represent key issues the masterplan will look to address and underpin the 
development of the masterplan:
 The Town Centre Boundary 
 Connecting the Town 
 Consolidation of the Retail Core 
 Development Opportunities 
 Catalyst Regeneration Projects

3.1.32 The masterplan is based on a set of design principles which will oversee the 
transformation of the town centre as it moves towards a denser, greener and 
connected environment. These design principles are Arrival, Cohesion, 
Identity, Growth, Access & Movement, Transport and Green Infrastructure.

3.1.33 These design principles are the response to the challenges highlighted in the 
themes discussed earlier in this report. Together, these design principles seek 
to revitalise the town centre with a comprehensive, vibrant and unique range 
of residential, retail, leisure, employment and cultural activities, which will see 
Northampton once again become a destination and focal point for the wider 
county.

187



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

3.1.34 In order to develop a range of development and urban design proposals were 
scoped. These were focussed on, consolidating the retail core, growing the 
density of the town centre and nurturing an ecosystem for all kinds of urban 
life to flourish and expand. These proposals are framed within five town centre 
Quarters:
o Market Square
o Greyfriars
o Abington Street - Eastgate Quarter
o The Cultural Quarter
o Marefair

3.1.35 Market Square 
Market square is the most important public space in the whole of 
Northamptonshire, but its current appearance does not promote this fact. 
Extensive, high quality public realm regeneration is needed to bring the square 
back to its former glory and reinstate it’s civic value. Pivotal to the identity of 
Market Square is the market itself. Transforming the existing stalls to provide a 
more attractive and future-proofed platform for independent traders will 
encourage greater footfall and bring a new demographic into the space.  

3.1.36 Key interventions in this area will include:
 Extensive public realm and landscaping improvements
 Emporium Way - Improved pedestrian access through to the north of the 

town
 Removal of bus bays and improvements to the streetscape along Drapery
 Improved market stalls/trading facilities
 Opportunity for the creation of a food pavilion to anchor footfall
 Regeneration/redevelopment of key buildings around edge of the square.

3.1.37 Greyfriars 
The Greyfriars site presents a major opportunity for regeneration to 
Northampton’s town centre. This significant development opportunity can be 
used to bring much needed activity back into the town centre and at the same 
time reconnect the northern part of the town centre area with the core. The 
masterplan seeks to introduce residential uses on a large scale to create a 
new urban neighbourhood that is accompanied by intrinsic landscaping, a 
hierarchy of functional open spaces and movement corridors. Commercial or 
Civic office space is proposed alongside the existing public service buildings 
on Victoria Street. Through this, the Greyfriars area will support a mixture of 
uses, providing more town centre employment opportunities and ensuring 
activity is spread throughout the day.

3.1.38 Key interventions in this area will include:
 Closure of Greyfriars road to improve pedestrian connectivity with town 

centre.
 Creation of new linear park along Greyfriars
 Development opportunity for major new residential led mixed use 

development. 
 Creation of a new coach and bus interchange to provide capacity for the 

stops removed from Drapery and move coaches closer to the town centre.
 Commercial or civic office development opportunity along Victoria Street.

188



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

3.1.39 Abington Street 
The development opportunities around Abington Street can help redefine this 
struggling part of the town centre as a residential neighbourhood known as the 
Eastgate Quarter. Other complimentary uses are proposed alongside 
residential, allowing public, private and work life to coexist making Eastgate an 
attractive destination for visitors as well as locals.

3.1.40 Key interventions in this area will include:
 Allowing greater flexibility for residential uses along Abington Street
 Re-opening up historic north – south links in the area to allow for better 

pedestrian flow.
 Creating residential development opportunities for the market to deliver.
 Declutter and undertake small-scale public realm changes along Fish 

Street.

3.1.41 The Cultural Quarter 
With the area being the most successful within the town centre and further 
investment underway with the Northampton Museum and Art Gallery as well 
as at the Vulcan Works this area is focussed on building upon what is already 
there. Key development opportunities can be used to introduce a variety of 
active uses to broaden the offer and appeal of Northampton’s the Cultural 
Quarter.

3.1.42 Key interventions in this area will include:
 24 Guildhall Road refurbished in order to add to the variety of cultural uses 

within the area.
 Albion Place car park redeveloped to provide an office or residential 

opportunity.
 Rear of Albion Place car park developed as an in-fill site to create high 

quality residential

3.1.43 Marefair 
Responding to the immediate context of Marefair and the Spring Boroughs 
neighbourhood, while also addressing the need to increase the residential 
opportunities in the town centre will be seen as a good use to draw activity into 
the town.

3.1.44 Key interventions in this area will include:
 Enabling a residential development opportunity on the southern car parks 

within this area.
 Activation of building frontages to cut down dead spaces on the route.
 Enforce/create policies to enhance building frontages. 
 Delivery of the Castle House site, a medium scale residential opportunity, 

which reinforces the historic Marefair streetscape and addresses a new 
park with links to the castle site

3.1.45 The Masterplan was signed off by the Northampton Forward Board at its 
meeting on 01/10/19.

3.1.46 Once adopted the Town Centre Masterplan will be a material consideration in 
the determination of planning applications.  However, the weight which will be 

189



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

able to be attached to it is limited.  Therefore, the emerging Local Plan Part 2 
will include an updated Town Centre policy supporting the principle of mixed 
uses within the town designated town centre area, and refereeing to the 
masterplan.  Once the Local Plan Part 2 is adopted, this will allow greater 
weight to be attached to the masterplan 

FHSF Business Case
3.1.47 Northampton Town Centre was successful in getting through to the next stage 

of the Future High Street Fund application process and is now required to 
develop a full business case for capital investment. The business case needs 
to be in line with treasury Green Book appraisal guidelines. MHCLG will be 
funding £150,000 towards the costs of developing the business case and 
associated documentation.

3.1.48 The stages set out for completing this work are:
o 13th September – Rough Order of Magnitude (ROM) submission
o 15th January – Draft business case submission 
o 30th April – Full business case submission 

3.1.49 A project team to deliver the FHSF business case has been established. The 
team consists of Grant Thornton (Business Case development), 5Plus (Lead 
Architect), Gillespies (Landscape Architect), CS2 (cost consultancy) and 
Avison Young (Commercial support).

3.1.50 The Rough Order of Magnitude was submitting on 13th September. It notified 
MHCLG that we would be applying for £25m, the maximum allowed.  

3.2 Issues

3.2.1 As the changes proposed are transformational in nature there will undoubtably 
be some areas which cause a level of disagreement. Thorough stakeholder 
and public consultation has taken place on the emerging proposals and these 
have been considered when developing the recommended approach. Without 
a transformational approach to addressing the challenges within the town 
centre is will continue to face further decline.

3.3 Choices (Options)

3.3.1 To proceed with the adoption of the Masterplan work as planned and as 
described in this report.

3.3.2 To not proceed with adopting the masterplan. This will mean that there is no 
agreed vision for the town centre, giving no weight to planning applications 
that are received for the town centre. By not having it agreed by NBC then 
applications for funding will also be weaker with funding bodies needing to see 
that the approach and strategic case for applications is endorsed by the local 
authority. 

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1 Policy

190



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

4.1.1 This Masterplan will act as adopted NBC policy and will be used to inform 
emerging planning policy.

4.2 Resources and Risk

4.2.1 The development of the masterplan has been funded through existing 
budgets.

4.3 Legal

4.3.1 No comments

4.4 Equality and Health

4.4.1 The regeneration set out in this masterplan will have positive benefits to 
residents and the wider community. As projects are developed based on the 
Masterplan EIA’s will be carried out.

4.5Consultees (Internal and External)

4.5.1 Public consultation was carried out on the Masterplan as noted in para’s 
3.1.23 – 3.1.28

4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

4.6.1 This project delivers under the corporate objective of ‘Creating a thriving, 
vibrant town’ and ‘Shaping place and driving growth’ by enabling the 
regeneration of the town centre.

4.7 Other Implications

4.7.1 N/A

5. Background Papers

5.1 Concept Town Centre Masterplan
5.2 Town Centre Masterplan
5.3 Consultation Summary report

6. Next Steps

6.1 The masterplan has been used as the basis for the development of the Future 
High Street Fund. The next steps are laid out in 3.1.47.

Contact: Kevin Langley, Economy, Assets and Culture, Ext.7740
 

191



This page is intentionally left blank



Perpared for Northampton Borough Council
Analysis conducted by Prevision Research
September 2019

Stakeholder Consultation
Northampton Town Centre 
Masterplan 
Summary of Survey Findings

193



Contents

1.  Introduction and objectives 3
1.1  Objective 3
1.2  Methodology 3

2.  Research Headlines 4
2.1   Agreement with proposed  

changes and priority areas 4
2.2  Features requiring improvement 4

3.   General views on improving  
the Town Centre 7

3.1   What makes stakeholders  
proud about the Town Centre? 7

3.2   How could the Town Centre be 
improved? 7

4.  Prioritising Areas 9
4.1.  Overview of prioritisation of areas 9
4.2  Abington Street 10
4.3  Market Square 11
4.4  Greyfriars 13
4.5  The Drapery 14
4.6  Marefair and Gold Street 14
4.7  Fish Street and St. Giles Street 15

5.  Conclusions 17

194



3Northampton Forward

1.1 Objective
The overall aim of the research is to 
consult with a range of key stakeholders 
in order to inform the development of the 
Northampton Town Centre Masterplan.

1.2 Methodology
In May 2019 consultation on a new 
masterplan for Northampton town 
centre began. This consultation involved 
workshops were held at the University 
of Northampton, Grosvenor Centre and 
Guildhall to promote interest and help 
inform the development of a new Town 
Centre masterplan for Northampton. At 
these workshops, Northampton Borough 
Council (NBC) provided information 
boards, leaflets, brochures and signposted 
visitors to online information relating to the 
Masterplan. People were encouraged to 
fill in a survey questionnaire to outline their 
thoughts and ideas on the initial proposals. 

The survey was also available online, 
in paper format in the One Stop Shop 
and printed in the local press to ensure 
accessibility to as many people as 
possible. As well as this10,000 leaflets 
advertising the consultation were 
produced and delivered to public buildings 
around the borough to promote the 
consultation. The consultation closed 
on 30 June 2019 and, in total, 656 
stakeholders, comprising mainly residents, 
local businesses, students and landlords 
responded to the survey.

Analysis and reporting have been carried 
out by independent consultancy Prevision 
Research. 

previsionresearch.co.uk

1. Introduction and objectives

195



Northampton Forward 4

Heritage
The restoration and upkeep  
of historical buildings and shops 
(particularly in the Market Square)

Retail
Improved quality of shops 
(both big brands and 
independents)

2. Research Headlines

2.1 Agreement with proposed changes 
and priority areas
Among stakeholders there is general 
agreement with the proposed changes for 
all areas.  Around 50%-60% agree with 
the proposed changes in each area. 

The only two areas in which consultees 
were unsupportive are the Market Square 
(26% disagreeing with the proposed 
changes) and Greyfriars (20% disagreeing), 
although these are still outnumbered by 
those supporting the plans.

The three areas that stakeholders 
would most like to see prioritised for 
development are the Market Square, 
Abington Street and Greyfriars

2.2 Features requiring improvement
Northampton has many features that 
stakeholders are proud of, notably the 
Guildhall, St. Giles Street and the cultural 
quarter, historical buildings generally and 
(to a certain extent) retail outlets.

The spontaneous suggestions most 
frequently given to improve the town 
centre relate to cleanliness, the quality 
& nature of shops, support of homeless 
people and an increase in places to eat.

The main aspects of the town centre that 
stakeholders would like to see improved 
below and on the following pages:

Feedback
 · Greater promotion of the 

town’s historical assets
 · Upkeep of historic 

buildings
 · More attractive and 

welcoming spaces
 · Improve the quality 

and appearance of the 
market

Our Response
 · Heritage gateway along 

Marefair 
 · Imaginative reuse of 

historic buildings
 · Higher quality shopfronts
 · Rejuvenation of key town 

centre spaces

Feedback
 · Improve the retail 

experience
 · Reduce vacancy rates
 · Speciality markets
 · Improve the quality and 

appearance of retailers
 · Independent, bespoke 

shops as found on St. 
Giles’ Street

Our Response
 · Consolidating retail 

around the retail heart
 · Embracing the quality 

of St. Giles’ Street 
to encourage more 
independent and 
experience led retail

 · Transformation of market 
stalls to provide a more 
attractive and future-
proofed platform for 
independent traders

196



5Northampton Forward

Community Events
Community uses / event 
space

Food & Beverage
The availability and quality of 
food and drink

Green Space
Green space (particularly in 
Abington Street & Greyfriars)

Appearance
Cleanliness / litter

Feedback
 · Increased security
 · Prevent antisocial 

behaviour
 · More community and 

seasonal use in Market 
Square

Our Response
 · Cohesive movement 

networks connecting all 
parts of the town centre

 · Promotion of ground 
floor active frontages

 · Increase footfall across 
the town centre

Feedback
 · Improve availability and 

quality
 · More restaurants around 

Market Square

Our Response
 · Interest, excitement and 

variation in the town 
centre

 · Create street-food 
offering 

 · Repositioning Market 
Square as a focus for 
F&B quality

Feedback
 · Abington Street green 

space
 · Greyfriars green space
 · Town centre parks

Our Response
 · Connected 

neighbourhoods with 
access to open spaces 
that promotes active 
lifestyles and social 
interaction

 · Greyfriars linear park
 · Greening of Abington 

Street

Feedback
 · Address the general 

cleanliness of the town 
centre

 · Improve shop frontages 
and signage

Our Response
 · High quality public 

realm and landscape 
proposals

 · Regeneration of vacant 
sites, including Greyfriars 
and Castle House

 · Renewed shop front and 
signage design guidance

197



Northampton Forward 6

Residential 
More residential provision in 
the town centre to support 
retailers.

Pedestrianisation
Pedestrianisation  
(particularly in the Drapery)

Leisure
More leisure facilities

Feedback
 · Increase residential use
 · Provide housing above 

shops
 · Residential use on 

Greyfriars

Our Response
 · Increased residential 

population of town 
centre 

 · Creation of 
new residential 
neighbourhoods

 · Range of residential 
typologies proposed

Feedback
 · Pedestrianisation of 

Drapery
 · Improve pedestrian links 

to Greyfriars
 · Public transport 

improvements

Our Response
 · Streets designed to be 

flexible and vibrant with 
activity

 · New pedestrianised 
routes connecting 
the town centre with 
Greyfriars

 · Bus stands removed 
from Drapery and coach 
and bus interchange 
proposed for Greyfriars

 · Pedestrian priority re-
established on Drapery

Feedback
 · Encourager more leisure 

uses within the town 
centre

Our Response
 · Interest, excitement and 

variation in the town 
centre

 · Encourage more socially 
orientated activity 
providers into the town 
centre

Just over half of the stakeholders believe that more residential 
provision in the town centre will help support the existing retail. 
However, this signifies that that almost half of the stakeholders 
either do not agree that this will assist the retail or are unsure 
whether it will have a positive impact.

Improving the retail experience is a key theme in the masterplan 
across the town centre. There is a requirement for a reduction 
in empty units and an improvement in the appearance and 
quality of retailers represented in the town centre.  The majority 
of stakeholders believe that some of the retail businesses on 
the outskirts of the retail area in the town centre, should be 
encouraged to become part of a smaller retail core in the town 
centre. 

The need for greater provision of the food and drink offer is 
another theme running through the consultation responses. More 
than four out of five stakeholders think that food and leisure uses 
should be encouraged within the town centre. Other requirements 
outlined within the responses are the cleanliness and tidiness of 
the town centre.

*****
In the rest of this document the research findings are discussed in 
greater detail.

198



7Northampton Forward

3. General views on improving the Town Centre

3.1 What makes stakeholders proud 
about the Town Centre?
There are many parts of Northampton 
Town Centre that make stakeholders 
proud.

The spontaneous examples most 
frequently given include: the Guildhall, St. 
Giles Street, historical buildings generally 
and the cultural quarter and shops. 
However, there are many other examples 
opposite.

Specific sites mentioned include All Saints’ 
Church, the Market Square and the Royal 
& Derngate Theatre.

3.2 How could the Town Centre be 
improved?
Many suggestions are spontaneously 
given for improving the town centre. 
Those most frequently given relate to, 
overall cleanliness and the cleanliness, 
appearance and nature of shops.

Stakeholders would like to see empty 
shop units filled, greater support for 
homeless people and lower business rates 
or rents.

The main suggestions given are shown in 
the following chart.

199



Northampton Forward 8

There are many other suggestions for 
improving the town centre. Secondary 
spontaneous suggestions for improving 
the town centre include: more leisure 
facilities, improved appearance of shops, 
improvement of the bus station, increased 
footfall, and stopping anti-social behaviour.
 
More than four out of five stakeholders 
think that more food and leisure offers 
should be encouraged within the town 
centre – a clear indorsement of the 
proposition within the Masterplan to 
achieve this.

Just over half, 54% of the stakeholders 
believe that more residential provision in 
the town centre will help support retail. 
Almost half, 46%, either do not believe 
that this is the case or are unsure, so there 
is some uncertainty over this proposition:

200



9Northampton Forward

4. Prioritising Areas

4.1 Overview of prioritisation of areas
Overall, between 50% and 60% of 
stakeholders agreed with the proposed 
changes to each area as shown below:

Inevitably, all of the areas received a level 
of disagreement and, typically, around a 
third of stakeholders are neutral about the 
proposed changes.

The highest level of disagreement received 
was related to the changes to Market 
Square (with 24% disagreeing with the 
proposed changes) and Greyfriars (23% 
disagreeing with the proposed changes). 
Although these are still outnumbered by 
those supporting the plans.

As part of the consultation, the 
stakeholders were asked to prioritise the 
areas requiring improvement. The three 
areas that stakeholders would most like 
to see prioritised are Abington Street, the 
Market Square and Greyfriars, as indicated 
by the following chart.

Each of these prioritised areas is 
discussed in greater detail in the following 
sections of this report.

201



Northampton Forward 10

4.2 Abington Street
There is broad support for the proposed 
changes on Abington Street, with over 
half of stakeholders agreeing with the 
proposed changes and only 10% explicitly 
disagreeing.

Regarding the future of the former BHS 
and M&S units, the improvements most 
frequently mentioned are: conversion to 
smaller shops, indoor or covered market, 
the introduction of a well-known high 
street shop and leisure facilities. A range 
of other options are also suggested as 
outlined below: 

66% of the stakeholders support the 
introduction of leisure, residential and 
community uses into Abington Street, 
although these were not the spontaneous 
suggestions most frequently given.

202



11Northampton Forward

The most popular responses for uses 
for public spaces in this area are as 
green space with 69% of consultees 
supporting this, seating for restaurants 
or cafes at 63%, sculpture / art at 52% 
and pedestrianised space at 50% of 
consultees. 

4.3 Market Square
Half of stakeholders broadly agree with 
the proposed changes on Market Square. 
Almost one in four stakeholders disagree 
with the proposed changes.

Suggestions most frequently mentioned 
for improving the Market Square area tend 
to relate to the appearance (for example, 
restoring traditional buildings), cleanliness, 
places to eat and having a central 
attraction.

203



Northampton Forward 12

The most popular proposed uses for the 
buildings in the Market Square to improve 
the square’s appearance include a majority 
of restaurants at 75%, retail at 56%, 
community uses at 43% and pubs and 
bars also at 43%.

Stakeholders would like to see a speciality 
market/s, seating for restaurants and 
cafes, and event space on the Market 
Square

Currently the market is perceived 
negatively, with only 2% rating the 
products and services available as very 
good (with a further 12% rating them as 
‘good’, 40% considering them average 
and 44% believing that they are poor.

204



13Northampton Forward

4.4 Greyfriars
Almost half of stakeholders agree/strongly 
agree with the proposed changes to 
Greyfriars, although 23% disagree/strongly 
agree.

Suggestions most frequently mentioned 
of what should happen to Greyfriars relate 
to outdoor spaces, transport, housing and 
leisure / entertainment.

Just over half of stakeholders support 
the permanent closure of roads in the 
Greyfriars area, however around one in five 
are explicitly against the proposition.

205



Northampton Forward 14

4.5 The Drapery
Just under half of stakeholders, 48%, 
agree with the proposed changes to the 
Drapery, with only 11% disagreeing.

Key suggestions for improving the Drapery 
include removing or relocating bus stops 
and the pedestrianisation of the area.

4.6 Marefair and Gold Street
53% of stakeholders agree with the 
proposed Marefair and Gold Street 
changes, with only 6% disagreeing.

206



15Northampton Forward

Just over half of stakeholders support 
the idea of more residential development 
on Mayfair However, one in five does not 
agree with this proposal.

Stakeholders would like to see the area’s 
heritage assets enhanced through: 
preservation of buildings, an increased 
focus on the town’s history and greater 
promotion of the town’s historical assets.

4.7 Fish Street and St. Giles Street
Almost two-thirds of stakeholders agree 
with the proposed Fish Street and St. Giles 
Street changes, with only 6% disagreeing.

207



Northampton Forward 16

Overwhelmingly, stakeholders believe 
that businesses, such as those in St. 
Giles Street and the surrounding streets, 
should be encouraged to set up in the 
town centre. Nine out of ten stakeholders 
support this proposal.

208



17Northampton Forward

5. Conclusions

Stakeholders are broadly supportive of the 
proposed changes to Northampton Town 
Centre.

The areas that stakeholders would most 
like to see prioritised are Market Square, 
Abington Street and Greyfriars.

Generally, the improvement areas that 
stakeholders focus on are:

 ·  Restoration and maintenance of 
historical buildings

 ·  Cleanliness / tidiness
 ·  Quality of retailers
 ·  More independent businesses
 ·  Less vacant units
 ·  Places to eat
 ·  Green space / pedestrian areas / event 

space
 ·  More seating in the town centre
 ·  Residential provision to support 

retailers
 ·  Leisure facilities

Key themes running through the 
Masterplan area are:

 ·  A need for more residential provision 
in the town centre to support retail 
Cleanliness / tidiness

 ·  Improving the retail experience (a 
reduction in empty sites and an 
improvement in the appearance and 
quality of retailers represented in the 
town centre)

 ·  Cleanliness and tidiness
 ·  Greater provision of food and drink

Overwhelmingly stakeholders believe that 
businesses should be encouraged to set 
up in the town centre and reduce the size 
of the retail core. 

209



210



5plusNorthampton Borough Council
Northampton Town Centre Masterplan

Workbook 02
Issue 06 *Final Draft*

15 October 2019

211



212



Contents

Client

Northampton Borough Council

Manchester. 0161 228 0211
Fourth Floor, The Hive, 47 Lever Street, 
Manchester M1 1FN 

London. 020 7253 7644
25 Chart Street, London N1 6FA

5plusarchitects.com

1.0 Introduction 5 
1.1 Purpose & Approach 6
1.2 Brief 8
1.3 Consultation 10
1.4 Terms of Reference 16

2.0 Contextual Analysis 19
2.1 Strategic Context 20
2.2 Planning Context 22
2.3 Historic Context 24
2.4 Land Uses 26
2.5 Existing Condition 28
2.6 Character Areas 30
2.7 Heritage 31
2.8 Movement 32
2.9 Public Realm 33
2.10 Ownerships 34

3.0 Opportunities & Potential 37
3.1 Summary of Analysis  38
3.2 Emerging Ideas 40
3.3 The Town Centre Experience 44

4.0 Town Centre Masterplan 47
4.1 Market Square 50
4.2 Greyfriars 58
4.3 Abington Street 64
4.4 The Cultural Quarter 70
4.5 Marefair 76

5.0 Next Steps 83
5.1 Making It Happen 84

Northampton Forward

213



1
 4 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

214



 55plus | Northampton Borough Council

1.0 Introduction

“High streets and town centres lie at the heart of our 
communities and local economies, creating jobs, 
nurturing small businesses and injecting billions of 
pounds into our economy. But the way we shop and 
the way that communities use their high streets and 
town centres is changing.”

Future High Street Fund
Policy Paper

215



 6 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

1.1 Purpose & Approach
Purpose

Executive Summary
With town centres across the country going through 
unprecedented levels of change, Northampton 
Borough Council, with its partners on the 
Northampton Forward board, has decided to take 
action in addressing the challenges facing the town.
 
Northampton Forward will lead this work. The board 
is an informal partnership with the primary role of 
co-ordinating and driving forward the integrated 
regeneration and growth within Northampton. 
The board is made up of leading executives from 
the Borough Council, County Council, South East 
Midlands LEP, University of Northampton, private 
business representatives, Northamptonshire 
Chamber of Commerce and Northampton Town 
Centre Business Improvement District.

This transformative change will future proof the town 
centre for years to come and create an environment 
that meets the ambitious vision for the local area. The 
Future High Street Fund has given the opportunity to 
secure funding to help with these aims.

Background
In January 2019, 5plus Architects were 
appointed to undertake a high level masterplan 
study of Northampton’s town centre area. 

Working closely with the Borough Council 
and consulting with the key stakeholders of 
Northampton Forward, a series of development 
and regeneration opportunities were devised 
to establish a transformative vision for the town 
centre.

These opportunities helped illustrate the 
Borough Council’s bold ambitions to re-imagine 
the town centre and supported their bid to 
secure funding from the Government’s Future 
High Street Fund.

Following a submission of proposals to the 
Future High Street Fund, Northampton Borough 
Council has now commissioned a detailed 
masterplan.

Ambition
This next phase of the town centre masterplan 
has been commissioned in order to identify 
catalyst projects, within long term strategic 
objectives, which set the tone for the future 
direction of Northampton town centre.

This study provides the opportunity to elaborate 
further on the themes previously established 
and work towards the goal of transforming 
Northampton town centre into a vibrant and 
attractive place, where people can live, work 
and enjoy life to the fullest. This collective vision 
for the town centre is based around the key 
principles of: 

 ·  Transforming the heart
 ·  Smaller and stronger retail core
 ·  Creating a residential community
 · Culture, History and Heritage 

This masterplan will provide an opportunity to 
bring together town centre stakeholders, council 
partners and the local community in the design 
process through consultations. The intention 
is to arrive at a flexible masterplan proposal 
which establishes an agreed way forward for the 
future regeneration and redevelopment of this 
important and historic urban centre.

Strategic Objectives 
The collective vision for the town centre aims 
to address strategic objectives which have 
emerged as key themes during consultation and 
client engagement as part of the earlier high level 
masterplan. 

1. Addressing an over reliance on retail
Consolidate the retail core of the town centre, 
creating a smaller but stronger retail offer 
anchored around stable retailers and cultural 
assets in the town centre.

2. Infrastructure challenges
Improve connectivity to and within the town 
centre area, to support growing footfall, visitor 
population and provide an attractive and 
navigable environment.

3. Safety concerns of residents 
Adopt an approach which reflects the 
aspirations of the community to deliver well 
designed, attractive and functional spaces which 
help tackle crime, fear of crime and anti-social 
behaviour.

4. Poor quality commercial space
Create modern, flexible offices and workspaces 
to encourage businesses back into the town 
centre and help bolster daytime activity.

5. Poor quality of public realm
Transform the heart of the town by regenerating 
the public realm into high-quality and flexible 
spaces that reflect the ambition and pride of the 
town. 

6. Levels of vacant units
Expand the lifestyle offer of the town centre by 
informing and encouraging alternative culture 
and leisure uses for vacant premises.

7. Increasing footfall and activity
Provide a distinctive town centre experience by 
supporting local independent cultural enterprises 
and the use of forgotten heritage assets.

8. Locate alternative housing sites
Bring residential communities back into the town 
centre through transforming tired retail areas into 
attractive mixed-use developments, alongside 
unlocking brownfield sites.

The Guildhall

Market Square

University of Northampton, Waterside CampusTown Centre Vision, Future High Street Fund Bid

216



 75plus | Northampton Borough Council

1.1 Purpose & Approach
Approach

Roadmap
This roadmap sets the scene for the detailed 
masterplan study, in the context of the wider 
approach to addressing the development and 
regeneration of Northampton town centre.

This detailed masterplan responds to the need 
for a clear and structured approach to stimulate 
future town centre development, ensuring 
new proposals and initiatives make a positive 
contribution to creating a distinctive, high quality 
place. 

Northampton Borough Council, along with its 
partners on the Northampton Forward board 
has outlined a vision, underpinned by an intent 
to create growth and investment opportunities 
which will support a resilient and sustainable 
town centre for living, working and visiting.

Some of the strategic objectives, which this 
vision is founded upon, will be directly addressed 
by the study areas included in the detailed 
masterplan scope. It is envisaged that catalysis 
projects will emerge from the opportunities 
explored, which in turn will stimulate other 
projects to come forward.

Underpinning this entire process is the need to 
promote design and quality standards. Only by 
raising the standards for all developments, big or 
small, will the overall quality of the town centre 
be realised.

The full scope of the detailed masterplan is 
outlined overleaf.

Achieving 
Strategic 

Objectives

Development &
Regeneration 

Projects

Overarching
Detailed Masterplan 

Proposals

Study Area 1: Market Square and Market Pavilion

Study Area 3: Waterloo House, Market Square

Study Area 2: Drapery

Study Area 4: Emporium Way

Study Area 7: Abington Street Residential Quarter - ‘Eastgate’

Study Area 6: Greyfriars

Study Area 5: Greyfriars Road

Study Area 8: Fish Street Regeneration and Landscape

Study Area 11: Swan Street Site

Study Area 10: 24 Guildhall Road

Study Area 9: 30 St. Giles’ Street Co-Working Office

Study Area 12: Albion Place Site

Study Area 13: South Marefair Residential Quarter - ‘The Green’

Promotion of Design and Quality Standards

Vision Design Outcomes

High Level 
Masterplan 

Study

Promoting Town 
Centre Wide 
Strategies for 
Regeneration

Implementation

Study Area 14: Heritage Gateway, Marefair

M
ar

ke
t S

qu
ar

e
G

re
yf

ria
rs

A
bi

ng
to

n 
S

tre
et

Th
e 

C
ul

tu
ra

l Q
ua

rte
r

M
ar

ef
ai

r

217



 8 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

1.2 Brief
Scope

Study Area 1:
Market Square and Market Pavilion

Study Area 3:
Waterloo House, Market Square

Study Area 2:
Drapery

Study Area 4:
Emporium Way

Study Area 7:
Abington St. Residential Quarter - ‘Eastgate’

Study Area 6:
Greyfriars

Study Area 5:
Greyfriars Road

Study Area 8:
Fish Street Regeneration and Landscape

Study Area 11:
Swan St. Site

Study Area 10:
24 Guildhall Road

Study Area 9:
30 St. Giles’ St. Co-Working Office

Study Area 12:
Albion Place Site

Study Area 13:
South Marefair Residential Quarter - ‘The 
Green’

Consider refurbishment and reuse opportunities for 
vacant five storey office building, which marks an 
important pedestrian junction in the core of the town 
centre. 

Identify opportunities along the Drapery edge of Market 
Square to re-purpose ground floor uses, rejuvenate 
active frontages and encourage high quality co-working 
office spaces above.

Develop strategy for improving the setting and permeability 
of Emporium Way to strengthen the north-south 
pedestrian links, to and from Greyfriars. 
Site Area:
 · 0.5 acres
 · 0.2 hectares

Identify opportunities to consolidate the retail offer from 
the eastern end of Abington Street to create a new 
residential quarter within the town centre area.

Site Area:
 · 9.1 acres
 · 3.7 hectares

Identify possible uses and development opportunities 
for the former Greyfriars Bus Station site, focusing on 
residential and civic use with associated public realm to 
reconnect the Greyfriars area with the town centre.

Site Area:
 · 4.2 acres
 · 1.7 hectares

Develop public realm regeneration proposals to improve 
the pedestrian environment, with focus given to 
landscape, shop front treatment and lighting.

Site Area:
 · 0.2 acres
 · 0.1 hectares

Identify possible uses and development opportunities for 
surface car park site within the Cultural Quarter.

Site Area:
 · 0.3 acres
 · 0.1 hectares

Propose possible uses for vacant 1930’s office building 
within the Cultural Quarter.

Building Metrics:
 · Lower & Upper Ground  + three storeys

Identify possible uses and development opportunities for 
surface car park site on the edge of the Cultural Quarter.
 
Site Area:
 · 0.3 acres
 · 0.1 hectares

A comprehensive transformation of the Market Square 
public realm and outline proposal for a Market Hall 
Pavilion dedicated to showcasing quality, local producers 
and vendors.

Site Area:
 · 2.1 acres
 · 0.8 hectares

Develop a strategy to route all east-west traffic via Lady’s 
Lane and in turn enable the closure of Greyfriars to create 
a linear park.

Site Area:
 · 1.2 acres
 · 0.4 hectares

Consider refurbishment and reuse opportunities for 
vacant office floors above retail units, with emphasis on 
small start-up business and co-working occupants.

Propose development opportunities for town centre 
fringe car park sites, with focuses on residential 
neighbourhood use.

Site Area:
 · 2.9 acres
 · 1.2 hectares

Study Area 14:
Heritage Gateway, Marefair

Propose development opportunities for key gateway site 
on the fringe of the town centre.

Site Area:
 · 1.9 acres
 · 0.8 hectares

M
ar

ke
t S

q
ua

re
G

re
yf

ria
rs

A
b

in
gt

on
 S

tr
ee

t
Th

e 
C

ul
tu

ra
l Q

ua
rt

er
M

ar
ef

ai
r

To develop the initial ideas, we have 
identified a number of different Quarters 
within the town centre as illustrated 
opposite.

Within these Quarters, the following locations 
have been identified by Northampton Borough 
Council as study areas for the detailed 
masterplan, each with an outline brief.

Although identified as individual physical areas, 
we have considered them collectively as different 
parts of the town centre.

218



 95plus | Northampton Borough Council

1.2 Brief
Locations

Key

1.  Market Square and Market Pavilion
2.  Drapery – Co-Working and Activating Ground Floors
3.  Waterloo House, Market Square
4.  Emporium Way
5.  Greyfriars Road
6.  Greyfriars
7.  Abington Street Residential Quarter -‘Eastgate’
8.  Fish Street - Landscape Regeneration
9.  30 St. Giles Street Co-Working
10.  24 Guildhall Road, former Northamptonshire County 

Council Offices
11.  Swan Street Site
12.  Albion Place Site
13.  South Marefair Residential Quarter -‘The Green’
14. Former Castle House Site, Marefair

The Boundary
The area within the red line covers approximately 
63 hectares and is designated as the Town 
Centre Area in the Northampton Central Area 
Action Plan, adopted January 2013. 

This boundary follows the route of the town 
centre ring-road, made up of Campbell Square, 
Upper Mounts, Lower Mounts, York Road, 
Cheyne Walk, Victoria Parade, St. Peter’s Way, 
Horse Market, Broad Street and Barrack Road. 
However, some focus areas of this further study 
will look beyond the boundary where necessary.

8

1

3

6

2

7

4

11

9

5

10

13 12

SPRING 
BOROUGHS

UNIVERSITY OF 
NORTHAMPTON

SEMILONG

COTTON END

CLIFTONVILLE

ABINGTON

BECKET’S
PARK

NORTHAMPTON 
RAILWAY STATION

14

MAREFAIR

THE CULTURAL 
QUARTER

ABINGTON
STREET

MARKET
SQUARE

GREYFRIARS

219



 10 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

1.3 Consultation
Public Consultation

1

2

Throughout this masterplan process, Northampton 
Borough Council have engaged with the local 
community to understand their views, allowing 
residents to share their opinions and positively 
contribute towards the future of the town centre.

Consultation Schedule

15/05/19
University of Northampton Learning Hub
10:30am - 2pm

Elected Members Presentation and Workshop
6pm - 7:30pm

18/05/19
The Grosvenor Centre, Unit 23 Newland Walk 
11am - 3pm

20/05/19
The Grosvenor Centre, Unit 23 Newland Walk 
11am - 3pm

21/05/19
The Grosvenor Centre, Unit 23 Newland Walk 
11am - 3pm

Northampton Town Centre BID Presentation and 
Workshop
6pm - 7pm

22/05/19
The Grosvenor Centre, Unit 23 Newland Walk 
11am - 3pm

23/05/19
The Grosvenor Centre, Unit 23 Newland Walk 
11am - 3pm

24/05/19
The Grosvenor Centre, Unit 23 Newland Walk 
11am - 3pm

30/06/19
Online consultation closed
5pm

The principles for a transformative town 
centre vision, established by the Future High 
Street Fund bid, have been used as the basis 
for discussion and debate with the public, 
stakeholders and elected council members. 

Careful consideration was given to this 
consultation process, to enable and allow a 
broad range of views to be shared from all 
aspects of the town centre community. 

The six week consultation included:

 · A public exhibition attended by Council 
representatives and members of 
Northampton Forward

 · Online publication of the consultation 
material

 · An online survey 
 · A survey questionnaire printed in the local 

paper for postal submission
 · Leaflets and flyers distributed at the 

consultation sessions, local schools and 
doctors surgeries

Throughout the consultation, the Borough 
Council have welcomed and encouraged the 
sharing of feedback and ideas, the results of 
which have been collated and used to inform 
the development of the detailed masterplan 
proposals. 

220



 115plus | Northampton Borough Council

1.3 Consultation
Public Consultation

1

Photo

1. University of 
Northampton 
consultation

2. Grosvenor Centre 
consultation session

3. Leaflet handed out 
during consultation 
sessions 

4. Poster showcasing 
the town centre 
vision in the run up 
to the consultation 
sessions

5. Elected Members 
presentation and 
workshop 

6. Grosvenor Centre 
consultation session

7. Poster showcasing 
the town centre 
vision in the run up 
to the consultation 
sessions

4 5

3

7

6

221



 12 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

Key Themes
Key themes running through the research are; a need for 
more residential provision in the town centre to support retail, 
improving the retail experience (a reduction in empty sites and 
an improvement in the appearance and quality of retailers 
represented in the town centre), cleanliness and tidiness and 
greater provision of food and drink.

Overwhelmingly stakeholders believe that businesses should 
be encouraged to set up in the town centre. 

Responses
An online survey of stakeholders was conducted, comprising 
mainly residents, businesses, students and landlords. In total, 
656 stakeholders responded to the survey.

1.3 Consultation
Summary

The public consultation conducted in May and June 
2019 was hosted by Northampton Borough Council 
in order to inform further development of the town 
centre masterplan. During this period, approximately 
1,500 people attended the consultation events and 
656 responses were received via an online survey. 

An independent review of these responses has 
been carried out by Prevision Research on behalf of 
Northampton Borough Council and the summary of 
this review is covered over the following pages. 

Priority Areas
The three areas that stakeholders would most like to see 
prioritised are the Market Square, Abington Street and 
Greyfriars

Market Square
Abington Street
Greyfriars

656

Attendance
Across the ten scheduled consultation events, it is estimated 
that approximately 1,500 individual stakeholders attended.

Agreement
Among stakeholders there is general agreement with the 
proposed changes for all areas.  Around 50%-60% agree with 
the proposed changes in each area. 

50 - 60% 

Disagreement
The only areas in which there is any great disagreement are 
the Market Square (26% disagreeing with the proposed 
changes) and Greyfriars (20% disagreeing), although these are 
outnumbered by those agreeing with the proposals.

Market Square
Greyfriars

1,500 approx.
Heritage
Retail
Food & Beverage
Appearance
Community Events
Green Space
Pedestrians
Leisure
Residential

Support
Stakeholders are broadly supportive of the proposed changes 
to Northampton town centre.

Summary

222



 135plus | Northampton Borough Council

Retail

1.3 Consultation
Themes

Appearance

Pedestrians Leisure Residential

Green SpaceCommunity Events

Perpared for Northampton Borough Council
Analysis conducted by Prevision Research
September 2019

Stakeholder Consultation
Northampton Town Centre 
Masterplan 
Summary of Survey Findings

Stakeholder Consultation on the Northampton Town 
Centre Masterplan, Summary of Analysis Findings 
September 2019

Heritage Food & Beverage

 · Cleanliness and tidiness are stakeholder 
requirements evidenced in the research.

 · The most frequently given spontaneous 
suggestion on town centre 
improvements relate to cleanliness and 
the appearance and nature of shops.

 · Make Greyfriars less of an eyesore.
 · Just over half of stakeholders support 

the permanent closure of Greyfriars 
road.

The headline findings from the analysis of the 
consultation survey highlight nine main aspects 
of the town centre that stakeholders would like 
to see addressed.

 · Stakeholders would like to see greater 
support for homeless people.

 · Suggested improvements to Market 
Square include, creating a central 
attraction, such as a band stand, 
fountain or statue and organising more 
attractions and seasonal events such as 
Christmas markets.

 · Children’s play on Market Square.

 · Green space, parks and outdoor 
community spaces on Greyfriars

 · Greening of Abington Street.
 · Public realm that allows for external 

seating to restaurants and cafés.

 · The restoration and general upkeep of 
historic buildings throughout the town 
centre, but particularly around Market 
Square and the historic core.

 · Stakeholders would like to see the 
heritage assets enhanced.

 · Increased focus on the town’s history.
 · Greater promotion and protection of the 

town’s historical assets.

 · There is a requirement for a reduction 
in empty sites and an improvement in 
the appearance and quality of retailers 
represented in the town centre. 

 · Stakeholders would like to see empty 
shop units filled.

 · More independent business and 
bespoke shops as found on St. Giles’ 
Street.

 · Suggested improvements to Market 
Square include, improving the 
appearance of the market stalls.

 · Stakeholders would like to see a 
speciality market on Market Square.

 · Improved availability of quality food and 
beverage operators.

 · More than four out of five stakeholders 
think food and leisure uses should be 
encouraged within the town centre.

 · Suggested improvements to Market 
Square include, more places to eat, 
restaurants and cafés with outside 
seating, food market and food stalls.

 · Suggested improvements to Market 
Square include, redesign and 
modernisation of the space, alongside a 
more attractive and welcoming setting, 
with better lighting and more seating.

 · Improved connections from Market 
Square to Greyfriars.

 · Improved public transport facilities.
 · Remove or relocate bus stops from 

Drapery.
 · Pedestrianise Drapery.

 · More than four out of five stakeholders 
think food and leisure uses should be 
encouraged within the town centre.

 · Stakeholders would like to see an 
increase in places to eat.

 · Over two-thirds of stakeholders support 
the introduction of leisure

 · Leisure use on Greyfriars.

 · Just over half of stakeholders believe 
more residential provision in the town 
centre will help support retail.

 · Over two-thirds of stakeholders support 
the introduction of residential

 · Half of stakeholders agree with 
residential use on Greyfriars.

 · Just over half of stakeholders believe 
that more residential use on Marefair is 
a good idea.

Themes

223



 14 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

1.3 Consultation
You Said, We Did

The feedback gained from the consultation 
process has been reflected upon and incorporated 
throughout the ongoing development of the town 
centre masterplan.

The views of the local community, stakeholders 
and businesses have been vital in ensuring the 
masterplan proposals are relevant and responsive to 
Northampton as a whole.

The themes identified through analysis of the 
consultation feedback generate questions to which 
we have responded in the following ways.

Concept 
Masterplan

Public

Consultation Detailed
Masterplan

Greater promotion of the 
town’s historical assets

Upkeep of historic buildings

More attractive and 
welcoming spaces

Improve the quality and 
appearance of the market

Heritage gateway along 
Marefair 

Imaginative reuse of 
historic buildings

Higher quality shopfronts

Rejuvenation of key town 
centre spaces

Consolidating retail 
around the retail heart

Embracing the quality 
of St. Giles’ Street 
to encourage more 
independent and 
experience led retail

Transformation of market 
stalls to provide a more 
attractive and future-
proofed platform for 
independent traders

Interest, excitement and 
variation in the town 
centre

Create street-food 
offering 

Repositioning Market 
Square as a focus for 
F&B quality

Improve the retail experience

Reduce vacancy rates

Speciality markets

Improve the quality and 
appearance of retailers

Independent, bespoke 
shops as found on St. Giles’ 
Street

Improve availability and 
quality

More restaurants around 
Market Square

Heritage Retail Food & 
Beverage

224



 155plus | Northampton Borough Council

1.3 Consultation
You Said, We Did

High quality public realm 
and landscape proposals

Regeneration of vacant 
sites, including Greyfriars 
and Castle House

Renewed shop front and 
signage design guidance

Cohesive movement 
networks connecting all 
parts of the town centre

Promotion of ground 
floor active frontages

Increase footfall across 
the town centre

Connected 
neighbourhoods with 
access to open spaces 
that promotes active 
lifestyles and social 
interaction

Greyfriars linear park

Greening of Abington 
Street

Streets designed to be 
flexible and vibrant with 
activity

New pedestrianised 
routes connecting 
the town centre with 
Greyfriars

Bus stands removed 
from Drapery and coach 
and bus interchange 
proposed for Greyfriars

Pedestrian priority re-
established on Drapery

Interest, excitement and 
variation in the town 
centre

Encourage more socially 
orientated activity 
providers into the town 
centre

Increased residential 
population of town 
centre 

Creation of 
new residential 
neighbourhoods

Range of residential 
typologies proposed

Address the general 
cleanliness of the town 
centre

Improve shop frontages and 
signage

Increased security

Prevent antisocial behaviour

More community and 
seasonal use in Market 
Square

Abington Street green space

Greyfriars green space

Town centre parks

Pedestrianisation of Drapery

Improve pedestrian links to 
Greyfriars

Public transport 
improvements

Encourage more leisure 
uses within the town centre

Increase residential use

Provide housing above 
shops

Residential use on Greyfriars

Appearance Community 
Events

Green Space Pedestrians Leisure Residential

225



 16 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

1.4 Terms of Reference
Statutory & Study Documents

Several published documents form the terms of 
reference for the detailed masterplan study. The 
following documents have been reviewed and 
referenced into the masterplan where relevant.

Local Study Reports

11. 
 A Character Assessment & Tall buildings 
Strategy for Northampton’s Ventral Area
The findings of the Character Area Assessment 
provides a sound platform to develop a strategy 
and/or planning policy tool for Northampton 
Borough Council to appropriately deal with 
planning applications for ‘tall buildings’ in order 
to protect and enhance the historic skyline of 
Northampton.

12.  
Northampton Town Centre Retail Market 
Summary 2016
A strategic and independent overview of 
Northampton’s current retail market.

13. 
Northampton Borough Council Retail and 
Leisure Study 2018
The findings of this report form part of the 
evidence base upon which the emerging 
Northampton Local Plan (Part 2) will be based.

14. 
Northampton Waterside Enterprise Zone 
Application
Documentation offering background to an 
initiative supporting a regional economy of 
national importance.

15. 
Spring Boroughs Neighbourhood Plan
The purpose of the plan is to set out local based 
and justified planning policies to manage the 
detailed change in land uses and other forms of 
development in the area related to proposals of 
the Northampton Central Area Action Plan.

Local Policy

7.  
Northampton Local Plan
Northampton Borough Council 1997 adopted 
local plan, setting out planning policies and 
identifying how land is used and determining 
what will be built where.

Part 2 of the Local Plan, currently being 
drafted and consulted on, will determine how 
Northampton grows and develops up until 2029.

8.  
Northampton Central Area Action Plan
(CAAP)
The overall aim of the Action Plan is to 
provide a consistent strategic framework for 
the improvement and extension of the town 
centre whilst seeking to protect and enhance 
its intrinsic historic built character and green 
spaces.

9.  
Northampton CAAP Policy Map
Supplementary policy map to the CAAP report 
document.

10.  
Shopfront Design Guide
This Shopfront Design Guide Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) is intended to help 
retailers and commercial operators, when 
they want to make alterations to or replace a 
shopfront.

National Guidance, Best Practice Guidance 
and Studies

1.  
The High Street Report
This report contains the recommendations 
of the High Streets Expert Panel which was 
established by the High Streets Minister Jake 
Berry MP in July 2018. 

The panel’s recommendations cover three areas: 
the Town Centre Task Force; the Future High 
Streets Fund; and short term measures to help 
high streets and town centres.

2. 
High Street 2030: Achieving Change
This report, prepared by the Institute of Place 
Management, was commissioned to run five 
workshops to collect evidence to support the 
development of high street and town centre 
policy.

3. 
City Centres: Past, Present and Future
Centre for Cities report on the evolving role 
urban centres. 

4. 
The Grimsey Review
A report offering an alternative review to shape 
policy and actions plans to implement positive 
change to our high streets.

5. 
Urban Design Compendium
Compiled by English Partnerships. The aim of 
the report was to deliver high-quality, well-
designed, sustainable places for people to live, 
work and enjoy.

6. 
Distinctively Local
This guide has been prepared by four of the 
UK’s leading residential architectural practices, 
focusing on new housing projects. It aims to 
inform and inspire others to deliver distinctive 
and popular places, in out of town locations.

226



 175plus | Northampton Borough Council

1.4 Terms of Reference
Statutory & Study  Documents

N 260000

N 261000

E 475000 E 476000 E 477000

35

34

33

32 31

30

29

2827

26

24

23

22

21
20

19

18

17

7

ADOPTED JANUARY 2013

Character Assessment & Tall Buildings Strategy for Northampton’s Central Area �

Produced for Northampton Borough Council

A Character Assessment & Tall Buildings  
Strategy for Northampton’s Central Area

Final Report June 20�0

CONCORDIA
CASTELLO FORTIOR

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

NORTHAMPTON LOCAL PLAN 

1993-2006

Indicating Saved Policies as amended by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

September 2007 

David Moir 
Director of Environment Services 

June 1997 

ADOPTED JUNE 1997 

WRITTEN  STATEMENT

Northampton
Central Area Action Plan

Adoption January 2013

Shopfront Design Guide SPD Shopfront Design Guide SPD

Planning Policy and Heritage, Northampton Borough Council

10

CCI | Commercial in Confidence © CACI Ltd, 2016

XXX: OPPORTUNITY FOR XXX
NORTHAMPTON TOWN CENTRE
RETAIL MARKET SUMMARY

June 2016  

Lizzie Dawson Jennifer Beattie Dan Parr
Associate Consultant Managing Consultant Client Partner

Northampton Borough Council 

Retail and Leisure Study 

September 2018 

NORTHAMPTON WATERSIDE
ENTERPRISE ZONE 

APPLICATION FORM

Submitted by
South East Midlands 

Local Enterprise Partnership 

June 2011

‘Supporting a regional economy of national importance’ 

Northampton Waterside Enterprise Zone submission by SEMLEP 

1

Item 7 - Appendix 1

97 8

The High Street Report

 

 

 

 

  

 

1 2

141211 13

CO
M
PE

N
DI

U
M

URBAN DESIGN

Llewelyn-Davies

5

DISTINCTIVELY  LOCAL

DISTINCTIVELY  LOCAL

6

(MADE VERSION)

APRIL 2016

15

City centres: past, 
present and future
Their evolving role in the national economy

Rebecca McDonald and Paul Swinney
February 2019

3

  

“It’s time to reshape our town centres”

THE 
GRIMSEY REVIEW 2

T
H

E
 G

R
IM

SE
Y R

E
V

IE
W

 2 

4

227



 18 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

2228



 195plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.0 Contextual Analysis

University of 
Northampton

Becket’s 
Park

Northampton
Marina

River 
Nene

Grand 
Union 
Canal

Far 
CottonDallington

Train to 
London

Train to 
Birmingham

UoN
Innovation 

Centre

Northampton
Railway 
Station

North Gate 
Bus Station

Greyfriars

Market 
Square

The 
Guildhall

St. Giles’
Church

Abington

Cliftonville

Royal &
Derngate
Theatre

One Angel
Square

Carlsberg 
UK

All Saints Church

Northampton
Museum

Semilong

229



 20 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.1 Strategic Context
Northampton

Socioeconomic Context
Northampton is the largest town in the UK, with 
a population of 225,700. Over the last 20 years 
its population has grown faster than the national 
rate, at 0.8% per year (ONS mid-year population 
estimates 2017). 

Northampton is a net importer of workers, with 
a workplace population of 153,000, earning 
the town a jobs density of 1.07 which is 
significantly above both the regional and national 
comparisons. The town itself commands a 
sizeable travel to work area which is roughly in 
line with the catchment area for Northampton 
Town Centre.

Northampton’s catchment comprises a 
population of over one million people with a 
comparison goods spend of £2.5bn. Nationally, 
Northampton is the 64th highest performing 
retail centre.

Northampton has a dominant retail sector, being 
the largest town centre use, taking up 35% of 
the commercial space. This figure is noticeably 
above the average for UK city centres, which 
is typically 26%. Office premises only make up 
21% of the space which is well under the 50% 
average for England and Wales.

Northampton is the 37th largest urban area in the UK 
by population. Historically recognised for its shoe and 
leather industry, its population has grown substantially 
since it became a New Town in 1968.

Connection to 
West Coast 
Main Line

London

Cambridge

Milton 
Keynes

Oxford

Northampton

Birmingham

M25

M40

M42

M11

A428

A43

M1

M6

Birmingham
Int.

Luton

Heathrow

Stansted

Dover

Calais
Dunkirk

National Connections

Regional Context
Northampton lies on the banks of the River 
Nene, 67 miles North-West of London and 54 
miles South-East of Birmingham.

Northampton is the County Town of 
Northamptonshire and is the area’s main 
employment, retail and cultural centre. 

The town is served by the M1 motorway and 
the Northampton Loop of the West Coast 
Main Line, offering good regional and national 
transport connections.

Northampton is also statically well positioned to 
benefit and contribute towards the Cambridge 
– Milton Keynes – Oxford Corridor, now known 
as the Arc; a Government backed initiative 
to form a major centre for the UK’s high tech 
manufacturing and research industries based 
around world leading  academic institutes.

These attributes mean Northampton is 
recognised as one of the top towns pursuing 
high growth strategies in sectors such 
as automotive, logistics and advanced 
manufacturing. This in turn contributed to the 
establishment of the Northampton Waterside 
Enterprise Zone in 2011; 120 hectares of 
business led development along the River Nene.

Challenges Facing Northampton
The unprecedented levels of change 
experienced by Northampton’s town centre in 
recent times has created a series of challenges it 
must tackle and overcome:
 · 15.3% increase in vacancy rates in the 

primary shopping area 
 · 15% reduction in footfall in past 4 years
 · 34% of retail is low value, worsened by loss 

of major national retailers
 ·  89% of all office space, is low quality
 · Air quality management and rising levels of 

congestion
 ·  Number of homeless people has doubled 

from 2017 – 2018
 ·  6th unhealthiest high street in the country
 ·  Low levels of residential and office uses 

within the town centre

Culture, History and Heritage
With the largest cluster of world class shoe 
manufacturers, a great history of industrial 
innovations, scientific discoveries, sporting 
achievements, and the University of 
Northampton’s new £330m Waterside campus, 
Northampton has a great deal to celebrate and 
build upon. 

Work is currently underway on a major 
refurbishment of Northampton Museum which 
neighbours Vulcan works; a Grade II listed, 
former boot machine factory undergoing 
conversion into an arts and creative hub. 
Alongside the Royal & Derngate theatre, these 
important cultural assets will boost the profile 
and impact of the town’s burgeoning Cultural 
Quarter.

The town centre boasts many listed buildings 
and heritage sites, some of which hold national 
significance. One of the most familiar sites is 
Northampton’s Market Square, which is one of 
Britain’s largest and most historic, dating back 
to 1235.

Northampton in Numbers

Growth Rate Per Year 
Over the last 20 years Northampton grew 
faster than the national rate (ONS mid-year 
population estimates 2017)

Population

Job Density 
Northampton is significantly above regional 
and national comparisons

Retail Performance Retail Occupation
Largest occupier of commercial  
space in Northampton (National average 
for city centres is 26%)

0.8%225,700

1.07
64th highest 
performing retail 
centre 35%

Catchment PopulationUrban Area 
(By Population)

Over
1million

37th largest urban 
area in the UK

Workplace Population
Northampton is a net importer  
of workers

153,000

230



 215plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.1 Strategic Context
Northampton

Key

1. Market Square
2. The Guildhall
3. One Angel Square
4. Royal & Derngate Theatre
5. Northampton Museum and Art Gallery
6. St. Giles’ Church
7. The Parish Church of All Saints’
8. Saint Giles’ Street
9. Drapery
10. Gold Street
11. Greyfriars
12. Northampton House
13. The Church of the Holy Sepulchre 
14. St. Peter’s Church
15. New Testament Church of God
16. North Gate Bus Station
17. Northampton Combined Crown and County Courts
18. Northampton Fire Station
19. Northampton Police Station & Magistrates’ Court
20. Northampton General Hospital
21. Becket’s Park
22. Market Walk Shopping Centre
23. The Grosvenor Centre
24. Former Bus Station Site (Greyfriars)
25. Sol Northampton
26. Carlsberg UK
27. Northampton Railway Station
28. Northampton Marina
29. Becket’s Bridge
30. Northampton Castle Remains
31. Vulcan Works
32. R. E. Tricker’s Ltd.
33. 78 Derngate
34. University of Northampton
35. AVON
36. River Nene
37. Grand Union Canal
38. Northampton Central Library
39. Northampton County Council Chambers
40. University of Northampton Innovation Centre

8

1

3

6

2
7

4

11

9

5

10

12

13

14

15

17

18
19

16

20

21

22

23

24

25

SPRING 
BOROUGHS

SEMILONG

COTTON END

CLIFTONVILLE

ABINGTON

26

27

2829

30

31

32

33

34 35

36

37

38

39

40

First Impressions
The town centre retains a considerable amount 
of its historic character, including much of its 
medieval street pattern. 

The central core of the town is well defined by 
the cluster of historic civic buildings and nearby 
Market Square. In contrast to the existence 
of this important municipal space, there is a 
noticeable lack of meaningful public green 
space. The few areas of open green space that 
do occur, are typically associated with churches 
on the periphery of the town centre.

Vehicular traffic movement tends to operate 
along the ring road and does not impact the 
town centre. Buses however feature heavily 
along some routes.

Retail appears to be the dominant use, 
emanating from the Market Square and the two 
shopping malls, settling along the main East-
West routes of Abington Street and Gold Street.

231



 22 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.2 Planning Context
Local Plan: Central Area

AP

AP

YR

15

17

18a&b14

SPRING 
BOROUGHS

NORTHAMPTON 
GENERAL 
HOSPITAL

BECKET’S
PARK

1

2

3

4

5

6

Key

  The Town Centre Area Boundary 

Mixed Use Development

  Mixed Use Area

Environment

  Greenspace (E6)

  Scheduled Ancient Monument (E38)

Housing

  Primarily Residential Area (H6, H11, H30, H31, B19, T11)

  Albion Place

  York Road

Employment and Economy

  Proposed Business Development (B1, B3)

  Existing Business Area (B2, B3, B6, B14, B31)

Transportation

  Existing Pedestrianised Area 

  Proposed Pedestrian Priority Area

Retail and Leisure

  Existing Recreation/Leisure (L1)

  Proposed Recreation/Leisure (L26)

  Town Centre Primary Shopping Frontage (R6)

  Town Centre Secondary Shopping Frontage (R7)

Waterside Enterprise Zone

  Site 14 - Freeschool Street

  Site 15 - St. Peter’s Car Park

  Site 17 - Project Angel

  Site 18a&b - Albion Place and Hotel

Northampton Local Plan Part 2 is currently being 
drafted to determine how Northampton grows and 
develops up until 2029. This will be published for 
consultation mid 2019. 

The Central Area Action Plan (CAAP), adopted in 
January 2013, currently provides detailed planning 
policies to manage and guide development across 
the town centre as shown on the adjacent plan. 

232



 235plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.2 Planning Context
Local Plan: Central Area

4

3 6

22

East Gate, 98-102 Abington Street, Northampton NN1 2BP. NP/RS 
 

5  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.0 Design Scheme 

Introduction 
The application for consideration is for the proposed 
removal of the existing first floor element (fronting St. 
Giles Terrace) and the construction of a two storey 
element to form 13 self-contained apartments- the 
elevation to Abington Street to be retained as existing.  
The ground floor unit is to remain as commercial use 
and does not form part of this application- and thus 
there will be no loss of employment in this instance.  
The proposal is to be set back at second floor level, so 
as NOT to impact on the setting of St Giles Terrace- in 
accordance with Section(s) 66, 72 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  
  
The proposed upper level apartments have access to 
two separate points of entry from street level.  The 
existing residential entrance- off Abington Street- is to 
be retained. A new hardwood timber panel entrance 
door is to enhance the St Giles Terrace elevation. And 
both cores are to have a secure communal cycle store 
and refuse enclosure to be designated for residential use. 
All access doors are to be BS PAS24:2012 security rated. 
 
The proposal aims to increase the accommodation at 
upper level, and retain the existing commercial use at 
ground level- and therefore achieve the three storey mix 
use building typology prevalent within the town centre. 
 
The part extension has been designed so to respect its 
neighbours and use materials of a similar vernacular.  It 
will also meet the local needs in providing good quality 
accommodation- to comply with internal spatial areas.  
 
The new extension is to replicate the fenestration 
detailing of the existing façade, in order to enhance the 
character of the existing building and provide a design 
solution to sit alongside the established traditional 
appearance as per the main street elevation.  The 
insulated slip brick panel will improve the sustainability 
via conservation of energy- and provide an additional 
thermal layer to the fabric of the building.  All external 
openings to be painted timber- colour to match existing. 

  

 

Heritage Significance 
St Giles Terrace links St Giles Street and Abington Street 
to the north.  The southern half of the terrace is 
dominated by the church on the east side.  The church 
of St Giles dates back to the twelfth century. 
 
Beyond the church on the eastern side is an elegant 
terrace of red brick Victorian buildings (predominately 
in business use) which provide a transition from the 
peaceful atmosphere of St Giles to the busy shopping 
area of Abington Street.  The terrace survives largely 
intact, with timber sash windows and boundary railings. 
 
There is a modern office building opposite which can be 
seen north of the street.  Although this is not located 
within the Conservation Area, the design of the building 
is unsympathetic to the adjacent Listed Building(s) and 
hence conflicts with the historic character of the street. 
 
The proposed scheme acknowledges the significance of 
the heritage asset, as described above in accordance 
with NPPF para.128, and the proposal makes a positive 
contribution to local character and distinctiveness, and 
enhances the significance of heritage asset (para.131). 
 
The rendered element to ground floor is to be retained, 
and new fenestration to first floor will replicate existing 
proportions.  It is apparent that the proposal will look 
to enhance the existing façade within the street-scape.   
 
The proposed scheme has been reduced in mass and 
height in relation to the refused planning application.  
The appearance of the site would be improved by the 
proposal and that of the St Giles Conservation Area.  
The part extension provides a continuation of the 1930s 
façade, and remains subservient in scale to the adjacent 
row of terraced houses and maintains a neutral impact. 
 
The Client has also commissioned a specialist heritage 
report undertaken by Heritage Collective (dated: May 
2018).  Please refer to enclosed report, Abington Street 
Heritage Assessment for the relevant information. 
 

 

Figure 02: Proposed Massing View 01 (North-West Perspective) 

 

Figure 04: Proposed Massing View 02 (South-East Perspective) 

 

Figure 03: Preliminary Sketch Plan for local authority consultation 

 

5

1

Images 

1.  Vulcan Works, Arts & Creative Hub, Cultural Quarter  
  - On site 
2.  Northampton Museum and Art Gallery renovation  
  and extension    
  - On site
3.  67 St. Giles’ Street residential new build  
  - In planning
4.  Conversion of former Corn Exchange  
  - On site
5.  71 - 77b Abington Street, Residential Development  
  - In planning
6.  98-102 Abington Street Residential Conversion  
  - In planning

Planning Framework
Sites are identified in both the Greyfriars area 
and Cultural Quarter which offer potential 
for alternative or mixed land uses. Proposed 
business use also features in the Greyfriars area.

Primary shopping frontages are limited to the 
traditional retail core of the town centre, but 
in the modern setting this means they are 
contained within the internally trading shopping 
malls. Shopping frontages which address 
Drapery, Abington Street, Gold Street, Fish 
Street and St. Giles’ Street are designated as 
secondary which has had a detrimental effect on 
the quality of these retailers as you move away 
from the retail core.

Little to no residential land use is defined within 
the town centre. No stand alone proposed 
residential use is defined and only some of 
the ‘Mixed Use Area’ development sites are 
permitted for residential use. Retail and office 
uses are the most significant in these mixed use 
areas.   

Four sites located within Waterside Enterprise 
Zone are yet to be developed within the town 
centre area. Each of these sites, as presented 
on the adjacent plan, are intended for the 
following sectors: 

 · Advanced manufacturing/engineering
 · Automotive
 · Construction including: built environment
 · Financial services
 · Retail
 · Logistics.

A number of town centre regeneration schemes, 
including cultural and residential uses, are 
currently in planning or on site. These include 
Vulcan Works and Northampton Museum and 
Art Gallery amongst others.

Match Box Architects Church Lukas

Malcolm Payne Group

PM Architects

GSS ArchitectureGSS ArchitecturePurcell

233



 24 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.3 Historic Context
Area Development

Saxon Palace Archaeological Excavations, 1985

Drapery, 1930s

Northampton has long played a vital role 
as a major centre within the region. It has a 
long and important history dating back to the 
Bronze Age and became a town of national 
significance during the Middle Ages when it 
regularly hosted the Parliament of England.

During the Middle Ages Northampton grew 
in significance with the establishment of 
Northampton Castle and by the second half 
of the twelfth century was one of the largest 
and wealthiest towns in England. As a result 
of the disastrous fires which struck the town in 
the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, the 
historic street pattern is now all that survives of 
Northampton’s medieval settlement.

The construction of the Grand Union Canal 
and arrival of the railway in the 1830s saw 
Northampton become a successful centre 
for manufacturing. Today, Northampton is still 
recognised for its footwear and leather industries 
and is still home to the largest cluster of world 
class shoe manufactures in the world including 
Church’s, Barker, Crockett & Jones and Tricker’s. 

Its location on the river Nene underpins other 
industries such as brewing – it is the home of 
Carlsberg in the UK.

Around the central core, the fine urban grain 
is formed by long established civic and 
ecclesiastical buildings such as Northampton 
County Council Chambers, the Museum and 
Art Gallery, The Guildhall and the Parish Church 
of All Saints’. Retailing is the predominant land 
use within the town centre alongside other 
significant uses including cultural, entertainment 
and leisure. 

Its population has grown substantially since it 
became a New Town in 1968, from 133,673 in 
1971, to over 227,500 residents today. 

Aerial Photograph, 1947

Abington Street, 1925

19th Century Photograph of Northampton Castle

Northampton’s Historic Market Square

Key

  Railway

  Tramlines

  Industrial

  Settlement

  Retail

  Future footprint of Grosvenor

  Religious Facilities

  Education

  Musical Venue

  Civic Services

  Public Green Space

234



 255plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.3 Historic Context
Area Development

 · The urban centre of Northampton has been 
well established since the Middle Ages and 
has progressively become more dense, 
helped in part by the industrial revolution and 
the significant growth it encouraged.

 · The influence of the industrial revolution has 
mainly affected the South-West fringe of 
the town centre, with rail freight and utilities 
distribution settling in this location. 

 · Northampton’s urban form is predominantly 
characterised by terraced residential streets 
surrounding a much smaller commercial 
core which is signified by the historic Market 
Square.

 · Very few public open green spaces can be 
found in the town centre at this time, with the 
only examples residing around the churches 
of St. Giles’, the Holy Sepulchre and St. 
Katherine’s.

 · Northampton’s horse-drawn tramway 
opened in 1881 and provided a public form 
of transport connecting the surrounding 
suburbs with the town centre.

 · Northampton remains a dense residential 
centre, with some notable growth in 
residential use outside of the present day 
ring-road boundary.

 · Reflecting this increase in the residential 
population, the former cow meadows 
located to the South East of the town centre 
are re-designated as recreational grounds 
Today this place is better known as Becket’s 
Park.

 · The retail core has expanded along the 
primary town centre routes. 

 · The Northampton tramway system is 
extended and taken over by the council 
to become Northampton Corporation 
Tramways, then later in 1904 is electrified.

Nottingham Trent
University

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450 500 m

1880

Jan 29, 2019 15:02

Projection: British National Grid

Scale 1:5000

© Landmark Information Group Ltd and Crown copyright 2019. FOR EDUCATIONAL USE ONLY.

Nottingham Trent
University

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450 500 m

1960

Jan 29, 2019 15:15

Projection: British National Grid

Scale 1:5000

© Landmark Information Group Ltd and Crown copyright 2019. FOR EDUCATIONAL USE ONLY.

Nottingham Trent
University

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450 500 m

1920

Jan 29, 2019 15:08

Projection: British National Grid

Scale 1:5000

© Landmark Information Group Ltd and Crown copyright 2019. FOR EDUCATIONAL USE ONLY.

1880s 1920s 1960s  · Responding to continued population growth, 
municipal facilities and services, such as 
baths and the police and fire services, are 
moved into larger buildings on the outskirts 
of the town centre, creating redundant 
buildings in the centre.

 · The tramway is decommissioned in 1934 
mainly as a result of competition from motor 
buses which were introduced in 1929.

 · Between 1920 and 1960, the residential 
density of the town centre begins to fall 
as post-war trends drive people into the 
suburbs.

 · Around the fringe of the town centre, 
terraced streets are cleared in favour of 
modern municipal housing blocks.

 · Alternative town centre uses such as 
industrial and manufacturing begin to grow 
around disused sites. 

 · Throughout the 1970s, clearance of housing 
in the town centre continued as larger 
building forms begin to appear in their place. 
Most notably are The Grosvenor Centre and 
adjoining bus station (now demolished) and 
the Royal & Derngate Theatre.

235



 26 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

SPRING 
BOROUGHS

NORTHAMPTON 
GENERAL 
HOSPITAL

BECKET’S
PARK

2.4 Land Uses
Predominant Building Footprints

Key

  The Town Centre Area Boundary 

  Office

  Commercial/Retail

  Leisure/Refreshment

  Hotel

  Residential

  Religious Facilities

  Medical

  Civic Services

  Gallery/Museum

  Musical Venue

  Education

  Car Park

  Bus Station

The predominant existing use of buildings 
within the town centre is diverse and varied 
in terms of spatial arrangement and clusters 
of complimentary uses.

There is a good balance of retail and leisure use 
along the East-West axial routes through the 
town centre, however based on the number of 
vacant units, retail use is over prescribed.  

Office use is the second most commonly 
occurring in the town centre, however a good 
proportion of this is vacant. The buildings that 
are occupied tend to be smaller premises on 
the perimeter of the town centre, which typically 
come with parking provision that is easily 
accessed via the town centre ring road.

The core of the town centre, alongside retail 
and leisure, also provides a civic and cultural 
function. The cluster of local authority, museum 
and performance buildings located here define 
Northampton’s Cultural Quarter.

Residential use is clustered to the southern part 
of the town centre and is comprised mainly of 
terraced streets with some new build student 
accommodation and residential change of use 
developments.

There are a considerable amount of functioning 
ecclesiastical buildings in the town centre, 
which suggests there is a strong demand and 
increased town centre activity on holy days.

With the exception of the South-East edge, 
where the hospital and Becket’s Park reside, 
the  town centre is surrounded by residential 
neighbourhoods.

236



 275plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.4 Land Uses
Predominant Building Footprints

Retail:
8.8 hectares
14.1%

Office:
3.4 hectares
5.4%

Leisure: 
3.3 hectares 
5.2%

Residential: 
3 hectares 
4.9%

Civic:
1.5 hectares 
2.5%

Transport:
1.2 hectares
1.9%

Religious: 
0.72 hectares
1.2%

Hotel: 
0.6 hectares 
0.95%

Performance: 
0.59 hectares
0.94%

Medical: 
0.41 hectares
0.66%

Cultural: 
0.39 hectares
0.62%

Educational: 
0.13 hectares 
0.22%

The Town Centre Area Boundary: 
63 hectares

100%

Highways: 
11.4 hectares

18%

Public Space: 
6.3 hectares

10%

Total Building Footprint: 
23.9 hectares

38%

Total Building Footprint, Highways & 
Landscape: 41.7 hectares

66%

Northampton Town Centre Land Use
With the demand for retail premises now on the 
decline, the dominance of existing retail space within 
the town centre can be reduced. Space can be 
reclassified to proportionally rebalance the existing 
mix of uses, with a greater emphasis on residential, 
office and leisure.

As illustrated below, a third of the land within the 
town centre area is currently vacant. This high-level 
assessment demonstrates the credible development 
opportunities available in the town centre that can 
seek to offer a range of mixed-use developments to 
compliment and strengthen the existing town centre 
uses.

237



 28 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.5 Existing Condition
Photographic Study

Northampton has a visually rich town centre. 
Its streets feature many beautiful period 
buildings presenting a range of architectural 
styles and at its heart lies Market Square, 
considered by many as one of the most 
attractive and impressive Market Squares in 
the UK.

Approaching from the railway station, the sense  
of arrival is fairly poor, with the long walk along 
Marefair and Gold Street suffering from vacant 
sites, low quality retail and ad-hoc shop-
frontages. These factors detract from the setting 
and grandeur of the historic buildings lining both 
streets.

Market Square is a great asset for Northampton 
and is clearly well used. Its location close to 
North Gate Bus Station and the busy bus route 
on Drapery means it is easily accessible and 
used by many as a way of navigating through 
the town. Due to this heavy use, the public realm 
appears tired and dated.

North of Market Square is the Greyfriars area. 
This brownfield site was the previous location 
of the bus station and now vacant, has created 
a physical barrier which suffers from poor 
connectivity into the town centre from the North.

The retail offer around Market Square is typical 
of most UK town centres and is influenced by 
the two adjacent shopping malls, Market Walk 
Shopping Centre and The Grosvenor Centre. 
Abington Street extends this retail offer beyond 
the shopping malls, but is struggling to attract 
tenants.

To the South-East of the town centre, the 
Cultural Quarter and St. Giles’ Street offer an 
alternative shopping experience, with a thriving 
community of independent and boutique 
retailers. 

In the core of the town centre, the Cultural 
Quarter provides a high quality public realm 
experience framed by the Northampton 
Museum, Royal & Derngate Theatre, NN 
Contemporary Art gallery, Northampton 
Filmhouse and a selection of bars, restaurants, 
pubs, hair salons and fashion shops.

Framing all of this are the many historic 
churches, a feature of the town centre that has 
remained largely unchanged over the centuries. 
Originally positioned at what would have been 
the gated access points in the town wall and 
defences, they also denote the cardinal axes  of 
Gold Street, Sheep Street, Abington Street, St. 
Giles’ Street and Bridge Street.

8

1

3

6

2

7

4

11

9

5
10

12

SPRING 
BOROUGHS

NORTHAMPTON 
GENERAL 
HOSPITAL

BECKET’S
PARK

238



 295plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.5 Existing Condition
Photographic Study

1. Market Square 2. The Guildhall 3. One Angel Square

5. Northampton Museum and Art Gallery 7. The Parish Church of All Saints’

9. Drapery 10. Gold Street 11. Greyfriars

4. Royal & Derngate Theatre and the Cultural Quarter

12. Northampton House and Greyfriars underpass

6. St. Giles’ Church 8. St. Giles’ Street

239



 30 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.6 Character Areas
Northampton’s Central Core

There are ten distinct character areas which 
form Northampton’s central area. The three 
which make up the town centre are; the 
Historic Core, Greyfriars and St. John’s.

Historic Core
The Historic Core character area stretches the 
breadth of the town centre and is characterised 
by its medieval street pattern which hosts many 
of the town centre’s key historic buildings and 
landmarks.

Greyfriars
To the North is Greyfriars. This area is 
characterised largely by its retail and commercial 
use. It accommodates a significant amount of 
post-war landmark buildings which puncture the 
skyline and impact on local views.

St. John’s
To the  South is the St. John’s character area. 
Much like Greyfriars, this areas has seen 
significant change to it’s urban fabric in more 
recent times, with larger footprint and retail use 
buildings introduced that now contrast with the 
finer grain development of the Historic Core.

Cultural Quarter
The Cultural Quarter is not defined as a 
character area, but does stand out as a 
separate area, best characterised by its use.

SPRING 
BOROUGHS

NORTHAMPTON 
GENERAL 
HOSPITAL

BECKET’S
PARK

Key

  The Town Centre Area Boundary 

  Brewery District

  AVON

  Cliftonville

  Spring Boroughs

  Grafton Street

  Upper Mounts

  St. John’s

  Historic Core

  Greyfriars

  Cultural Quarter Boundary

240



 315plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.7 Heritage
Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas

SPRING 
BOROUGHS

NORTHAMPTON 
GENERAL 
HOSPITAL

BECKET’S
PARK

A number of conservation areas are 
designated around Northampton’s town 
centre area, established to protect and 
enhance distinctive townscape and unique 
collections of buildings.

It is clear that the Historic Core character area 
is largely influenced by the conservation areas 
of All Saints’, Derngate and St. Giles’. These 
conservation areas retain much of the 13th 
century street pattern of the medieval town 
and present many high quality Georgian and 
Victorian buildings as well as scheduled ancient 
monuments. 

The All Saints’ conservation area in particular 
holds special significance, as it contains 
Northampton’s Market Square, which has 
retained its traditional use since 1235.

In stark contrast to the areas covered by 
the allocation of a conservation area, are the 
large extents of town centre which remain 
unprotected. Simply put, the areas in or around 
Greyfriars, Abington Street and the South-West 
fringe of the town centre are deemed unworthy 
of conserving.

Key

  The Town Centre Area Boundary 

  Grade I Listed

  Grade II* Listed

  Grade II Listed

  All Saints’ Conservation Area

  St. Giles’ Conservation Area

  Boot & Shoe Conservation Area

  Holy Sepulchre Conservation Area

  Derngate Conservation Area

241



 32 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.8 Movement
Existing Connections, Routes & Modes

Key

  The Town Centre Area Boundary 

 Primary Vehicular Movement

 Bus Route

 Pedestrian Movement

  North Gate Bus Station

  Multi-Storey Car Park

  Surface Car Park

Vehicular Movement
Surface and multi-storey car parks are typically 
well located to the four corners of the town 
centre, on the periphery of the ring-road area. 
This mitigates the need for car journeys into 
the town centre area. The one exception to this 
is the Grosvenor Centre multi-storey car park, 
accessed via Greyfriars.

Bus Routes
The primary public transport routes in and out 
of the town centre occupy the same network of 
roads once used by Northampton Corporation 
Tramways, between 1903 and 1934.

Buses are the preferred method of local public 
transport and are a dominant feature on many of 
the town centre main roads. A number of arterial 
bus routes cross the central core of the town 
centre to serve North Gate Bus Station.

Most severely impacted by these bus routes 
are Drapery and Gold Street, which form part of 
an in-out ring-road ferrying buses to and from 
the bus station. Furthermore, the sheer number 
of bus stops along these routes obstruct 
the pavements and shop-fronts, significantly 
lowering the quality of the streetscape.

Pedestrian Movement
The flow of pedestrian movement across 
the core of the town centre is generally well 
connected, however the North-South links 
across Greyfriars and through the Grosvenor 
Centre are weak and signs often illegible. 

The Market Square acts as a natural anchor 
point which connects the retail and civic 
destinations with North Gate Bus Station, as well 
as generally assisting with navigation across the 
town centre.

Key existing connections with the railway station 
and the University need to be improved to create 
a fitting sense of arrival and encourage increased 
student footfall. 

Site Photos

1. Drapery and Sheep Street junction

2. Victoria Promenade pedestrian crossing

3. Greyfriars Road

4. Mayorhold multi storey car park 

5. Horse Market pedestrian crossing

SPRING 
BOROUGHS

NORTHAMPTON 
GENERAL 
HOSPITAL

BECKET’S
PARK

1

2

3

4

5

242



 335plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.9 Public Realm
Existing Public Space and Landscape

Landscape and Public Realm
Despite having more parkland than any other 
town in the country, Northampton’s town centre 
has very little meaningful public green space. 
The few significant green spaces that exist, are 
often associated with the historic churches. 

Smaller pockets of green space are scattered 
across the town centre, but are typically 
unclaimed or left-over land such as road sidings 
and verges.

Although not very green, the core of town 
centre does provide a reasonably good public 
realm experience. The streets are pedestrian 
focused and the public realm around the Cultural 
Quarter is to a high standard. Extending this 
same quality of public realm beyond the core 
will help reconnect all areas of the town centre 
and encourage greater levels of pedestrian 
movement.

Of particular prominence is the town’s Market 
Square. This public open space has a long and 
rich history as one of the first and largest market 
squares in the country. It’s significance as a key 
part of Northampton’s identity is prevalent in the 
views of the local community.

Becket’s Park
Becket’s Park is a traditional park along the bank 
of the River Nene, and forms a green gateway to 
the Northampton town centre.

Whilst Becket’s Park is within close proximity 
of the town centre, connections are poor. 
Improving the public realm and connections to 
the existing public spaces, such as Becket’s 
Park, can be used as an opportunity to draw 
landscape into the town centre to improve 
the quality and sense of place, help tackle air 
pollution alongside improving biodiversity and 
create a more accessible and welcoming town 
centre experience.

Key

  Site Boundary 

  Trees

  Public Green Space

  Pedestrianised Space

  Shared Surface

Site Photos

1. Street planting on Guildhall Road

2. Entrance to Becket’s Park from Victoria Promenade

3. Green pedestrian link via Victoria Gardens

5. Abington Street

4. Existing Market Square public realm 

SPRING 
BOROUGHS

NORTHAMPTON 
GENERAL 
HOSPITAL

BECKET’S
PARK

1

3

2

4
5

243



 34 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

2.10 Ownerships
Landholdings & Legal Ownerships

A large proportion of the land within the town 
centre is currently under the ownership or leased by 
Northampton Borough Council.  

Northamptonshire County Council also possess 
significant landholdings and ownerships, and are also 
responsible for roads as the highways authority.

These separate landholders will come together in 
2021, under the approved unitary authorities plan, 
which will see the borough, county council, Daventry 
and South Northamptonshire services merge to form 
the new West Northamptonshire unitary authority.

Study Area 1:
Market Square and Market Pavilion

Study Area 3:
Waterloo House, Market Square

Study Area 2:
Drapery

Study Area 4:
Emporium Way

Study Area 7:
Abington St. Residential Quarter - 
‘Eastgate’

Study Area 6:
Greyfriars

Study Area 5:
Greyfriars Road

Study Area 8:
Fish Street Regeneration and 
Landscape

Study Area 11:
Swan St. Site

Study Area 10:
24 Guildhall Road

Study Area 9:
30 St. Giles’ St. Co-Working Office

Study Area 12:
Albion Place Site

Study Area 13:
South Marefair Residential Quarter - 
‘The Green’

Waterloo House is under third party 
ownerships. The ground floor is occupied 
by two separate retail tenants and the 
upper four floors providing self-contained 
office suites are not currently let. 

The land and premises along Drapery are 
under a variety of third party ownerships.

The external space that falls within the 
Emporium Way study area is under the 
ownership of Northampton Borough 
Council. However, the buildings at the 
end of Emporium Way which address 
Market Square, are currently under third 
party ownership. These buildings are only 
partially let.

The area is under a variety of third party 
ownerships. Northampton Borough 
Council currently own the Wellington 
Street car park and land to the north of 
this. A planning application has been 
submitted for a residential change of 
use scheme on the vacant retail units on 
Abington Street.

The majority of the Greyfriars study area 
is under the ownership of Northampton 
Borough Council. 

The vast majority of the study area is the 
brownfield site of the former bus station. 
Also included is the Upper Mounts surface 
car park, owned and operated by the 
borough council.

The Swan Street site is under the 
ownership of Northampton Borough 
Council. The site is currently a surface car 
park, owned and operated by the borough 
council.

24 Guildhall Road, the former 
Northamptonshire County Council office, 
is under the ownership of Northampton 
Borough Council. The building is not 
currently occupied.

The Albion Place site is under the 
ownership of Northampton Borough 
Council. The site is currently a surface car 
park, owned and operated by the borough 
council.

Market Square is under the ownership of 
Northampton Borough Council. 

The square is used on a regular basis by 
local market traders, but throughout the 
year the space also host events such 
as; Christmas Lights Switch-on and 
Northampton Pride.

Greyfriars Road is under the ownership 
of Northampton Borough Council. The 
road is currently used as the servicing 
and multi-storey car park access for The 
Grosvenor Centre

30 St. Giles’ Street is under third party 
ownerships. The ground floor is occupied 
by three separate retail tenants and the 
upper two floors provide self-contained 
office suites are not currently let.

Part of this study area is under the 
ownership of Northampton Borough 
Council. The Marefair surface car park, 
owned and operated by the borough 
council comprises much of this. Several 
independent businesses, including car 
garages and a music rehearsal studio 
operate within the study area.

Study Area 14:
Former Castle House Site, Marefair

The Castle House site is under the 
ownership of Northampton Borough 
Council.

The neighbouring Chalk Lane and 
Doddridge Street car parks are under 
separate third party ownerships.

244



 355plus | Northampton Borough Council

Key

  The Town Centre Area Boundary 

  Study Areas

  Northampton Borough Council Ownership

  Northamptonshire County Council Ownership

2.10 Ownerships
Landholdings & Legal Ownerships

14

13

12

3

4

5

6

7

11

9

8

10

12

SPRING 
BOROUGHS

NORTHAMPTON 
GENERAL 
HOSPITAL

BECKET’S
PARK

Study Areas

1.  Market Square and Market Pavilion
2.  Drapery – Co-Working and Activating Ground Floors
3.  Waterloo House, Market Square
4.  Emporium Way
5.  Greyfriars Road
6.  Greyfriars
7.  Abington Street Residential Quarter -‘Eastgate’
8.  Fish Street - Landscape Regeneration
9.  30 St. Giles Street Co-Working
10.  24 Guildhall Road, former Northamptonshire County 

Council Offices
11.  Swan Street Site
12.  Albion Place Site
13.  South Marefair Residential Quarter -‘The Green’
14. Former Castle House Site, Marefair

245



 36 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

3246



 375plus | Northampton Borough Council

3.0 Opportunities & Potential

“We shouldn’t be talking about the high street, which I 
believe is the wrong term, we should be talking about 
town centres.

It is about providing new hubs and re-imagining town 
centres, that is the direction we should be going and 
not looking at how we can save what people call the 
high street today.

The future all depends on local inspirational people and 
leaders who can bring people together and share great 
ideas to reshape their community. The funding and 
locations are there to help them do the job of creating 
the town centre of the next 20 years.”

Sir John Timpson CBE

247



 38 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

3.1 Summary of Analysis 
Masterplan Themes

The initial ideas presented in this chapter bring 
together emerging themes taken from the site 
analysis topics. They summarise the key issues 
the masterplan must look to address and will 
underpin the development of the detailed masterplan 
proposals for the town centre.

The brief for the detailed masterplan study includes 
five Quarters within the town centre, containing 
individual study areas. Each will be assessed in their 
own right, but will continually refer back to these 
themes. This will ensure the combined study areas 
contribute in their own part to the bigger picture; 
a cohesive and holistic town centre masterplan 
proposal.

Connecting the Town
Within the town centre boundary, there is 
a noticeable lack of open and public green 
space. The town centre area historically has 
been a dense network of streets and buildings 
with the exception of the Market Square and 
churchyards.

Becket’s Park, just outside the town centre 
boundary, is a fantastic asset which provides 
a welcome contrast to the dense urban 
environment of the town centre. Despite their 
close proximity, the vehicle dominated ring 
road passing between the park and the town 
centre means the two locations feel unrelated 
and separate. Enhancing the poor connections 
across the ring road to improve access and ease 
of use of the park is important to Northampton 
and the regeneration of the town centre.

Positioned between the town centre and the 
University of Northampton’s Waterside Campus,  
Becket’s Park forms an important link in the 
pedestrian route to and from the town centre. 
Improving connections would help the University 
and its student population feel part of the town 
centre.

Boundary ConnectionsThe Town Centre Boundary
Northampton’s town centre is physically and 
strategically defined by a road. Although difficult 
and unpleasant to navigate as a pedestrian, this 
car dominated environment does benefit the 
town centre by keeping vehicular traffic outside 
and helping to ensure the heart of the town is 
pedestrian focused.

This barrier has also become a symbolic 
threshold for our contemporary idea of what 
town centres are used for. One hundred years 
ago, the predominate use was residential and 
the notion of a town centre boundary was 
blurred.

Now we must consider how we begin to break 
down this barrier and allow alternative uses, like 
residential, back into the town centre.

248



 395plus | Northampton Borough Council

Retail Catalyst Projects Catalyst Regeneration Projects
There is opportunity for high quality, new 
architecture and public realm projects to help 
forge new connections and inform the much 
needed improvement of existing ones across the 
town centre area.

Finding renewed purpose for existing vacant 
buildings and sites will aid with the repair of 
the urban grain and bring alternative uses and 
activity back in to the town centre.

Catalyst regeneration projects will lead by 
example for all future developments and set the 
tone for integrating with the town centre’s many 
historic assets, such as working to strengthen 
the offer of the Cultural Quarter, encouraging  
the energy and popularity of St. Giles’ Street to 
influence more of the town and reconnecting 
with Becket’s Park.

These measures will broaden Northampton’s 
appeal, improving the town centre experience 
for its residents, workforce and visitors.

Consolidation of the Retail Core
Retail uses have spread far beyond the extent 
of the historic retail core and not for the better. 
Radiating out along the East-West axial routes 
of Abington Street and Gold Street, the sheer 
volume of retail floor space is now far in excess 
of the demand and needs to be consolidated 
and intensified. The empty shops across the 
town centre give a poor image and reflect a lack 
of demand and activity.

Consolidating the retail offer back into the heart 
of the town centre will create a more resilient 
and unified retail presence that can withstand 
the impact of changing shopping habits and 
avoid empty spaces occurring in the future. 
Experience led retail is also crucial to the 
ongoing success and sustainability of the town 
centre offer.

A rejuvenated Market Square, re-imagined as a 
food destination, will act as a focal point for this 
stronger retail core to anchor around.

Development Development Opportunities
The town centre has too much space compared 
to the current demand. This is made up of 
empty buildings both at ground and upper floor 
levels, alongside empty or under utilised sites. 
These include large scale examples as illustrated 
below, where new ‘quarters’ can be created.

Encouraging the growth of residential, 
commercial and leisure uses will increase both 
day time and night time activity, strengthening 
the appeal of the town centre and generating 
more reasons to be in Northampton. As the 
existing retail core shrinks, new ground floor 
uses must be created to intensify lost areas of 
the town centre.

Large scale development opportunities should 
explore the potential of mixed uses, to create 
places to work, live and play.

3.1 Summary of Analysis
Masterplan Themes

249



 40 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

3.2 Emerging Ideas
Masterplan Design Principles

Arrival The town centre can be accessed through 
a variety of means, with different modes of 
transport providing different points of arrival. 
Establishing a strong sense of arrival is critical in 
setting the tone which underpins the entire town 
centre experience.

Currently arrival by car is made easy through 
the availability and accessibility of car parking 
provision, but this comes at the detriment to the 
surrounding neighbourhoods and roads. The 
experience for bus users is perceived as poor 
due to the accessibility of the bus station, while 
railway users are welcomed into an inhospitable 
setting with little connection or notion of the 
town centre. Pedestrian and cycle links need 
to be better to encourage and promote active 
travel into, across and beyond the town centre.

The masterplan will consider how these 
methods of arrival can become legible 
thresholds that define and celebrate movement 
from one recognisable space or place to 
another. By creating a sequence of positive 
gateways into the town centre, this in parallel will 
begin to define the town centre’s unique identity.

Key

  The Town Centre Area Boundary 

  Movement

 Primary Gateway

 Secondary Gateway

This detailed masterplan study is based on 
a set of design principles which will oversee 
the transformation of the town centre as 
it moves towards a denser, greener and 
connected environment.

These design principles are our repose to the 
challenges highlighted in the themes discussed 
earlier in this report and are illustrated in the 
diagrams adjacent. 

Together, these design principles seek to 
revitalise the town centre with a comprehensive, 
vibrant and unique range of residential, retail, 
leisure, employment and cultural activities, which 
will see Northampton once again become a 
destination and focal point for the wider county.

Arrival

Cohesion

Identity

Growth

Access
&

Movement

Transport

Green
Infrastructure

250



 415plus | Northampton Borough Council

3.2 Emerging Ideas
Masterplan Design Principles

Cohesion Identity In parallel with addressing the notion of 
cohesion, the masterplan must recognise the 
distinguishable areas of the town centre in their 
own right.

The consolidation of existing town centre uses, 
such as retail, and the introduction of new uses 
such as residential, will see the boundaries 
of these areas shift into new districts and 
neighbourhoods. The masterplan must offer 
strategies that establish identifiable and legible 
urban characters to these places.

The hierarchy of pubic space, palette of 
materials and combination of uses will all 
need to be carefully considered with the aid of 
precedents.   

The masterplan must ensure the town centre 
remains diverse and inclusive in its appeal, 
where a broad range of overlapping activities 
can create animation, inspiration and foster vital 
public life.

Key

  The Town Centre Area Boundary 

  Retail Core

  Independent Retail

  Residential

  Residential/Mixed Use

  Business Use

  Business/Mixed Use

  Cultural Quarter Boundary

The town centre lacks cohesion between its 
definable areas, communities and quarters. 

This lack of interrelatedness is most apparent 
through the poor north-south connections 
resulting from the physical barrier created by the 
Greyfriars area and Grosvenor Centre.

Poor connectivity across the town centre 
has resulted in a broad lack of activity and 
reduced footfall, which has helped contribute 
to the struggling retail offer. With simply not 
enough people willing to use or cross the town 
centre, areas such as St. Giles’ Street are now 
beginning to suffer.

The masterplan will look to repair and restore 
the connections across the town centre with 
place-making and public realm proposals which 
complement the emerging identities of different 
areas, communities and quarters. Improved 
connectivity will encourage greater movement 
and enable deeper awareness of what is on 
offer, giving people more reasons to move 
across the broader town centre area.

Key
 

  The Town Centre Area Boundary 

  Town Centre Area Boundaries

  Good Connections

  Poor Connections

  Barriers

251



 42 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

Key

  The Town Centre Area Boundary 

  Retail Growth

  Residential Growth

  Business Growth

  Mixed Use

Access & Movement All parts of the town centre must be accessible 
and inclusive to all users. The public domain 
plays a huge role in ensuring this happens by 
providing urban culture and street life and a 
place to thrive. 

The masterplan will look to establish a network 
of positive and safe public spaces and routes 
across the town centre, connecting the 
emerging districts and neighbourhoods to 
support greater social integration.

Greater town centre mobility will further support 
the notion of cohesion by helping to mend poor 
connectivity. Allowing people the freedom to 
move further around the town centre will bring 
renewed activity and interaction to its streets, 
square and parks, restore social value of the 
public realm and support health and well-being.

Key

  The Town Centre Area Boundary 

  Primary Movement

  Secondary Movement

  Public Space

The masterplan will demonstrate how the town 
centre can grow, with viable development 
opportunities identified in and amongst its 
existing assets.

There are significant opportunities for 
growth, particularly within the residential and 
commercial sectors, across numerous locations. 
Supplementary to this is the potential for 
rejuvenated retail and leisure opportunities. 

Collectively, these opportunities will illustrate 
an integrated urban renewal proposal that 
introduces vibrant alternative uses into the town 
centre.

Growth

3.2 Emerging Ideas
Masterplan Design Principles

252



 435plus | Northampton Borough Council

Transport Green Infrastructure Streets, gardens and parks are essential 
elements in creating popular, healthy and 
sustainable communities, therefore the 
masterplan will look to maximise the potential of 
the town centre’s existing green infrastructure.

The proposals will illustrate how the introduction 
and improvement of quality public realm can 
compliment both local heritage and the natural 
environment as a response to the challenges 
faced by increasing urbanisation.

Key

  The Town Centre Area Boundary 

  Proposed Green Swaths

  High Quality Public Realm Integrated Green Space

  Existing Green Spaces

It is possible to reach Northampton by 
numerous means. The town centre has good 
public transport links, as a destination on the 
West Coast Main Line and as a hub for the local 
bus network. Despite this, travelling by car is the 
preferred method of transport, encouraged by 
the abundance of parking and as a result, the 
surrounding areas are overcome with traffic.

The masterplan will seek to influence, where 
possible, the existing public transport networks 
to improve their accessibility, whilst creating clear 
and legible cycle and pedestrian routes that will 
integrate with surrounding infrastructure.

By creating a connected, appealing and safe 
movement network for walking and cycling, 
active travel will become a more viable option for 
local people looking to access the town centre, 
social centres such as the University campus 
and the surrounding neighbourhoods.

The masterplan will work towards transforming 
Northampton into a centre for sustainable 
mobility, where it is easier to walk, cycle or use 
public transport than to travel by car.

Key

 Primary Vehicular Movement

  North Gate Bus Station

  Multi-Storey Car Park

3.2 Emerging Ideas
Masterplan Design Principles

253



 44 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

3.3 The Town Centre Experience
The Future of the High Street

Today, the internet, rise of online shopping and 
out of town retail destinations have created 
a consumer culture, driven by demand for 
convenience, unlimited choice, and optimal 
value. However, there are certain things the 
internet cannot provide; experience. Enjoyable, 
multifaceted experiences, that are distinctly 
local, and impossible to find anywhere else 
are something that regional town centres can 
specialise in, and use to distinguish themselves 
from the competition and each other.

The future of the town centre all depends on 
local inspirational people and leaders who can 
bring people together and share great ideas 
that allow retailers, producers and providers to 
look beyond financial returns to the overall social 
value and purpose of place.

Guildhall Road and Cultural Quarter Vision

Retail
Specialist retail that serves the community, and 
therefore attracts visitors looking to discover a 
unique range of shopping experiences. These 
sorts of retailers exhibit, curate and celebrate 
local skills, trades and products.

Makers Market events can bringing together the 
finest award winning food, drink, art and craft 
producers in the area. These sorts of events 
bring local communities together to eat, drink, 
taste, shop, socialise, relax, watch, listen, enjoy 
and discover.

Creating a diverse offer of restaurants, bars and 
eateries will attract more people to visit and stay 
for longer, and stimulate a more vibrant evening 
atmosphere in the town centre.

The Makers Market, Chester - Monthly craft fair

Duke Street Market, Liverpool -  Independent food hall

Rare Mags, Stockport - Specialist book store

Almost Famous, Manchester - Secret burger joint

This detailed masterplan study is based on a 
set of design principles which will oversee the 
transformation of the town centre as it moves 
towards a denser, greener and better connected 
environment.

Clicks & Mortar Pop-Up, Manchester

254



 455plus | Northampton Borough Council

3.3 The Town Centre Experience
The Future of the High Street

Leisure, Health and Well-being and Exercise 
Leisure uses are becoming ever more popular, 
generating activity before and after hours in town 
and city centres. 

Boutique gyms and spas conveniently located 
are often used by workers before and after 
working hours. Demand for more socially 
orientated activities such as personal training 
and specialist classes is growing, and new 
wellness concepts are emerging that pair these 
activities with healthy food.

Junkyard Golf and Flight Club’s social darts, 
are new leisure concepts that offer fun, social 
activities and are often enjoyed during evenings 
and weekends.

Making and Working 
It is becoming more and more the case, that 
traditional retail spaces are being adapted to 
offer different uses. 

Existing retailers are now exploring opportunities 
to use their spaces to provide alternative uses in 
new, imaginative ways. Teaming up with artists, 
designers and makers, some retailers are using 
their spaces as classrooms and workshops to 
hold evening sessions for activities ranging from 
jewellery making to screen printing.

This reinvention of how retail spaces can be 
configured and used has generated an exciting 
and socially enriching way to sustain activity in 
town centres after-hours and also generates a 
new source of revenue for retailers.

Education 
Consumers are becoming more responsible 
and conscious of how the things they buy are 
sourced and made. This has informed a growing 
interest into production techniques and from this 
a new business of master-class experiences has 
emerged. 

Cooking classes, bread making workshops, 
pasta master-classes and gin distillery 
experiences give tailored, behind the scenes 
insight into how our favourite food and drink is 
made, and these skills are shared for you to try 
at home. These sorts of experiences are

popular as birthday presents or group activities 
to share with loved ones.

It is possible to see this sort of experience work 
well in Northampton, as a concept orientated 
around the historic industry of shoe making. This 
would offer a distinctly local experience, that can 
showcase the skills and quality materials of the 
remaining local shoe manufacturers.

Kettlebell Kitchen, Salford - Healthy fast food

Foodwell, Manchester - Wellness concept, mixing exercise classes with healthy food Overdrawn, Ancoats General Store, Ancoats - Sketching workshop

Hobbs House Bakery, Bristol - Bread making workshop

I Can Make Shoes, London - Shoe making classes

Salvis’, Manchester - Pasta making master-classForm Lifestyle Store, Manchester - Floristry and clay jewellery workshopsKXU Wellness Hub, London - Boutique exercise studios

Flight Club, Nationwide - Social darts Junkyard Golf, Leeds Fred Aldous* , Leeds - Screen printing and candle workshops Redsmith Distillery, Nottingham - Gin school

255



 46 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

4256



 475plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.0 Town Centre Masterplan

257



 48 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.0 The Masterplan 
Overview

The masterplan aims to maximise the potential of 
the town centre area and outline a framework of 
development for under-utilised buildings and sites to 
create a distinctive and vibrant urban centre.

Key

1. Market Square
2. Drapery
3. Waterloo House
4. Emporium Way
5. Lady’s Lane
6. Greyfriars
7. Eastgate 
8. Fish Street
9. 30 St. Giles’ Street
10. 24 Guildhall Road
11. Swan Street
12. Albion Place
13. The Green
14. Heritage Gateway

The following pages will explore a range of 
development and urban design proposals, 
geared towards consolidating the retail core, 
growing the density of the town centre and 
nurturing an ecosystem for all kinds of urban life 
to flourish and expand.

These proposals are framed within five town 
centre Quarters:

 · Market Square
 · Greyfriars
 · Abington Street - Eastgate Quarter
 · The Cultural Quarter
 · Marefair

These Quarters have been defined partly by use 
but also by the study areas as outlined in the 
original brief, and their coming together based 
on geographical locations and connections to 
each other.

New open spaces, buildings, activated ground 
floor frontages, amenity space, circulation 
space, soft landscaping, active travel networks 
and improved town centre movement are all 
intended to enhance the existing town centre, 
inspire social inclusion, facilitate informal 
interaction, encourage people to linger and 
generally enrich community life, ultimately 
creating a welcoming user experience.

SPRING 
BOROUGHS

BECKET’S
PARK

14

13

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

11

9

8

10

12

SPRING 
BOROUGHS

NORTHAMPTON 
GENERAL 
HOSPITAL

BECKET’S
PARK

258



 495plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.0 The Masterplan 
Illustrative  Masterplan

259



 50 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

ABIN
GTON STREET

D
R

APERY

MERCERS  R
OW

SHEEP STREET

EM
PO

R
IU

M
  W

AY

8

9

4.1 Market Square
Overview

Market Square
The masterplan proposals focused 
within the Market Square area are 
principally concerned with four 
study areas:

 ·  Study Area 1: Market Square 
and Market Pavilion

 · Study Area 2: Drapery
 ·  Study Area 3: Waterloo House, 

Market Square
 · Study Area 4: Emporium Way

Existing Condition
Northampton’s Market Square is 
the historic and symbolic heart 
of the town centre. The square is 
surrounded by the historic building 
pattern of Drapery and Mercers 
Row along with The Grosvenor 
Centre and Market Walk shopping 
malls.

The square is occupied by a local 
traders market which has struggled 
to adapt to changing retail habits 
and trends, as have many of the 
surrounding retail units. The square 
also has other uses, as an event 
space for concerts and festivals.

The public realm throughout the 
square is tired and in need of an 
update.

Key Plan

Key

1. The Parish Church of 
All Saints

2. Market Walk 
Shopping Centre

3. The Grosvenor 
Centre

4. North Gate Bus 
Station

5. Debenhams
6. Corn Exchange
7. Belgrave House
8. Waterloo House
9. Market Square and 

Market Pavilion

260



 515plus | Northampton Borough Council

1 2

6 7

5

Precedents

1. Rejuvenation of 
the current market 
stalls to provide 
a more attractive   
and future-proofed 
platform for 
independent traders.

2. Introduce more 
restaurants and bars 
around the perimeter 
of the square.

3. Central pavilion for 
street food events, 
makers markets and 
special occasions.

4. Sensitive restoration, 
reuse and re-imaging 
of historic buildings 
and façades that 
enclose Market 
Square.

5. Waterloo House: 
Rebuild or refurbish 
into high quality 
landmark building.

6. Re-purpose upper 
floors as commercial 
space to bring a 
broader mix of 
activity into the heart 
of the town centre.

7. Market Square; an 
endlessly adaptable 
space, for commerce, 
social gatherings and 
civic events. 

4.1 Market Square
Identify Appropriate Uses

Market Square’s deep rooted function has 
always focused around commerce and trade. 
The four development opportunities in this 
area will reposition Market Square at the centre 
of a stronger, consolidated retail core and re-
establish the square as the heart of the town 
centre.

A. Market Square
Pivotal to the identity of the square is the 
market itself. Transforming the existing stalls to 
provide a smaller and more attractive platform 
for independent traders, will encourage greater 
footfall, bringing a new demographic into the 
square, while also freeing up space for other, 
concurrent functions, events and activities.

Responding to the notion that high street retail 
is tired and uninspiring, food retail reflects our 
desire for a more multifaceted experience, so a 
food and produce market pavilion is proposed 
in the square. This will support specialist traders, 
independent restaurants, bars and produce 
markets. The historic building façades that form 
the square will be given similar uses at ground 
floor, anchored around the traders, food and 
produce market pavilion, creating a vibrant 
ecosystem of supportive business. Above 
ground floors, spaces will be reconfigured to 
provide opportunities for workspaces. This also 
applies to Market Walk shopping mall, but on 
a larger scale, improving the way this building 
interacts with Market Square.

B. Drapery
Drapery will be revived as a key shopping area at 
the centre of the retail core. The unique buildings 
running down the eastern edge of Drapery allow 
ground floor units to trade all the way through 
to Market Square. This effectively extends the 
influence of Market Square to include all of 
Drapery and together they will generate greater 
footfall.

C. Waterloo House
A landmark building opportunity which straddles 
Market Square and Abington Street, providing 
much needed Grade A commercial office 
space within the town centre. A catalyst for the 
regeneration of Market Square.

D. Emporium Way
Removal of vacant buildings to open up 
Emporium Way, establishing new vistas between 
Market Square and Greyfriars and providing 
an improved landscaped route animated by 
additional market trader and retail frontages.

Proposed Uses

4

3

Key

  Retail / business workspace above ground floor

  Leisure / business workspace above ground floor

  Residential

  Religious

D
 R A

 P E R Y

A B I N
 G T O N   S T R E E T

G R E Y F R I A R S

M E R C E R ’ S   R O W

A

D

B

C

Piece Hall, Gillespies

South Molton Street, DSDHAAlex Monroe Workshop, DSDHA

The Corn Exchange, 5plus Architects

Farmers’ Market, Bengo Studio

Tallinn, Estonia

261



 52 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.1 Market Square
Public Uses

Northampton’s Market Square is one of the 
oldest public squares in the UK, with an 800 
year history as a market place. It must now 
reflect the town’s ambitions and aspirations 
for the future and be a catalyst for renewed 
town centre activity.

For Market Square to thrive into the future, it 
must provide unhindered access for all, use 
durable and high quality materials, provide new 
water features, introduce soft landscaping, 
integrate street furniture, create flexible 
performance space, allow people to linger, 
encourage 24 hour use, enable perimeter activity 
to spill out into the space, and attract new users.

A flexible programme of traders markets, 
seasonal festivals, cultural events and 
performances have been explored adjacent to 
demonstrate how adaptable the space must be 
and how intensively it can be used.

The space must excite and inspire. Specially 
commissioned public artwork will allow people 
to endlessly re-imagine the space, whilst 
generating a drive for greater tourism.

Art Installation, Trinity Square, Hull

Water Feature A more varied array of market stalls, combined 
with specialist trading days for food, drinks and 
crafts, will brings wider interest and greater 
footfall Market Square.

This can be seen at the Canopy Market in 
King’s Cross, as well as at Altrincham Market 
marketplace, which features general trading 
days in addition to dedicated craft, food and 
textile days. 

Traders MarketIntegrated water features enliven spaces on 
quieter days while remaining discrete and 
unobtrusive on busy trading days and during 
events. 

The fountains at Granary Square, King’s Cross 
illustrate an animated space, while the City 
Park Mirror Pool and Fountain in Bradford 
demonstrates how a flexible, fluid design can 
totally transform a public space.

Granary Square, King’s Cross Bradford City Park Canopy Market, King’s Cross Altrincham Market

262



 535plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.1 Market Square
Public Uses

Seasonal Events Seasonal events attract a wider demographic 
and greater footfall at a key trading time.

Winchester Christmas trading markets 
demonstrate how specific trading events can 
generate greater interest and revenue. 

Lancaster town square ice rink shows how 
seasonal amusements can attract the public to 
meet and enjoy a central communal space.

Amusements Temporary amusements attract a wider 
demographic from further afield. Specific 
amusement park attractions and stalls 
encourage a greater number of people to 
engage with Market Square.

The carousel in Bergamo, Italy encapsulates 
how specific attractions can transform a space. 
Street artists draw crowds, such as at Edinburgh 
Fringe.

Open-Air Cinema  
& Performances

Open-air cinemas and stages enable the Market 
Square to transition from day to night while 
continuing to attract a large number of visitors.

The Luna Cinema London highlights how 
cinema spaces can be flexible and adaptable. 
Temporary stages are multi-purpose and can 
be quickly erected and taken down as needed 
for specific events in and around the more 
commonly occurring market traders stalls.

Summer Screen, Somerset House Piece Hall, Halifax Christmas Markets, Winchester Ice Rink, Lancaster Hotel Ville, Paris Fringe Festival, Edinburgh

263



 54 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

Market Square is a central node that helps 
people to orientate themselves within the town 
centre. Bus users, shoppers and workers using 
the nearby car parks, all pass though the space 
upon arriving in the town centre. However, 
moving through the square is not always easy.

To establish better connections into and via the 
square, a movement network is proposed which 
utilises existing routes such as Abington Street 
and Mercers Row, in conjunction with new and 
improved connections including Sheep Street 
and Emporium Way leading to Greyfriars.

The sequence of movement across the 
square is prioritised along a desire-line running 
diagonally from the north-west corner down to 
the south-east corner. This primary route begins 
to define activity zones, and from it, secondary 
movement can occur as people disperse into 
the reconfigured traders market, food and 
produce market pavilion, or choose to travel 
around the perimeter of the square for more 
direct access to the Grosvenor Centre, periphery 
retailers and restaurants.

Along Drapery, the removal of traffic and bus 
stands will allow the street to become part of an 
active travel route, reconnecting the town centre 
with Sheep Street, forming new potential for 
north-south movement.

4.1 Market Square
Create New Public Routes

Proposed Public Routes

4

Precedents

1. Increased footfall 
through Market 
Square encouraged 
by events, specialist 
markets and renewed 
sense of place.

2. Creation of new 
green connections.

3. Discrete zoning 
for primary and 
secondary circulation, 
activities and 
servicing  to safely 
maximise flexibility 
and usability of the 
square.

4. A social transient 
space where people 
can dwell and soak 
up the atmosphere.

1

2

M E R C E R ’ S   R O W

A B I N
 G T O N   S T R E E T

G R E Y F R I A R S

3

Key

 Primary Thoroughfare

 Secondary Thoroughfare Israels Plads, COBE

Stroget Pedestrian Zone, Copenhagen

Place de Jaude, Atelier des Paysages Boulogne, Mutabilis Landscape Architecture

264



 555plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.1 Market Square
Create Hierarchy of Public Spaces

Market square is the most important public 
space in the whole of Northamptonshire, but its 
current appearance does not promote this fact. 
Extensive, high quality public realm regeneration 
is needed to bring the square back to its former 
glory and reinstate it’s civic value.

Improvements to the public realm must be 
historically sensitive in order to re-imagine 
the square in a way that is befitting of the 
architectural setting. Enhancements must 
complement the impressive building façades 
lining the square, as well as providing a flexible 
space for a year-round programme of events.

The square must cater for the broadest 
possible range of functions. It must be a 
flexible, multi purpose, adaptable square where 
complimentary uses create a critical mass of 
activity which sustains use and enjoyment of the 
space.

However, Market Square must also be a 
destination in its own right. It must provide a 
comfortable setting for people to meet, sit, 
chat, relax, make a call, on the occasions when 
markets and events are not scheduled. Quality 
surface treatments, lighting, seating, planting 
and public art are all necessary in achieving 
this, to establish a unique sense of place for the 
square. The inclusion of a water feature would 
further help animate the square, and serve as a 
poignant reference to the much loved but sadly 
lost, Market Square Fountain from 1863.

Mercers Row and Drapery will be characterised 
as transient spaces that allow people to flow 
with convenience, in and out of Market Square. 
Emporium Way should also provide this function,  
offering a route through to Greyfriars. However 
existing significant level changes and highways 
infrastructure will need to be addressed and 
reconfigured through detailed design proposals 
to realise this route.

Along Drapery, the goal is to create a healthier 
street by removing bus bays, restricting car 
movement and introducing an active travel 
route. Improvements to the public realm will see 
footpaths widened in anticipation of increased 
footfall as a result of the renewed retail offer, 
and different surface treatments will be used to 
balance the requirements of pedestrians with 
those of cyclists.

Proposed Public Spaces

3

Precedents

1. Market Square; an 
endlessly adaptable 
space, for commerce, 
social gatherings and 
civic events. 

2. High quality public 
realm that celebrates 
the significance of 
the Market Square 
and the civic value 
it brings to the 
people and place of 
Northampton.

3. Sensitive restoration 
and reinvention of the 
Market Square and 
its function.

1

2

D
 R A

 P E R Y

A B I N
 G T O N   S T R E E T

G R E Y F R I A R S

M E R C E R ’ S   R O W

Key

  Primary Public Open Space

  Transient or Shared Public Space

  Existing Trees

  Proposed Trees

Piece Hall, Gillespies

King’s Cross, Townshend Landscape Architects

The Voyage, BCA Landscape

265



 56 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

Market Square sits at the heart of the town 
centre and is the pinnacle of it’s consolidated 
retail core. It is therefore, the objective of the 
masterplan, to maximise active frontages at 
ground floors to all existing and new buildings 
to positively animate routes and prevent the 
creation of ‘dead’ spaces. This will include 
Drapery and Emporium way, leading to 
Greyfriars.

By consolidating the retail offer back into the 
heart of the town centre, vacant units will be 
filled and shopping streets will be completed, 
defining a more resilient and unified retail 
destination. It is in this location where experience 
led retail should feature more regularly, to help 
diversify Northampton’s town centre experience 
from that of other shopping destination in the 
region.

A rejuvenated traders market will generate 
its own activity, with shoppers and browsers 
mingling amongst new trading stalls, while the 
adjacent food and produce market pavilion, 
which will trade out from all sides, acts as a 
focal point within Market Square for social 
interactions.

Market Square will be surrounded on all sides by 
direct active frontage, provided by a combination 
of shops, restaurants and bars. This mix will 
ensure the square is active at all times of the day.

4.1 Market Square
Activate Frontages

1

2

5

4

Precedents

1. Rejuvenation of 
the current market 
to provide a more 
attractive and future-
proofed platform 
new businesses to 
establish themselves 
in the town centre.

2. Introduce more 
restaurants and bars 
around the perimeter 
of the square in a 
way that celebrates 
the historic façades.

3. Passive frontages 
can be introduced 
above ground floor 
with the creation 
of new town 
centre workspace 
opportunities.

4. Well designed, 
interactive market 
stalls can generate 
their own active 
frontages on a 
smaller, more 
intimate scale.

5. Emporium Way: retail 
frontage created 
along the route to 
create a dynamic 
transient route that is 
attractive to use.

3

Proposed Active Frontages

D
 R A

 P E R Y

A B I N
 G T O N   S T R E E T

G R E Y F R I A R S

M E R C E R ’ S   R O W

Key

  Passive Frontage

  Direct Frontage
Flourish, Manchester

Alex Monroe Workshop, DSDHA

Pop-Up Market, Appear HereBruges, Belgium

Piazza Navona, Rome

266



 575plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.1 Market Square
Access, Circulation & Ease of Use

For Market Square to succeed and flourish, it 
must be functional and universally accessible 
to all.

The landscape and public realm design must 
eliminate kerbs and changes in level to improve 
accessibility, giving people the freedom to 
roam and re-imagine the space to suit their 
own needs and imagination. The square must 
provide a sustainable and flexible platform, able 
to accommodate a broad range of community 
and commercial uses for years to come.

External lighting must be integrated into the 
floor, building façades and street furniture to 
avoid the use of lighting columns, which would 
restrict how the space is used, nor would it be 
historically authentic.

Ensuring Market Square is integrated within a 
wider movement and active travel network, with 
key routes passing by and through it, will mean 
the space is better connected and receives 
greater footfall. Improving visual connections 
to the square with the remodelling of Waterloo 
House, will create a more fitting vista for the long 
views down Abington Street and Mercers Row, 
signalling the entrance to the square.

Around the perimeter of the square is an 8 metre 
circulation and trading zone. This is divided into 
3 metres for external trading and restaurant 
seating, and 5 metres for general circulation, 
servicing and emergency vehicle access.

Outside of the square, Drapery is cleared of bus 
stands and traffic is only permitted after hours. 
Coupled with enhancements to public realm, 
these interventions will improve accessibility for 
pedestrians and support the revival of retail uses 
in the core of the town centre.

4

3

1

Precedents

1. Public realm 
and landscape 
design to allow 
maximum flexibility 
for temporary and 
seasonal events, 
markets and festivals.

2. Surface materials 
applied in a way 
which suggests 
zones for different 
activities.

3. Public realm 
designed to avoid 
kerbs and change 
in level to improve 
accessibility.

4. Shared surface public 
realm along Drapery 
to remove or control 
vehicle movement, 
de-clutter the street 
and re-establish 
shop-fronts as the 
focal point of the 
street.

Key

 Primary Thoroughfare

 Servicing and Access

  External Trading and Seating Zone

  Transient or Shared Public Space

  Landmark Building

2

Proposed Access

A B I N
 G T O N   S T R E E T

G R E Y F R I A R S

M E R C E R ’ S   R O W

Piece Hall, Gillespies Caruso  St. John, Stortorget, Kalmar

Bond Street, Publica

Music Boxes, Media City , BDP

267



 58 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.2 Greyfriars
Overview

Greyfriars
The masterplan proposals focused 
within the Greyfriars area are 
principally concerned with two 
study areas:

 ·  Study Area 5: Greyfriars Road
 · Study Area 6: Greyfriars

Existing Condition
The area was once the location 
of Northampton’s vast Greyfriars 
Bus Station. The building was 
originally conceived as part of the 
neighbouring Grosvenor Centre 
which opened in 1976, but fell 
into disrepair and was closed and 
demolished in 2015.

The site has sat dormant ever 
since, with numerous and varying 
proposals for the redevelopment of 
the brownfield land considered.

The site is bound by two major 
highways, and suffers from severe 
level changes, with pedestrian 
movement demoted to subways 
and underpasses. These poor 
quality thoroughfares are now 
considered unsafe and activity in 
the areas has been diminished. 
These poor connections have 
resulted in the northern part of the 
town centre becoming severed 
from the core.

Development Potential
Approximate new-build floorspace 

Residential
GIA = 65,500 m2 / 705,800 ft2

Leisure & Recreation
GIA = 65,500 m2 / 705,800 ft2

Commercial Office
GIA = 65,500 m2 / 705,800 ft2

Leisure & Recreation
GIA = 2,750 m2 / 29,600 ft2

Transport
GIA = 1,040 m2 / 11,190 ft2

Car Parking
GIA = 25,480 m2 / 274,350 ft2

Key Plan

DRAPERY

1

2

3

4

5

6
7

8

WOOD STREET

WELLINGTON STREET

ABIN
GTO

N S
TR

EE
T

SHEEP STREET

CHURCH L
AN

E

H
O

R
SE M

AR
K

ET

Key
1. The Grosvenor 

Centre
2. North Gate Bus 

Station
3. Corn Exchange
4. Belgrave House
5. Northampton 

Combined Crown 
and County Courts

6. The Church of the 
Holy Sepulchre

7. Northampton House
8. Market Square

268



 595plus | Northampton Borough Council

1

2 3

6

Precedents

1. Low to medium rise, 
urban residential 
development bringing 
residential use back 
into the town centre.

2. Connected 
neighbourhoods with 
access to spaces and 
facilities that promote 
active lifestyles and 
social interaction.

3. Shared external 
spaces providing 
passive surveillance. 

4. Residential 
neighbourhoods 
linked to cycle and 
footpath networks 
to encourage active 
travel.

5. New commercial or 
civic offices located 
with existing public 
service buildings.

6. New commercial or 
civic offices accessed 
by new, high quality 
public realm.

4.2 Greyfriars
Identify Appropriate Uses

Proposed Uses

5

4

The Greyfriars site presents a major opportunity 
for regeneration to Northampton’s town centre. 
This significant development opportunity can be 
used to bring much needed activity back into 
the town centre and at the same time reconnect 
the northern part of the town centre area with 
the core.

The masterplan seeks to introduce residential 
uses on a large scale to create a new urban 
neighbourhood, accompanied by intrinsic 
landscaping, a hierarchy of functional open 
spaces and movement corridors. Key to this 
will be a linear park, a major new piece of public 
realm with pockets of intensive landscaping in 
the town centre, running East to West along the 
rear edge of the Grosvenor Centre. The linear 
park will provide substantial outdoor space for 
the residential community, supporting improved 
mobility with new connections, social interaction 
with spaces to relax and come together and 
health and well-being with areas to exercise.

Commercial or Civic office space is proposed 
alongside the existing public service buildings on 
Victoria Street. Through this, the Greyfriars area 
will support a mixture of uses, providing more 
town centre employment opportunities and 
ensuring activity is spread throughout the day.
Redevelopment of the Mayorhold Multi-Storey 
Car Park is proposed. Currently underutilised, 
this car park can be reconfigured into a smaller 
footprint, unlocking a further development plot. 
Here, a leisure and recreation use building 
is proposed, providing the new town centre 
residents with facilities to support good 
standards of health and well-being.

Lastly, a bus and coach interchange is proposed 
that will provide additional capacity, capable 
of receiving buses which would normally stop 
along Drapery. This will allow Drapery to be bus 
free and re-establish itself as a high quality retail 
destination.

U P P E R  M O U N T’ S

C H U R C H   L A N E

W
 E L L I N

 G
 T O

 N
   S T R E E T

A B I N G T O N   S T R E E T

M A R K E T   S Q U A R E

S 
H

 E
 E

 P
   

S 
T 

R 
E 

E 
T

W
 O

 O
 D

   S T R E E T

V I C T O
 R I A   S T R E E T

L A D Y ’ S   L AN E

Key

  Office

  Retail

  Residential

  Leisure & Recreation

  Civic Services

  Car Parking

  Transport

Solingen, Scape Landschaftsarchitekten

Scottish Water, Reiach and Hall Architects 

King’s Cross, Townshend Landscape Architects Royal Wharf, Glenn Howells

Anderton, Collective Architecture

Kings Crescent Estate, Karakusevic Carson Architects

269



 60 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.2 Greyfriars
Create New Public Routes

Proposed Public Routes

2

4

3

Precedents

1. Transform Lady’s 
Lane into a boulevard 
with extensive 
planting and 
generous pathways.

2. Convenient and 
comfortable routes 
for walking and 
cycling. 

3. High quality public 
realm lining Lady’s 
Lane, which safely 
segregates different 
modes of transport.

4. Localised open 
spaces providing safe 
space for children’s 
play, external seating, 
social interaction and 
biodiversity.

1

The Greyfriars area is currently dominated by 
two major roads that carry fast moving traffic. 
The masterplan proposed the removal of one 
of these roads; Greyfriars. Detailed design 
proposals and traffic modelling will be needed at 
a later stage to unlock this proposal.

By omitting this road, a movement network of 
direct connections running North-South through 
the Greyfriars area can be formed, creating 
convenient and comfortable routes for walking 
and cycling that are punctuated by public open 
spaces.

This sequence of open spaces creates flexibility 
and gives people maximum choice in how to 
make their journey. 

Integration is also a key consideration. This new 
neighbourhood must connect and overlap with 
other areas to truly feel part of the town centre. 
Establishing primary thoroughfares though to 
Market Square and connecting to the emerging 
Eastgate Quarter via Wood Street will allow 
broader patterns of movement across a wider 
town centre area. 

U P P E R  M O U N T’ S

C H U R C H   L A N E

W
 E L L I N

 G
 T O

 N
   S T R E E T

A B I N G T O N   S T R E E T

M A R K E T   S Q U A R E

S 
H

 E
 E

 P
   

S 
T 

R 
E 

E 
T

L A D Y ’ S   L AN E

Key

 Primary Thoroughfare

 Secondary Thoroughfare

Eddington, Stanton Williams Passeig De St Joan Boulevard, Loa Domenech

Brentford Lock, Morris + Company

270



 615plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.2 Greyfriars
Create Hierarchy of Public Spaces

Proposed Public Spaces

1

4 5

Precedents

1. Quiet informal 
residential streets that 
nurture community 
interactions and form 
safe environments for 
doorstep play.

2. Employ an intrinsic 
landscape strategy 
for linear park, 
open spaces and 
movement corridors 
establishing a 
comprehensive 
integration of soft 
landscaping, water 
and high quality 
surface materials 
throughout the 
neighbourhood.

3. Residential tenant 
gardens offering 
private green amenity 
space.

4. Small areas 
dedicated to informal 
children’s play within 
walking distance and 
residential dwellings.

32

A new sequence of distinctive public spaces 
is proposed to run along the route of the 
former Greyfriars road to create a linear park. 
This landscaped space provides a buffer zone 
against the rear of the Grosvenor Centre and 
establish pockets of a continuous public realm 
which creates new possibilities for East-West 
movement. It is the intention to ensure all 
buildings have frontage onto the linear park.

At the heart of Greyfriars, distinguished by the 
positioning of a taller, landmark building, the 
linear park is at its widest, generating a central 
square, which will help to create a unique sense 
of place for the development.

Secondary spaces which operate as strong 
transient routes ensure clear and defined 
connections between key places in the 
town centre. For example, the opening up 
of Emporium Way and rationalisation of level 
changes and highways infrastructure which 
currently obstructs this route, will create new 
vistas which encourage movement between 
Greyfriars and Market Square.

The newly restored Wood Street can be 
configured to maintain servicing access to The 
Grosvenor Centre through its landscaping and 
establish a long view visual connection between 
Abington Street and the new offices buildings.

U P P E R  M O U N T’ S

C H U R C H   L A N E

W
 E L L I N

 G
 T O

 N
   S T R E E T

A B I N G T O N   S T R E E T

M A R K E T   S Q U A R E

S 
H

 E
 E

 P
   

S 
T 

R 
E 

E 
T

W
 O

 O
 D

   S T R E E T

V I C T O
 R I A   S T R E E T

L A D Y ’ S   L AN E

Key

  Primary Public Open Space

  Transient or Shared Public Space

  Private Residential Gardens

  Existing Trees

  Proposed Trees

Silchester Housing, Haworth Tompkins

King’s Cross, Stanton Williams

Silchester Housing, Haworth Tompkins

Silchester Housing, Haworth Tompkins

Television Centre, Gillespies

271



 62 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.2 Greyfriars
Activate Frontages

Proposed Active Frontages

1

5

4

2

3

Precedents

1. Provide good passive 
surveillance with 
the appropriate 
positioning of front 
doors, balconies 
and shared amenity 
spaces.

2. Residential entrance 
lobbies located on 
main thoroughfares 
and at key junctions.

3. Building forms 
used to define clear 
networks of route, 
with focal points 
denoting vistas and 
connections between 
places. 

4. Residential front 
doors, front gardens, 
external lighting 
and seating provide 
passive activity to 
residential streets.

5. Alternative 
commercial frontages 
that animate streets 
and provide local 
amenities and 
facilities to residents. 

6.  

U P P E R  M O U N T’ S

C H U R C H   L A N E

W
 E L L I N

 G
 T O

 N
   S T R E E T

A B I N G T O N   S T R E E T

M A R K E T   S Q U A R E

S 
H

 E
 E

 P
   

S 
T 

R 
E 

E 
T

W
 O

 O
 D

   S T R E E T

V I C T O
 R I A   S T R E E T

L A D Y ’ S   L AN E

The key objective for the development of the 
Greyfriars area is to improve the town centre’s 
North-South connectivity. The proposed routes 
must be convenient, convivial and comfortable. 
To ensure this is achieved, active frontages must 
be maximised across all ground floors to create 
no ‘dead’ routes or spaces. This is crucial to 
the success of the development as a residential 
neighbourhood and positive use of the streets.

Active frontages can be direct or passive; a cafe 
with spill-out spaces for tables and chairs or a 
residential lobby with a hot-desking business 
service all contribute to a positive reinforcement 
of the street.

It will not always be appropriate to provide truly 
active frontages in all ground floor locations. 
Where suitable, attractive and quality frontage 
treatments which contain central building 
facilities, such as cycle storage, can help elevate 
the appearance and use of a secondary or 

back streets. Facilities such as this, support 
active lifestyles and encourage health and well-
being amongst communities by providing the 
opportunity for social interactions.

Key

  Passive Frontage

  Direct Frontage
Kings Crescent Estate, Karakusevic Carson ArchitectsSilchester Housein, Haworth Tompkins

Barretts Grove, Groupwork Eddington, Stanton Williams

Pavilion Road, Stiff + Travillion

272



 635plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.2 Greyfriars
Access, Circulation & Ease of Use

Proposed Access

3 4

2

1

Precedents

1. Positive reinforcement 
of the street, with 
residential front doors 
and defensible space 
activating all parts 
of the street and 
eliminating ‘dead’ 
spaces.

2. Residential 
neighbourhoods 
linked to active 
travel networks with 
suitable communal 
facilities provided, of 
a high quality which 
promotes continued 
use.

3. Local amenities and 
facilities such as 
grocery shops and 
laundrettes within 
walking distance.

4. Connected 
neighbourhoods with 
access to spaces and 
facilities that promote 
active lifestyles and 
social interaction.

L A D Y ’ S   L AN E

U P P E R  M O U N T’ S

C H U R C H   L A N E

A B I N G T O N   S T R E E T

M A R K E T   S Q U A R E

S 
H

 E
 E

 P
   

S 
T 

R 
E 

E 
T

V I C T O
 R I A   S T R E E T

Redevelopment of the Greyfriars area provides  
the opportunity to re-establish old routes that 
have been destroyed or downgraded and 
improve movement through the area. In the 
case of Victoria Street and Sheep Street, giving 
priority to pedestrians and cyclists will ensure the 
town centre is stitched back together. Promoting 
movement along these routes will bring 
greater levels of footfall and improved activity, 
reinvigorating the vacant frontages, especially 
along Sheep Street.

A key component to creating a successful and 
sustainable residential neighbourhood is ease of 
movement. Local facilities bring people together, 
reinforce communities and discourage car use. 
To make this possible in the context of the 
town centre, integration must be achieved with 
neighbouring areas, with the continuation and 
extension of existing routes. Connecting and 
overlapping with existing movement networks 
will create harmonious transitions between 

places that are convenient and comfortable. The 
implementation of a linear park and cohesive 
landscaping is key to this in the Greyfriars area.
When dealing with obstacles, such as busy 
roads, it is important to ensure routes are 
convenient and directed. Raised table crossings 
are therefore proposed at key routes across 
Lady’s Lane to calm traffic and create safer and 
seamless pedestrian routes. Including signage 
and way-finding, especially around North Gate 
Bus Station, will also aid movement.

The inclusion of a new bus and coach 
interchanger, reconfiguration of highways, 
provision of cycle facilities and integration within 
a wide reaching movement network means 
Greyfriars can be accessed via multiple means.

Key

 Primary Thoroughfare

 Secondary Thoroughfare

 Traffic Movement

  Improved Pedestrian Crossing

 Servicing and Access

 Transport Interchange Bus Route

  Way-finding and Signage

Eddington, Stanton Williams

Eddington, Stanton Williams

Trafalgar Place, dRMM

The High Line, Diller Scofidio + Renfro

273



 64 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.3 Abington Street
Overview

Key Plan

Key

1. Northampton House
2. Grosvenor Centre
3. The Guildhall
4. Northamptonshire 

Central Library
5. City Building
6. BBC Radio 

Northampton
7. Northampton Quaker 

Meeting House and 
Garden

8. 71 - 77b Abington 
Street, Residential   
Conversion

9. 98-102 Abington   
Street Residential   
Conversion

10. 67 St. Giles’ Street 
residential new build

11. 30 St. Giles’ Street  
 

Abington Street
The masterplan proposals focusing 
around Abington Street will cover 
the following three study areas:

 ·  Study Area 7: Abington Street 
Residential Quarter - ‘Eastgate’

 · Study Area 8: Fish Street 
Regeneration and Landscape

 · Study Area 9: 30 St. Giles’ 
Street Co-Working Office

Existing Condition
Abington Street is one of the 
original historic axial routes 
through Northampton and today is 
recognised as the main high street 
in the town centre. Stretching from 
Market Square, past the Market 
Walk and Grosevnor Centre 
shopping malls, the street forms 
part of the town centre retail loop. 
The distance generous distance 
between buildings across the 
street creates an opportunity for 
significant public realm.

Beyond Wellington Street is where 
much of the town centre’s retail 
expansion has occurred and today 
is where the decline in retail is 
most apparent, with lower grade 
retail offerings and a high level of 
vacancies.

St. Giles’ Street offers a different 
retail experience and has thrived 
in contrast to Abington Street. 
However, trading conditions are 
becoming more difficult and footfall 
is dwindling. 

Fish Street is a pedestrianised 
route connecting Abington Street 
and St. Giles’ Street and could 
provide a lifeline for both by 
encouraging greater movement 
between the two destinations.

Development Potential
Approximate new-build floorspace 

Residential
GIA = 17,600 m2 / 189,460 ft2

ABINGTON STREET

1

2

3

W
O

O
D

 STR
EET

W
ELLIN

G
TO

N
 STR

EET

THE RIDINGS

ST. GILES’ STREET

CASTILIAN STREET

DYCHURCH LANE

4

5

6

7
8

9

10

11

274



 655plus | Northampton Borough Council

1

7

4.3 Abington Street
Identify Appropriate Uses

Proposed Uses

2

Precedents

1. Low to medium rise, 
urban residential 
development bringing 
residential use back 
into the town centre.

2. Consolidation of 
retail along Abington 
Street to create an 
attractive, south 
facing streetscape, 
occupied by 
alternative leisure 
uses.

3. High quality, existing 
heritage buildings 
along Abington Street 
to be re-purposed 
as residential 
conversions with 
alternative uses at 
ground floor.

4. Urban 
neighbourhood with 
residential front doors 
addressing the street.

5. Planning application 
for residential 
conversion on 
Abington Street 
already helping to re-
establish residential 
use in the town 
centre.

6. Consider alternative 
residential uses for 
above ground floor 
spaces 

7. Consider alternative 
uses for above 
ground floor spaces. 
Refurbish and re-
brand the vacant 
office building at 
24-30 St. Giles Street 
as a hub for start-up 
businesses. 

The development opportunities around Abington 
Street can help redefine this struggling part of 
the town centre as a residential neighbourhood 
known as the Eastgate Quarter. 

Other complimentary uses are proposed 
alongside residential, allowing public, private and 
work life to coexist making Eastgate an attractive 
destination for visitors as well as locals.

A. Abington Street
The existing retail uses along Abington Street 
are redundant. The large format retail units once 
occupied by the likes of Marks & Spencer are 
surplus to requirements and by their very nature 
will be difficult to reuse. 

Introducing further residential uses to this 
area, would increase the existing and planned 
residential developments, supporting the 
creation of a new town centre neighbourhood 
which will begin to address the need to increase 
the town centre’s residential population. 

B. Fish Street
Fish Street is characterised by its leisure and 
food and beverage scene. Building on this 
existing offer will be crucial to improving the 
activity and use of the street as a mediator 
between Abington Street and St. Giles’ Street. 
Building refurbishments, such as the unit on the 
corner of Fish Street and Dychurch Lane, should 
be explored to encourage new and exciting 
tenants to settle in the area.

C. 30 St. Giles’ Streets
This particular building is somewhat typical of 
the town centre, with a mixture of mismatched 
retailers at ground floor and vacant commercial 
space above. 

Encouraging a higher quality retail offer at ground 
floor will help bring about positive change to 
the standard of shops in the core of the town. 
An emphasis on independent traders will help 
formulate a new identity based on a unique retail 
experience.

Above the ground floor, alternative uses such 
as residential, and in the case of 30 St. Giles’ 
Street, commercial office space are proposed. 
Refurbishing vacant upper floors as homes and 
start-up business spaces would embed day-
long activity in to the town centre. 

A B I N
 G T O N   S T R E E T

L O W E R   M O U N T S

F I S H   S T R E E T

S T .  G I L E S ‘   S T R E E T

T H E   R I D I N G S

H
 A

 Z E L W
 O

 O
 D

   R O
 A

 D

D E R N G A T E

S T .  G
 I L E S ‘   T E R R A C E

W
 O

 O
 D

   S T R E E T

W
 E L L I N

 G
 T O

 N
    S T R E E T

W
 O

 O
 D

   S T R E E T

A

B

C

Key

  New Build Residential Use

  Residential change of use / new build residential  
   development in planning

  Proposed future residential change of use  
  

  Re-purposed building, Co-working spaces for  
   start-up businesses

5

4

6

3 Church Lukas

Eddington, Stanton Williams

Swirl Court, RHP

30 St. Giles’ Street, Northampton

275



 66 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

The eastern end of Abington Street is a 
busy pedestrian route, influenced by the few 
remaining shops that occupy the street. The 
street is also shared with vehicles, with a one 
way system feeding traffic from St Giles’ Terrace 
through to Wellington Street. This traffic is light 
and slow moving, controlled by the pedestrian 
focused public realm.

The proposals seek to maintain the hierarchy of 
Abington Street as a major and well established 
East-West thoroughfare, and from this increase 
the opportunities for North-South permeability. 
Here, alternative routes of travel will allow the 
high rates of footfall experienced on Abington 
Street to funnel into neighbouring areas and 
generate a wider reaching impact across the 
town centre. Improvements to Fish Street are 
key to unlocking this. Enhancing the quality of 
the public realm along this existing connection 
will reposition Fish Street’s hierarchy as principle 
North-South route. Continuation of the public 
realm must then be applied to the reinstated 
Wood Street, ensuring a continuous route from 
the Cultural Quarter, through the heart of the 
town centre and up to Greyfriars is achieved.

From these primary thoroughfares, secondary 
route networks emerge with different characters. 
Spaces orientated towards quieter residential 
communities and back streets providing 
alternative retail and leisure experiences will 
provide distinction from the conventional town 
centre high street.

By ensuring these routes support active travel 
and priorities pedestrian and cyclist movement, 
greater town centre mobility will be achieved.

4.3 Abington Street
Create New Public Routes

Proposed Public Routes

L O W E R   M O U N T S

T H E   R I D I N G S

H
 A

 Z E L W
 O

 O
 D

   R O
 A

 D

D E R N G A T E

S T .  G
 I L E S ‘   T E R R A C E

W
 O

 O
 D

   S T R E E T

1

2

4

3

Precedents

1. Residential streets 
that prioritise 
pedestrian and cyclist 
movement and active 
travel alternatives.

2. Complete the 
shared surface 
along Abington 
Street to include 
Wellington Street to 
extend North-South 
connectivity.

3. Regeneration of 
existing public 
realm to incorporate 
dynamic lighting and 
artwork to create 
destinations out of 
overlooked routes 
and spaces.

4. Create green 
pedestrian links with 
animated frontages 
which give people 
more reason to us 
and experience the 
area.

Key

 Primary Thoroughfare

 Secondary Thoroughfare

Foregate Street, Chester

Saxon Court, Maccreanor Lavington

Eddington, Stanton Williams

Oxford Street, London

276



 675plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.3 Abington Street
Create Hierarchy of Public Spaces

Abington Street acts as a spine allowing 
people to funnel into the Eastgate Quarter 
from neighbouring areas of the town centre. 
Secondary streets and spaces, such as The 
Riding Arcade, will allow greater permeability 
into a new movement network which will bring 
activity to a areas currently dominated by lifeless 
service yards and back streets. 

Characterful residential streets will form a 
backdrop to informal doorstep play and soft 
landscaping, where good passive surveillance is 
provided with the appropriate positioning of front 
doors, balconies and shared amenity spaces.

In residential areas, alternative parking solutions 
should be considered to enable the fronts of 
houses to be free from parking. Mews houses, 
or in-set garages can allow streets to be more 
welcoming to pedestrians and cyclists and give 
more opportunity for soft landscaping. 

Establishing these networks of positive and safe 
public spaces, linking into spaces such as the 
Greyfriars linear park, will ensure the delivery of 
an inclusive and cohesive town centre which 
encourages greater social integration.

Proposed Public Spaces

A B I N
 G T O N   S T R E E T

L O W E R   M O U N T S

F I S H   S T R E E T

S T .  G I L E S ‘   S T R E E T

T H E   R I D I N G S

H
 A

 Z E L W
 O

 O
 D

   R O
 A

 D

D E R N G A T E

S T .  G
 I L E S ‘   T E R R A C E

W
 O

 O
 D

   S T R E E T

W
 E L L I N

 G
 T O

 N
    S T R E E T

W
 O

 O
 D

   S T R E E T

1 2

3

4 5

Precedents

1. Create new 
destinations using 
existing public spaces 
and rejuvenating 
them with exciting, 
experience lead uses.

2. Well connected 
residential 
neighbourhoods, 
with access to open 
space.

3. Streets designed 
to be flexible and 
vibrant with activity by 
giving space back to 
people.

4. Integration of green 
infrastructure into 
streets.

5. Pedestrian only 
spaces, where 
people feel 
comfortable dwelling 
for extended periods 
of time.

Key

  Primary Public Open Space

  Transient or Shared Public Space

  Private Residential Gardens

  Existing Trees

  Proposed Trees

Rope Works, Liverpool Chobham Manor, Haworth Tompkins

Bad Salzuflen, scape Landschaftsarchitekten

277



 68 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

The objective of the residential development 
plots is to maximise the active frontages at 
ground floor to create no ‘dead’ routes or 
spaces. This is crucial to the success of the 
residential neighbourhood in ensuring a safe 
and secure environment is established that is 
welcoming and pleasant to use. 

Within the residential streets, passive surveillance 
will be created through ground floor living 
accommodation with front doors addressing 
the street and where possible outdoor amenity 
space in the form of tenant gardens and private 
balconies.

It will not always be appropriate to provide 
residential front doors in all ground floor 
locations. Where suitable, alternative uses 
should accommodate ground floor spaces 
to bring social activity to the streets. Leisure, 
alongside food and beverage will help support 
an evening economy for the Eastgate Quarter 
which will benefit the town centre as a whole.

4.3 Abington Street
Active Frontages

A B I N
 G T O N   S T R E E T

L O W E R   M O U N T S

S T .  G I L E S ‘   S T R E E T

T H E   R I D I N G S

H
 A

 Z E L W
 O

 O
 D

   R O
 A

 D

D E R N G A T E

S T .  G
 I L E S ‘   T E R R A C E

W
 O

 O
 D

   S T R E E T

W
 E L L I N

 G
 T O

 N
    S T R E E T

W
 O

 O
 D

   S T R E E T

1

3

Precedents

1. Primary frontages 
on Abington Street 
working with the 
public realm to 
give hierarchy to 
pedestrian activity.

2. Primary ground floor 
active frontages 
along key pedestrian 
routes of Abington 
Street and Fish Street 
geared towards 
leisure and restaurant 
trade.

3. Eastgate Quarter 
residential streets 
providing good 
passive surveillance 
onto streets, routes 
and spaces.

Proposed Active Frontages

2

Key

  Passive Frontage

  Direct Frontage
Eddington, Stanton Williams

Dray Walk, Shorditch

278



 695plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.3 Abington Street
Access, Circulation & Ease of Use

Establishing residential use in this new location 
will begin to break down the perception of the 
town centre boundary by creating stronger 
connections with the neighbouring communities 
beyond the ring road.

Connectivity is the key to creating a harmonious 
residential neighbourhood. With a wide range 
of town centre facilities available in walking 
distance, in the long term, town centre living 
can reduce the dependence on car ownership. 
To make this possible, establishing pedestrian 
and cycle friendly routes that support better 
standards of health and well-being through 
active travel, with safe and legible access 
throughout the town centre, will help create a 
sustainable urban environment.

Along Abington Street, public realm alterations 
are needed to accommodate external seating 
for restaurants as well as providing sufficient 
circulation for pedestrians to pass naturally 
without feeling hemmed in. However, as the 
street is designed for low speed, pedestrians, 
cyclists and vehicles can mix and occupy the 
entire street safely.

Further improvements to public realm, including 
surface materials and pathways, are also 
proposed to demonstrate how the public realm 
of the town centre can be enhanced and woven 
together to form a wide reaching and coherent 
pedestrian realm. This will support greater town 
centre mobility by informing new and varied 
connections that pass into and through the 
Eastgate Quarter.

3 4

2

Precedents

1. Connected 
neighbourhoods with 
access to spaces and 
facilities that promote 
active lifestyles and 
social interaction.

2. Residential 
neighbourhoods 
linked to cycle and 
footpath networks 
to encourage active 
travel.

3. Generous pavements 
that allow natural 
and comfortable 
movement alongside 
external trading.

4. Where different 
modes of transport 
occupy the same 
street, ensure 
safe separation is 
maintained without 
compromising the 
quality of the space.

Proposed Access

1

L O W E R   M O U N T S

H
 A

 Z E L W
 O

 O
 D

   R O
 A

 D

D E R N G A T E

S T .  G
 I L E S ‘   T E R R A C E

W
 O

 O
 D

   S T R E E T

Key

 Primary Thoroughfare

 Secondary Thoroughfare

 Servicing  and Access

  External Trading and Seating ZoneBond Street, Publica

Eddington, Stanton Williams

Marmalade Lane, Mole Architects

279



 70 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

ANGEL STREET

D
ER

N
G

ATE

ALBIO
N PLACE

GUILD
HALL

 R
OAD

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

910

11

12

4.4 The Cultural Quarter
Overview

The Cultural Quarter
The masterplan proposals focused 
within the Cultural Quarter will 
cover the following three study 
areas:

 ·  Study Area 10: 24 Guildhall 
Road

 · Study Area 11: Swan Street 
Site

 ·  Study Area 12: Albion Place 
Site

Existing Condition
Northampton’s Cultural Quarter 
was established in 2013. The 
initiative, backed by Northampton 
Borough Council, looked to 
establish an area of the town 
centre, bounded by Guildhall Road 
and Derngate, as a centre for arts 
and creative industries.

The quarter is home to 
Northampton Museum and Art 
Gallery, the Royal & Derngate 
Theatre, NN Contemporary Art, 
Northampton Filmhouse, 78 
Derngate designed by Charles 
Rennie Mackintosh and an array 
of independent bars, restaurants, 
boutique retailers and hotels.

Significant investment in the area 
will see renovation and extension 
works to Northampton Museum 
and Art Gallery complete in spring 
2020. This is alongside a new 
creative workspace supporting 
100 small businesses in the Grade 
II listed Vulcan Works, completing 
in autumn 2020, and The Guild 
Hotel and Restaurant, a renovation 
of two Edwardian town-houses 
into 13 boutique hotel suites, also 
completing in 2020.

Development Potential
Approximate new-build floorspace 

Office /  Hotel / Residential
GIA = 2,100 m2 / 22,700 ft2

Key Plan

Key

1. The Royal & 
Derngate Theatre

2. One Angel Square
3. St. John’s Multi 

Storey Car Park
4. Premier Inn Hotel
5. Northampton 

Museum and Art 
Gallery 

6. Vulcan Works
7. St. John’s Hall of 

Residence
8. Northampton 

Filmhouse
9. The Guild Hotel and 

Restaurant
10. 10 24 Guildhall road
11. Swan Street Site
12. Albion Place Site

280



 715plus | Northampton Borough Council

2 3

4

5

Precedents

1. Modern, high 
quality and flexible 
commercial office 
space.

2. Reuse of existing 
buildings to create 
characterful and 
creative workspaces.

3. Reuse of existing 
buildings to retain 
character and sense 
of place.

4. Flexible commercial 
office space.

5. Quality, high-end 
residential dwellings, 
in keeping with 
character of the 
Albion Place setting.

6. Boutique, high end 
hotel addressing 
Albion Place.

4.4 The Cultural Quarter
Identify Appropriate Uses

The Cultural Quarter plays a major role, providing 
diversity to what the town centre has to offer. 
Development opportunities will expand this, by 
identifying a variety of active uses for gap sites to 
further broaden the area’s appeal.

A. 24 Guildhall Road
The building stands dominant but unused, 
despite being a fundamental part of the Cultural 
Quarter’s historic urban grain. The former 
County Council office building must find a new 
purpose to ensure its future and the sustainable 
growth of the Cultural Quarter.

Currently Northampton Museum and Art 
Gallery, The Royal & Derogate Theatre and 
NN Contemporary Art are the main source of 
trade for the Cultural Quarter, with the soon to 
be completed Vulcan Works introducing a new 
complementary creative business model. 

Subject to the success and demand of Vulcan 
Works, 24 Guildhall Road could be refurbished 
to offer a similar creative workplace. Alternatively, 
a suitable public service, such as a new home 
for Northamptonshire Central Library, would 
introduce different members of the community 
to the Cultural Quarter.

B. Swan Street
As the profile of the Cultural Quarter continues 
to grow, its popularity as a workplace setting will 
grow also. Therefore the Swan Street site is an 
ideal location for a proposed flexible commercial 
office space. This begins to develop a critical 
mass of cultural, social, leisure and business 
uses.

C. Albion Place
Responding to the context, history and 
character of Albion Place, there are a range of 
suitable uses that can be considered for this 
site. These uses include: high end residential 
reflecting the historic typology of the street, small 
business premises to tie in with the surrounding 
uses, or leisure and hospitality in the form of a 
boutique hotel to diversify the current hotel offer 
within the Cultural Quarter.

D. Northampton Museum and Art Gallery
£6.7m refurbishment, including café and link 
space, along with a new shoe gallery.

E. Vulcan Works
New creative workspace supporting 100 small 
businesses in the Grade II listed Vulcan Works.

Proposed Uses

1

6

Key

  Re-purpose existing building for Cultural/Civic/ 
   Office uses

  New buildings to infill empty sites, Office/Hotel/ 
   Residential uses

  Current Significant Cultural Quarter   
   Developments

S T.  G I L E S  S T R E E T

D E R N G A T EG
 U

 I L D
 H

 A
 L L   R O

 A
 D

A
 L B I O

 N
   P L A

 C E

S W
 A

 N
   S T R E E T

V I C T O R A   P R O M E N A D E

A

B

C

E

D

First Choice Homes, 5plus Architects

Willesden Lane, 5plus Architects Jason Atherton Restaurant, Neri & Hu

Hilton Square, q2 architects

Hardwick Street, Morris + CompanyCurtain Road, Morris + Company

281



 72 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

1

2

4 5

The Cultural Quarter connects the core of the 
town centre with the South-Eastern fringe of the 
town centre boundary. Acting as a gateway to 
and from the University campus and Becket’s 
Park, it has an important role to play when 
addressing the design principles of cohesion 
and movement.

The existing primary thoroughfare of Guildhall 
Road provides a good North-South link, 
however alternatives, including Albion Place and 
Derngate, can also be prioritised to influence 
movement of people into broader parts of the 
town centre.

Within the Cultural Quarter itself, secondary 
routes running East to West can also be 
unlocked to increase activity through his area.

In order to create a more permeable network 
of pedestrian and cycle route, several 
improvements need to be made, including:

 · The continuation of quality public realm 
beyond Guildhall Road to unify the Cultural 
Quarters sense of place. 

 · The improvement of street lighting to 
improve the perception of safety and night-
time activity.

 · The activation of frontages to animate routes. 

These interventions will see permeability 
improved and pedestrian movement prioritised 
by offering more viable and engaging ways to 
navigate this part of the town centre.

Precedents

1. Reanimate streets by 
removing cars and 
highway features to 
create spaces for 
people to dwell and 
interact.

2. Landscape design 
incorporating 
combined shared 
surface and 
pedestrianisation.

3. Extension of existing 
quality public realm 
along Guildhall Road.

4. Integrated street, 
building and 
monument lighting

5. Pedestrian and cyclist 
orientated public 
realm.

4.4 The Cultural Quarter
Create New Public Routes

Proposed Public Routes

S T .   G I L E S ’   S T R E E T

D E R N G A T E

V I C T O R A   P R O M E N A D E

3

Key

 Primary Thoroughfare

 Secondary Thoroughfare

Guildhall Road, NorthamptonExhibition Road,  Dixon Jones

282



 735plus | Northampton Borough Council

1 2

4

3

Precedents

1. Quality public realm 
addressed by active 
frontages.

2. Social spaces which 
combine seating with 
planting.

3. Public space for 
events, social 
interactions and 
collaboration.

4. Flexible public 
space which reflects 
the character and 
values of the Cultural 
Quarter.

4.4 The Cultural Quarter
Create Hierarchy of Public Spaces

The Cultural Quarter lacks any significant public 
space for events or social gatherings. As its own 
distinct and identifiable destination within the 
town centre, characterised by creative industries 
and institutions, it deserves its own civic space.  

The main thoroughfares through the Cultural 
Quarter are very hard environments, lacking 
trees and other types of vegetation. Creating 
greener streets and urban spaces will generate 
a more uplifting setting and enhanced user 
experience that will encourage more people to 
engage with the Cultural Quarter. Furthermore, 
these changes will support improvements to 
town centre biodiversity and support efforts to 
tackle air quality and pollution. 

In order to establish a hierarchy of distinctive 
pubic spaces, several improvements need to be 
made, including:

A. Extending the successful pedestrian focused 
streetscape achieved on Guildhall Road to 
the rest of the Cultural Quarter.

B. Re-landscaping the lower part of Guild Hall 
Road to match the quality and character of 
the public realm experience further up the 
street.

C. Introducing a shared surface (access only for 
vehicles) route along the northern section of 
Swan Street to give hierarchy to pedestrians.

D. Creating an intimate public space off Swan 
Street will improve the setting and frontage 
to the Premier Inn hotel and Swan Street 
commercial office development opportunity.

E. Enhance and maintain existing landscape 
features such as the mature trees and 
planting on the corner of Guildhall Road and 
St. John’s Street.

F. Improve the external arrival setting for 
the Angel Street entrance to the Royal & 
Derngate Theatre.

Proposed Public Spaces

1

S T.  G I L E S  S T R E E T

D E R N G A T E

V I C T O R A   P R O M E N A D E

A
 L B I O

 N
   P L A

 C E

S W
 A

 N
   S T R E E T

DC

A

B

E

F

Key

  Primary Public Open Space

  Transient or Shared Public Space

  Existing Trees

  Proposed Trees

Saddler’s Yard, Planit-ie

Oakland Museum Event Space, Jensen Architects

283



 74 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

1

5

6

3

A key ingredient to making successful 
development is activity. Activity can be direct or 
passive; a cafe with spill-out spaces for tables 
and chairs or a residential lobby with a hot-
desking business service. 

The objective of the development plots is to 
maximise the active frontages at ground floor 
and to create no ‘dead’ routes or spaces. 

Active frontages are therefore proposed to 
all ground floors of key routes including the 
proposed open public spaces, Guildhall Road 
and Albion Place.

Precedents

1. Cafés and restaurants 
trading out to animate 
the street.

2. Legible and 
recognisable 
entrances with glazed 
elements to allow for 
good levels of passive 
visibility between 
inside and out.

3. New buildings that 
reinforce the street 
edge in keeping with 
the existing urban 
grain.

4. Visible and animated 
entrance lobbies and 
receptions.

5. Activation of 
secondary façades 
with re-imagined 
openings, 
fenestrations and 
entrances

6. Contemporary design 
proposals that adapt 
historic façades to 
address the street.

4.4 The Cultural Quarter
Activate Frontages

Proposed Active Frontages

S T.  G I L E S  S T R E E T

D E R N G A T EG
 U

 I L D
 H

 A
 L L   R O

 A
 D

A
 L B I O

 N
   P L A

 C E

S W
 A

 N
   S T R E E T

V I C T O R A   P R O M E N A D E

2

4

Key

  Passive Frontage

  Direct Frontage

The Hive, 5plus Architects

Flourish, Manchester

COBE, Kaffe

Theatre,  drozdov&partners

Marseilles Docks, 5+1AA Alfonso Femia Gianluca Peluffo

284



 755plus | Northampton Borough Council

2 3

4

5

Precedents

1. Streetscapes that 
prioritise pedestrian 
and cycle movement 
over motor vehicles.

2. Integrated cycle 
infrastructure that 
creates seamless and 
safe cycle routes.

3. Quality and 
characterful street 
signage and way-
finding.

4. Pedestrian crossings 
that utilise landscape 
design to priorities 
pedestrian movement  
by calming traffic.

5. Prominent pedestrian 
crossings which 
prioritises pedestrian 
movement.

6. Green buffers to 
ensure sufficient and 
safe separation of 
different road users.

4.4 The Cultural Quarter
Access, Circulation & Ease of Use

Proposed Access Guildhall Road and Swan Street form the main 
routes of access through the Cultural Quarter 
and should be included as part of a town centre 
wide pedestrian and cycle network. 

This primary route will allow for safer and 
more legible movement through the Cultural 
Quarter and enable active travel to and from the 
University campus and Becket’s Park. This will 
establish the Cultural Quarter as a gateway and 
connective element into the town centre.

The implementation of a pedestrian and cycle 
network must consider localised strategic 
interventions to address existing streetscapes 
and interfaces with vehicular routes. These 
include:

A. The upgrading of the ring road pedestrian 
crossings to strengthen the physical 
connection with the University and Beckets 
Park, improve the perception of safety by 
making the crossing feel less car dominated 
and ultimately improve the pedestrian 
experience.

B. Making the lower part of Swan Street more 
pedestrian focused by reducing the road 
width where possible, improving surface 
materials and adding trees and planting.

C. Improving signage and way-finding in 
and around the Cultural Quarter to further 
establish it’s identity, and improve publicity of 
the area, promoting its unique and creative 
activities.  

D. Improving the sense of safety and security 
by providing more passive surveillance and 
enhancing external lighting.

1

6

S T.  G I L E S  S T R E E T

D E R N G A T E

V I C T O R A   P R O M E N A D E

A

A

C

C

D

C

C

B

D
D

D

Key

 Primary Thoroughfare

 Secondary Thoroughfare

  Improved Pedestrian Crossing

  Way-finding and Signage

  External Trading and Seating Zone

Passeig De St Joan Boulevard, Loa Domenech

Quakers Friars, Bristol

Bahnhofplatz Aachen, HH+F Architekten Hentrup Heyes + Fuhrmann

Vester Voldgade, Copenhagen

285



 76 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.5 Marefair
Overview

Key Plan

Marefair
The masterplan proposals focusing 
around Marefair will cover the 
following two study areas:

 ·  Study Area 13: South Marefair 
Residential Quarter - ‘The 
Green’

 · Study Area 14: Former Castle 
House Site, Marefair

Existing Condition
Marefair forms an important 
gateway for visitors and 
commuters accessing the town 
centre by train. 

At present Marefair, and further 
along the route, Gold Street, 
struggle to convey how important 
their relationship with the town 
centre is. They lack the same 
sense of quality and prestige which 
is on offer in the town centre, due 
to vacant sites, empty shops and 
low grade retailers along each 
street.

Marefair also acts as a southern 
gateway into the Spring Boroughs 
neighbourhood. This large 
residential community on the edge 
of the town centre has developed 
a neighbourhood plan which sets 
out policies to shape the future 
development of the area. 

This area also hosts a number of 
important heritage sites including, 
St Peter’s Church, remains of 
Northampton Castle and the 
Grade II listed Old Black Lion Pub.

Development Potential
Approximate new-build floorspace 

Residential
GIA = 17,750 m2 / 191,110 ft2

3

M
AREFAIR

1

2

5

6

4

7

GOLD STREET

DRAPERY

HORSE MARKET

ST. 
PETER’S W

AY

CHALK LANE

ST. M
ARY’S STREET8

10

9

Key

1. Northampton Railway 
Station

2. University of 
Northampton 
Innovation Centre

3. Sol Centre
4. The Parish Church of 

All Saints
5. St. Peter’s Church
6. The Black Lion Pub
7. Northampton Castle 

Walk
8. Waterside Enterprise 

Zone
9. Heritage gateway
10. The Green 

- residential 
neighbourhood

286



 775plus | Northampton Borough Council

1 2

3

4 5

Marefair is a key gateway into the town centre, 
and therefore must offer a strong and welcoming 
first impression. The development opportunities 
along Marefair will introduce complimentary 
uses that respond to the immediate context 
by enhancing the many historic sites, as well 
as reinforcing the residential uses of the Spring 
Boroughs neighbourhood.

A. The Green
The area south of Marefair, is comprised of 
two surface car parks surrounded by small 
industrial businesses and low rise residential 
streets, and as a result feels fragmented and 
ill-defined. Introducing further residential use will 
help create a more established neighbourhood 
around the existing dwellings, and improve the 
security of the area by providing greater levels 
of surveillance to the surrounding streets. The 
creation of a safe urban environment for families 
will give new purpose to the open green space 
behind St. Peter’s Church.

B. Marefair
Marefair must generate a good first impression 
for visitors to the town centre. The vacant Castle 
House site and adjoining surface car parks 
present a significant opportunity to create a 
meaningful heritage gateway development, with 
a park space, that highlights and celebrates the 
important historic sites in the vicinity. 

Projects have already been proposed to help 
realise the heritage gateway. The Churches 
Conservation Trust aim to renovate and 
re-purpose the listed Black Lion pub and 
neighbouring St. Peters Church into a heritage 
visitors centre.

On the Castle House site, a medium scale 
residential building, which reinforces the historic 
Marefair streetscape and addresses a new 
park with links to the castle remains, will help 
to reinforce this gateway in parallel with other 
projects.

C. Four Waterside Enterprise Zone
The Four Waterside Enterprise Zone sits 
outside of the detailed masterplan study 
scope, but presents a significant gateway 
development opportunity to provide high quality 
commercial office space and therefore must 
be acknowledged alongside the emerging 
proposals for the area.

This opportunity to create a new, high quality 
business destination in the East Midlands will 
stimulate economic growth and bring more 
visitors to the town. 
Key

     New Build Residential Use

   New Heritage Visitors Centre

   Four Waterside Enterprise Zone

Precedents

1. Residential front 
doors with defensible 
space addressing the 
street.

2. Shared external 
spaces with passive 
surveillance.

3. Positive 
reinforcement and 
activation of the 
street.

4. Private and semi-
private external 
amenity space. 

5. Cohesive residential 
neighbourhoods with 
streets designed for 
people rather than 
cars.

4.5 Marefair
Identify Appropriate Uses

Proposed Uses

G O L D   S T R E E TM A R E F A I R

H
 O

 R S E    M
 A

 R K E T 

S T.   P E T E R’ S   W A Y

B

A

C

Great Eastern, Karakusevic Carson Architects 

Oxygen, 5plus Architects

Brentford Lock West, Mikhail Riches Social Housing, FRES Architectes

287



5plus | Northampton Borough Council

1880s Present Day1960s

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 m

1880

Jun 04, 2019 12:16
Sam Sayle
Nottingham Trent
University

Projection: British National Grid

Scale 1:1250

© Landmark Information Group Ltd and Crown copyright 2019. FOR EDUCATIONAL USE ONLY.

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 m

1960

Jun 04, 2019 12:26
Sam Sayle
Nottingham Trent
University

Projection: British National Grid

Scale 1:1250

© Landmark Information Group Ltd and Crown copyright 2019. FOR EDUCATIONAL USE ONLY.

4.5 Marefair
Historic Routes

The Victorians brought the first railway station 
to Northampton in 1845. This was followed by 
the opening of Castle Station in 1859 which 
was unfortunately built over part of the historic 
Northampton Castle site. In the 1880s, the 
station was extended to create a good depot 
and caused further damage to the castle.

The national significance of buildings on the site 
has always been present, with St. Peters Church 
being a Grade I listed building. It is said that the 
Victorians opened up the back of the St. Peters 
Church, in order to give it a more pleasant 
setting. The church also sits within a scheduled 
ancient monument, a former Saxon palace, 
and is seen as “the most outstanding Norman 
church in the county”.

Between the 1920’s to 1960s, a large area of 
terraced streets was cleared in order to create 
St. Peters Way which now forms part of the 
town centre ring road. This extensive remodelling 
of the area’s urban form was in direct response 
to the growing trend in car use and ownership.

With the opening of the M1 motorway, south-
west of the town centre, this helped transform 
Northampton into a commuter town for workers 
based in London.

With greater mobility provided by car ownership, 
many people moved away from the crowded 
town centre and into the residential suburbs. 
With people still needing to access the town 
centre, derelict areas were cleared to make way 
for car parks.

 78

Today, there are several sites in the vicinity of 
Marefair which provide surface car parking 
facilities. As a result, the urban grain is 
fragmented and illegible.

In more recent times, significant development 
around Marefair has tried to introduce new uses 
to the area. The SOL Centre, a leisure complex, 
is a large footprint building in contrast to the 
scale of the existing context.

288



 795plus | Northampton Borough Council

4.5 Marefair
Historic Routes

2

3

6

The urban environment in this part of 
Northampton has seen much change over the 
decades. What was once a dense residential 
area is now a much looser network of back 
streets, bounded by the town centre ring road 
and hosting a mixture of contrasting uses.

In accordance with the proposed residential use 
for the area, consideration has been given to the 
historic street pattern which has become vague 
over time. By re-establishing these forgotten 
streets, we can begin to form new development 
plots which are historically symbolic and 
sensitive in their scale.

Referencing the historic urban grain will ensure 
the many existing listed buildings, including the 
Grade I listed St. Peter’s Church, will remain an 
important focal element for the area and will form 
strong connections with the emerging residential 
neighbourhood.

Similarly, working with the historic routes will 
ensure the existing open green spaces feel part 
of the neighbourhood, enabling residents to 
access, use and enjoy these public amenities on 
their doorstep.

Site Photos & 
Precedents

1. Existing residential 
dwellings addressing 
Freeschool Street

2. The Grade II listed  
Old Black Lion pub

3. Historic aerial 
photograph of 
Marefair, taken in1937

4. Informal residential 
streets.

5. Residential 
neighbourhood 
integrated with 
existing landscape 
features.

6. Contemporary 
residential 
neighbourhood which 
promote walking and 
cycling.

Proposed Routes & Public Spaces

G O L D   S T R E E TM A R E F A I R

H
 O

 R S E M
 A

 R K E T 

S T.  P E T E R’ S  W A Y

1

4

5

Key

  Historic Road Layout

  Grade I Listed

  Grade II* Listed

  Grade II Listed

  Saxon & Medieval Urban Deposits

   Castle Ruins

Goldsmith Street, Mikhail Riches

Eddington, WilkinsonEyre with Mole Architects351 Caledonian Road, Jestico + Wihiles

Freeschool Street, Northampton

289



 80 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

1

3

5

4

4.5 Marefair
Activate Frontages

G O L D   S T R E E TM A R E F A I R

H
 O

 R S E M
 A

 R K E T 

S T.  P E T E R’ S  W A Y

Proposed Active Frontages

6

2

Site Photos & 
Precedents

1. The historic facade 
of Hazelrigg House, 
Marefair.

2. Poor quality and 
uncoordinated shop 
fronts and signage, 
Marefair.

3. Dilapidated historic 
building frontage, 
Gold Street.

4. Retailers trading out 
and occupying the 
pavement, animating 
the street an making 
the environment 
more engaging for 
pedestrians, Tib 
Street, Manchester.

5. Pedestrian friendly, 
green and activated 
residential streets. 

6. Building lighting 
used to illuminate 
historic façades along 
Marefair and Gold 
Street.

To create successful residential neighbourhoods, 
activation of building frontages must be 
maximised at ground floors to mitigate the 
creation of ‘dead’ routes or spaces. This 
important design consideration will work 
towards creating and maintaining a safe and 
secure urban environment.

The masterplan proposes active frontages are 
used to all ground floors of key route throughout 
The Green and Marefair residential development 
plots.

Beyond these areas, upgrades to the existing 
active frontages along the main thoroughfare 
of Marefair and Gold Street are recommended. 
These upgrades will seek to create a better 
quality of arrival into the town centre. These 
upgrades include:

 · The de-cluttering of building façades to 
uncover heritage features.

 · Implementation of a consolidated building 
signage strategy which imposes an 
overarching datum line for shop-front and 
tenant signage along the route.

 · Improved street and building lighting

Key

  Passive Frontage

  Direct Frontage

The Corn Exchange, 5plus Architects

Tib Street, Manchester

Marefair, Northampton

Marefair, Northampton

Gold Street, Northampton

290



 815plus | Northampton Borough Council

1

5 6

Site Photos & 
Precedents

1. Coordinated 
shop-front and 
signage strategy that 
promotes quality and 
complements the 
historic façades and 
streetscape.

2. A positive example 
of traffic calming and 
pedestrian focused 
landscape design 
at the junction of 
Freeschool Street 
and Marefair.

3. Residential streets 
which provide 
positive external 
space for play and 
interaction, with 
priority given to 
pedestrians and 
cyclists.

4. Illumination of public 
spaces to Improving 
the sense of safety 
and security.

5. Raised table crossing 
at Horse Market 
to calm traffic and 
create a safer 
pedestrian route 
at this intersection 
between Marefair and 
Gold Street.

6. Legible connections 
between routes and 
spaces allowing for 
better permeability.

4.5 Marefair
Access, Circulation & Ease of Use

Proposed Access

H
 O

 R S E M
 A

 R K E T 

S T.  P E T E R’ S  W A Y

4

3

2

The existing thoroughfare of Marefair and Gold 
Street acts as a main route into the heart of the 
town centre. It provides visitors with their first 
impression of the town centre and must set a 
positive tone. 

Working with this well established route, brings 
greater emphasises to the surrounding buildings, 
spaces and streets and the significance of 
their refurbishment, ongoing maintenance and 
upkeep.

A comprehensive approach to shop-front and 
tenant signage design will help tone down the 
busy ground floor frontages and give greater 
presence to the façades above. Pairing this 
with improved street and building lighting will 
improve the quality of the streetscape and create 
a journey which compliments the rich heritage 
setting available at the end of Gold Street where 
All Saints Church marks the point of arrival in the 
town centre’s historic core. 

Introducing residential communities around 
Marefair will provide additional passive 
surveillance, addressing safety and security 
issues. The creation of new residential streets 
that link into existing routes and spaces will 
help people connect safely with the new 
neighbourhoods and existing communities and 
amenities.

When dealing with obstacles, such as busy 
roads, it is important to ensure routes are 
convenient and directed. Raised table crossings 
are therefore proposed at key routes across 
Horsemarket to calm traffic and create a safer 
and seamless pedestrian routes.

Key

 Primary Thoroughfare

 Secondary Thoroughfare

  Improved Pedestrian Crossing

  Way-finding and Signage

  Improved Shopfronts

Marefair, Northampton

Kroyers Plads, COBEOxford Circus, Atkins

Public Realm, Bologna, Italy

291



 82 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

5292



 835plus | Northampton Borough Council

5.0 Next Steps

293



 84 5plus | Northampton Borough Council

5.1 Making It Happen
A Framework for Delivery

Strategic Approach

A strategic approach to the delivery of these 
masterplan proposals is necessary to bring 
about a sustainable, timely approach to 
regeneration and development of Northampton 
town centre.

This masterplan represents the first step in 
preparing a more detailed delivery strategy 
which will take an informed approach to 
the implementation of specific development 
opportunities. The delivery strategy must 
understand the ambition of Northampton town 
centre, then test, validate and evidence its 
potential for growth in key areas through the 
commissioning of strategies studies on: 

 · Housing 
 · Employment
 · Leisure and Recreation
 · Higher Education
 · Commercial Offices
 · Hotels
 · Culture & Independent Retail
 · Food & Beverage
 · Tourism
 · Transport
 · Movement & Access
 · Green Infrastructure

With a delivery strategy in hand, it will be 
possible to develop informed business cases for 
investment.

The proposals outlined in this masterplan 
are concerned with bringing about positive 
change in the future of Northampton and 
creating the necessary conditions for 
long term investments, sustainability and 
renewed quality of life. How and when these 
proposals may come forward has been 
considered over the following pages through 
the formulation of a high level regeneration 
and development programme. 

The following sections will address how 
Northampton can harness it’s potential and 
arrest decline in the short term, repair and 
renew its town centre fabric over the medium 
term and regenerate and rebuild back to its 
maximum potential over the long term.

Timetable for Implementation

The delivery strategy for Northampton will 
be complex, long term, and include both the 
physical regeneration of the town centre area 
through the co-ordination of major investment 
schemes, and a major programme of social and 
economic development. This dual approach 
is essential in the creation of economically 
sustainable communities, quality of life and 
improved perceptions as a place to invest for the 
future.

This strategic approach is vital to ensure the 
programme has clarity, urgency and conviction. 
It will provide a focus on local decision making 
and informative consultation with communities 
and stakeholders to understand time-scales for 
how the town centre areas will change.

At this stage, this is an indicative programme 
and moving forward, short, medium and long 
term priorities will need to be validated through 
detailed studies so investment can be secured. 

0-3 Years
Early activity and creating momentum is critical. 

There is an opportunity to make people think 
about Northampton differently. Whilst image, 
identity and branding play a part in this, 
physical implementation is needed to start the 
regeneration of the town centre.

In this period big steps can be made to address 
some problem areas, unlock key development 
opportunities and construct catalyst projects. 
These will begin delivering the vision of the 
masterplan and create an impact on the town:

 · Rejuvenation of Market Square, the traders 
market and delivery of the food and produce 
market pavilion

 · Detailed design study for Eastgate Quarter 
and implementation of public realm 
improvements and traffic restrictions on 
Abington Street and Fish Street.

 · Detailed design study for Greyfriars, Drapery 
and extension to North Gate Bus Station.

 · Feasibility study for future of Market View 
shopping centre.

 · Construction of heritage gateway project on 
Marefair

 · Implement Public realm and crossing 
improvements at Horsemarket and Victoria 
Promenade.

 · Find suitable occupier for 24 Guildhall Road.

Alongside these physical projects, the following 
must be established to ensure the delivery 
strategy can progress beyond this initial period:
 

Financial Drivers

Creative and innovative approaches to securing 
funding from both the public and private sector 
will be required to implement and realise the 
masterplan proposals. New financial models and 
joint ventures to work with public stakeholders 
and private investors will be needed and, 
Northampton Forward must be tasked with 
identifying and targeting these opportunities 
through their partnership network.

Regeneration and development of the town 
centre could create a viable source of revenue 
for the local authority to build funds and invest 
in public services in the future. A view of land 
holdings, property uses and disposable assets 
is needed to understand how and what can be 
used to recycle funds back into the council and 
build its financial profile. This exercise will also 
reveal which assets are strategically available to 
unlock parts of the masterplan.

It is also critical to attract private sector 
investment to unlock certain elements of the 
masterplan. The contents of this masterplan 
workbook are fundamental to this, and can 
be packaged in such a way to highlight 
opportunities on offer in the town centre.

Leadership & Governance 

The masterplan sets out a range of strategic 
objectives and transformational projects for 
Northampton that are both bold and forward 
looking. They are a direct response to the 
current needs and opportunities within the town 
centre area, and will continue to develop with 
the support of more focussed narrative provided 
by the local authority and their implementation of 
strategic studies.

As well as being the custodian of the  
masterplan vision, the local authority and 
Northampton Forward must have a remit to 
knit together all funding streams through the 
partnership network, across all regeneration 
initiatives. From all public sector budgets, 
to all capital investment and private sector 
partnerships, a single strategic approach must 
be formalised.

The very strongest partnership of national, 
regional and local ties of government must be 
aligned with the continuing involvement of local 
communities and the private sector. The core 
responsibilities of such a partnership include:

 · Custodian and leader of the vision and 
masterplan for Northampton town centre. 
Although individual projects and funding may 
differ, effective delivery with progress made 
towards the vision must be ensured.

 · To drive, lead and procure investment within 
the town centre, with particular focus on 
housing, public realm, leisure and transport 
and infrastructure schemes.

 · To drive and negotiate the best deal for 
Northampton with public sector investors.

 · To market Northampton as a place for 
investment.

 · Conduct ongoing and deeper consultation 
with town centre organisations which have 
yet to share their vision on the aspirations of 
the masterplan.

 · Provide a consistent approach over many 
years.

Market Square, Illustrative Proposal

 · Establish delivery arrangements, 
governance, management and accountability 
structures for the masterplan.

 · Implement sector strategies.
 · Intensify co-ordination of joint working 

between public and private sector. 
 · Identify and target alternative funding 

streams.

3-7 Years
In the medium term, it is expected that major 
physical projects and investments in the key 
sectors of residential and commercial offices will 
come forward:

 · Begin development on Greyfriars, unlocking 
development plots, creating linear park, 
forging North-South links and associated 
highways work.

 · Construction of Eastgate Quarter residential 
developments.

 · Review demand for office workspace across 
the town centre and new development 
opportunities.

 · Once core town centre sites have been 
constructed (notably on Greyfriars), Four 
Waterside site can be developed. 

7-10 Years
Continuing the development of the key sites is 
important over the longer term and ensuring 
strong private sector investment in the town.

 · Continue construction of Greyfriars plots
 · Support development of remaining gap sites 

and demand increases and private sector 
investment rises.

Looking further ahead the benefits of physical 
investment will be visible and strong momentum 
will be established: 

 · People with skills and education will remain 
in the area.

 · Modern, flexible business environments will 
emerge.

 · New neighbourhoods and residential 
communities will be established attracting 
new people to Northampton.

 · Northampton will become a tourist 
destination.

The next steps in the process of delivery are 
multifaceted, requiring further economic, legal, 
land and property due diligence. Further work 
on costs, strategic funding sources and the 
integration of all investment opportunities will 
need to be undertaken as part of a delivery 
strategy for the masterplan.

294



295



5plusarchitects.com

Architecture
Masterplanning 
Interiors
Graphics  
Branding

5plus

296



CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Directorate:

Accountable Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

16 October 2019

Yes

Yes 

No

Housing and Wellbeing

Councillor Stephen Hibbert

Abington, Billing, Boothville, 
Brookside, Castle, Delapre and Briar 
Hill, Eastfield, Headlands, Kingsley, 
Kingsthorpe, Obelisk, Park, 
Parklands, Phippsville, Rectory Farm, 
Riverside, Rushmills, Semilong, 
Spencer, Spring Park, St Davids,        
St James, Sunnyside, Talavera, 
Trinity and Westone 

1. Purpose

1.1 To provide Cabinet with the results from the consultation that has been carried 
out in relation to the new Additional HMO (Houses in Multiple Occupation) 
Licensing Scheme.

1.2 To ask Cabinet to approve the designation of a new Additional HMO Licensing 
Scheme, which covers all HMOs within a selected area with three or four  
occupiers comprising two or more households, for a period of five years 
commencing on 1 February 2020.

                                       
Report Title Proposed Designation of an Additional HMO Licensing 

Scheme

Appendices

         7

2

297

Agenda Item 13



2. Recommendations

2.1     It is recommended that Cabinet:
  

(a) Notes the ‘Consultation Report’ of 3 May 2019 (attached to this report as 
Appendix A) and the ‘Report on the findings from the Consultation on the 
Designation of an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme in Northampton’ 
(attached to this report as Appendix B);

(b) Agrees that, having considered the ‘Consultation Report’ (Appendix A), 
the ‘Report on the Findings from the Consultation’ (Appendix B) and the 
‘Hazards identified during HMO inspections’ (Appendix C) which show 
that a significant proportion of the HMOs in the designated area are 
being managed ineffectively, an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme is 
required for a period of five years; and

(c) Agrees to designate, with effect from 1 February 2020 for a period of five 
years, a selected area of the Borough (identified in the map and list of 
streets contained in Appendix D of this report) as being subject to 
Additional HMO Licensing under section 56(1)(a) of the Housing Act 
2004 for the following types of HMO:

(i) Any HMO (irrespective of the number of storeys) that contains three 
or four occupiers who form two or more households; and

(ii) All self-contained flats (irrespective of the number of storeys) that are 
Houses in Multiple Occupation and contain three or four occupiers 
who form two or more households but, where the HMO is a section 
257 House in Multiple Occupation, this Additional HMO licensing 
designation will only apply to those section 257 HMOs that are 
mainly or wholly tenanted, including those with resident landlords.

3. Issues and Choices

3.1 Report Background

3.1.1 Bedsits and shared houses are a popular and much needed type of 
accommodation for students, migrant workers, people on low incomes and 
those who are seeking affordable, short-term to medium-term housing. 

3.1.2 Well-managed HMOs have a vital role to play in helping to meet the housing 
needs of Northampton’s residents. However, compared to single occupancy 
dwellings, HMOs do present significantly greater risks.

3.1.3 Over the past 3 years the Housing Enforcement Team has proactively 
inspected 141 mandatory HMO premises and 162 additional HMO premises 
within which they identified a range of hazards that have potentially put the 
tenants’ health and safety at risk:

 Of the 141 mandatory HMO premises inspected, 30% required 
interventions to address concerns about fire safety issues and 41% 
required action to improve inadequate facilities (see Appendix C).  

298



 Of the 162 Additional HMO premises, 48% required interventions to 
address concerns about fire safety issues, 30% required action to 
improve inadequate facilities and 22% involved chasing up the licensees 
for the relevant documentation to prove their premises are fit for purpose 
(see Appendix C).

3.1.4 Where there are high concentrations of HMOs, there are noticeable impacts 
on local communities and the local environment. The Council receives 
complaints from neighbouring residents living near HMOs regarding the 
nuisance and anti-social behaviour that is caused by the tenants of badly 
managed HMOs. 

3.1.5 It is important the Council protects the safety and wellbeing of neighbouring 
residents, addresses their concerns and helps to resolve problems using its 
enforcement powers. Additional HMO Licensing gives the Council enhanced 
powers to address issues arising within licenced HMOs.

3.1.6 With Additional HMO Licensing, the Council can make landlords more 
accountable for not only the standards and conditions within the HMOs that 
they let but also for their tenants’ behaviour.

3.1.7 Mandatory HMO licensing applies to all HMOs (in all parts of the borough) 
that contain five or more occupiers that form two or more households. As at 3 
May 2019, there were 844 licensed HMOs in Northampton and, of these, 457 
had a Mandatory HMO licence and 387 had an Additional HMO licence.

3.1.8 Although Northampton has some excellent landlords and letting agents, it also 
has a significant number of criminal, rogue and irresponsible landlords and, 
through its intelligence-led, targeted approach to housing enforcement, the 
Council investigates, using a risk-assessed approach, on properties it 
believes are licensable HMOs and operating illegally without an HMO licence. 
Experience has shown that, when a licensable HMO is not licenced, the 
owner/managing agent is also likely to fail to comply with a range of 
regulatory requirements including the condition and safety of the premises.

3.1.9 In 2014, under the Secretary of State’s general approval, the Council 
introduced a five-year Additional HMO licensing scheme for a designated 
area of the borough which was based on statistical evidence that was valid at 
that time. This scheme (see Page 36 of Appendix A) came into force on 3 
November 2014 and will expire on 2 November 2019.

3.1.10 Following a review of the current evidence and the work of the Housing 
Enforcement Team, the Council undertook a statutory 10-week consultation 
on the proposal to introduce a new designation that will operate for a period of 
five years and include the area covered by the existing designation, together 
with additional areas which are mainly in the eastern part of the district.

3.1.11 If the new Additional HMO licensing scheme is approved, it will come into 
effect on 1 February 2020 and, where a licence holder holds an Additional 
HMO licence when the existing scheme comes to an end on 2 November 
2019, the licence holder will automatically be issued with a replacement 
licence, at no extra cost, for the unexpired period of their HMO licence. 

299



3.2  Issues

Designation of an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme 

3.2.1 In order to designate an Additional HMO licensing scheme, the Council must 
proceed through the statutory process as laid out in sections 56 and 57 of the 
Housing Act 2004 and associated guidance: Licensing of Houses in Multiple 
Occupation and Selective Licensing of Other Residential Accommodation 
(England) General Approval 2010. 

3.2.2 Section 56 of the Housing Act 2004 places requirements upon the local 
housing authority when considering a designation for an Additional HMO 
Licensing Scheme, in that the Council must: 

   Consider that a significant proportion of the HMOs of that description in the 
area are being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or likely to 
give rise, to one or more particular problems either for those occupying the 
HMOs or for members of the public; and 

   Take reasonable steps to consult with persons who are likely to be 
affected and consider any representations made in accordance with the 
consultation and not withdrawn; and

   Have regard to any information regarding the extent to which any codes of 
practice approved under section 233 have been complied with by persons 
managing HMOs in the area (these codes relate to University managed 
accommodation). 

3.2.3 Section 57 of the Housing Act 2004 provides further considerations for the 
local authority in that they should ensure that:  

 Exercising the designation is consistent with the authority’s overall housing 
strategy; and  

 Seek to adopt a coordinated approach in connection with dealing with 
homelessness, empty properties and anti-social behaviour affecting the 
private rented sector as regards combining licensing with other action 
taken by them or others; and 

 Consider whether there are any other courses of action available to them 
(of whatever nature) that might provide an effective method of dealing with 
the problem or problems in question; and 

 That making the designation will significantly assist them to deal with the 
problem or problems (whether or not they take any other course of action 
as well). 

3.2.4 The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) General 
Approval provides the condition that any consultation period for the proposed 
designation should not be less than 10 weeks. 

300



3.2.5 In February 2010, the DCLG produced general guidance around the approval 
steps for additional and selective licensing designations in England. This 
document provides examples of properties that are being managed “sufficiently 
ineffectively”, including: 

• Those whose external condition and curtilage (including yards and gardens) 
adversely impact upon the general character and amenity of the area in 
which they are located;

• Those whose internal condition, such as poor amenities, overcrowding etc, 
adversely impact upon the health, safety and welfare of the occupiers and 
the landlords of these properties are failing to take appropriate steps to 
address the issues; 

• Those where there is a significant and persistent problem of anti-social 
behaviour affecting other residents and/or the local community and the 
landlords of the HMOs are not taking reasonable and lawful steps to 
eliminate or reduce the problems; and 

• Those where the lack of management or poor management skills or 
practices are otherwise adversely impacting upon the welfare, health and 
safety of residents and/or impacting upon the wider community. 

3.2.6 Northampton’s Additional HMO licensing scheme was introduced on 3 
November 2014 and will expire on 2 November 2019. Under section 60(2) of 
the Housing Act 2004, the date of expiry must be no later than five years after 
the date on which the designation comes into force.  

3.2.7 The proposal is that the new designation would commence on 1 February 2020 
and last for a period of 5 years, expiring on 31 January 2025.  

The proposed designation 

3.2.8 Taking into account the Housing Enforcement Team’s established intelligence-
led approach to the improvement and enforcement of standards, conditions and 
management within HMOs – and the evidence of the local and environmental 
impacts of HMOs – a further designation for Additional HMO licensing is 
considered to be the most effective and appropriate way of ensuring that HMOs 
in Northampton are subject to the necessary regulation and control. 

3.2.9 Based on up to date evidence and reflecting key changes resulting from the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016 and the subsequent amendments to the 
definition of Mandatory HMOs, it is proposed that an Additional HMO licensing 
scheme (see Appendix D) is introduced with effect from 1 February 2020.

301



3.2.10 If approved, the proposed designation will last for a period of five years and an 
area of the Borough (identified in the map and list of streets contained in 
Appendix D) will be subject to Additional HMO Licensing under section 56(1)(a) 
of the Housing Act 2004 for the following types of HMO:

(i) Any HMO (irrespective of the number of storeys) that contains three or 
four occupiers who form two or more households; and

(ii) All self-contained flats (irrespective of the number of storeys) that are 
Houses in Multiple Occupation and contain three or four occupiers who 
form two or more households but, where the HMO is a section 257 House 
in Multiple Occupation, this Additional HMO licensing designation will only 
apply to those section 257 HMOs that are mainly or wholly tenanted, 
including those with resident landlords.

3.2.11 It is proposed that the Additional HMO licensing designation includes the area 
covered by the current Additional HMO licensing designation except for two 
small geographical omissions in the Semilong and Obelisk wards.

3.2.12 The reason for the omission in the Semilong ward is that the excluded area 
contains no residential dwellings and did not need to be included in the original 
designation of the Additional HMO licensing scheme in 2014.

3.2.13 The reason for the omission in the Obelisk ward is that there was no evidence 
of HMOs in the excluded area and, as the University of Northampton has now 
relocated to the Waterside Campus, the likelihood of there being problematic 
HMOs in the excluded area in the future is too small to risk including the area 
when there is no evidence to justify Additional HMO licensing.

3.2.14 Additional HMO licensing can play a vital role in controlling and regulating 
HMOs and ensuring that legal standards are in place for fire safety, housing-
related health and safety, space standards and management.

Consultation on the proposed designation

3.2.15 On 3 May 2019, the Council published a ‘Consultation Report’ (see Appendix A) 
and launched its 10-week consultation with the residents, groups, businesses 
and stakeholders who are likely to be affected by the proposed designation. 

3.2.16 Details of the consultation and the proposed designation, together with copies 
of the Consultation Report, were publicised using a wide range of techniques 
and communication channels, including the Council’s website, social media 
(Facebook and Twitter), the Landlord Forum, briefings and focus groups, 
features and an advert in the local newspaper, e-mails to hundreds of known 
landlords and letting agents and engagement with key stakeholders (including 
the Police, Fire Service and Immigration Service) and Council services 
(including Planning, Building Control, Environmental Services, Revenues & 
Benefits, Housing Options, Legal Services and the Anti-Social Behaviour Unit).

302



3.2.17 Consultees included other regulatory bodies, landlords and letting agents, 
accredited landlords, tenants, University students, residents and residents 
groups, parish councils, business owners and, where necessary, residents and 
business owners who are not in the Northampton borough but whose homes or 
premises are adjacent to the new designation. 

3.2.18 All consultees were invited to share their views on the proposed scheme via the 
completion of a survey which was organised online through Survey Monkey.

3.2.19 All comments and feedback have been considered as part of the development 
of the consultation findings and are included in the Consultation Findings report 
(see Appendix B).

HMO Study by Loughborough University

3.2.20 To support the preparation of the Northampton Local Plan Part 2, the Council 
commissioned Loughborough University, in 2018, to carry out a study with 
policy recommendations. This forms part of the evidence base for the policy in 
the Local Plan and has been used in the formulation of the principles 
contained in the draft HMO Supplementary Planning Document of July 2019.

3.2.21 The main findings of the Loughborough University research are attached to this 
report as Appendix F.

Meeting the criteria for establishing an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme

CRITERION ONE: The authority must consider that a significant 
proportion of the HMOs of the description to be included in the area are 
being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or likely to give 
rise, to one or more particular problems either for those occupying the 
HMO or for members of the public. 

3.2.22 As shown in Appendix C (‘Hazards identified during the HMO Inspections’), 
30% of licensed Mandatory HMOs and 48% of licensed Additional HMOs 
licenced HMOs that have been inspected during the past 3 years had fire safety 
issues. Furthermore, 41% of Mandatory HMOs and 30% of Additional HMOs 
had inadequate facilities (such as leaks, undersized rooms and dampness).

3.2.23 The evidence gathered suggests that a significant proportion of these HMO are 
managed sufficiently ineffectively to warrant the proposed licensing approach. 

CRITERION TWO: The authority must have regard to any information 
regarding the extent to which codes of practice approved under section 
233 have been complied with, by persons managing HMOs in the area. 

 
3.2.24 The Council has had regard to the following Code of Practice under Section 233 

in relation to the management of student housing and for the purposes of 
Schedule 14 which lists buildings which are not Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(HMOs) for the purposes of the Housing Act 2004:  

 

303



UK Parliament SIs 2010-Present/2010/2601-2650/Housing (Codes of 
Management Practice) (Student Accommodation) (England) Order 2010         
(SI 2010/2615) Housing (Codes of Management Practice) (Student 
Accommodation) (England) Order 2010.  

 
CRITERION THREE: The authority must consider whether there are other 
courses of action (whatever the nature) available to them that might prove 
an effective method of dealing with the problem. 

 
3.2.25 The Council has considered the following alternative courses of action to try 

and tackle the issues relating to HMOs across the borough:

 Reactive inspections and enforcement – in response to complaints from 
tenants, neighbours or other stakeholders. Dealing with such complaints 
can be time consuming and resource intensive and, without the fee income 
from Additional HMO Licensing, proactive action will not be possible.

 Proactive, targeted inspections and enforcement – as part of a planned 
programme of HMO inspections. In the absence of the Additional HMO 
licensing scheme, the enforcement activity will not benefit from licence 
conditions and standards, and there would be no control over whether the 
landlord/manager is a ‘fit and proper’ person to manage the HMO.

 Use of Interim Management Orders – to enable the Council to take over the 
management of an HMO from a landlord for up to 12 months in serious 
cases. As these Orders can only be used as a reactive response and for 
individual properties, they will only apply to a small proportion of the overall 
number of substandard and ineffectively managed HMOs in the borough.

 Landlord accreditation scheme – to encourage landlords to commit to 
meeting agreed property and letting standards. In Northampton, the Council 
already encourages landlords to join the DASH (Decent And Safe Housing)  
landlord accreditation scheme and, as an additional incentive, it provides 
DASH with the funding that it requires in order to offer landlords free 
accreditation. As landlord accreditation is voluntary, it tends to attract good, 
responsible landlords and is often ignored by criminal, rogue and 
irresponsible landlords who have little or no interest in it.

 Undertaking Mandatory HMO licensing only – to tackle only the larger 
HMOs containing five or more people and comprising two or more 
households. If this was agreed, the risks posed by smaller HMOs 
(containing three or four occupiers and comprising two or more households) 
would only be addressed through reactive inspections and enforcement

 Extending Additional HMO licensing – to include the whole of the whole of 
the borough. This is not something that will be pursued because the 
intelligence, consultation responses and enforcement records show that we 
do not have enough evidence to extend the scheme to the whole borough.

3.2.26 It is clear that the Council’s use of conventional engagement, enforcement and 
persuasion will not, on its own, result in a significant improvement in the area. 
Licensing has a vital role to play in addressing and resolving the problem.   

 

304



CRITERION FOUR: The authority must consider that making the 
designation will significantly assist them in dealing with the problems. 

 
3.2.27 The introduction of an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme within the   

designated area will achieve the following: 
 

 The ability to deal with landlords with multiple properties and to request 
applications for all properties within the designated area;

 Improvements to residents’ health and safety because gas and electrical 
installations will be safe, fire precautions will be in place and all licensed 
HMOs will need to comply with the Council’s amenities and facilities 
standards in relation to room sizes, the number of occupants, the use of 
basements and attic rooms, the standard of kitchens, bathrooms and toilets, 
and the facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food; 

 Improvements to accommodation, achieved through the use of the Housing, 
Health and Safety Rating System, especially where a property is excessively 
cold / damp, lacks security or has trip or falling hazards; 

 Improved partnership working with landlords to ensure that they have a better 
understanding of HMO management issues (including their responsibility to 
control rubbish and waste and maintain the communal areas, gardens and 
forecourts) and have up-to-date information about the Council’s services, 
standards and expectations, for their benefit and the benefit of their tenants;

 Improvements to the environmental impact that HMOs have on the local 
neighbourhood; 

 Better outcomes and value for money, more effective problem-solving and 
sustained improvement will be achieved through closer collaboration;

 Encouragement of landlords and agents to become members of the DASH 
landlord accreditation scheme which is provided free of charge to landlords 
who have a licensed HMOs in the borough;

 Criminal and rogue landlords will be prevented from managing licensable 
HMOs if they are assessed as not being a ‘fit and proper person’;

 Reduced incidents of anti-social behaviour as Council services work together 
(through the HMO licensing approach) to review all activity and issues 
associated with each HMO at the application or investigation stage.

CRITERION FIVE: The authority must consult persons who are likely to be 
affected by the designation and consider any representations. 

 
3.2.28 A 10-week consultation on this proposal commenced on 3 May 2019 and ended 

on 14 July 2019. It included an online questionnaire, a Landlord Forum event 
and a series of focus groups that included a presentation and discussion. 

305



3.2.29The consultation has provided some good feedback and has supported the 
evidence obtained in relation to the area suffering from a lack of HMO 
management, disrepair and the environmental and social impact that these 
properties can have on tenants and neighbours alike.

3.2.30There were 80 responses to the on-line survey, received from residents, 
residents associations, landlords and letting agents.

 62% of respondents from the on-line questionnaire either strongly agreed or 
agreed with the proposed scheme.

 25 responses expressed concerns about anti-social behaviour, parking 
issues and rubbish / fly-tipping associated with HMOs. (64% of these felt 
that the Additional Licensing Scheme would help to combat these issues).

 13% of those that agreed with the proposed scheme mentioned that the 
proposal would introduce a degree of control and accountability and ensure 
that standards within HMOs would be met.  

3.2.31 The Landlord Forum was set aside for a detailed discussion on the proposed 
scheme with over 50 landlords and businesses in attendance.  

3.2.32 A series of focus groups were arranged and attended by landlords, internal and 
external Stakeholders, residents associations and residents.  There were also 2 
briefing sessions for Members.

3.2.33 A full report on the findings from the Consultation is attached as Appendix B;

CRITERION SIX: The authority must ensure that the exercise of power is 
consistent with the authority’s overall housing strategy. 

 
3.2.34 Although local authorities no longer have a statutory responsibility to produce a 

housing strategy, the establishment of an Additional HMO licensing scheme is 
consistent with Northampton’s last Housing Strategy 2013-16, the Council’s 
Corporate Plans of 2016-20 and a raft of housing policies and initiatives that the 
Council has approved and introduced since 2016.  

3.2.35 The reduced supply of affordable and social rented housing, together with the 
impact of Welfare Reform and the introduction of the single room rent for single 
people under the age of 35, has increased the demand for HMOs and the need 
to ensure that such properties are safe, well managed and properly maintained.

3.2.36 Additional HMO licensing contributes positively to the aims of the housing 
strategy by regulating the stock of lower cost shared housing and ensuring it 
meets acceptable standards and is well managed by ‘fit and proper’ persons. 

3.2.37 The priorities in the last two Corporate Plans have included raising standards in 
private rented housing, working effectively to uphold licensing objectives, 
making effective use of enforcement powers to ensure good standards in the 
private rented sector and promoting good practice and landlord accreditation.  

306



3.2.38 HMO licensing places an obligation on the owner or manager to notify the 
Council of the existence of a licensable HMO and affords the Council the 
opportunity to ensure that the HMO is managed by a ‘fit and proper person’, is 
not overcrowded and its amenities are adequate for the number of occupants.  

3.2.39 Use of mandatory licensing and housing enforcement play a useful role in 
improving the general standard of private sector housing. However, landlord 
accreditation and the provision of advice can also help to ensure that landlords 
provide good quality accommodation.   

3.2.40 The HMO licensing regime seeks to encourage continuous improvement by 
rewarding good HMO landlords / owners with longer licences. Good landlords 
have said they want a distinction made between them and bad landlords. 

3.2.41 This balanced approach – which the Council has applied consistently to the 
borough’s private rented sector since 2016 – is reflected in Northampton’s 
Housing Enforcement, Civil Penalties and Fees and Charges policies, and the 
comprehensive Business Cases produced for the establishment of the Social 
Lettings Agency and the expansion of the Housing Enforcement Team.

3.2.42 The purpose of the Council’s Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy is to 
ensure that tenants of private landlords and registered social landlords live in 
homes that are free of unacceptable hazards and risks to their health and 
safety, all HMOs are safe and well managed, all licensable HMOs are licensed 
and operating in accordance with the licence conditions, and all HMOs are 
complying with the relevant HMO Management Regulations. 

3.2.43 If there are serious breaches of the licensing conditions and/or serious 
management offences, the Council may revoke the HMO licence.

3.2.44 Where the Manager of an HMO has endangered the health, safety or wellbeing 
of occupiers, visitors or members of the general public and/or has deliberately 
or persistently ignored written warnings or formal notices / orders or failed to 
make reasonable progress in meeting the Council’s requirements), the Council 
will consider prosecution or the imposition of a civil penalty.

3.2.45 If the Council is satisfied that there is no reasonable prospect of a licensable 
HMO being licensed (with appropriate conditions) in the near future, or if it is 
necessary to protect the health, safety or welfare of the occupiers of the 
property or properties in the vicinity, it must make an Interim Management 
Order in respect of the HMO. In such instances, the property will be managed 
by the Council’s Social Lettings Agency.

CRITERION SEVEN: The authority must seek to adopt a co-ordinated 
approach in connection with dealing with homelessness, empty 
properties and antisocial behaviour and as regards combining licensing 
with other courses of action available and as regards combining such 
licensing with measures taken by other persons. 

 
3.2.46 The Council and its partners have an excellent track record of multi agency 

working and ensuring a co-ordinated approach in dealing with homelessness, 
empty properties and anti-social behaviour. This is reflected in ‘TOGETHER we 

307



change lives’ (our 3-year rough sleepers strategy, published in 2016), the 
Business Case for the establishment of the Social Lettings Agency, 
Northampton’s multi agency Community Safety Plan 2017-20 and two Overview 
and Scrutiny reviews of homelessness and rough sleeping in 2017 & 2018.

3.2.47 Shared housing and HMOs play a vital role in meeting the housing needs of 
people who are sleeping rough or are at risk of having to sleep rough. The loss 
of such accommodation – often through ‘no fault’ evictions, and sometimes 
through unlawful evictions – is one of the main causes of homelessness.

3.2.48 The Council is in the process of restructuring its Housing Advice & Options 
Service and, as part of that restructure and with the assistance of a substantial 
amount of government funding, it is establishing a Single Homelessness 
Pathway that is designed to improve the move-on opportunities available to 
people who are sleeping rough or are at risk of having to sleep rough. Shared 
accommodation and HMOs form an integral part of that Pathway.

3.2.49 As explained in the Business Case, the main purpose of the Social Lettings 
Agency is to help the Council to improve standards in Northampton’s private 
rented sector, bring empty homes back into use and make it easier for people 
who are living and working in the borough to access good quality, well 
managed, affordable private rented accommodation.

3.2.50 In addition to offering landlords a private sector leasing or housing management 
and lettings service, the Social Lettings Agency makes it easier for the Council 
to take over the control and management of a property (by making an Interim or 
Final Management Order) in order to protect the health, safety or welfare of the 
occupants and people living in the vicinity of the HMO.

3.2.51 Where a landlord is failing to take action to address a problem in private rented 
housing, the Council will consider a Special Interim Management Order in order 
to remove or significantly reduce an anti-social behaviour problem. 

3.2.52 Northampton’s intelligence-led, targeted approach to housing enforcement, 
together with its proven commitment to strong and effective partnership 
working, has enabled the Housing Enforcement Team to identify unlicensed 
HMOs and ensure that Additional HMO licensing complements the other action 
being taken to improve neighbourhoods and reduce the impact of poorly 
managed, badly maintained HMOs. This is especially important with the 
regeneration of Northampton which would otherwise be compromised if the 
private rented sector is left uncontrolled. 

3.2.53 The Council’s approach to HMOs (from a housing and planning perspective) 
has been informed by the research that was undertaken by Loughborough 
University in 2018.

3.2.54 It is clear from the research and evidence that the seven criteria are met, and 
this is reflected within this report and the supporting Appendices. 

 
3.2.55 Information and intelligence has been used to identify the issues and problems 

caused by HMOs within the proposed Additional HMO licensing area.   
 

308



3.2.56 This report and the Appendices demonstrate very clearly the advantages that 
the proposed Additional HMO licensing scheme will bring to the Council.  

3.2.57 Evaluation of the management and processing of the existing Additional HMO 
licensing scheme – which has now been running for almost five years – will 
assist the successful implementation of the proposed licensing scheme. 

 
3.3 Choices (Options)

OPTION 1: Approve the proposed designation

3.3.1 Cabinet can decide to approve the proposed designation of the Additional HMO 
licensing scheme with effect from 1 February 2020.

3.3.2 This is recommended because of the impact that poor quality and ineffectively 
managed HMOs are having on the areas covered by the proposed designation 
and it is the most effective and appropriate way of ensuring that HMOs in 
Northampton are subject to the necessary regulation and control. 

3.3.3 Implementation of the designation is consistent with the Council’s overall 
housing strategy and will further strengthen the effectiveness of its Private 
Sector Housing Enforcement Policy and the strategic housing services it 
delivers in relation to homelessness, empty properties, housing standards and 
anti-social behaviour affecting Northampton’s private rented sector.

3.3.4 Although careful consideration has been given to alternative courses of action 
that are available to effect improvements – including landlord accreditation, 
good practice presentations at the Landlord Forum and the establishment of a 
University of Northampton ‘good practice alliance’ – all of these initiatives are 
already in place and have made only a relatively small difference to the 
number of HMOs that are badly managed.

3.3.5 The principal benefits of the proposed designation of the Additional HMO 
licensing scheme also appear in Appendix G of this report.  

OPTION 2: Approve the proposed designation, but delay   
its implementation 

3.3.6 Cabinet can decide to approve the proposed designation of an Additional 
HMO licensing scheme but delay its implementation.

3.3.7 Delaying the implementation could allow poor landlords to take advantage of 
their tenants and see standards within HMOs slip.  Compliant landlords who 
have an Additional HMO licence under the existing scheme may feel justifiably 
aggrieved by such a delay.

OPTION 3: Do not approve the proposed designation

3.3.8 Cabinet can decide not to approve the proposed designation.

309



3.3.9 This is not recommended because, if a new Additional HMO licensing   
scheme is not introduced after the existing scheme has expired, landlords and 
letting agents will no longer have a legal obligation to notify the Council of their 
HMOs (unless they are Mandatory HMOs) and the Council’s database of 
HMOs will quickly become obsolete. 

3.3.10 If there is no Additional HMO licensing scheme, assessing and dealing with 
the risks presented from smaller HMOs would depend on complaints or 
reactive responses.  Without income from additional licensing, the increased 
resource will not be available to deal with pro-active action.

OPTION 4: Approve a varied designation

3.3.11 Cabinet can decide to vary the proposed designation to cover a different 
geographical area than the one that is recommended in this report and/or 
change the definition of the types of HMO that will be subject to the proposed 
Additional HMO licensing scheme.   

3.3.12 This is not recommended because the proposed designation is based on the 
evidence gathered in respect of the areas of the borough most affected by poor 
quality and ineffectively managed HMOs, and the types of HMO included in the 
designation are those that need to be subject to regulation and control. 

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1     Policy

4.1.1 The action that the Council is proposing to take is in line with Council policy and 
reflects the priorities in the Corporate Plan 2018-20.

4.2 Resources and Risk

4.2.1 The Council’s Private Sector Housing Fees and Charges Policy is designed to 
ensure transparency, consistency and fairness in the way in which fees and 
charges are calculated and applied. It also seeks to encourage good behaviour 
and ensure that responsible landlords pay lower fees and charges.

4.2.2 The Council is allowed to recover the costs of administering the HMO licensing 
scheme. Assumptions have been made about the number of HMO licences that 
are likely to be issued or renewed each year and the resources required to 
administer the scheme. 

4.2.3 Although there is a risk that the HMO fees and charges will not cover the full cost 
of administering the Additional HMO licensing scheme, this risk has been 
mitigated by the fact that the Council is likely to receive more HMO fee income 
when it expands the Additional HMO licensing scheme to include a wider area of 
the borough from 1 February 2020.

4.2.4 The Council will keep its HMO fees and charges under review and, if there is a 
need to revise them, they will be revised.

310



4.2.5 One of the other risks is that, by expanding the area covered by the Additional 
HMO licensing scheme, the Housing Enforcement Team may become inundated 
with HMO licence applications and not have the capacity to process them. This 
risk will be mitigated by the introduction of an online HMO licensing system – to 
be implemented by the commencement of the new scheme – and, if necessary, 
by recruiting more Officers to prevent a build-up of outstanding applications. 

4.2.6 The cost of the new online HMO licensing system will be met from licensing fee 
income. The cost of any additional Officers would also be funded from the extra 
HMO licence fees and be subject to a comprehensive business case.

4.3 Legal

4.3.1 A local housing authority must keep the housing conditions in their area under 
review with a view to identifying any action that may be needed under various 
statutory provisions including the Housing Act 2004 (‘the 2004 Act’).  If 
considering designating an area of additional licensing for HMOs the authority 
must comply with the requirements in sections 56 and 57 of the 2004 Act.  

4.3.2 The primary test is that the authority must be satisfied that a significant proportion 
of HMOs which would be included in the proposed additional licensing scheme 
are being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or be likely to give 
rise, to one or more particular problems either for those occupying those HMOs 
or the public.  Cabinet must therefore confirm it is satisfied that the evidence set 
out in this report shows that poor management of those types of HMO contributes 
to the problems concerned.  

4.3.3 The authority must also satisfy itself of the further matters set out in paragraphs 
3.2.24 to 3.2.57 of this report, namely that it has had regard to the extent to which 
Codes of Practice under the 2004 Act have been complied with; that its approach 
is coordinated with its approach to homelessness, empty properties and ASB; 
that other courses of action have been considered to deal with the problems 
caused by ineffective management of HMOs and that the designation would 
assist in doing so; and, that the proposal is consistent with the Council’s overall 
housing strategy.

4.3.4 The 2004 Act requires the authority to consult persons who are likely to be 
affected by the designation and to consider any representations made in 
accordance with the consultation and which are not withdrawn.  Cabinet must be 
satisfied that the responses to the consultation which are referred to in this 
report, and set out in detail in Appendix B, support the proposed designation.   

4.3.5 Once an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme has been approved, the authority 
must publicise the designation by placing notices at its offices, place that notice 
on the website and publish it in the next editions of two or more newspapers 
circulating in the area concerned and repeating those adverts in five further 
editions of those newspapers at intervals of between two and three weeks.  The 
notice must also be sent to those who responded to the consultation, those 
representing landlords, tenants and letting agents, law centres and homeless 

311



persons units.  The designation may not come into force for at least 3 months 
after the date on which it is made, meaning that if it is to come into force on 1 
February 2020, it must be made no later than 1 November 2019.  

4.3.6 The Authority must review the designation from time to time and may revoke it if 
considered appropriate.  Although the 2004 Act does not prescribe a fee 
structure in relation to licences for HMOs, case law states that the fees charged 
may only cover the administration of the licensing process and enforcement 
under Part 2 of that Act.  A separate report is being taken to Cabinet in relation to 
the level of fees to be charged.

4.4      Equality and Health

4.4.1 A full Community Impact Assessment has been completed. 

4.4.2 The proposed designation of the Additional HMO licensing scheme will help to 
improve housing conditions and the life chances, health and wellbeing of 
people with protected characteristics, including homeless people, young 
people, older people, people with disabilities and families with children.

4.4.3 By placing an obligation on the owner or manager to notify the Council of the 
existence of a licensable HMO and providing the Council with the opportunity 
to ensure that the HMO is managed by a ‘fit and proper person’, is safe, is not 
overcrowded and its amenities are adequate for the number of occupants, the 
Additional HMO licensing scheme will provide tenants with assurances about 
the condition, safety and management of their accommodation and, if their 
home should be licensed but is not, additional protection from eviction. 

4.4.4 Poor living conditions – including overcrowding, damp and cold, trip hazards, 
unsafe gas and electrical installations, and a lack of natural light and 
ventilation – are known to have a significant adverse impact on the health, 
wellbeing and safety of all tenants, but especially on older people, people with 
chronic health problems, people with restricted mobility, and children. 

4.4.5 The inspection and licensing of the HMOs covered by the proposed 
designation, together with the imposition and enforcement of the licensing 
conditions, will benefit people with protected characteristics and have a 
positive impact on Equality and Diversity. 

4.4.6 The Additional HMO licensing scheme is part of the Borough Council’s 
commitment to improving communities and our town as a place to live. In 
implementing the new licensing scheme, the Council will have due regard to 
its Public Sector Duty and will continue to work to tackle discrimination and 
inequality and contribute to the development of a fairer society. 

4.5   Consultees (Internal and External)

4.5.1 Consultees included landlords & letting agents, residents & residents 
associations, parish councils, business owners and, where necessary, residents 
and business owners who are not in the Northampton borough but whose 
homes or premises are adjacent to the new designation. External & Internal 

312



stakeholders including DASH, Northampton Fire Service, GLAA and the 
University of Northampton and Council services: Planning, Building Control, 
Environmental Services, Revenues & Benefits, Housing Options, Legal 
Services and the Anti-Social Behaviour Unit.

4.5.2 All consultees were invited to share their views on the proposed scheme via the 
completion of a survey which was organised online through Survey Monkey.

4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

4.6.1 The proposed designation of an Additional HMO licensing scheme will help to 
meet 2 of the priorities in the Corporate Plan 2018 - 20:

 More homes, better homes: The Additional HMO licensing scheme 
will help the Housing Enforcement Team to identify licensable HMOs 
that are operating without a licence, tackle criminal, rogue and 
irresponsible landlords, and make effective use of its enforcement 
powers to ensure good standards in the private rented sector; and 

 Keeping the town and people safe: The Additional HMO licensing 
scheme will support the Housing Enforcement Team’s intelligence-led, 
targeted approach to enforcement and will improve the condition, 
management and safety of private rented housing in Northampton.     

Appendices

Appendix A – Consultation report on the proposed implementation of an enhanced            
designation for Additional HMO Licensing in Northampton

Appendix B – Report on the findings from the consultation on the designation of an 
enhanced Additional HMO Licensing Scheme in Northampton  

Appendix C – Hazards identified during HMO inspections

Appendix D – Designation of the proposed Additional HMO Licensing Scheme

Appendix E – Community Impact Assessment

Appendix F - HMO Study by Loughborough University

Appendix G - Benefits of HMO Licensing

313



Background Papers

Housing Strategy 2013-16
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2017
Private Sector Housing Civil Penalties Policy 2017
Private Sector Housing Fees & Charges Policy 2018
Business Case for Social Lettings Agency 2017
Business Case for the expansion of the Housing Enforcement Team 2018
A Study of Housing in Multiple Occupation Policy, Loughborough University 2018  
Northampton Borough Council’s Landlord’s Guide to Amenities & Facilities for HMOs
Northampton’s Community Safety Plan 2017-20
Northampton Borough Council’s Corporate Plan 2018-20

          Phil Harris
             Head of Housing and Wellbeing

          01604 837871

314



APPENDIX A

Private Sector Housing

CONSULTATION 
REPORT

                      
Proposed implementation of                 
an Enhanced Designation for  
Additional HMO Licensing in 
Northampton

3 May 2019

315



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 2 of 36

CONTENTS
        Page

1.    Introduction   3

2.    Consultation on Additional HMO Licensing   4

3.    Key Milestones in Housing and Planning Legislation         5

4.    Principles underpinning the new Designation                               6
   

5.    Criteria for Enhanced Designation                     7

6.    Overview of the Proposed Licensing Scheme   8 

7.    The Case for an Enhanced Designation           10

8.    Charging for Additional HMO Licensing   18

9.    Conclusion   18

10. Appendix 1  - Proposed Additional HMO Licensing Designation  20

11. Appendix 2 – Engagement   21

12. Appendix 3 – Survey Monkey instructions   22

13.   Appendix 4 – Proposed Additional HMO Licensing Designation  25
                                    Street Index 

14.   Appendix 5 – Northampton’s Existing Additional HMO                  36
                                Licensing Designation (2014) 

 

316



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 3 of 36

1     Introduction 

1.1 Northampton Borough Council (‘the Council’) is committed to continuing to improve 
standards in the private sector by ensuring that all private rented accommodation is 
well managed, properly maintained and safe and habitable. 

1.2 The Council is also committed to ensuring that Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(‘HMOs’) that require a licence obtain one as soon as they are required to have one, 
that all landlords comply with their legal responsibilities, tenants live in safe 
conditions and the wellbeing of people living in and around HMOs is protected.

1.3 HMOs present significantly greater risks to tenants’ health, safety and wellbeing 
than comparable single occupancy dwellings. Risks such as dangerous gas 
appliances, faulty electrical systems and inadequate means of escape and other fire 
precautions are just some of the hazards that the Housing Enforcement Team come 
across on a regular basis. They put tenants’ health, safety and lives at risk.  

1.4 Living in such conditions – and perhaps having to deal with the aggressive or 
dismissive behaviours of their landlord, fearful that just asking for help may lead to 
them being evicted – can also have a significant impact on the mental health and 
wellbeing of the occupants of the HMO. For many people in this situation, their 
housing choices are limited and it may not be easy to find somewhere else to live.

1.5 Although Northampton has some excellent landlords and letting agents, the Council 
has a vital role to play in tackling criminal, rogue and irresponsible landlords and 
preventing them from profiting from their non-compliance. An Additional HMO 
Licensing Scheme will help to create a level business playing field for all HMO 
landlords, giving responsible landlords the confidence that their non-compliant 
competitors who cut corners and put their tenants’ safety and wellbeing at risk will 
be made to comply, meet their legal obligations and face appropriate sanctions. 

1.6 For the past three years, the Council’s Housing Enforcement Team has developed 
into a nationally recognised professional service that uses an intelligence-led, 
targeted approach to tackle housing criminals. It has already demonstrated that 
Northampton Borough Council is prepared to take resolute action against those who 
flout the law and that, where necessary, it will use all of its powers to drive housing 
criminals out of Northampton’s private rented sector.

1.7 We know from the service requests we receive, the intelligence we have gathered, 
our proactive investigations and the intensive work undertaken by our Housing 
Enforcement Team that the housing market in Northampton changes constantly, 
often in response to pressures that we may not be aware of.

317



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 4 of 36

1.8 Maintaining accurate, up-to-date intelligence about properties is a challenge, but we 
are confident that there is still a substantial number of unregulated HMOs that 
require attention. Additional HMO licensing will assist the Council to better identify 
unregulated HMOs and target its limited enforcement resources at those individuals 
and businesses that refuse to comply.

1.9 The Council believes that, operating together, Mandatory and Additional Licensing 
schemes can play a vital role in controlling and regulating HMOs and ensuring that 
legal standards are in place for fire safety, housing-related health and safety, space 
standards, amenities, management and the provision of good quality rental 
accommodation within Northampton’s housing stock. 

1.10 On 3 July 2014, under the Secretary of State’s general approval, the Council 
implemented a 5 year Additional HMO Licensing scheme and created a designation 
area, based on statistical evidence valid at that time. The scheme (see Appendix 5) 
came into force on 3 November 2014 and will expire on 2 November 2019.

1.11 The Council believes that a larger Additional HMO Licensing designation, 
commencing on 3 November 2019, is required in order that the Council can ensure 
continuity in its regulation and control of HMOs. The concurrent schemes will also 
guarantee a smooth transition to the new scheme at no extra cost or effort for those 
that have an HMO licence at the time the new scheme comes into effect. 

1.12 A wider, enhanced designated area (‘new designation’) is proposed. This new 
designation, which will operate for a period of five years, will include the area 
covered by the existing designation, but also additional areas (mainly in the eastern 
part of the district) based on an evaluation and analysis of up-to-date metrics, 
intelligence and taking into account feedback from consultees (see Appendix 1).

2 Consultation on Additional HMO Licensing 

2.1 The Council has a duty to consult, for a minimum period of 10 weeks, with persons 
who are likely to be affected by the proposed Additional HMO Licensing Scheme. 
Through various channels of engagement, views on the new scheme are being 
sought by the Council (see Appendix 2).

2.2 Although the following list is not exhaustive, consultees include: other regulatory 
bodies, landlords and letting agents, DASH accredited landlords, tenants, 
University students, Northampton residents, business owners and, where 
necessary, residents and business owners who are not in the Northampton 
Borough but whose homes or premises are adjacent to the new designation.

2.3 All consultees are invited to share their views on the proposed scheme via the 
completion of a survey which has been organised online through Survey Monkey. 

318



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 5 of 36

2.4 The Survey Monkey survey can be accessed using the following link:
         https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/K7FW68H (see Appendix 3)

2.5 On 4 June 2019, the Council will be running a series of workshops for landlords, 
letting agents and regulatory partners (such as the Police and the Fire and Rescue 
Service) to discuss the proposed scheme and its potential impact. 

2.6 On completion of the consultation exercise and following consideration of the 
responses and representations received during the consultation, a report will be 
considered by the Council’s Cabinet on 24 July 2019. The report will be publicly 
accessible as a downloadable document on the Council’s website in July 2019 and 
a paper copy will also be available to view at the One Stop Shop in the Guildhall. 

2.7 At its meeting on 24 July 2019, the Cabinet will determine whether the Council 
adopts the new scheme and designation, under a general approval. The Cabinet 
report will contain a recommendation to formally implement the new designation 
as set out in this document subject to significant matters raised during the 
consultation process. A summary of anonymised feedback from consultees will be 
included in the report and published on the Council’s website.

3 Key Milestones in Housing and Planning Legislation 

3.1 In April 2010, a change in planning law resulted in the creation of a new Planning 
Use Class of C4 for small HMOs with three to six unrelated occupants.

3.2 Since October 2010, the General Permitted Development Order has included a 
permitted development right which allows a dwelling house (Use Class C3) to be 
converted to a Class C4 HMO without planning permission.  Planning permission 
is still required to change the use of a dwelling house (Class C3) to a large HMO 
for more than 6 unrelated people.

3.3 At the same time (October 2010), local authorities were granted the power to use 
Article 4 Directions to remove this permitted development right, so that planning 
permission would be required to change the use of a property from a dwelling 
house (Use Class C3) to an HMO (Use Class C4).  To introduce an Article 4 
Direction for this purpose, the local authority needs to have collected evidence that 
there is a need to control the concentration of HMOs in a particular area, and there 
is a requirement for the public and other stakeholders to have been consulted. 

3.4 In March 2011, the first Article 4 Direction to remove the permitted development 
right for change of use from a dwelling house (Use Class C3) to an HMO (Use 
Class C4) was put in place in Northampton.  This covered an area contained 
within Sunnyside, St David’s and Obelisk wards.  

319

https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/K7FW68H


Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 6 of 36

3.5 Since March 2011, four further Article 4 Directions have been introduced covering 
Northampton North and Central (March 2012), parts of Far Cotton and Delapre 
(July 2017), parts of Cliftonville (September 2018) and parts of Far Cotton and 
Delapre closer to the town centre (September 2018).  Full details of these Article 4 
Directions can be found on the Council’s website:  

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning-applications/986/permitted-
development-rights

3.6 These Article 4 Directions do not apply to HMOs that existed prior to the Direction 
coming into force.

3.7 Since October 2018, a mandatory HMO licence is required for any type of HMO 
with five or more occupants (irrespective of the number of storeys), and flats, 
converted flats, one or two storey properties and blocks of purpose-built flats 
where there are up to two flats in the block and one or more of those flats is 
occupied as an HMO.

3.8 Since October 2018, accommodation has also needed to meet the Government’s 
new legal standards for minimum room-sizes in order to prevent overcrowding. 

4 Principles underpinning the new Designation

4.1 In recent years, the supply of affordable housing has fallen and the mortgage 
lending criteria has become much stricter. This has increased the demand for 
private rented accommodation, fuelling the growth of the private rented sector and 
a higher prevalence of bedsit accommodation and shared houses. 

4.2 The Council recognises that bedsits and shared houses are a popular and much 
needed type of accommodation for students, migrant workers, people on low 
incomes and those who are seeking affordable, short-term to medium-term 
accommodation. It also recognises that this type of accommodation is the only 
accessible form of long-term tenure available to people who are on low incomes.  

4.3 Well-managed HMOs have a vital role to play, therefore, in helping to meet the 
housing needs of Northampton’s residents. 

4.4 When examining the spread and distribution of HMOs in the town, high 
concentrations are noticeable in areas near to and surrounding the University. The 
relocation of the University of Northampton has resulted in an accelerated rise in 
student bedsits and shared housing in and around the new site and this has 
indicated a proportionately-increased need to ensure that safe and good quality 
accommodation is being maintained by landlords.

320

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning-applications/986/permitted-development-rights
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning-applications/986/permitted-development-rights


Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 7 of 36

4.5 Where there are high concentrations of HMOs, there are noticeable impacts on 
local communities and the local environment. The Council receives complaints 
from neighbouring residents living in close proximity to HMOs regarding nuisance 
and anti-social behaviour caused by tenants of badly managed HMOs. 

4.6 It is important that the Council protects the safety and wellbeing of neighbouring 
residents, addresses their concerns and helps to resolve valid complaints through 
the use of its enforcement powers. Additional HMO Licensing gives the Council 
enhanced powers to address issues arising within licenced HMOs. 

4.7 With Additional HMO Licensing, the Council is able to make landlords more 
accountable for not only the standards and conditions within the HMOs they let, 
but also for their tenants’ behaviour. 

4.8 It is also incumbent on the Council to acknowledge and act on the feedback it 
receives from those landlords who take their responsibilities very seriously and 
manage their HMOs professionally and effectively. They tell us that, while they are 
co-operating with the licensing process, unscrupulous landlords are still operating 
HMOs that are overcrowded, poorly managed and badly maintained, whilst others 
seek to remain undetected by operating HMOs without a licence. The Additional 
HMO Licensing designation will enable the Council to continue to target resources 
at those offenders who avoid meeting their statutory obligations.

4.9 The proposed scheme will create a level business playing field for the responsible 
landlords and will demonstrate to them that the Council is targeting criminal, rogue 
and irresponsible landlords whose poor-quality, badly managed HMOs are putting 
their tenants at risk of harm, injury or death. 

4.10 An Additional HMO Licencing designation will also enable the Council to devise 
and apply bespoke licensing conditions against individual licence holders and 
properties in order to ensure that specific issues are addressed. Failure to comply 
with such conditions is an offence.

4.11 A designation also permits the Council to determine that a person is not a ‘fit and 
proper person’ to hold an HMO licence and is not, therefore, fit to manage and run 
an HMO. This will effectively remove them from the HMO letting business. 

5 Criteria for Enhanced Designation 

5.1 Before the Council can designate wards and individual streets as being subject to 
Additional HMO Licensing, it must be satisfied that the following criteria are met:

 A significant proportion of the HMOs (of the description to be included in the 
designated area) are being managed so badly as to give rise to (or be likely to 
give rise to) one or more particular problems for those occupying the HMO 
and/or for members of the public;

321



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 8 of 36

 Regard has been given to any information about the extent to which any codes 
of practice approved under section 233 of the Housing Act 2004 have been 
complied with, by persons managing HMOs in the area;

 There are no other courses of action (whatever the nature) available to the 
Council that might prove an effective method of dealing with the problems of 
either those occupying the HMOs or the members of the public;

 Making the designation will significantly assist the Council in dealing with the 
problems;

 Persons who are likely to be affected by the designation have been consulted 
by the Council and any representations made by them have been taken into 
account, hence the 10 week consultation and the opportunity for stakeholders 
to provide their views via surveys and workshops;

 The exercise of power is consistent with the Council’s strategic objectives and 
enforcement policy; and

 A co-ordinated approach is adopted in dealing with homelessness, empty 
properties and antisocial behaviour and in regard to combining Additional 
HMO Licensing with other courses of action available and measures taken by 
other persons.

6 Overview of the Proposed Licensing Scheme

6.1 The proposed scheme is based on fresh, up-to-date metrics and reflects key 
changes in recent Housing and Planning law. It also addresses the anomalies in 
the current Additional HMO Licensing area which excluded certain types of HMO 
from requiring a licence which makes the current designation less equitable.

6.2 The benefits of the proposed scheme are that:

 Problematic HMO properties can be targeted;

 The burden on the council taxpayer will be reduced because the licence fees 
cover the cost of administering the scheme;

 A comprehensive database will be created of all licensable HMO 
accommodation within the proposed designated area and, because landlords 
are required to provide the Council with their contact details, they can be 
contacted more easily in the event of any issues arising relating their 
properties;

322



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 9 of 36

 It will be much easier to identify and tackle those landlords whose 
management and/or accommodation standards are inadequate and to ensure 
that steps are taken to bring those properties up to the required standard;

 It will enable the Council to control the maximum number of occupants   
allowed to reside in a property, preventing unlawful overcrowding in HMOs;

 
 Criminal, rogue and irresponsible landlords will be identified and only those 

landlords that are ‘fit and proper’ will be allowed to have control of an HMO;

 Where a landlord has a portfolio of properties, they will be required to identify, 
upfront in the very first licence application they submit, the locations of all of 
their HMO properties; this will substantially reduce the amount of time the 
Council spends chasing landlords and enable the Council to plan its time and 
resources better and adopt a more proactive and intelligence-led approach to 
enforcement;

 Where a landlord has had an HMO licence revoked and/or they have been 
prosecuted and convicted for housing-related offences, fraud or violence, they 
will be deemed not to be a ‘fit and proper person’ and, if they submit an HMO 
licence application to the Council, their application will be refused; and

 A better and more co-ordinated enforcement approach can be formulated with 
partner agencies (such as Northamptonshire Police, Northamptonshire Fire & 
Rescue Service, Trading Standards, Social Services and the UK Border 
Agency) when tackling substandard HMOs and any crimes that are committed 
by those running them or residing in them.

6.3 Supported by statistical data and evidence, the Council proposes to include the 
following within the enhanced designation:

 Wards where research and mapping indicate a high concentration of HMOs;

 Streets where research and mapping indicate there is a low concentration but 
nonetheless a confirmed presence of HMOs;

 All HMOs (irrespective of the number of storeys) containing three or more 
occupiers that form two or more households;

 All self-contained flats that are HMOs (irrespective of the number of storeys) 
but, in the case of section 257 HMOs, the designation is limited to those that are 
mainly or wholly tenanted, including those with resident landlords;

323



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 10 of 36

 Wards and streets where the Council has received complaints of nuisance and 
antisocial behaviour emanating from HMOs which have affected neighbouring 
properties and communities as a whole; and

 HMOs located above ground-floor commercial units on main thoroughfares 
because they are considered by the Council and Northamptonshire Fire & 
Rescue Service as being relatively high-risk in relation to fire safety, security, 
access and repairs.

7 The Case for an Enhanced Designation

7.1 Following its assessment of the conditions that exist within HMOs, the local 
environment and other factors such as the conjunction of instances of antisocial 
behaviour, as well as broader planning factors, the Council wishes to consider the 
implementation of a larger enhanced designation area for Additional HMO Licensing 
which will apply to the larger area outlined on the map and listed in the Proposed 
Additional HMO Licensing Scheme Street Index. (see Appendices 1 and 4)

7.2 The designated area will include all of the Council’s current Article 4 Areas (as the 
evidence gathered and used to justify Article 4 areas within Northampton Borough is 
also compelling), together with supportive evidence for Additional HMO Licensing in 
the same Article 4 areas.

7.3 Taking into account the Housing Enforcement Team’s established intelligence-led 
approach to the improvement and enforcement of standards, conditions and 
management within HMOs in Northampton – and the evidence of the local and 
environmental impacts – the Council believes that the implementation of an 
enhanced designation area will provide the most effective and appropriate way to 
ensure that HMOs are subject to the necessary regulation and control. 

7.4 The maps on Pages 11 - 17 of this Consultation Report support the case for an 
enhanced designation in the area that is proposed for Additional HMO Licensing.

7.5 The first three maps (Figures 1, 2 and 3) identify, using a black line, the boundaries 
of the Article 4 areas in Northampton. 

7.6 Northampton’s existing Additional HMO Licensing designation (see Appendix 5) 
and the largest Article 4 area (located at the top of Figures 1, 2 and 3) are identical. 

324



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 11 of 36

Figure 1: Location of licensed HMOs in Northampton

7.7 There are currently a total of 844 licensed HMOs in Northampton. Of these, 457 
have a Mandatory HMO licence and 387 have an Additional HMO licence. 

7.8 The proposed designation will have a significant impact because landlords of all 
HMOs within the proposed area (irrespective of the number of storeys) will be 
required to apply for a licence to operate their HMOs. This will provide the Council 
with enhanced controls and the ability to target enforcement resources at criminal, 
rogue and irresponsible landlords. 

7.9 The proposed designation will also enable the Council to recognise those 
responsible landlords of well managed and maintained HMOs who will not only be 
eligible for a reduced HMO licence fee but will also be trusted to undertake more 
“self-regulation” with less local authority intrusion.

7.10 The Council is committed to improving management standards and quality of 
tenants’ homes through effective regulation, targeted enforcement and the provision 
of advice and support. To this end, it is keen to carry out its licensing and 
enforcement functions in an efficient and effective manner that supports good 
landlords and is aligned with its intelligence-led, targeted approach.

 7.11 The Council provides co-ordinated strategic housing services in relation to 
homelessness, empty properties and anti-social behaviour affecting the private 
rented sector and it believes the implementation of an enhanced designation area 
will further strengthen the effectiveness of these services.

325



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 12 of 36

Figure 2: Location of HMOs in which the occupant is exempt 
                from council tax because they are a student

7.12 There are currently a total of 1,121 HMOs in Northampton that are exempt from 
council tax due to them being occupied by students. 

7.13 Since the University of Northampton announced plans to relocate its campus, areas 
such as St James, Far Cotton and Delapre have seen an increase in shared student 
houses. This has attracted increased landlord investment into the area, with 
properties being bought for use as student HMO housing, and increased the 
concentrations of this type of accommodation in those areas.

7.14 The majority of HMOs in and around the Far Cotton and Delapre areas are 
occupied by students as they are choosing to live in accommodation that is within a 
reasonable travel distance to the new University site. 

7.15 There has also been an increase in the number of HMOs in the southern part of the 
existing Additional HMO Licensing designation. This evidence is further supported 
by current planning applications being particularly concentrated in the same area.

7.16 Although there has been some decline in student letting in some areas that have 
been left behind by the relocation of the University of Northampton, this has not 
resulted in a proportionate decrease in the number of HMOs in those areas. 
Evidence shows that HMO numbers are still being sustained in those areas, but 
they are now being occupied by different groups of people, rather than by students.

326



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 13 of 36

Figure 3: Location of properties for which an HMO 
                planning application has been received

7.17 Between 2011 and March 2019, the Council received a total of 426 planning 
applications for HMOs. The vast majority of these are in Article 4 areas. 

7.18 All of this demonstrates that the Council should not only keep Additional HMO 
Licensing in the existing designated area but should also consider extending it to 
include other parts of the Borough as it is clear that investors have purchased 
properties close to, but not inside, the existing Additional HMO Licensing designation, 
thus avoiding licensing regulation 

7.19 There is also evidence from enquiries the Council has received that prospective 
investors are interested in purchasing and operating HMOs but insisting they are only 
housing up to 4 persons. This avoids the requirement to obtain a Mandatory HMO 
Licence (5 or more persons) and such properties operate throughout the borough 
without HMO licencing regulation and scrutiny. 

7.20 Smaller unregulated properties can go undetected, with poor conditions and 
inadequate management. Often they end up significantly overcrowded and have a 
detrimental impact on the surrounding neighbourhood and communities.

327



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 14 of 36

7.21 Although Article 4 areas are in place, it is recognised that unauthorised development 
will still continue due to the responsible person’s failure to notify the planning 
authority. If the new Additional HMO Licensing designation covers a wider area than 
the existing designation, the work of the Housing Enforcement Team will complement 
development control, as successful enforcement will lead to financial penalties or 
prosecution for the operation of unlicensed HMOs.

   Figure 4: Location of properties that have been 
                   the subject of complaints about noise 

7.22 Between March 2014 and March 2019, Environmental Services received and 
recorded a total of 2,608 noise complaints. A large proportion of these complaints 
relate to HMOs. Other complaints were not attributed to a postcode, so are not 
shown on the map.

328



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 15 of 36

Figure 5: Location of properties that have been the subject of complaints 
                      about rubbish sacks and the accumulation of refuse in gardens 

7.23 Between March 2014 and March 2019, Environmental Services received and 
recorded a total of 1,357 complaints about rubbish sacks and the accumulation of 
refuse in gardens. The vast majority of these complaints relate to HMOs. 

329



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 16 of 36

Figure 6: Location of fly tipping 

7.24 Between March 2014 and March 2019, Environmental Services received and 
recorded a total of 1,076 complaints about fly tipping. A significant number of these 
complaints related to fly tipping in and around HMOs.  

330



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 17 of 36

      Figure 7: Amalgamation of the data 

7.25 The map in Figure 7 includes all of the data from Figures 1 – 6, overlaid onto one 
map, and this amalgamated data has been used to define the proposed enhanced 
Additional HMO Licensing designation.

7.26 The Housing Enforcement Team’s intelligence-led approach to assist targeted 
enforcement over the last three years has enabled officers to identify a current 
total of 960 properties of interest. 

7.27 This intelligence has revealed significant numbers of suspected and confirmed 
HMOs that are operating in the Borough without a licence under current 
Mandatory and Additional licensing regimes. Significantly, the majority of the 960 
properties of interest are subject to Additional HMO Licensing. This number is 
increasing as more intelligence is processed.

7.28 It is proposed that the new Additional HMO Licensing designation encompasses a 
larger geographical area than the existing one in order to include a large part of 
the borough east of the original designation. This is based on the information and 
intelligence the Council holds in relation to the significant number of suspected 
and confirmed HMOs that are operating in that part of the borough and the data 
that has been provided about noise complaints, waste and fly tipping in the area. 

331



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 18 of 36

7.29 Environmental Services complaints are also extensively promulgated in this area 
alongside this the demographic suggests a high population of vulnerable people 
who for whatever reason may not or do not have the means to approach us for 
assistance.

7.30 Although the Council would acknowledge that standards and conditions vary from 
very good to extremely poor across the HMO stock, the intelligence gathered and 
proactive inspections undertaken to date indicate that the market does not in itself 
routinely promote high standards. There is still a significant proportion of premises 
which are not subject to control and therefore present unacceptable risks to 
occupants and may also be disruptive to the local community.

7.31 The Council believes the adoption of a wider enhanced designated area for 
Additional HMO licensing will significantly mitigate risks and significantly improve 
the sector.

8 Charging for Additional HMO Licensing

8.1 Additional Licensing is a chargeable scheme and the Council will make charges to 
landlords for the administration of this scheme. The Council currently issues HMO 
licences lasting up to five years. A significant ‘early bird’ discount is provided for 
those who apply for, or renew, their licence on time with all of the required 
information and documentation.

8.2 The HMO licence fee will be reviewed following this consultation, taking into 
account the increased number of HMOs to be licenced and the resources required 
to process this increase. Mandatory and Additional Licensing charges will be set in 
accordance with the Council’s normal process for the setting of fees and charges.

9 Conclusion

9.1 Northampton Borough Council believes that the evidence supports a larger 
designation to include the central and eastern areas of the Borough as outlined in 
the map on Page 20 (see Appendix 1) as an area of Additional HMO Licensing.

9.2 This is based on findings that show areas with high numbers and densities of 
HMOs within the borough that would be subject to the designation. Risk factors, 
poor conditions and lack of adequate management in such HMOs are prevalent 
with criminal, rogue and irresponsible landlords in such significant numbers that 
the Council believes additional licensing will be an important tool in driving out 
such landlords and protecting the reputation and businesses of those landlords 
and letting agents who take their legal responsibilities seriously and run successful 
compliant businesses 

332



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 19 of 36

9.3 This is supported by residents’ concerns, complaints, anti-social behaviour factors, 
parking stress and officer findings of high incidences of safety risks in the known 
HMO stock in the town. The proposed Additional HMO Licencing Scheme will help 
to control those properties that are in the poorest condition and pose the greatest 
risk to tenants, as landlords will be required to apply for a licence and meet 
minimum standards of amenities as well as managing their HMO properly.

9.4 The Council believes that, as a result of the proposed designation, criminal, rogue 
and irresponsible landlords can be more easily targeted for enforcement action 
and the standard of HMOs will be significantly improved. Better managed and 
maintained HMOs will not only improve the health and wellbeing of the tenants but 
they will also have a more positive impact on the local community.

9.5 Additional HMO Licensing will operate as a constituent element of the Council’s 
broader strategy to positively support the responsible landlord community, target 
the improvement of compliance standards without blanket enforcement measures 
affecting the whole profession, ensuring proportionate regulation continues. 

9.6 The extension of HMO licensing will consolidate the Council’s local knowledge of 
the range and distribution of HMO accommodation, the nature of their occupation: 
informing the development of its future policies and its activities as the Planning 
Authority controlling the distribution and density of HMO development. 

9.7 An enhanced Additional Licensing designation will significantly increase 
knowledge in relation to the impact of HMO development on local communities 
and their causes of concern, especially in relation to local environment, community 
development and place shaping.

Debi Waite
Private Sector Housing Manager
Northampton Borough Council

333



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 20 of 36

Appendix 1 – Proposed Additional Licensing Designation (shaded area)

334



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 21 of 36

Appendix 2 - Engagement

Channels of engagement to publicise and raise awareness of the consultation and survey:

The Council’s website 

DASH (Decent And Safe Housing) website

The One Stop Shop in the Guildhall

Local libraries 

Practice Managers of local NHS surgeries

Emails to attendees of the Landlord Forum 

Emails to known HMO landlords and local letting agents

Member briefings for Councillors

Communication to local Residents Associations / Groups (with the help of Councillors)

An article and a follow-up advertisement in the Chronicle and Echo newspaper

A newsletter article

Social medial feeds via the Council’s LinkedIn, Facebook and Twitter accounts

TV and/or radio news campaign(s)

Contacting Northampton MPs to ask them to raise awareness of the survey

Northampton University’s Student Liaison contact

Students’ Union

Citizens Advice

Shelter

Local village halls’ noticeboards

Neighbouring Local Authority areas

335



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 22 of 36

Appendix 3 – Survey Monkey Instructions and Illustration

The Consultation Survey can be accessed, completed and submitted online via a 
PC, tablet and mobile phone by following the steps outlined below:

Step 1
a) Open your web browser and type the following link into the search bar 
       https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/K7FW68H
     This will take you to the survey which is entitled ‘Consultation on Additional 
     Licensing Scheme for Houses in Multiple Occupation (2019 to 2024 scheme)’

Step 2
a) The introduction paragraph of the survey contains a web link.
b) Open a new search tab but don’t close down the survey. Keep the survey 

open in the background as you will need to come back to it in a moment.
c) In the new search tab, copy and paste the following link and then open the 

link https://www.northampton.gov.uk/privacynotices 
d) Read the Corporate Privacy Statement and then click the hyperlink below it 

which is entitled ‘Our Privacy Notice’ to open it. Read our Corporate Privacy 
Statement in full then close this tab to go back to the survey.

Step 3
a) Click the ‘OK’ box (located underneath the introduction paragraph of the 

survey).
b) That will take you to the first question. 
c) If the ‘OK’ box isn’t visible on your screen, then go directly to the first question.

Step 4
a) Complete Questions 1 to 6, in turn.
b) Depending on which method you would prefer us to contact you by (the 

options available are either by email or post) type your details accurately 
into the relevant field so that the Council can get in touch with you about the 
outcome of the proposal 

Step 5
a) Only complete Question 7 if you are a landlord or letting agent.
b) If you are not a landlord or letting agent, go to Step 6.

Step 6
a) Once you have completed the questions, click on the ‘Done’ box and this will 

submit your survey to the Council.
b) Exit the survey

Below is an illustration of the Survey Monkey webpage:

336

https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/K7FW68H
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/K7FW68H
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/privacynotices


Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 23 of 36
337



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 24 of 36
338



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 25 of 36

Abbey Road Abbey Street
Aberdare Road Aberdeen Terrace Abington Avenue
Abington Grove Abington Park Crescent Abington Place
Abington Square Abington Street Abthorpe Avenue

Acre Lane Adams Avenue Addison Road
Addlecroft Close Adelaide Place Adelaide Street
Adelaide Terrace Adnitt Road Agnes Road
Ainsdale Close Albany Road Albert Place

Albion Place Alcombe Road Alcombe Terrace
Alder Court Alexander Court Alexandra Road

Alexandra Terrace Alfred Street Allard Close
Allen Road Alley Yard Alliston Gardens
Alma Street Althorp Road Althorp Street
Alton Street Alvis Court Alwyn Walk

Ambleside Close Ambush Street Angel Street
Annesley Close Appleby Walk Appledore Close

Arbour Court Arbour View Court Arbour Walk
Archers Close Ardington Road Argyle Street
Arlbury Road Arndale Arnold Road

Arrow Head Road Arthur Street Arthur Terrace
Artizan Road Arundel Street Ash Grove

Ash Rise Ash Street Ashbrow Road
Ashburnham Road Ashcroft Gardens Ashford Close

Ashley Way Ashmead Aspen Close
Aster Close Attlee Close Auckland Close

Auctioneers Court Auctioneers Way Austin Street
Axe Head Road Aynho Crescent Aynho Walk

Azalea Close Badby Close Badgers Walk
Bailiff Street Baker Street Baldwin Close

Balfour Close Balfour Road Balmoral Road
Bankside Baring Road Barley Hill Road

Barley Lane Barnet Close Barnets Stile
Barnfield Close Barnhill Square Barnstaple Close
Barnwell Road Barons Way Baronson Gardens
Barrack Road Barry Road Bath Street

Baukewell Court Baulmsholme Close Baunhill Close
Beaconsfield Terrace Beaumont Drive Bective Close

Bective Road Bective View Bedford Place
Bedford Road Beech Avenue Beech Grove

Beechcroft Gardens Beechwood Drive Beeston Avenue
Belfield Close Bellropes Square Belstead Road

Bembridge Drive Bentley Close Bern Links
Bern Side Berrydale Bestwell Court

Beverley Crescent Bewick Road Bibury Crescent
Bidders Close Bideford Close Billing Brook Road
Billing Lane Billing Road Billing Road East

Billingmead Walk Billington Street Birch Barn Lane
Birch Barn Way Birchfield Crescent Birchfield Road

Appendix 4 – Proposed Additional HMO Licensing Designation Street Index

339



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 26 of 36

Birchfield Road East Birds Hill Road Birds Hill Walk
Birkdale Close Bishops Drive Bitten Court
Black Lion Hill Blackberry Lane Blackthorn Bridge Court

Blackthorn Road Blackthorn Walk Blackwall Close
Bladon Close Blakesley Close Blenheim Road

Blisworth Close Blossom Way Bluebell Court
Blueberry Rise Bodington Walk Bondfield Avenue

Booth Lane North Booth Lane South Booth Meadow Court
Booth Meadow Walk Booth Park Booth Rise

Boothville Green Borrowdale Walk Bostock Avenue
Bosworth Close Botmead Road Bougainvillea Drive

Boughton Green Road Bouverie Street Bouverie Walk
Bowden Road Bower Walk Bowthorpe Close

Brackenfield Square Brackenhill Close Brackley Close
Bradden Close Bradlaugh Crescent Bradmoor Court

Bradshaw Street Bramble Close Bramcote Drive
Bramley Grove Branksome Avenue Braunston Close
Brayford Close Brecon Street Brendon Close
Briar Hill Road Briar Hill Walk Brick Kiln Lane
Brickwell Court Bridge Street Bridgewater Drive
Briton Gardens Briton Road Briton Terrace
Brittons Drive Broad Street Broadhurst Drive

Broadmead Avenue Broadway Broadway East
Brocade Close Brockhall Close Brockhall Road
Brockton Street Bromford Close Brook Street

Brook Walk Brookfield Road Brookland Crescent
Brookland Road Broomhill Crescent Broughton Place
Brownlow Court Bruce Street Brundall Close
Brunswick Place Brunswick Walk Buchanan Close

Bunting Road Burford Avenue Burleigh Road
Burns Street Burrows Court Burtram Close

Burwood Road Bush Hill Bushland Road
Buttermere Close Byfield Road Byron Street

Caldbeck Walk Calstock Close Camberley Close
Camborne Close Cambria Crescent Cambridge Street
Campanula Close Campbell Square Campbell Street

Campion Court Campion Walk Camrose Road
Candleford Canons Walk Carey Street

Carline Court Carlton Gardens Carlton Road
Carrington Gardens Cartmel Place Cartwright Road

Casterton Walk Castilian Street Castilian Terrace
Castle Hill Castle Street Castle Terrace

Catesby Close Cattle Hill Cattle Market Road
Catton Crescent Cavendish Drive Cecil Road

Cedar Road Cedar Road East Cedrus Court
Celeborn Place Central Avenue Chadstone Avenue

Chalcombe Avenue Chalcombe Road Chalk Lane
Chantry Close Chapel Place Chapel Row
Charles Street Charles Studd Road Charlton Close

Charnwood Avenue Chartwell Avenue Chatsworth Avenue
Chaucer Street Chedworth Close Chelfham Close

Chelmsford Close Chepstow Close Cheriton Way

340



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 27 of 36

Cherry Blossom Close Cherry Close Cherry Lodge Road
Cherry Orchard Place Chesham Rise Chestnut Road

Chestnut Terrace Cheyne Walk Chilwell Court
Chipsey Avenue Christchurch Road Chulmleigh Walk

Church Lane Church Walk Church Way
Churchfield Close Churchill Avenue Churchill Court

Cissbury Road Clare Street Clarence Avenue
Clarke Road Claughton Road Cleveland Place

Cliff Court Cliftonville Clinton Road
Clipston Field Place Clock Tower Court Cloutsham Street

Clover Lane Clumber Drive Cluniac Court
Coaching Walk Codlin Close Coleraine Close

College Field Close College Street College Street Mews
Collingdale Road Collingwood Road Collins Street
Collmead Court Collyweston Road Colwyn Road

Commercial Street Compton Street Conduit Lane
Coneygree Court Coneygree Walk Coneywell Court

Conifer Rise Coniston Avenue Connaught Street
Conyngham Road Copse Close Cordon Close

Cornfield Close Cosgrove Road Cosgrove Way
Cottage Close Cottage Gardens Cottagewell Court

Cottarville Cotton End Countess Road
Court Road Courteenhall Close Coverack Close
Coverdale Covert Close Covington Street
Cow Yard Cowgill Close Cowper Street

Cowper Terrace Crabb Tree Drive Cranbrook Road
Crane Walk Cranford Road Cransley Walk

Cranstoun Street Craven Street Crawley Close
Crediton Close Crestline Court Crestwood Close

Crestwood Gardens Crestwood Road Cricklade Close
Crickley Crescent Crispin Street Crocket Close

Croftmeadow Court Cromwell Street Croughton Close
Crowthorp Road Croxdale Close Culworth Crescent

Cumberland Close Cumbrae Drive Currie Road
Cutler Close Cyclamen Close Cypress Court
Cyril Street Daimler Close Dairymeadow Court

Dallington Road Dalston Walk Damson Dell
Dandelion Close Danefield Road Danes Backside

Danetree Gardens Danewood Gardens Dartford Close
Deacons Court Deal Court Deal Street

Deansway Debdale Road Delamere Road
Delapre Crescent Delapre Crescent Road Delapre Street

Dell Crescent Delta Way Denbigh Road
Denmark Road Derby Road Derngate
Dickson Close Dingley Walk Doddridge Street

Doffmans Corner Donellan Green Donovan Court
Dore Close Dorman Close Dorset Gardens

Dorset Road Downwood Close Drapery
Draycott Close Drayton Walk Drovers Walk

Drum Lane Drydale Avenue Dryden Road
Dryfield Walk Dryland Road Dryleys Court
Drywell Court Duckworth Dell Duke Street

341



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 28 of 36

Dulverton Road Dundee Street Dunster Street
Dychurch Lane Earl Street East Bank

East Butterfield Court East Mead Court East Paddock Court
East Park Parade East Priors Court East Street

Eastern Avenue North Eastern Avenue South Eastern Close
Eastfield Road Ecton Brook Road Ecton Park Road
Ecton Street Eden Close Edgemont Road

Edinburgh Road Edith Street Edward Watson Close
Edwinstowe Close Ekins Close Elderberry Court

Elgin Street Elizabeth Street Elizabeth Walk
Ellfield Court Ellis Way Elm Street

Elmhurst Avenue Elmhurst Court Elmington Road
Elton Close Elwes Way Elysium Terrace
Emley Close Emmanual Gardens Emmanuel Court

Emporium Lane Entwood Drive Ermine Road
Esher Court Eskdale Avenue Essex Street
Ethel Street Euston Road Evenley Road

Everdon Close Evesham Court Exeter Place
Exmoor Close Fair Mile Fairfield Road
Fairmead Rise Fairway Falcutt Way

Fallow Walk Far Meadow Court Faracre Court
Faracre Walk Faramir Place Faringdon Court
Farm Close Farmbrook Court Farmfield Court

Farmhill Road Farndon Close Favell Way
Fawsley Road Faxton Close Fellmead Road
Fengate Close Ferndale Road Fetter Street

Field Rose Square Fieldmill Road Fieldmill Square
Fieldmill Walk Fieldway Fife Street
Filleigh Way Fir Tree Walk Firbank Close
Fish Street Fishers Close Fishponds Road

Fitzgerald Court Fitzgerald Road Fitzroy Place
Fitzroy Terrace Five Acres Fold Flaxfield Walk
Flaxlands Court Flaxwell Court Flint Jetty
Flintcomb Rise Florence Road Floribunda Drive

Forest Road Forfar Street Fort Place
Foskitt Court North Foskitt Court South Foskitt Walk

Foundry Street Foxcovert Road Foxendale Square
Foxgrove Avenue Foxhill Road Foxwell Square

Frances Jetty Francis Street Fraser Road
Freehold Street Freeschool Street Fremeaux Terrace
Frensham Close Friars Avenue Friars Close

Friars Court Friars Crescent Fuchsia Close
Fulford Drive Fullerburn Court Fullingdale Road
Furber Court Furze Walk Fylingdale

Gable Court Mews Gadesby Court Gallery Close
Gallfield Court Gammons Place Garfield Close
Garfield Street Garrick Road Garsdale

Gas Street Gedling Close Geldock Road
George Nutt Court George Row Gervase Square
Gibbsacre Court Gibbsacre Walk Gillsway

Glade Close Gladstone Road Glaisdale Close
Glan-Y-Mor Terrace Glapthorn Walk Glasgow Street

342



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 29 of 36

Glastonbury Road Glendale Court Glendale Walk
Gloucester Avenue Gloucester Close Gloucester Crescent

Gold Street Goldcrest Court Goldenash Court
Goldings Road Gordon Street Gorse Close
Grafton Place Grafton Street Grange Road
Graspin Lane Grasscroft Grassmere Avenue
Gray Street Great Billing Way Great Gull Crescent

Great Holme Court Great Russell Street Greatfield Court
Greatmeadow Greatmeadow Road Green End

Greendale Square Greenfield Avenue Greenfield Close
Greenfield Road Greenhills Close Greenhills Road

Greenside Greenview Drive Greenway
Greenway Avenue Greenwood Road Gregory Gardens

Gregory Street Greyfriars Grimston Jetty
Grosvenor Gardens Groundwell Court Grove Road

Grovebury Dell Guildhall Road Gurston Rise
Haines Road Hall Piece Close Halswell Court

Ham Meadow Drive Hambledon Rise Hammerstone Lane
Hampton Street Hamsterly Park Hanemill Court
Hanemill Walk Hangerfield Court Hanover Court

Harborough Road Harborough Road North Harding Terrace
Harebell Square Harefield Road Harlestone Road

Harold Street Harrow Way Hartwell Close
Harvest Way Hastings Road Haven Close

Hawksbeard Place Hawthorn Road Haycroft Walk
Hayeswood Road Hazeldene Road Hazelwood Road

Healey Close Heather Lane Heatherdale Way
Heathfield Way Hedgely Court Hedgerow Drive
Hedgerow Lane Hellidon Close Helmdon Crescent
Helmdon Road Hembury Place Henard Close

Henry Bird Court Henry Bird Way Henry Street
Herbert Street Hereward Road Hertford Court
Hervey Close Hervey Street Hester Street
Hexham Court Hibiscus Close High Street
Highfield Road Hilberry Rise Hillcrest Avenue
Hillside Way Hinton Close Hinton Road

Hodder Street Holdenby Road Hollingside Drive
Holly Lodge Drive Holly Road Hollyoak Terrace

Holman Close Holmecross Road Holmfield Way
Holte End Holyrood Road Home Farm Close

Homestead Way Honeysuckle Way Honister Green
Hood Street Hopes Place Hopmeadow Court

Hornbeam Court Horsemarket Horsemoor Square
Horseshoe Street Horsley Road Howard Biley Gardens

Hoxton Close Hoylake Drive Hunsbarrow Road
Hunsbury Walk Hunter Street Hunters Close

Huntsham Close Huntsmead Huxloe Rise
Ibstock Close Inglewood Court Inglewood Walk
Irondale Close Ironstone Jetty Ironstone Lane
Isham Close Ivy Road Ixworth Close

James Lewis Court Jardine Close Jasmine Road
Jasper Walk Jenner Crescent Jerome Court

343



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 30 of 36

Jersey Court Jeyes Jetty Johnson Court
Jubilee Close Jubilee Mews Julian Way
Junction Road Juniper Court Kelmscott Close
Kendal Close Kenmuir Avenue Kenmuir Crescent

Kenmuir Gardens Kensington Close Kentstone Close
Kestrel Close Keswick Drive Kettering Gardens

Kettering Road Kettering Road North Keyham Court
King Edward Road King Street Kingmaker Way

Kingscroft Court Kingscroft Walk Kingsland Avenue
Kingsland Close Kingsland Gardens Kingsley Gardens

Kingsley Park Terrace Kingsley Road Kingsmead
Kingsthorpe Grove Kingsthorpe Road Kingsway

Kingswell Road Kingswell Street Kirkstone Walk
Kirton Close Kirton End Knaphill Crescent

Knightley Road Knights Court Knights Lane
Knowle Close Laburnum Crescent Laceby Walk

Lady Winefrides Walk Ladys Lane Lakeside Drive
Lakeview Green Lancaster Way Landcross Drive
Landsdown Drive Lanercost Walk Langdale Road
Langham Place Langsett Close Lark Rise
Larwood Close Lasham Court Lasham Walk
Latymer Court Lauderdale Avenue Laurel Court

Lavenham Close Lawrence Court Lawson Crescent
Lea Road Leafields Leah Bank

Leatherworks Way Leben Square Leicester Parade
Leicester Street Leicester Terrace Leslie Road

Letts Road Lewis Road Leyland Drive
Leyside Court Leyswell Court Liddington Way
Lime Avenue Linacre Close Lincoln Road
Lincoln Street Lindale Close Linden Road

Lindsay Avenue Lindsay Terrace Lingfield Terrace
Lings Way Lingswood Park Link Road
Lion Court Lismore Close Little Billing Way

Little Cross Street Little Gull Close Littlewood Close
Lockcroft Square Lockwood Close Lodore Gardens

Logwell Court Lombardy Court London Road A508
Long Mallows Rise Long Marsh Square Longford Avenue

Longland Court Longland Road Longmead Court
Longueville Court Lorne Road Louise Road

Lower Adelaide Street Lower Bath Street Lower Cross Street
Lower Harding Street Lower Hester Street Lower Meadow Court

Lower Mounts Lower Priory Street Lower Thrift Street
Lowergrass Walk Lowlands Close Lowry Close

Loyd Road Ludlow Close Lumbertubs Lane
Lumbertubs Rise Lumbertubs Way Lutterworth Road

Lyncroft Way Lynmouth Avenue Lynton Avenue
Lytham Close Lyttleton Road Maclean Close

Macmillan Way Magee Street Magnolia Close
Maidencastle Main Road Malcolm Road

Malcolm Terrace Malesoure Walk Malthouse Close
Manderville Close Manfield Road Manor Farm Road

Manor Road Manorfield Close Manorfield Road

344



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 31 of 36

Mapperley Drive Marble Arch Marburg Street
Marchwood Close Marefair Margaret Street

Market Square Market Street Market Walk
Marlborough Road Marriott Street Marshleys Court
Marshwell Court Martindale Martins Yard

Marvills Mill Road Marwood Close Masefield Way
Mayfield Road Mayorhold Meadow View

Meadway Medellin Hill Melbourne Road
Melbourne Street Melbourne Walk Melbury Lane

Melbury Place Meltham Close Melville Street
Mercers Row Mercia Gardens Mereway

Merrydale Square Mersey Close Merthyr Road
Mescalero Meshaw Crescent Micklewell Lane

Middle Meadow Walk Middlemarch Middlemead Court
Middlemore Middleton Close Middlewell Court

Midfield Court Miles Well Court Military Road
Mill Lane Mill Meadow Mill Road
Millbank Millside Close Milton Street

Milton Street North Milverton Crescent Mimosa Close
Moat Place Monarch Road Monarch Terrace

Monks Hall Road Monks Park Road Monks Pond Street
Monmouth Road Moore Street Moorfield Square
Moorland Close Moreton Way Morgan Close

Morris Road Mortar Pit Road Mortimer Close
Motspur Drive Mountclair Court Mounts Court

Murray Avenue Muscott Street Mushroom Field Road
Naomi Close Narrow Lane Narrow Toe Lane

Naseby Street Navigation Row Neale Close
Nelson Street Nene Drive Nene Valley Way
Nesbitt Close Nether Jackson Court Nethermead Court

New South Bridge Road Newby Court Newcombe Road
Newington Road Newland Newland Walk
Newnham Road Newport Road Newstead Close

Newstone Crescent Newtown Road Nicholls Court
Norfolk Street Norfolk Terrace Norman Road

Normead Square North Hayes Court North Holme Court
North Paddock Court North Priors Court North Western Avenue

Northcote Street Northfield Way Northumbria Gardens
Northwood Road Norton Road Notre Dame Mews
Nunn Mills Road Nursery Lane Nuthall Close

Oak Grove Oak Street Oaklands Drive
Oakley Street Oakpark Close Oakwood Road
Oat Hill Drive Obelisk Rise Octagon Way

Old Barn Court Old Barn Walk Old Bedford Road
Old Carpenters Close Old Quarry Court Old Scholars Close

Old School Close Old Towcester Road Old Yew Court
Olden Road Oldenmead Court Oleander Crescent
Oliver Street Oransay Close Orchard Green
Orchard Hill Orchard Street Osborne Road

Osbornes Jetty Osler Close Osmund Drive
Overleys Court Overmead Road Overstone Lane

Overstone Road Oxford Street Paddock Mill Court

345



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 32 of 36

Paddocks Way Padwell Court Palmer Square
Palmerston Road Park Avenue Park Avenue North

Park Avenue South Park Hill Road Park Way
Parkfield Avenue Parkfield Crescent Parkside
Parkwood Street Parracombe Way Partridge Close

Parva Court Pasteur Close Patterdale Walk
Patterson Close Paxton Road Peace Close
Pear Tree Close Pearmain Court Pelham Court

Pell Court Pembroke Crescent Pembroke Gardens
Pembroke Road Pen Court Penarth Road
Penfold Close Penfold Drive Penfold Gardens
Penfold Lane Penistone Road Penistone Walk

Pennycress Place Penrhyn Road Percy Road
Perry Street Pheasant Way Phoenix Street

Piccadilly Close Pike Lane Pikemead Court
Pilgrims Place Pilton Close Pindar Rise

Pine Ridge Pineham Avenue Pinetrees
Pinewood Road Pippin Lane Pitstone Road

Pleydell Gardens Pleydell Road Plough Lane
Ploughmans Walk Poachers Way Pomfret Arms Close

Poole Street Poplar Court Poppyfield Court
Portchester Gardens Portland Place Pound Lane

Prentice Court Prescott Close Preston Court
Prestwold Way Primrose Hill Primula Close
Princes Walk Princess Close Priory Close
Priory Court Pritchard Close Probyn Close
Purser Road Pyket Way Pyramid Close

Pytchley Street Queen Eleanor Road Queen Eleanor Terrace
Queens Crescent Queens Park Parade Queens Road

Queensland Gardens Queenswood Avenue Quernstone Lane
Quorn Way Radleigh Close Radstone Way

Raeburn Road Raglan Street Ragsdale Walk
Rainsborough Crescent Raisins Field Close Randall Road

Ransome Road Raymond Road Rectory Farm Road
Redland Drive Redruth Close Regent Square
Regent Street Rennishaw Way Repton Court
Retford Court Reynard Way Richmond Terrace

Rickyard Road Ridgewalk Ridgeway
Riley Close Rill Walk Rillwood Court

Ringway Ringwood Close Ripon Close
River View Riverwell Rixon Close

Robert Street Robinia Close Rockingham Road
Roe Road Romany Road Rookery Lane

Rosedale Road Roseholme Road Rosenella Close
Rosgill Place Rotherhithe Close Rothersthorpe Avenue

Rothersthorpe Crescent Rothersthorpe Lane Rothersthorpe Road
Rothesay Road Rothesay Terrace Rowan Avenue

Rowlandson Close Royal Terrace Ruddington Close
Rufford Avenue Rushmere Crescent Rushmere Road

Ruskin Road Russet Drive Rydal Mount
Rydalside Ryehill Road Ryland Road

Saddlers Square Sage Close Salcey Street

346



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 33 of 36

Salisbury Street Sallow Avenue Saltwell Square
Sandhill Road Sandhills Close Sandhills Road

Sandiland Road Sandringham Close Sandringham Road
Sansom Court Saruman Lane Saxon Street

Scafell Rise Scarletwell Street Scarletwell Terrace
Scholars Court School Way Seagrave Court
Seaton Drive Sedgwick Court Seedfield Close

Seedfield Walk Selston Walk Semilong Road
Seymour Street Shadowfax Drive Shakespeare Road
Shankley Way Shap Green Sharman Road
Sharrow Place Shaw Close Sheep Street

Sheerwater Drive Shelford Close Shelley Street
Shepherd Close Shepperton Close Sheraton Close

Sheriff Road Sherwood Avenue Shire Place
Sidebrook Court Silver Street Silverdale Road

Silverstone Close Simons Walk Skawle Court
Skelton Walk Skiddaw Walk Sladeswell Court
Slipton Walk Smith's Court Smyth Court

Snapewood Walk Snowbell Square Somerset Street
Sotheby Rise South Bern South Holme Court

South Paddock Court South Priors Court South Street
South Terrace Southampton Road Southfield Avenue
Southwood Hill Spanslade Road Spelhoe Street

Spencer Bridge Road Spencer Haven Spencer Parade
Spencer Road Spencer Street Spenfield Court

Spinneyside Walk Spring Gardens Spring Lane
Springer Straight Springfield Court Springwood Court

Spruce Court Squires Walk St Albans Close
St Albans Road St Andrews Road St Andrews Street
St Davids Road St Edmunds Road St Edmunds Street

St Edmunds Terrace St Francis Avenue St Georges Avenue
St Georges Place St Georges Street St Giles Square

St Giles Street St Giles Terrace St Gregorys Road
St James Mill Road St James Park Road St James Road

St James Street St Johns Avenue St Johns Station Passage
St Johns Street St Johns Terrace St Katherines Street

St Katherines Terrace St Leonards Court St Leonards Road
St Marks Crescent St Martins Close St Marys Street

St Matthews Parade St Michaels Avenue St Michaels Mount
St Michaels Road St Patrick Street St Pauls Road
St Pauls Terrace St Peters Gardens St Peters Square
St Peters Street St Peters Walk St Peters Way

Stable Court Standens Barn Road Standing Stones
Stanhope Road Stanley Road Stanley Street
Station Close Station End Station Mews
Station Road Steene Street Stenson Street

Stevenson Street Stimpson Avenue Stockley Street
Stockmead Road Stone Hill Court Stonebridge Court
Stonewold Close Stoneyhurst Stratton Close
Strawberry Hill Streambank Road Streatfeild Road

STREET Strelley Avenue Stubble Close
Studland Road Sulby Road Sulgrave Road

347



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 34 of 36

Sunderland Street Sunningdale Close Sunset Court
Swain Court Swan Street Swan Yard

Swansea Crescent Swansea Road Swinford Hollow
Symington Street Syresham Way Taborley Close

Talan Rise Talavera Way Talbot Road
Tallyfield End Tanfield Lane Tarn Croft

Taunton Avenue Tavistock Close Taylor Avenue
Teesdale Templar Drive Temple Bar
Ten Pines Tenby Road Tewkesbury Close

Thatchfield Walk Thatchwell Court The Avenue
The Briars The Causeway The Close

The Crescent The Drive The Fairoaks
The Friary The Green The Headlands
The Leys The Mews The Parade

The Pastures The Riding The Rise
The Smithy The Springs The Vale

Thebwell Road Thenford Street Thirlestane Crescent
Thirlestane Road Thirlmere Avenue Thistleholme Close

Thomas Chapman Grove Thomas Street Thorburn Road
Thorn Hill Thornapple Close Thornby Drive
Thornfield Thornton Hall Close Thornton Road

Thorpe Road Three Mile Walk Thursby Road
Thurspit Place Thwaite Walk Thyme Court
Tinsley Close Tintern Avenue Tiptoe Close

Tiverton Avenue Tollgate Close Tonmead Road
Tonmead Walk Top Meadow Walk Topgrass Walk
Topwell Court Towcester Road Tower Field Square

Tower Hill Close Tower Street Towton Court
Treetops Trenery Way Trimley Close

Trinity Avenue Trinity Road Troutbeck Walk
Trundle Jetty Trussell Road Tudor Road
Turn Furlong Turner Street Twyford Close

Tyebeck Court Tyes Court Tyringham Close
Ullswater Close Union Street University Drive

Upland Road Upper Bath Street Upper Cross Street
Upper Mounts Upper Priory Street Upper Thrift Street

Uppingham Street Upton Close Valemead Walk
Valentine Way Valley Crescent Valley Road

Vantage Meadow Vernon Street Vernon Terrace
Vernon Walk Verwood Close Vicarage Close

Vicarage Lane Vicarage Road Victoria Gardens
Victoria Promenade Victoria Road Victoria Street

Viscount Road Vokes Close Wade Meadow Court
Wade Meadow Walk Waingrove Wakefield Road

Walgrave Close Wallace Gardens Wallace Road
Wallace Terrace Wallbeck Close Walledwell Court
Wallingford End Walton Heath Way Wansford Walk
Wantage Road Warren Road Washbrook Close

Washington Street Waterfowl Walk Watermeadow Drive
Waterpump Court Watersmeet Waterview Walk

Watkin Terrace Waverley Road Waypost Court
Weedon Road Welford Road Well Yard

348



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 35 of 36

Wellingborough Road Wellington Place Wellington Street
Wensleydale Wentworth Way Wessex Way
West Bank West Bridge West Cotton Close

West Mead Court West Paddock Court West Priors Court
West Ridge West Street West Street Walk

Westcott Way Westerdale Western View
Westfield Walk Westleigh Close Weston Mill Lane
Weston Way Westone Avenue Westwood Way

Wetheral Close Wheatfield Close Wheatfield Gardens
Wheatfield Road Wheatfield Road North Wheatfield Road South

Wheatfield Terrace Whilton Road Whiston Road
Whiteheart Close Whitehills Crescent Whitehills Way
Whiteland Road Whitfield Way Whittlebury Close
Whitworth Road Wilberforce Street Wilby Street
Wildacre Drive Wilford Avenue William Street
Williton Close Willow Brook Square Willow Rise

Wimbledon Street Wimborne Close Winchester Close
Winchester Road Windermere Way Windflower Place
Windmill Terrace Windsor Court Windyridge
Winnington Close Winsford Way Winston Close

Wisteria Way Woburn Gate Wollaton Gardens
Wood Hill Wood Street Woodborough Gardens

Woodfields Walk Woodford Street Woodford Walk
Woodland Avenue Woodland Walk Woodside Avenue
Woodside Crescent Woolmonger Street Woolston Close

Worcester Close Wycliffe Road Wysall Road
Yardley Drive Yelvertoft Road Yeoman Drive
Yewtree Court York Road

349



Consultation on an Enhanced Designation for Additional HMO Licensing (3 May 2019)        Page 36 of 36

Appendix 5 – Northampton’s Existing Additional HMO Licensing Designation (2014) 

 

350



Page 1 of 42

Private Sector Housing

                      

Report on the findings from 
the Consultation on the 
Designation of an Enhanced 
Additional HMO Licensing 
Scheme in Northampton.

July 2019

CONSULTATION 
FINDINGS

   APPENDIX B

351



Page 2 of 42

                   Page
1.  Introduction 3
2.  Formal consultation 3
3.  Key findings from the online consultation 4

 Theme 1: Anti-social behaviour, parking                                                                             
and rubbish / fly-tipping issues

 Theme 2: Enforcing the HMO licensing regime
 Theme 3: HMO Standards
 Theme 
 4: General comments
 Amalgamating the responses to the 4 themes
 Correspondence

4.  Key findings from the focus groups with landlords,  11                                                
letting agents and other stakeholders
 Theme 1: Licensing costs / administration
 Theme 2: Enforcement
 Theme 3: HMO Standards 
 Theme 4: General questions 
 Correspondence

5.  Key findings from the focus groups with Councillors      14                                                
letting agents and other stakeholders
 Theme 1: Licensing costs / administration
 Theme 2: Enforcement
 Theme 3: HMO Standards
 Correspondence

6.  Key findings from the focus groups with residents          16                                                
and residents associations
 Theme 1: Issues associated with HMOs
 Theme 2: Enforcement
 Theme 3: General questions
 Correspondence 

Appendices 1 – 4    19

Contents 

352



Page 3 of 42

1.  INTRODUCTION
On 3 July 2014, under the Secretary of State’s general approval, the Council 
implemented a 5-year Additional HMO Licensing scheme and created a designation 
area, based on statistical evidence valid at that time. The scheme came into force on 
3 November 2014 and will expire on 2 November 2019.

The Council believes that a larger Additional HMO Licensing designation, 
commencing on 3 November 2019, is required in order that the Council can ensure 
continuity in its regulation and control of HMOs. The concurrent schemes will also 
guarantee a smooth transition to the new scheme at no extra cost or effort for those 
that have an HMO licence at the time the new scheme comes into effect.

A wider, enhanced designated area (‘new designation’) is proposed. This new 
designation, which will operate for a period of five years, will include the area covered 
by the existing designation, but also additional areas (mainly in the eastern part of 
the district) based on an evaluation and analysis of up-to-date metrics, intelligence 
and taking into account feedback from consultees

The Council has a duty to consult, for a minimum period of 10 weeks, with persons 
who are likely to be affected by the proposed Additional HMO Licensing Scheme. 

The 10-week consultation on the proposed Additional HMO Licensing Scheme 
commenced on 3 May 2019 and finished on 14 July 2019.

This report summarises the main findings from the consultation which was carried out 
using local media, social media, an online survey and a programme of focus groups 
for residents, landlords, letting agents, Councillors and other stakeholders. 

This report should be read in conjunction with the Consultation Report that 
was produced at the start of the consultation on 3 May 2019.

2.  FORMAL CONSULTATION 
The Consultation Report was published at the start of a 10-week formal consultation 
(3 May - 14 July 2019) using the following channels of engagement:

 The Council’s website

 The One Stop Shop in the Guildhall

 Social Media (Facebook and Twitter)

 DASH (Decent and Safe Housing) website

 University of Northampton’s Student Liaison Contact

 An article and follow-up advertisement in the Chronicle and Echo Newspaper

 E-mails to known landlords and local letting agents inviting them to attend 
workshops on 4th June and Landlords Forum on 18 June

 Member briefings for Councillors on 11 and 26 June

353



Page 4 of 42

 Engagement with other departments within the council (Planning, Neighbourhood 
Wardens, Building control, Revenues & Benefits, Housing Options, Legal 
Services, ASB Unit)

 E-mails to resident associations

 E-mails to respondents to the on-line survey 

 E-mails to neighbouring borough councils to advertise the consultation

 E-mails to stakeholders (including Fire Service, Immigration Service, DASH and 
the Police Service)

3.  KEY FINDINGS FROM THE ONLINE CONSULTATION
The on-line consultation survey asked one key question:

“What are your views on our proposal to implement an enhanced designation 
area in Northampton?”
There were 80 responses to the on-line survey.  They were received from residents, 
resident associations, landlords and letting agents.  

The responses have been separated into 4 common themes – “Anti-Social 
Behaviour (ASB), Parking Issues and Rubbish/Fly-Tipping Issues”, “Enforcement 
Questions”, “HMO Standards” and “General Comments”.  The following is a 
summary of responses to these themes:

 Theme 1: Anti-social behaviour (ASB), parking                                                           
and rubbish / fly-tipping Issues

Under this theme, there was general support for the proposed enhanced 
designation for an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme. 

All of the respondents made reference to one or more of the three issues: ASB, 
parking and rubbish/fly-tipping.

Of the 25 responses under this theme, 16 were in favour of the proposal, 3 were 
against, 5 said there are too many HMOs in Northampton and 1 was unsure. 

A selection of the responses is provided below:

“It’s OK but more needs to be done regards to parking for these 
HMOs especially around the Saints ground.”

“I fully and completely support this proposal.  I support this because 
there are a number of unregistered HMO's in the street and adjacent 
areas which have given problems with fly tipping, excess rubbish in 
front gardens and extensive problems with parking cars. Local 
residents are becoming increasingly frustrated at the degradation in 

354



Page 5 of 42

quality of life and amenities in the street. These properties do not 
seem to have been identified in the proposal documents.”

“I agree there should be stricter licensing to help with the parking 
in our area there are sometimes 4-5 cars for one house for some 
of the HMOs.”

“Not a good idea to allow HMOs to spread further around town, I 
believe there are many issues - fly-tipping, for example - which have 
increased in dense HMO areas.”

“Unsure if this is of benefit. There are too many transient people 
in the borough- which has a knock-on effect including litter & fly 
tipping.”

“I am an ordinary householder and am in favour of maximising HMO 
regulation and restriction because formal and the many informal 
HMOs in my area increase litter, parking problems, traffic, noise and 
friction between neighbours

  FIGURE 1 – Graph showing the 25 responses in percentages

355



Page 6 of 42

FIGURE 2 – Graph showing the percentages of respondents    
commenting on ASB, parking and rubbish / fly-tipping issues

 Theme 2:  Enforcing the HMO licensing scheme
Under this theme, there was general support for the proposed enhanced 
designation for an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme. 

Of the 5 respondents, 4 were in favour but raised questions about enforcing the 
proposed scheme and 1 did not believe Additional HMO licensing will resolve the 
problem of unlicensed HMOs.  

The 5 responses are provided below:

“I approve of the main elements of the consultation document, 
but question if enforcement will ensue as little has so far been 
done in the existing areas.”

“Welcomed, provided that the council genuinely tackle 'rogue' 
landlords who ignore/flout the rules and assist landlords that want to 
comply but need help understanding the raft of legislation that exists 
and which is often written in 'legalise', rather than plain English…”

“It is a good thing but how will the council take action against 
the landlords when they already struggle to deal with unlicensed 
HMO’s?”

356



Page 7 of 42

“Completely agree that this proposal should be implemented but 
who is going to police it….”

“This is not a scheme that will sort the problem of unlicensed 
HMOs out. We have seven on my road and none have told the 
council they are there. Unless you respond to local requests to go 
and inspect these places by the people having to put up with the 
added risks and inconveniences then how will it change unless all 
HMOs in the county are subject to licensing.”  

FIGURE 3 – Graph showing the 5 responses in percentages

 Theme 3: HMO Standards
Under this theme, there was 100% support for the proposed enhanced 
designation for an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme. 

Of the 8 responses under this theme, 5 commented that it would introduce a 
degree of control and accountability and ensure standards are met, 2 said it was 
important for tenants’ health and wellbeing and that they live in safe environments, 
1 said it would provide good quality living accommodation and 1 said it would 
protect tenants from overcrowding.   

A selection of the responses is provided below:

“The proposal needs implementing, it will help protect residents 
in the streets where there are unlicensed HMOs and protect the 

357



Page 8 of 42

tenants from landlords that just care about cramming as many 
people as they can in a house for money.”

“I believe this is an appropriate course of action which will protect all 
concerned. Ensuring that tenants are protected, and surrounding 
residents are reassured about the use of properties around them. It 
will ensure standards are met by all landlords.”

“I think it's extremely important for these homes to be regulated 
by the council. It’s essential for the wellbeing and health of these 
local communities for both the home owner residents and 
tenants.”
“As a landlord, I am keen to provide good high-quality living 
accommodation for people living in Northampton. Rogue landlords 
give good landlords a bad reputation, so would encourage support 
to help the situation.”

“I agree with the proposal; the enhanced designation will mean 
greater control and accountability of landlords and HMO 
residents.”

FIGURE 4 – Graph showing the 8 responses in percentages

358



Page 9 of 42

 Theme 4:  General comments
Under this theme, there was general support for the proposed enhanced 
designation for an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme. 

Of the 42 responses under this theme, 22 were in favour of the proposal, 11 were 
against, 2 said there are too many HMOs in Northampton, 3 said all HMOs in the 
borough should be licensed, 3 were general comments and 1 said there should be 
a limit placed on the number of HMOs per area. 

The following general comments were received:

“Having read the report in detail, my personal opinion is that the 
report is very prejudicial and favours a decision lacking in 
evidence through due diligence…”

“There is already robust solution for responding to rogue landlords     
addressing antisocial behaviour and need no further interference.  
The 'letter of' Section 4.7 limits liability of an action taken by an 
individual by virtue of their 'accommodation' status. Hence an unfair 
policy component as it proposes holding landlords accountable for 
tenants' actions, which the individuals would have been liable for not 
withstanding their 'accommodation status.”

A selection of the other responses is provided below:

“Good”

“I believe that all HMOs should be licensed within the entire 
borough, unless it is a purpose- built property like a block of flats.”

“I’m pleased as my street is already significantly over capacity 
with shared houses. Some known HMOs some existing dwelling 
houses prior to licensing rules and many more not reported.”

“The scheme must be enforced. “

“I agree with it”

“I don't want an enhanced designation area where I live.  I do not 
support this type of poorly managed overcrowding. Build more 
houses instead!”

359



Page 10 of 42

“I think it is unnecessary, the scheme that is in place now works 
well and is in the areas it is needed.”

“I agree this type of housing needs to be controlled in all areas of 
the town.”

FIGURE 5 – Graph showing the 42 responses in percentages

 Amalgamation of the responses to the 4 themes
When the data from all 4 themes is amalgamated, it is clear that most 
respondents are in favour of the proposed Additional HMO licensing scheme. 

A breakdown of the results is provided below:

 62% are in favour of the proposal

 19% are against the proposal

 6% are not against the proposal but are opposed to HMOs

 3% feel that there are too many HMOs

 4% want all HMOs to be licensed

 5% made other comments

 1% want a limit of HMOs per area

360



Page 11 of 42

FIGURE 6 – Graph showing all 80 responses in percentages

 Correspondence
All comments are listed, under themes, in Appendix 1.

4.  KEY FINDINGS FROM THE FOCUS GROUPS WITH LANDLORDS, 
LETTING AGENTS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

On 4 June 2019, 3 focus groups were held to capture the views of landlords, letting 
agents and other stakeholders (including the University of Northampton, the 
Gangmasters and Labour Abuse Authority and the Northamptonshire Fire and 
Rescue Service) on the proposed Additional HMO licensing scheme. 

On 18 June 2019, the whole of the meeting of the Landlord Forum was set aside for 
a detailed discussion on the proposed scheme. Specialists from Northamptonshire 
Fire and Rescue Service, DASH (Decent and Safe Housing) and the Housing 
Enforcement Team were on hand to answer questions during the Q&A session.

The Consultation Report and PowerPoint Presentation were given to everyone who 
attended the focus groups. The Presentation was published on the DASH website.

The responses have been separated into 4 common themes – “Licensing 
costs/administration”, “Enforcement”, “HMO Standards (positives/negatives of 
additional licensing” and “General Questions/comments”.

The following is a summary of responses to these themes:

 Theme 1: Licensing costs / administration

361



Page 12 of 42

Under this theme, there was general support for the proposed enhanced 
designation for an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme. 

However, questions were raised about cost of the proposed HMO licensing 
scheme and how it will be administered.

A selection of the responses is provided below:

“Why has the licence fee gone up so much?”

"How long will it take to issue a licence?”

“Applying for a new licence can be challenging and often means 
submitting 4-5 e-mails.  Can the process be made more user 
friendly?”

“If the new Additional Licence scheme is introduced will it involve 
changing the requirement of the property?”

“How many licences are you expected to issue?”

 Theme 2: Enforcement 
Under this theme, there was general support for the proposed enhanced 
designation for an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme. 

However, questions were raised about enforcement.

A selection of the responses is provided below:

“It would be nice to know that the Council is tackling rogue 
landlords.  We need encouragement.”

“Where do you get the intelligence from?”

“Would it be better to put all resources into investigations rather 
than licensing properties?”

“Do you also investigate those who sub-let?”

“How successful has licensing been?  Is there any way to view this?”

 Theme 3:  HMO Standards (positives/negatives 
of additional licensing) 

362



Page 13 of 42

Under this theme, questions were asked about the positive and negatives of 
additional licensing and discussions on alternatives that could be considered to 
deliver outcomes.  There was also a proposal, put forward by Northampton Fire 
and Rescue Service, to improve safety standards within HMO properties.

A selection of responses is provided as follows:

“Northampton Fire and Rescue Service - If landlords invested in 
a sprinkler system within their properties (cost appx £2,000) 
would there be consideration to offer a further discount in the 
licensing fee?

“Are there alternatives that we could consider to deliver the 
outcomes?
 Nottingham City Council have introduced a licence to anyone who 

rents out a property.”

“What are the adverse impacts of HMO licensing?
 Low paid workers could move away from the area and 

consequently be further away from their place of work.  This 
could lead to them being exploited by people who would charge 
them to transport them to their place of work.”

“What are the positives impacts of HMO licensing?
 Means standards can be maintained – some HMOs are not in a 

good condition and not licensed.
 Makes clear that landlords know what they need to do.
 Information should also be made available to tenants, so they 

know their rights.”

 Theme 4: General questions
Under this theme, questions were asked in relation to issues such as parking, fly-
tipping, rent payments and positive and negative alternatives.

The responses were as follows:

“Is parking an issue?”

“How do you know that fly tipping complaints are related to HMOs?  Are 
these just residents’ assumptions?

“Staff at NBC advised one of my clients not to pay the rent.”

363



Page 14 of 42

FIGURE 7 – Showing breakdown of themes into percentages

 Correspondence
All comments are listed, under themes, in Appendix 2.

5.  KEY FINDINGS FROM FOCUS GROUPS WITH COUNCILLORS
                                                                                                                                                                                                     
There were 2 focus groups with Borough Councillors (11 and 26 June 2019). 

The common themes raised during these events focused on ‘Licensing 
costs/administration’, ‘Enforcement’ and ‘HMO Standards (improvements)’

 Theme 1: Licensing costs / administration
Questions were raised about costs and how the proposed licensing scheme will 
be administered. 

A selection of the responses is provided below:

“Does the cost of administrating the License Scheme also include 
enforcement visits?”

“Are there new conditions for existing Licenses?”

“If the proposal is approved how long will it last?”

364



Page 15 of 42

“Is there capacity to implement and monitor Additional Licensing and 
have you asked for more resources?”

“Can there be grants to landlords who fit sprinklers systems to 
their properties and can this be funded from the civil penalties’ 
money?”

 Theme 2: Enforcement 
Questions were raised about costs and administering the proposed new scheme.  

A selection of the responses is provided below: 

“If an HMO is deemed to be dangerous and the licence is revoked 
what help is there for the tenant(s)?”

“Are cases being followed up through feedback that is given?”

“Why doesn’t the Additional Licensing Scheme cover the whole of the  
Borough?”

“What happens to the tenant(s) if an HMO licence is revoked?”

“How do you keep on top of enforcement?”

 Theme 3: HMO Standards (improvements)
Questions were raised about standards within HMOs and suggestions about how 
to raise them.

The questions are provided below:

“Are HMOs required to have a CO2 certificate?”

“Can there be grants to landlords who fit sprinklers systems to their 
properties and can this be funded from the civil penalties’ money?”

“What about discounts for landlords that fix solar panels to their 
properties?”

365



Page 16 of 42

FIGURE 8 – Showing the breakdown of themes by percentage

 Correspondence
All comments are listed, under themes, in Appendix 3.

6.  KEY FINDINGS FROM FOCUS GROUP WITH RESIDENTS AND 
RESIDENTS ASSOCIATIONS

A focus group was held on 10th July to capture the views of residents and residents 
associations on the proposed Additional HMO licensing scheme.   

The focus group was advertised and promoted through the local newspaper, social 
media, the use of e-mails to residents associations and in the responses provided in 
relation to the online survey. 

The common themes raised during the focus group were ‘Issues associated with 
HMOs’, ‘Enforcement’ and ‘General questions / comments.

 Theme 1: Issues associated with HMOs

Questions were asked about the problems caused by HMOs (such as parking) 
and the tenants who take on family homes and then sub-let them without the 
landlord’s knowledge or consent.

366



Page 17 of 42

A selection of the responses is provided below:

“What is the Council doing about parking issues associated with 
HMOs?  Can restrictions or parking permits be issued to an 
HMO?”

“Can you revoke an HMO licence if the property is not managing it’s 

parking properly?

“We have noticed up to 20 people living in the premises.  Why 
doesn’t the Council charge them more in Council Tax?”

 Theme 2: Enforcement 
Questions were asked about how the Could There were questions raised about 
how the Council would police and enforce the proposed HMO licensing scheme.

 A selection of the responses is provided below: 

“We report on suspected unlicensed HMOs, but the perception is 
that the council does nothing.”

“How can you police the whole of the new area?”

“What do you do if a landlord has been running an unlicensed 
HMO and then suddenly applies for a licence?”

“There are some Limited companies that can be clever in avoiding 
licensing their properties.  What can the Council do about this?”

“What will you be doing with HMOs outside the proposed new 
area that flout the rules?”

 Theme 3: General questions 
   A selection of the responses is provided below:

“Do you know how many HMOs operate in Northampton?”

“Will the Article 4 area be expanded?”

367



Page 18 of 42

“Why isn’t the Wotton area included in the Additional Licensing 
area?”

FIGURE 9 – Showing the breakdown of themes by percentage

 Correspondence
All comments are listed, under themes, in Appendix 4.

368



Page 19 of 42

Appendix 1: Consultation Survey Responses 

Consultation Survey Responses

Theme: Concerns with Anti-Social Behaviour & Parking Issues

1 “It’s OK but more needs to be done regards to parking for these HMOs especially around the Saints ground.”

2 “I think it’s a good idea. Parking is a huge issue in St James where houses have several families (not individuals) living in a house. Some 
houses have four cars each and you are forced to park streets away from your home, even when designated car parking is part of your 
mortgage.” 

3 “It will enhance any area whatsoever. The Streets and Road that already HMOs are overcrowded with vehicles being parked anywhere, 
blocking road junctions etc. Rubbish in the gutters that cannot be cleaned properly because of the excess Parking. The price of property 
falls because people do not want to live in these kind of areas. The majority of Landlords do not look after these properties properly, 
gardens…….become overwhelmed with rubbish and growth that is not cared for. Totally unforeseen on people who worked for years to 
buy and look after their homes to have them reduced in value by this kind of action and decision. Councillors have no concept of what is 
like to agree to this whatsoever it is passing the buck due the lack of affordable home for families to buy or rent. Making home over 
crowded by HMO’s is not how people should be asked to live, they have no privacy or security in the kind of properties, because just do 
not care for these kind of homes in most cases.”

4 “I don't see how it will benefit anyone living in the area. Nobody wants these HMOs. They cause tons more rubbish to be generated and 
numerous problems with parking.”

5 “I have direct experience of HMO homes, as there are already a few close by my property. There has been noise late at night on 
occasions, usually during the summer months (loud music/shouting), made worse as windows are left open. Bins are left overflowing in 
the forecourt and not put out for collection, furniture left on the pavement (fly tipped). Tenants in HMO's inherently feel less obligated. 
to keep the area tidy or have any consideration for the rest of us living in the area, so I fully support the proposal of an enhanced 
designation area.”

6 “I fully and completely support this proposal.  I support this because there are a number of unregistered HMO's in the street and 
adjacent areas which have given problems with fly tipping, excess rubbish in front gardens and extensive problems with parking cars. 
Local residents are becoming increasingly frustrated at the degradation in quality of life and amenities in the street. These properties do 
not seem to have been identified in the proposal documents.”

369



Page 20 of 42

Consultation Survey Responses

7 “I agree there should be stricter licensing to help with the parking in our area there are sometimes 4-5 cars for one house for some of the 
HMOs.”

8 “HMOs are ridiculous, they breed fly tipping, anti-social behaviour, parking congestion and are the most anti community housing solution 
available.  Spend your consultation period living in an area full of HMOs and you’ll see how they destroy the areas they are in.”

9 “100% agree that landlords should be held more accountable.  Our area has seen an increase of HMOs which is leading to more fly 
tipping, antisocial behaviour, refuse sacks and recycling dumped in the streets and strains on parking.  Some landlords are adding to the 
issue by clearing the contents of properties onto the streets and leaving them for someone else to clear.  Landlords should also have 
increased responsibility on ensuring their tenants follow the rules.     A suggestion would be to charge landlords council tax on their 
properties to increase revenue to cope with the issues above.” 

10 “I do not agree to HMO’s at all. The people who generally live in them do not care about the area.  Where I live these properties always 
have rubbish put out incorrectly and fly tipping in the street.” 

11 “I agree with it and look forward to more rigorous management of the area including all types of properties, including sanctions for 
properties deemed to be contravening licencing or civil or criminal laws until we can get back to some semblance of normal responsible 
community living. If businesses are included these must comply also. As far as I'm concerned if a business creates more harm by fly 
tipping and drug dealing than good by providing a service then I’d rather do without it.    Without management of the zone then it seems 
a pointless exercise.”

12 “Not a good idea to allow HMOs to spread further around town, I believe there are many issues - fly-tipping, for example - which have 
increased in dense HMO areas.”

13 “The town is under too much strain already. HMO occupants don’t care about the area, crime has gone up alongside the increase in 
HMOs. Parking is ridiculous.”

14 “It finally feels as though the views of local residents are being listened to.  I do feel, however, that the 15% limit for HMOs is still too 
high as this is an ideal location for family homes and HMOs are pushing them out. Also, the more HMOs there are, the more issues with 
parking. I’ve seen how people who live on other streets to mine are having to park on our road as there’s no parking for them. This is 
particularly bad for families with young children.”

370



Page 21 of 42

Consultation Survey Responses

15 “If it controls the illegal HMO's then I would welcome the proposals. Far Cotton HMO Group work hard to find out about these types of 
properties.  Residents are moving from the area due to anti-social behaviour litter dumping etc. Irresponsible Landlords do not manage 
their tenants. Further Students do not pay council Tax & neither does the landlord and the cost is born by the responsible Residents.”

16 “Far Cotton has been destroyed by HMO's. What was once a lovely place to live has now become a ghetto of unruly students and foreign 
multi let's. My once lovely home has become a prison. Thank you.  So, any more availability open to developers will be strongly opposed. 
Too many people, nowhere to park anymore, criminal damage to cars, unruly late-night noise and trouble and the rubbish!!” 

17 “We have been waiting for this to happen for years. We have a lot of unlicensed HMO and transient people. They fly tip litter flick 
cigarette ends all over the street over grown gardens. 15 unlicensed cars removed. Noise, anti-social behaviour, Base booming on cars all 
times of day and night, Subletting, Dodgy gas and electric connections.”

18 “I hope this goes ahead due the problems we are having.  Sub-letting, fraud, constant changing of residents, loud music.  I don’t see how 
you can enforce any new rules.  We have as a residents committee been trying to get the problems they are causing sorted for 3 years.  
They have changed our lives and neighbourhood beyond recognition for the worse.”

19 “I think the implementation of an enhanced designation area in Northampton is a good idea and will help raise the quality or HMO's 
whilst helping combat some of the anti-social issues other residents have had to suffer because of bad tenants and rogue landlords.  We 
live in a heavily populated area with far too many HMO's.  A frustrating bi-product of having such a dense mass of HMO's is the huge 
amount of additional cars they bring into the area making parking a complete nightmare, to the point of totally restricting resident’s 
ability to travel in evening as they cannot park upon return….”

20 “….I feel this is very relevant to the decision being made at cabinet, and feel that should this be allowed, that properties such as this must 
be vetted and only licensed as HMOs if the area can effectively withstand the demand for parking and other such resources,”

21 “Unsure if this is of benefit. There are too many transient people in the borough- which has a knock-on effect including litter & fly 
tipping”.

22 “I am an ordinary householder and am in favour of maximising HMO regulation and restriction because formal and the many informal 
HMOs in my area increase litter, parking problems, traffic, noise and friction between neighbours.”  

23 “Totally against more HMO's. HMO's are a really bad idea! They increase fly tipping on our streets, antisocial behaviour, put a huge strain 
on parking facilities and break down neighbourhoods by removing family housing built for families and giving to numbers of unrelated 

371



Page 22 of 42

Consultation Survey Responses
single occupiers.......”

24 “Not before time we in the outskirts feel helpless against these profiteering landlords too much time has been wasted in the meetings of 
our residents association discussing and debating what to do about the problems that are incurred due to transients rubbish dumping 
not being able to park in a lane where the resident are acting in a lawful way in an environment where many feel that one is only guilty 
of something when a judge points and says guilty as charged, especially when so few are charged. There seems to be a great disrespect 
for the law and what normal good people regard as neighbourly behaviour.  I do hope that a realistic financial consequence for 
profiteering at the cost of others in the locality as well as the tenants and taxman can be decided upon that will help pay for the policing, 
cleaning up, monitoring, inspecting and realistic staffing levels for all these items.  I would hope that £6000 would be the norm rather 
than the exception for those who have been profiting for more than 6 months without registering.  I would not like there to be more that 
10% saturation in any 50-meter radius at any time in the future.  I would like to know how you will find the person in a ltd company to 
take responsibility for unlicensed HMo's.  I would like the telephone numbers of the department investigators out in the public domain. 
(on every street corner) I understand there will be time lag but please please keep the public informed and the guilty publicly 
acknowledged in all cases.  Visit residents’ associations keep them appraised   and gain local uptodate knowledge.”

25 “I do not think there should be any relaxing of the price for HMO licenses, even for good landlords, as this will encourage more HMO's in 
the city. More HMO's will continue to increase the parking problems and community erosion. The powers to hold to account bad 
landlords are a good step.”

Theme: Enforcement

1 “I approve of the main elements of the consultation document, but question if enforcement will ensue as little has so far been done in 
the existing areas.”

2 “Welcomed, provided that the council genuinely tackle 'rogue' landlords who ignore/flout the rules and assist landlords that want to 
comply but need help understanding the raft of legislation that exists and which is often written in 'legalise', rather than plain English. 
My own experience of dealing with elements of the council has often been to the effect that 'I am a landlord therefore I must be bad and 
must be doing something wrong'. During a recent HMO licence application (my first), written requests from me for clarification of what 
documents the council required were repeatedly ignored, and threatening letters for not providing the correct information routinely 

372



Page 23 of 42

Consultation Survey Responses
issued.     If the council intends extending the designated area to the Eastern boundary of the town then perhaps similar rules should be 
introduced for the Southern and Western districts to avoid creating an increase in demand for suitable HMO properties in these less 
restricted areas, unless the council desire this to happen.    As far as I can make out, current and proposed designated areas do not 
include Canterbury court on the Bedford Road, opposite the new University campus. Many of these flats are 3 bedrooms, with several 
'sold' recently possibly with a view to renting as student lets. A lack of legislation here could turn many of these into unofficial 'student 
halls'. Is that the council’s intention?”

3 “It is a good thing but how will the council take action against the landlords when they already struggle to deal with unlicensed HMO’s?”

4 Completely agree that this proposal should be implemented but who is going to police it. I met with council representatives last year to 
complain about the number of HMO's in Woodfield but was told that they could not police the area they had as there was only two staff, 
there would soon be four, but it takes two years research to take a case to court. Sounds good on paper but I am afraid it will not work 
on the ground unless there are some changes to method of policing and the number of inspectors implementing the regulations. How 
will you overcome these shortfalls in expectation? If you have any public meetings involving this subject where are the times and places 
posted so we can become more involved.  This webpage has been down each time I have tried it until yesterday so having tried for three 
weeks I missed the scheduled 1 day of public involvement, I really think more than one day is needed and there should be a joint 
meeting at the end of the survey to discuss the outcome.  

5 This is not a scheme that will sort the problem of unlicensed HMOs out. We have seven on my road and none have told the council they 
are there. Unless you respond to local requests to go and inspect these places by the people having to put up with the added risks and 
inconveniences then how will it change unless all HMOs in the county are subject to licensing.  

Theme: HMO Standards

1 “The proposal needs implementing, it will help protect residents in the streets where there are unlicensed HMOs and protect the tenants 
from landlords that just care about cramming as many people as they can in a house for money.”

2 “I believe this is an appropriate course of action which will protect all concerned. Ensuring that tenants are protected, and surrounding 
residents are reassured about the use of properties around them. It will ensure standards are met by all landlords.”

3 “I think it's extremely important for these homes to be regulated by the council. It’s essential for the wellbeing and health of these local 
communities for both the home owner residents and tenants.”

373



Page 24 of 42

Consultation Survey Responses

4 “I live in Far Cotton & have seen the start & very quick increase in the number of HMO's in our area. This, I believe, will continue to 
increase especially now that the university is up & running.  It is vitally important that ALL areas of Northampton with HMO's are covered 
within the enhanced designated area.    It is so important that tenants are living in well maintained, safe environments & that Landlords 
have guidance on how to achieve & maintain this.”    

5 “As a landlord, I am keen to provide good high-quality living accommodation for people living in Northampton. Rogue landlords give 
good landlords a bad reputation, so would encourage support to help the situation.”

6 “We are a small community group.   At our meeting of 19th June 2019, we totally supported the proposal for an enhanced designation 
area in Northampton. Within our area there are a number of unregulated HMOs, and the requirement for a licence where HMOs contain 
3 or more occupiers, from two or more households, would introduce a degree of control which is currently missing.  We welcome this 
consultation.”

7 “I agree with the proposal; the enhanced designation will mean greater control and accountability of landlords and HMO residents.”

8 “The rational appears to be well considered and the area well detailed with evidence.  The proposed scheme should impact premises and 
raise standards to at least a minimal acceptable level, there is potential to offer incentives to those who   achieve a much higher 
standard.   Identifying and punishing bad landlords is absolutely right but where is the balance for the other end of the scale.”  

Theme: General Comments

1 “Poor, the current arrangements cause misery for affected residents and also act to push up private rents and house prices for others.”

2 “It is important to improve the quality of HMO accommodation and to ensure that the registrations are being met, however a HMO of 
unrelated people on multiple tenancy agreements is somewhat different to a group of friends with one tenancy agreement.    The HMO 
amenities guide already acknowledges that a house with one AST is lower risk.    Introducing licensing for houses with three or four 
occupants on one AST is not different to a family sharing a house. So why have different rules?    Licensing is expensive and adds cost to 
running a HMO. This inevitably increases rent to tenants and so they suffer. “

3 “Good”

374



Page 25 of 42

Consultation Survey Responses

4 “good idea”

5 “the damage has already been done, need to return these homes back to what they intended for one family homes.”

6 “I believe that all HMOs should be licensed within the entire borough, unless it is a purpose- built property like a block of flats.”

7 “Personally, I think this is another way of the council making money whilst ruining the town centre and surrounding area even further, 
there should be a limit per area.  I constantly hear there is no housing for 1st time buyers and these terraced houses have always been 
ideal for them hence why they sell so quick (I’m sure any local Estate Agent can confirm that), if they are changed to individual rooms 
they will not be cost effective or attractive for 1st time buyers who have saved to get a rung on the housing ladder and have to pay out 
for alterations to change houses back, also areas that have not already been converted become bedsit land like majority of the area 
around the old University and Semilong.  Conveniently a lot of the streets mentioned are in the areas near to the new University, don't 
make the mistakes you have made in other areas of the town there are still proud home owners in these areas that will see their hard 
earned homes devalued along with the parking and rubbish issues that will be worse than they already are - the increase in flats in my 
area already produces mounds of rubbish on the street every day of the week I am sure my neighbours will agree.  I am proud of the area 
I live in and will be very disappointed if the council doesn't listen to the residents and home owners.”

8 “I’m pleased as my street is already significantly over capacity with shared houses. Some known HMOs some existing dwelling houses 
prior to licensing rules and many more not reported.”

9 “It will be counter- productive, just another turn of the wheel. When it fails, just turn the wheel again.”

10 “The scheme must be enforced. “

11 “Great idea”

12 “We need somewhere to store rubbish until bin collection day (a bin cupboard would do)”

13 “I think it's a good idea as our areas are now overflowing with multiple HMO's which are increasing the stress on local services.”

375



Page 26 of 42

Consultation Survey Responses

14 “I agree with it”

15 “Much needed - communities have been destroyed & infrastructures pushed to limits by overpopulation in Northampton - Mounts area 
in particularly”

16 “I fully support the proposal. Most importantly I look forward to rigorous enforcement action to apply these new controls.”

17 “I think it is unnecessary, the scheme that is in place now works well and is in the areas it is needed.”

18 “This is something that is desperately needed across the whole of Northampton.”

19 “A good idea.”

20 “It's a bad idea, the area is already over populated.”

21 “The report clearly identifies the problems and would seem to seek to contain the issues rather than address them. This is not a criticism, 
just an observation that the powers of the council do not stretch to national housing policy.”

22 “Definitely”

23 “Licensing should be adopted for all HMOs, too many landlords have gotten away with owning property and renting them out to 3 or 
more people with no regard for the residents in the local area.    I believe there are far more HMOs in my area than what the council are 
aware of and feel that licensing would provide greater control over this nuisance within the housing market.”

24 “I agree this type of housing needs to be controlled in all areas of the town.”

25 “Agree with this as already hugely impacted by HMO properties.”

376



Page 27 of 42

Consultation Survey Responses

26 “I'm concerned that there is already an abundance of HMO properties in Delapre and Far Cotton. It's becoming increasingly rare to see 
houses for sale that are for standard occupancy.”

27 “This definitely needs to happen and cover the Far Cotton area. We have way too many HMOs already in the area and it's making it an 
unpleasant place to live.”

28 “I think it is needed”

29 “Far Cotton needs to be included in any area. We work hard to keep community spirit but the quantity of HMOs in properties originally 
built for families causes many problems to residents.”

30 “I don't want an enhanced designation area where I live.  I do not support this type of poorly managed overcrowding. Build more houses 
instead!”

31 “It’s a very good idea”

32 “I think it's a very good idea”

33 “Not before time”

34 “there are too many unlicensed HMO’s already.  Estimated 2000.  Need to take control of them first before implementing anything 
further”

35 “I completely agree with this proposal it is a very necessary measure that needs to be taken to ensure community cohesion.”

36 “Horrible”

37 “There is already robust solution for responding to rogue landlords    - There is already robust solution addressing antisocial behaviour 
and need no further interference.    - The 'letter of' Section 4.7 limits liability of an action taken by an individual by virtue of their 
'accommodation' status. Hence an unfair policy component as it proposes holding landlords accountable for tenants' actions, which the 

377



Page 28 of 42

Consultation Survey Responses
individuals would have been liable for not withstanding their 'accommodation status'.”

38 “I think it's a good idea as our areas are now overflowing with multiple HMO's which are increasing the stress on local services.”

39 “Please note that I DO agree with several aspects of the report but my comments focuses primarily about my concerns.   Having read the 
report in detail, my personal opinion is that the report is very prejudicial and favours a decision lacking in evidence through due 
diligence….”

40 “Greater restrictions on HMO's in Northampton is a positive change for both residents and the local property market. There are too 
many already and I would like to see them restricted fully across NN1. NN2 and NN4. Ideally there should be a size limit on the number 
of rooms in one structure. Anything more than 5 bedrooms becomes a horrific way for people to live.”

41 “No extension should be made to existing HMO area - already too many unlicensed HMOs that NBC are unable to investigate across 
whole of Northampton. HMOs cause misery to local residents as their occupants and owners have a temporary mindset.”

42 “I have a house in Far Cotton with three, sometimes four tenants sharing.  This came about because several years ago I had a family in 
the house, with a six month Assured Shorthold Tenancy agreement, who paid the first months rent and then did not pay again for the 
next five months.  This family appeared to be 'Aided and abetted' by Northampton Borough Council who wrote to me saying that I could 
not evict them and also said that I must not visit the property and cause them any stress.  After six months the family left the property, 
which led me to believe they knew the system.  The house had been trashed, with doors off their hinges, curtain rails pulled down, 
radiators hanging off the walls etc.  I would point out that I was having to pay a large mortgage on the property whilst working full time 
and looking after my aging parents.  I decided then to let the property in rooms and it has been let out for several years.  I do not choose 
to be HIMO landlord and I would point out that this house has only had single occupancy of each bedroom until very recently when one 
room is now occupied by two persons with the consent of the other tenants.  The implementation of an Enhanced Designation for 
Additional HMO Licencing means I will either have to evict my existing tenants and go back to single occupancy or I will have to apply for 
a HMO Licence which means I will have to face being harassed by Northampton Borough Council who I feel have wronged me, an honest 
law abiding landlord and multiple Council tax paying resident of Northampton, several times in the past.”

378



Page 29 of 42

Appendix 2: Consultation responses from Stakeholders, Landlords and Letting Agencies

Comments and Council Responses

Theme: Licensing Costs and Administration

1 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

Why has the licence fee gone up so much?

There is an Early Bird discount for a new HMO licence (at the discretion of the Council) for landlords who renew their licences on 
time.  The standard HMO licensing fee is charged for late renewals that have already expired.   This approach means we can reward 
landlords who take their responsibilities seriously.

2 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

How do you intend to communicate civil penalties and licensed properties to the whole town?

These are publicised through social media, news outlets, websites etc.

3 Q (Landlords Forum)

Council Response

Are the licensing revenues from good landlords supplementing bad landlords?

The licence fee only covers administration costs.  Costs associated with Enforcement work and visits are funded through civil 
penalty fees.

4 Q (Landlords Forum)

Council Response

When a landlord must change the property to licence it as an HMO they will have to increase the rent

If you are renting out the property as an HMO you will still have to abide to mandated law and have the right facilities and 
certificates in place for tenants to use.  If a licence is applied for on time, then the landlord may be entitled to an Early Bird 
discount.  

5 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

How long will it take to issue a licence?

This is hard to analyse.  However, the sooner the application is made (with all the relevant documents) then we regard your licence 
as valid.  If the process is set to a specific timeframe (e.g. 1 month) then the fees would be higher due to the demands of dealing 
with a multitude of applications.  We are working on getting a new on-line system up and running.  This will be an intuitive 
application and have instructions to follow so landlords will know what their responsibilities are.

If landlords have an existing licence, then this will be passported on to the new system and a new application will not have to be 

379



Page 30 of 42

Comments and Council Responses
done until the existing one expires.

6 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

Applying for a new licence can be challenging and often means submitting 4-5 e-mails.  Can the process be made more user 
friendly?

This is something that we are working on with our IT department as we are restricted with what we can do.  If the proposed 
Additional Licensing scheme is approved, then a new on-line application form will make it easier to up-load the relevant 
documents.

7 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

Re-applying for a 5-year application is very onerous.  Why don’t you trust good landlords?

We still need to see up-to-date documents.  Also, simplifying the system means it would be open to abuse from rogue landlords. 
Those landlords who currently have a licence will have their documents passported onto the new system and would not have to re-
apply until their current licence expires.

8 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

If the new Additional Licence scheme is introduced will it involve changing the requirement of the property?

No, nothing more is going to be added other than those requirements mandated by law.

9 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

Good landlords should be recognised for adhering to the licensing agreements.  It would be motivational to show something 
visible such as an accreditation certificate.  Tenants don’t necessary understand licensing and need to know that their landlords 
are properly accredited.

We encourage landlords to join the DASH Landlord Accreditation Scheme.  It is a region-wide scheme that encourages and rewards 
good property standards and management practice in the private Sector.  Membership is for 3 years and is currently free.

The scheme is voluntary and open to any residential landlord in the East Midland Region.

10 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

How many licences are you expected to issue?

Figures are not available yet.

Theme:  Enforcement

11 Q (Landlords Forum)

Council Response

It would be nice to know that the Council is tackling rogue landlords.  We need encouragement.

We started intelligence gathering 3 years ago which has led us to identify 960 ‘properties of interest’.  In the last Financial Year 

380



Page 31 of 42

Comments and Council Responses
there were 11 prosecutions.  

We have 8 Enforcement officers who must carry out thorough investigations and have proof, beyond reasonable doubt, before we 
can start civil prosecutions.  We investigate approximately 30 cases a year.

12 Q (Landlords Forum)

Council Response

If there are 960 suspected cases of unlicensed HMOs and only 30 are investigated a year it would take over 30 years to clear the 
back log.

There will never be an end to housing criminals.  30 investigations a year is 30 more than 3 years ago.  Since we have started 
working this way we have seen more and more landlords coming forward to licence their properties.  

We also work closely with other regulatory authorities and have a vetted officer who has access to the police criminal database.  
Having a vetted officer is unique for a local authority.

13 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

Where do you get the intelligence from?

We get intelligence from a variety of sources which is risk assessed and investigated.

14 Q (Landlords Forum)

Council Response

Do you publicise court cases?

We can publish dates and the civil penalty costs once the appeal process is completed.  However, we cannot list names or 
addresses.  The Council is currently looking at creating a website with the details.

15 Q (Landlords Forum)

Council Response

Does a national rogues database exist?

Yes, there is one being created for all local authorities to use.  If a rogue landlord has 2 civil penalties issued against them then they 
go on the list.  If they have been issued with 1 civil penalty, then discretion is used as to whether they go on the list or not.

16 Q (Landlords Forum)

Council Response

Would it be better to put all resources into investigations rather than licensing properties?

If we did not issue licences, any complaints (even against good landlords) would have to be thoroughly investigated, even for low 
level instances.  We would not be able to investigate to the level we are doing now.

17 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

Why not cover the whole town with Additional Licensing?

We do not have evidence to cover the whole town.  Therefore, If the proposed enhanced designation extended to the whole town 

381



Page 32 of 42

Comments and Council Responses
this could be legally challenged and jeopardise the whole process.

18 Q (Landlords Forum)

Council Response

Do you also investigate those who sub-let?

If a landlord comes to us and advises that their tenants are sub-letting, then we offer up support.  We are aware of the scams that 
take place and are sophisticated enough not to be duped by rogue landlords or property agents.

19 Q (Landlords Forum)

Council Response

How successful has licensing been?  Is there any way to view this?

The original scheme didn’t cover all HMOs.  The Council has had success issuing civil penalties and prosecutions.  This indicates that 
we are doing a good job and our cases are strong.

20 Q (Landlords Forum)

Council Response

Why are there certain parts of the town that have restrictions in the number of HMOs permitted?

Properties in England and Wales are allowed minor changes without the need for planning permission from the local planning 
authority. Sometimes we will remove these rights to protect the character of an area. This might be, for example, to prevent an 
over-concentration of houses in multiple occupation or the loss of original features in a conservation area.

The application of an Article 4 Direction removes these 'permitted development' rights and is a way in which councils can control 
building works and changes of use which would ordinarily be 'permitted development'.

It is important to note that this comes under the direction of the Planning Department and the Private Sector Housing Department 
don’t have the power to refuse a licence based on the number of HMOs in the area.  Having Planning permission doesn’t 
automatically guarantee that you will get an HMO licence and vice-versa.

21 Q (Landlords Forum)

Council Response

What happens to HMO properties in the current Article 4 area that have less than 3 storeys?

These will still need to be licensed.  Planning and licensing agreements are 2 different things and having one doesn’t guarantee 
having the other.

22 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

How many HMOs are in Northampton?

There are currently 844 licensed HMOs (457 Mandatory and 387 Additional).  There are a further 960 properties ‘of interest’ to the 
Council.

382



Page 33 of 42

Comments and Council Responses

23 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

What are you doing about unlicensed HMOs?

For the last 3 years, the Housing Enforcement Team has been operating an intelligence-led approach to enforcement.  We must 
have proof, without reasonable doubt, that a landlord is operating without a licence before civil penalties are issued.  Since work 
started 3 years ago there has been an increase in landlord’s licensing their properties.

24 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

Is it just a case of just shutting down unlicensed HMOs?

A risk assessment must be done on each suspected unlicensed HMO.    

25 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

Why don’t you do checks and visits on all HMOs?

This is not resource viable.

26 Q (Stakeholder Meeting)

Council Response

What action is taken to stop sub-letting?

We take the same action against those who sub-let as we do with landlords.  Licensing will make it clear to landlords what is 
expected of them.   It will also help them if they are unaware that their properties are being sub-let.

Theme:  HMO Standards (Positives/Negatives of Additional Licensing)

27 Q (Landlords Forum

Council Response

Northampton Fire and Rescue Service - If landlords invested in a sprinkler system within their properties (cost appx £2,000) 
would there be consideration to offer a further discount in the licensing fee?

This is something we would consider depending on how many landlords sign up to this initiative.

28 Q (Stakeholder Meeting)

Stakeholders Response

What are the positives impacts of HMO licensing?

Means standards can be maintained – some HMOs are not in a good condition and not licensed.

Makes clear that landlords know what they need to do.

Information should also be made available to tenants, so they know their rights.

29 Q (Stakeholder Meeting) What are the adverse impacts of HMO licensing?

383



Page 34 of 42

Comments and Council Responses

Stakeholders Response Low paid workers could move away from the area and consequently be further away from their place of work.  This could lead to 
them being exploited by people who would charge them to transport them to their place of work.

30 Q (Stakeholder Meeting)

Stakeholders Response

What might be the unintended consequences (positive and negative) of HMO licensing?

Be mindful of the wording in the licence as some landlords may use loopholes to by-pass the Terms and Conditions.  Some cultures 
refer to their friends as “my cousin” which can lead to misunderstandings.

31 Q (Stakeholder Meeting)

Stakeholders Response

What will happen if we implement the proposed designation?

Good landlords will comply.

32 Q (Stakeholder Meeting)

Stakeholders Response

What will happen if we do not implement the proposed designation?

Rogue landlords will carry on what they’ve been doing.

Anti-social behaviour will continue.

33 Q (Stakeholder Meeting)

Stakeholders Response

Are there alternatives that we could consider to deliver the outcomes?

Nottingham City Council have introduced a licence to anyone who rents out a property

General Questions & Comments

34 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

Is parking an issue?

Housing legislation related to HMOs is focused on the occupants’ safety and living conditions and does not legislate the 
environmental impact of parking issues which are also present in non-HMO areas. 

That aspect may be controlled to some extent by Planning laws in the case of an HMO with seven or more occupants which will 
usually require planning Permission for change of use.

35 Q (Landlords Workshop)

Council Response

How do you know that fly tipping complaints are related to HMOs?  Are these just residents’ assumptions?

We do not just take one piece of evidence.  Intelligence is evidenced from various anecdotal data.

36 Q (Landlords Forum) Staff at NBC advised one of my clients not to pay the rent

384



Page 35 of 42

Comments and Council Responses

Council Response We don’t advise tenants not to pay their rent.

Appendix 3: Consultation responses from Members Briefings 

Comments and Responses

Theme: Licensing Costs and Administration

385



Page 36 of 42

Comments and Responses

Q (Briefing 11 June)

Response

Does the cost of administrating the License Scheme also include enforcement visits?

The fee for the HMO licence covers administration costs only.  Enforcement visits are funded through civil penalty fees.

Q (Briefing 11 June)

Response

A lot of hard work and effort has been put into the proposed new Licensing Scheme.  However, in reality, things do go wrong e.g. 
overcrowded properties and rubbish piling up.  It appears that there isn’t the manpower available to manage inspections for the 
whole Borough.

Over the past 3 years intelligence has identified over 900 properties that are unlicensed.  We do not have the manpower to inspect all of 
them, therefore we prioritise by risk assessing each property.   This approach has seen more success than in the past.

Q (Briefing 11 June)

Response

Are there new conditions for existing Licenses?

Existing licenses will be passported onto the new system and will remain valid.

Q (Briefing 11 June)

Response

If the proposal is approved how long will it last?

The new proposal will last for 5 years.

Q (Briefing 11 June)

Response

Is there any worth in doing an accreditation certificate for landlords?

Responsible landlords are DASH accredited which is paid for by the Council.

Q (Briefing 26 June)

 Response

Are Planning and Licensing two different things?

Yes.  Having planning permission for an HMO does not automatically mean you will get issued with an HMO licence.  Also, Private Sector 
Housing has no power to refuse a licence based on the number of HMOs in the area.

Q (Briefing 26 June)

Response

What are the rules regarding discarding old mattresses?

It is the responsibility of the landlord to dispose of old mattresses and not to have them left in their gardens.

Q (Briefing 26 June)

Response

What support is there to reward good landlords?

We invite good landlords to join the DASH Landlord Accreditation Scheme. This is a region-wide scheme that encourages and rewards 
good property standards and management practice in the private rented sector.   Membership of DASH is paid for by the Council.

386



Page 37 of 42

Comments and Responses

Q (Briefing 26 June)

Response

Is there capacity to implement and monitor Additional Licensing and have you asked for more resources?

We are in the process of implementing an on-line licensing system which will help to keep things together. 
Staffing numbers are under constant review.  If we get more money from civil penalty fees, then we will be able to get more staff.

Q (Briefing 26 June)

Response

Is the licence fee the same for a 12-person HMO as it is for a 3-person HMO?

The licence fee covers up to 5 people.  After-which, there it is an extra £40 for every additional person.

Q (Briefing 26 June)

Response

Does all the money from fines and civil penalties come back to the Council?

Fines go to the treasury.  However, the Council can keep civil penalty fees.  This money must be used for Private Sector Housing work.  
The Licence fee goes towards administration costs.

Theme: Enforcement

Q (Briefing 11 June)

Response

If an HMO is deemed to be dangerous and the licence is revoked what help is there for the tenant(s)?

We can’t guarantee to house the tenant(s) but the local authority has a responsibility to help where it can.  The tenant(s) can also take 
civil action against the landlord.

Q (Briefing 11 June)

Response

What happens if the landlord finds out their property is being sub-let?

Landlords can seek advice from the Council to take legal steps to evict the tenant(s).  Sub-letters will have no legal standing.

Q (Briefing 11 June)

Response

How does the landlord take back possession of their property?

The landlord will have to issue a notice to quit.   Tenant(s) can seek advice and guidance from the Council.

Q (Briefing 11 June)

Response

Are cases being followed up through feedback that is given?

We don’t provide feedback on current cases being investigated as we would jeopardise the intelligence work that is ongoing.

Q (Briefing 11 June)

Response

How do you prioritise which property is the highest risk?

We use a matrix system used with intelligence to determine which property is the highest risk.

387



Page 38 of 42

Comments and Responses

Q (Briefing 11 June)

Response

Why is there a huge demand for HMOs?

There are so many social reasons.  The increase in HMOs is nationwide.

Q (Briefing 11 June)
Response

Why doesn’t the Additional Licensing Scheme cover the whole of the Borough?

We need evidence to enforce the additional areas or we are in danger of being legally challenged.

Q (Briefing 11 June)

Response

I suspect that there may be people living illegally over a shop.  How do I report this?

Intelligence can be feed through to the Council and the Police.

Q (Briefing 11 June)

Response

How do you report a noise complaint?

This can be reported to an Environmental Health Officer.

Q (Briefing 26 June)

Response

Can tenants report issues anonymously?

Yes.  Tenants can contact the council and their information will be treated confidentially.

Q (Briefing 26 June)

Response

If a licence is refused can the decision be appealed?

Yes, a landlord can go to appeal.  However, we do our research thoroughly and our decisions are worth defending.

Q (Briefing 26 June)

Response

Have there been any appeals?

Yes, we do have appeals, but most are resolved, and landlords accept our findings.

Q (Briefing 26 June)

Response

What happens to the tenant(s) if an HMO licence is revoked?

We give advice to the tenant(s) of their rights to remain within the property.

We have the power to make an Interim Management Order (IMO) if the HMO licence is revoked.  Upon the expiry of an IMO we can 
make a final Management Order and take over the management of the property for a period of up to 5 years. This disables the landlord’s 
ability to manage the property and can also have a significant financial impact on its operation.

Q (Briefing 26 June) Will there be a rush to buy up properties outside of the proposed Additional Licensing areas?

388



Page 39 of 42

Comments and Responses

Response There is a risk of this happening and we will keep the licensing areas under review.  

Q (Briefing 26 June)

Response

How do you keep on top of enforcement?

We have an intelligence led approach to identify the higher risk properties.  We can also target those that haven’t licenced before but 
suddenly apply.

Q (Briefing 26 June)

Response

Can you charge business rates to those HMOs that cause anti-social behaviour?

It would be a decision for the national government to change its policy.

Theme: HMO Standards (improvements)

Q (Briefing 11 June)

 Response

Are HMOs required to have a CO2 certificate?

This can be enforced if we choose to do so.

Q (Briefing 26 June)

Response

Can there be grants to landlords who fit sprinklers systems to their properties and can this be funded from the civil penalties’ money?

This is something that we can look in to.

Q (Briefing 26 June)

Response

What about discounts for landlords that fix solar panels to their properties?

We don’t have requirements for the energy environment.

389



Page 40 of 42

Appendix 4: Consultation responses from Residents and Residents Associations 

Comments and Council Responses

Theme: Issues Associated with HMOs

Question 1

Council Response

What is the Council doing about parking issues associated with HMOs?  Can restrictions or parking permits be issued to an HMO?

We can’t control the number of cars associated with an HMO.  Additional Licensing is about managing the property and does not extend 
to parking issues.

Question 2 

Council Response

Can you revoke an HMO licence if the property is not managing it’s parking properly?

We can’t revoke a licence on this basis.

Question 3

Council Response

We Have noticed up to 20 people living in premises.  Why don’t the Council charge them more in Council Tax?

By law, Council Tax legislation means you can’t lobby for more Council Tax on domestic properties.

Theme: Enforcement

390



Page 41 of 42

Comments and Council Responses

Question 1

Council Response

We are noticing that HMOs are being sub-let and others that are springing up all the time.  How are we going to know if a property 
becomes an HMO?

We gather information from various sources to determine if an HMO is operating without a licence.  We also rely on residents’ sending 
us information.

Question 2

Council Response

We report on suspected unlicensed HMOs, but the perception is that the council does nothing.

We keep all reports that are sent to us.  These help us build up a case against unlicensed HMOs.  We must have proof, beyond 
reasonable doubt, before starting civil court cases or statutory action.

Question 3

Council Response

We see lots of bags outside premises.  Do council refuse collectors report this?

We get intelligence from all sorts of sources.  In the last few years, the information we have obtained has seen more prosecutions being 
made then before.

Question 4

Council Response

Is there a national database?

Yes, there is a national rogue database.  Another database is in development so information can be shared between agencies and 
councils.

Question 5

Council Response

How can you police the whole of the new area?

We have an intelligence led approach to identify the higher risk properties.  We can also target those that haven’t licensed before but 
then suddenly apply.  We have also received more requests for licence applications.

Question 6

Council Response

What do you do if a landlord has been running an unlicensed HMO and then suddenly applies for a licence?

We will process the application and then investigate this and, if necessary, interview the landlord under caution.  If we can prove they 
have been running an HMO without a licence, then they may be charged up to £6,000 in penalties.

Question 7

Council Response

There are some Limited companies that can be clever in avoiding licensing their properties.  What can the Council do about this?

We do checks on all limited companies, but our intelligence shows that there are very few that are hiding in bigger companies.

391



Page 42 of 42

Comments and Council Responses

Question 8

Council Response

What will you be doing with HMOs outside the proposed new area that flout the rules?

We would still be able to investigate these properties if the issue is series enough.

Theme: General Comments

Question 1

Council Response

Do you know how many HMOs operate in Northampton?

There are currently 844 licensed HMOs (457 Mandatory and 387 Additional).  Our intelligence has identified approximately another 
1,000 of interest.

Question 2

Council Response

Will the Article 4 area be expanded?

Article 4 comes under the direction of the Planning department.  We do work closely with them and they will be interested in the 
evidence we gather and may review the Article 4 area in the future.

Question 3

Council Response

Why isn’t the Wotton area included in the Additional Licensing area?

We don’t have enough evidence to incorporate this into the proposed area.

392



Page 1 of 3

APPENDIX C

Hazards identified during HMO inspections
The following gives a breakdown of the issues and hazards that the Housing 
Enforcement Team has found during the past 3 years.  

MANDATORY HMO LICENCES 

 Fire Safety (30%) – issues such as:

o Management regulation breaches
o Fire alarms being inoperable
o Inadequate fire escape routes
o Fire door issues such as seals to be fitted
o Overcrowding 
o Chasing for fire certificates and risk assessments

 Inadequate facilities (41%) – issues in bathrooms/kitchen/lounge such as:

o leaks to shower units, no wash basins etc
o ventilation, dampness and lighting issues
o Improvement notices
o Repairs to stairs and windows
o Undersize rooms

 Chasing outstanding documentation (29%)- including:

o Tenancy agreements
o Portable appliance testing (PAT) certificates
o Public liability Insurance certificates required
o Reminders to produce schedule 2 documents for the property

393



Page 2 of 3

ADDITIONAL HMO LICENCES 

 Fire Safety (48%) – issues such as:

o Management regulation breaches
o Fire alarms being inoperable
o Inadequate fire escape routes
o Fire door issues such as seals to be fitted
o Overcrowding 
o Chasing for fire certificates and risk assessments

 Inadequate facilities (30%) – issues in bathrooms/kitchen/lounge such as:

o Leaks to shower units, no wash basins etc
o Ventilation, dampness and lighting issues
o Improvement notices including overgrown gardens
o Repairs to stairs and windows
o Undersize rooms

 Chasing outstanding documentation (22%)- including:

o Tenancy agreements
o Noise complaints
o Harassment issues
o Public liability Insurance certificates required
o Reminders to produce schedule 2 documents for the property

394



Page 3 of 3

395



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 13

APPENDIX D 

Map of the Proposed Additional HMO Licensing Designation

397



Page 2 of 13

Proposed Additional HMO Licensing Designation Street Index
Abbey Road Abbey Street

Aberdare Road Aberdeen Terrace Abington Avenue
Abington Grove Abington Park Crescent Abington Place
Abington Square Abington Street Abthorpe Avenue

Acre Lane Adams Avenue Addison Road
Addlecroft Close Adelaide Place Adelaide Street
Adelaide Terrace Adnitt Road Agnes Road
Ainsdale Close Albany Road Albert Place

Albion Place Alcombe Road Alcombe Terrace
Alder Court Alexander Court Alexandra Road

Alexandra Terrace Alfred Street Allard Close
Allen Road Alley Yard Alliston Gardens
Alma Street Althorp Road Althorp Street
Alton Street Alvis Court Alwyn Walk

Ambleside Close Ambush Street Angel Street
Annesley Close Appleby Walk Appledore Close

Arbour Court Arbour View Court Arbour Walk
Archers Close Ardington Road Argyle Street
Arlbury Road Arndale Arnold Road

Arrow Head Road Arthur Street Arthur Terrace
Artizan Road Arundel Street Ash Grove

Ash Rise Ash Street Ashbrow Road
Ashburnham Road Ashcroft Gardens Ashford Close

Ashley Way Ashmead Aspen Close
Aster Close Attlee Close Auckland Close

Auctioneers Court Auctioneers Way Austin Street
Axe Head Road Aynho Crescent Aynho Walk

Azalea Close Badby Close Badgers Walk
Bailiff Street Baker Street Baldwin Close

Balfour Close Balfour Road Balmoral Road
Bankside Baring Road Barley Hill Road

Barley Lane Barnet Close Barnets Stile
Barnfield Close Barnhill Square Barnstaple Close
Barnwell Road Barons Way Baronson Gardens
Barrack Road Barry Road Bath Street

Baukewell Court Baulmsholme Close Baunhill Close
Beaconsfield Terrace Beaumont Drive Bective Close

Bective Road Bective View Bedford Place
Bedford Road Beech Avenue Beech Grove

Beechcroft Gardens Beechwood Drive Beeston Avenue
Belfield Close Bellropes Square Belstead Road

Bembridge Drive Bentley Close Bern Links
Bern Side Berrydale Bestwell Court

Beverley Crescent Bewick Road Bibury Crescent
Bidders Close Bideford Close Billing Brook Road
Billing Lane Billing Road Billing Road East

398



Page 3 of 13

Billingmead Walk Billington Street Birch Barn Lane
Birch Barn Way Birchfield Crescent Birchfield Road

Birchfield Road East Birds Hill Road Birds Hill Walk
Birkdale Close Bishops Drive Bitten Court
Black Lion Hill Blackberry Lane Blackthorn Bridge Court

Blackthorn Road Blackthorn Walk Blackwall Close
Bladon Close Blakesley Close Blenheim Road

Blisworth Close Blossom Way Bluebell Court
Blueberry Rise Bodington Walk Bondfield Avenue

Booth Lane North Booth Lane South Booth Meadow Court
Booth Meadow Walk Booth Park Booth Rise

Boothville Green Borrowdale Walk Bostock Avenue
Bosworth Close Botmead Road Bougainvillea Drive

Boughton Green Road Bouverie Street Bouverie Walk
Bowden Road Bower Walk Bowthorpe Close

Brackenfield Square Brackenhill Close Brackley Close
Bradden Close Bradlaugh Crescent Bradmoor Court

Bradshaw Street Bramble Close Bramcote Drive
Bramley Grove Branksome Avenue Braunston Close
Brayford Close Brecon Street Brendon Close
Briar Hill Road Briar Hill Walk Brick Kiln Lane
Brickwell Court Bridge Street Bridgewater Drive
Briton Gardens Briton Road Briton Terrace
Brittons Drive Broad Street Broadhurst Drive

Broadmead Avenue Broadway Broadway East
Brocade Close Brockhall Close Brockhall Road
Brockton Street Bromford Close Brook Street

Brook Walk Brookfield Road Brookland Crescent
Brookland Road Broomhill Crescent Broughton Place
Brownlow Court Bruce Street Brundall Close
Brunswick Place Brunswick Walk Buchanan Close

Bunting Road Burford Avenue Burleigh Road
Burns Street Burrows Court Burtram Close

Burwood Road Bush Hill Bushland Road
Buttermere Close Byfield Road Byron Street

Caldbeck Walk Calstock Close Camberley Close
Camborne Close Cambria Crescent Cambridge Street
Campanula Close Campbell Square Campbell Street

Campion Court Campion Walk Camrose Road
Candleford Canons Walk Carey Street

Carline Court Carlton Gardens Carlton Road
Carrington Gardens Cartmel Place Cartwright Road

Casterton Walk Castilian Street Castilian Terrace
Castle Hill Castle Street Castle Terrace

Catesby Close Cattle Hill Cattle Market Road
Catton Crescent Cavendish Drive Cecil Road

Cedar Road Cedar Road East Cedrus Court
Celeborn Place Central Avenue Chadstone Avenue

399



Page 4 of 13

Chalcombe Avenue Chalcombe Road Chalk Lane
Chantry Close Chapel Place Chapel Row
Charles Street Charles Studd Road Charlton Close

Charnwood Avenue Chartwell Avenue Chatsworth Avenue
Chaucer Street Chedworth Close Chelfham Close

Chelmsford Close Chepstow Close Cheriton Way
Cherry Blossom Close Cherry Close Cherry Lodge Road
Cherry Orchard Place Chesham Rise Chestnut Road

Chestnut Terrace Cheyne Walk Chilwell Court
Chipsey Avenue Christchurch Road Chulmleigh Walk

Church Lane Church Walk Church Way
Churchfield Close Churchill Avenue Churchill Court

Cissbury Road Clare Street Clarence Avenue
Clarke Road Claughton Road Cleveland Place

Cliff Court Cliftonville Clinton Road
Clipston Field Place Clock Tower Court Cloutsham Street

Clover Lane Clumber Drive Cluniac Court
Coaching Walk Codlin Close Coleraine Close

College Field Close College Street College Street Mews
Collingdale Road Collingwood Road Collins Street
Collmead Court Collyweston Road Colwyn Road

Commercial Street Compton Street Conduit Lane
Coneygree Court Coneygree Walk Coneywell Court

Conifer Rise Coniston Avenue Connaught Street
Conyngham Road Copse Close Cordon Close

Cornfield Close Cosgrove Road Cosgrove Way
Cottage Close Cottage Gardens Cottagewell Court

Cottarville Cotton End Countess Road
Court Road Courteenhall Close Coverack Close
Coverdale Covert Close Covington Street
Cow Yard Cowgill Close Cowper Street

Cowper Terrace Crabb Tree Drive Cranbrook Road
Crane Walk Cranford Road Cransley Walk

Cranstoun Street Craven Street Crawley Close
Crediton Close Crestline Court Crestwood Close

Crestwood Gardens Crestwood Road Cricklade Close
Crickley Crescent Crispin Street Crocket Close

Croftmeadow Court Cromwell Street Croughton Close
Crowthorp Road Croxdale Close Culworth Crescent

Cumberland Close Cumbrae Drive Currie Road
Cutler Close Cyclamen Close Cypress Court
Cyril Street Daimler Close Dairymeadow Court

Dallington Road Dalston Walk Damson Dell
Dandelion Close Danefield Road Danes Backside

Danetree Gardens Danewood Gardens Dartford Close
Deacons Court Deal Court Deal Street

Deansway Debdale Road Delamere Road
Delapre Crescent Delapre Crescent Road Delapre Street

400



Page 5 of 13

Dell Crescent Delta Way Denbigh Road
Denmark Road Derby Road Derngate
Dickson Close Dingley Walk Doddridge Street

Doffmans Corner Donellan Green Donovan Court
Dore Close Dorman Close Dorset Gardens

Dorset Road Downwood Close Drapery
Draycott Close Drayton Walk Drovers Walk

Drum Lane Drydale Avenue Dryden Road
Dryfield Walk Dryland Road Dryleys Court
Drywell Court Duckworth Dell Duke Street

Dulverton Road Dundee Street Dunster Street
Dychurch Lane Earl Street East Bank

East Butterfield Court East Mead Court East Paddock Court
East Park Parade East Priors Court East Street

Eastern Avenue North Eastern Avenue South Eastern Close
Eastfield Road Ecton Brook Road Ecton Park Road
Ecton Street Eden Close Edgemont Road

Edinburgh Road Edith Street Edward Watson Close
Edwinstowe Close Ekins Close Elderberry Court

Elgin Street Elizabeth Street Elizabeth Walk
Ellfield Court Ellis Way Elm Street

Elmhurst Avenue Elmhurst Court Elmington Road
Elton Close Elwes Way Elysium Terrace
Emley Close Emmanual Gardens Emmanuel Court

Emporium Lane Entwood Drive Ermine Road
Esher Court Eskdale Avenue Essex Street
Ethel Street Euston Road Evenley Road

Everdon Close Evesham Court Exeter Place
Exmoor Close Fair Mile Fairfield Road
Fairmead Rise Fairway Falcutt Way

Fallow Walk Far Meadow Court Faracre Court
Faracre Walk Faramir Place Faringdon Court
Farm Close Farmbrook Court Farmfield Court

Farmhill Road Farndon Close Favell Way
Fawsley Road Faxton Close Fellmead Road
Fengate Close Ferndale Road Fetter Street

Field Rose Square Fieldmill Road Fieldmill Square
Fieldmill Walk Fieldway Fife Street
Filleigh Way Fir Tree Walk Firbank Close
Fish Street Fishers Close Fishponds Road

Fitzgerald Court Fitzgerald Road Fitzroy Place
Fitzroy Terrace Five Acres Fold Flaxfield Walk
Flaxlands Court Flaxwell Court Flint Jetty
Flintcomb Rise Florence Road Floribunda Drive

Forest Road Forfar Street Fort Place
Foskitt Court North Foskitt Court South Foskitt Walk

Foundry Street Foxcovert Road Foxendale Square
Foxgrove Avenue Foxhill Road Foxwell Square

401



Page 6 of 13

Frances Jetty Francis Street Fraser Road
Freehold Street Freeschool Street Fremeaux Terrace
Frensham Close Friars Avenue Friars Close

Friars Court Friars Crescent Fuchsia Close
Fulford Drive Fullerburn Court Fullingdale Road
Furber Court Furze Walk Fylingdale

Gable Court Mews Gadesby Court Gallery Close
Gallfield Court Gammons Place Garfield Close
Garfield Street Garrick Road Garsdale

Gas Street Gedling Close Geldock Road
George Nutt Court George Row Gervase Square
Gibbsacre Court Gibbsacre Walk Gillsway

Glade Close Gladstone Road Glaisdale Close
Glan-Y-Mor Terrace Glapthorn Walk Glasgow Street
Glastonbury Road Glendale Court Glendale Walk
Gloucester Avenue Gloucester Close Gloucester Crescent

Gold Street Goldcrest Court Goldenash Court
Goldings Road Gordon Street Gorse Close
Grafton Place Grafton Street Grange Road
Graspin Lane Grasscroft Grassmere Avenue
Gray Street Great Billing Way Great Gull Crescent

Great Holme Court Great Russell Street Greatfield Court
Greatmeadow Greatmeadow Road Green End

Greendale Square Greenfield Avenue Greenfield Close
Greenfield Road Greenhills Close Greenhills Road

Greenside Greenview Drive Greenway
Greenway Avenue Greenwood Road Gregory Gardens

Gregory Street Greyfriars Grimston Jetty
Grosvenor Gardens Groundwell Court Grove Road

Grovebury Dell Guildhall Road Gurston Rise
Haines Road Hall Piece Close Halswell Court

Ham Meadow Drive Hambledon Rise Hammerstone Lane
Hampton Street Hamsterly Park Hanemill Court
Hanemill Walk Hangerfield Court Hanover Court

Harborough Road Harborough Road North Harding Terrace
Harebell Square Harefield Road Harlestone Road

Harold Street Harrow Way Hartwell Close
Harvest Way Hastings Road Haven Close

Hawksbeard Place Hawthorn Road Haycroft Walk
Hayeswood Road Hazeldene Road Hazelwood Road

Healey Close Heather Lane Heatherdale Way
Heathfield Way Hedgely Court Hedgerow Drive
Hedgerow Lane Hellidon Close Helmdon Crescent
Helmdon Road Hembury Place Henard Close

Henry Bird Court Henry Bird Way Henry Street
Herbert Street Hereward Road Hertford Court
Hervey Close Hervey Street Hester Street
Hexham Court Hibiscus Close High Street

402



Page 7 of 13

Highfield Road Hilberry Rise Hillcrest Avenue
Hillside Way Hinton Close Hinton Road

Hodder Street Holdenby Road Hollingside Drive
Holly Lodge Drive Holly Road Hollyoak Terrace

Holman Close Holmecross Road Holmfield Way
Holte End Holyrood Road Home Farm Close

Homestead Way Honeysuckle Way Honister Green
Hood Street Hopes Place Hopmeadow Court

Hornbeam Court Horsemarket Horsemoor Square
Horseshoe Street Horsley Road Howard Biley Gardens

Hoxton Close Hoylake Drive Hunsbarrow Road
Hunsbury Walk Hunter Street Hunters Close

Huntsham Close Huntsmead Huxloe Rise
Ibstock Close Inglewood Court Inglewood Walk
Irondale Close Ironstone Jetty Ironstone Lane
Isham Close Ivy Road Ixworth Close

James Lewis Court Jardine Close Jasmine Road
Jasper Walk Jenner Crescent Jerome Court
Jersey Court Jeyes Jetty Johnson Court
Jubilee Close Jubilee Mews Julian Way
Junction Road Juniper Court Kelmscott Close
Kendal Close Kenmuir Avenue Kenmuir Crescent

Kenmuir Gardens Kensington Close Kentstone Close
Kestrel Close Keswick Drive Kettering Gardens

Kettering Road Kettering Road North Keyham Court
King Edward Road King Street Kingmaker Way

Kingscroft Court Kingscroft Walk Kingsland Avenue
Kingsland Close Kingsland Gardens Kingsley Gardens

Kingsley Park Terrace Kingsley Road Kingsmead
Kingsthorpe Grove Kingsthorpe Road Kingsway

Kingswell Road Kingswell Street Kirkstone Walk
Kirton Close Kirton End Knaphill Crescent

Knightley Road Knights Court Knights Lane
Knowle Close Laburnum Crescent Laceby Walk

Lady Winefrides Walk Ladys Lane Lakeside Drive
Lakeview Green Lancaster Way Landcross Drive
Landsdown Drive Lanercost Walk Langdale Road
Langham Place Langsett Close Lark Rise
Larwood Close Lasham Court Lasham Walk
Latymer Court Lauderdale Avenue Laurel Court

Lavenham Close Lawrence Court Lawson Crescent
Lea Road Leafields Leah Bank

Leatherworks Way Leben Square Leicester Parade
Leicester Street Leicester Terrace Leslie Road

Letts Road Lewis Road Leyland Drive
Leyside Court Leyswell Court Liddington Way
Lime Avenue Linacre Close Lincoln Road
Lincoln Street Lindale Close Linden Road

403



Page 8 of 13

Lindsay Avenue Lindsay Terrace Lingfield Terrace
Lings Way Lingswood Park Link Road
Lion Court Lismore Close Little Billing Way

Little Cross Street Little Gull Close Littlewood Close
Lockcroft Square Lockwood Close Lodore Gardens

Logwell Court Lombardy Court London Road A508
Long Mallows Rise Long Marsh Square Longford Avenue

Longland Court Longland Road Longmead Court
Longueville Court Lorne Road Louise Road

Lower Adelaide Street Lower Bath Street Lower Cross Street
Lower Harding Street Lower Hester Street Lower Meadow Court

Lower Mounts Lower Priory Street Lower Thrift Street
Lowergrass Walk Lowlands Close Lowry Close

Loyd Road Ludlow Close Lumbertubs Lane
Lumbertubs Rise Lumbertubs Way Lutterworth Road

Lyncroft Way Lynmouth Avenue Lynton Avenue
Lytham Close Lyttleton Road Maclean Close

Macmillan Way Magee Street Magnolia Close
Maidencastle Main Road Malcolm Road

Malcolm Terrace Malesoure Walk Malthouse Close
Manderville Close Manfield Road Manor Farm Road

Manor Road Manorfield Close Manorfield Road
Mapperley Drive Marble Arch Marburg Street

Marchwood Close Marefair Margaret Street
Market Square Market Street Market Walk

Marlborough Road Marriott Street Marshleys Court
Marshwell Court Martindale Martins Yard

Marvills Mill Road Marwood Close Masefield Way
Mayfield Road Mayorhold Meadow View

Meadway Medellin Hill Melbourne Road
Melbourne Street Melbourne Walk Melbury Lane

Melbury Place Meltham Close Melville Street
Mercers Row Mercia Gardens Mereway

Merrydale Square Mersey Close Merthyr Road
Mescalero Meshaw Crescent Micklewell Lane

Middle Meadow Walk Middlemarch Middlemead Court
Middlemore Middleton Close Middlewell Court

Midfield Court Miles Well Court Military Road
Mill Lane Mill Meadow Mill Road
Millbank Millside Close Milton Street

Milton Street North Milverton Crescent Mimosa Close
Moat Place Monarch Road Monarch Terrace

Monks Hall Road Monks Park Road Monks Pond Street
Monmouth Road Moore Street Moorfield Square
Moorland Close Moreton Way Morgan Close

Morris Road Mortar Pit Road Mortimer Close
Motspur Drive Mountclair Court Mounts Court

Murray Avenue Muscott Street Mushroom Field Road

404



Page 9 of 13

Naomi Close Narrow Lane Narrow Toe Lane
Naseby Street Navigation Row Neale Close
Nelson Street Nene Drive Nene Valley Way
Nesbitt Close Nether Jackson Court Nethermead Court

New South Bridge Road Newby Court Newcombe Road
Newington Road Newland Newland Walk
Newnham Road Newport Road Newstead Close

Newstone Crescent Newtown Road Nicholls Court
Norfolk Street Norfolk Terrace Norman Road

Normead Square North Hayes Court North Holme Court
North Paddock Court North Priors Court North Western Avenue

Northcote Street Northfield Way Northumbria Gardens
Northwood Road Norton Road Notre Dame Mews
Nunn Mills Road Nursery Lane Nuthall Close

Oak Grove Oak Street Oaklands Drive
Oakley Street Oakpark Close Oakwood Road
Oat Hill Drive Obelisk Rise Octagon Way

Old Barn Court Old Barn Walk Old Bedford Road
Old Carpenters Close Old Quarry Court Old Scholars Close

Old School Close Old Towcester Road Old Yew Court
Olden Road Oldenmead Court Oleander Crescent
Oliver Street Oransay Close Orchard Green
Orchard Hill Orchard Street Osborne Road

Osbornes Jetty Osler Close Osmund Drive
Overleys Court Overmead Road Overstone Lane

Overstone Road Oxford Street Paddock Mill Court
Paddocks Way Padwell Court Palmer Square

Palmerston Road Park Avenue Park Avenue North
Park Avenue South Park Hill Road Park Way
Parkfield Avenue Parkfield Crescent Parkside
Parkwood Street Parracombe Way Partridge Close

Parva Court Pasteur Close Patterdale Walk
Patterson Close Paxton Road Peace Close
Pear Tree Close Pearmain Court Pelham Court

Pell Court Pembroke Crescent Pembroke Gardens
Pembroke Road Pen Court Penarth Road
Penfold Close Penfold Drive Penfold Gardens
Penfold Lane Penistone Road Penistone Walk

Pennycress Place Penrhyn Road Percy Road
Perry Street Pheasant Way Phoenix Street

Piccadilly Close Pike Lane Pikemead Court
Pilgrims Place Pilton Close Pindar Rise

Pine Ridge Pineham Avenue Pinetrees
Pinewood Road Pippin Lane Pitstone Road

Pleydell Gardens Pleydell Road Plough Lane
Ploughmans Walk Poachers Way Pomfret Arms Close

Poole Street Poplar Court Poppyfield Court
Portchester Gardens Portland Place Pound Lane

405



Page 10 of 13

Prentice Court Prescott Close Preston Court
Prestwold Way Primrose Hill Primula Close
Princes Walk Princess Close Priory Close
Priory Court Pritchard Close Probyn Close
Purser Road Pyket Way Pyramid Close

Pytchley Street Queen Eleanor Road Queen Eleanor Terrace
Queens Crescent Queens Park Parade Queens Road

Queensland Gardens Queenswood Avenue Quernstone Lane
Quorn Way Radleigh Close Radstone Way

Raeburn Road Raglan Street Ragsdale Walk
Rainsborough Crescent Raisins Field Close Randall Road

Ransome Road Raymond Road Rectory Farm Road
Redland Drive Redruth Close Regent Square
Regent Street Rennishaw Way Repton Court
Retford Court Reynard Way Richmond Terrace

Rickyard Road Ridgewalk Ridgeway
Riley Close Rill Walk Rillwood Court

Ringway Ringwood Close Ripon Close
River View Riverwell Rixon Close

Robert Street Robinia Close Rockingham Road
Roe Road Romany Road Rookery Lane

Rosedale Road Roseholme Road Rosenella Close
Rosgill Place Rotherhithe Close Rothersthorpe Avenue

Rothersthorpe Crescent Rothersthorpe Lane Rothersthorpe Road
Rothesay Road Rothesay Terrace Rowan Avenue

Rowlandson Close Royal Terrace Ruddington Close
Rufford Avenue Rushmere Crescent Rushmere Road

Ruskin Road Russet Drive Rydal Mount
Rydalside Ryehill Road Ryland Road

Saddlers Square Sage Close Salcey Street
Salisbury Street Sallow Avenue Saltwell Square
Sandhill Road Sandhills Close Sandhills Road

Sandiland Road Sandringham Close Sandringham Road
Sansom Court Saruman Lane Saxon Street

Scafell Rise Scarletwell Street Scarletwell Terrace
Scholars Court School Way Seagrave Court
Seaton Drive Sedgwick Court Seedfield Close

Seedfield Walk Selston Walk Semilong Road
Seymour Street Shadowfax Drive Shakespeare Road
Shankley Way Shap Green Sharman Road
Sharrow Place Shaw Close Sheep Street

Sheerwater Drive Shelford Close Shelley Street
Shepherd Close Shepperton Close Sheraton Close

Sheriff Road Sherwood Avenue Shire Place
Sidebrook Court Silver Street Silverdale Road

Silverstone Close Simons Walk Skawle Court
Skelton Walk Skiddaw Walk Sladeswell Court
Slipton Walk Smith's Court Smyth Court

406



Page 11 of 13

Snapewood Walk Snowbell Square Somerset Street
Sotheby Rise South Bern South Holme Court

South Paddock Court South Priors Court South Street
South Terrace Southampton Road Southfield Avenue
Southwood Hill Spanslade Road Spelhoe Street

Spencer Bridge Road Spencer Haven Spencer Parade
Spencer Road Spencer Street Spenfield Court

Spinneyside Walk Spring Gardens Spring Lane
Springer Straight Springfield Court Springwood Court

Spruce Court Squires Walk St Albans Close
St Albans Road St Andrews Road St Andrews Street
St Davids Road St Edmunds Road St Edmunds Street

St Edmunds Terrace St Francis Avenue St Georges Avenue
St Georges Place St Georges Street St Giles Square

St Giles Street St Giles Terrace St Gregorys Road
St James Mill Road St James Park Road St James Road

St James Street St Johns Avenue St Johns Station Passage
St Johns Street St Johns Terrace St Katherines Street

St Katherines Terrace St Leonards Court St Leonards Road
St Marks Crescent St Martins Close St Marys Street

St Matthews Parade St Michaels Avenue St Michaels Mount
St Michaels Road St Patrick Street St Pauls Road
St Pauls Terrace St Peters Gardens St Peters Square
St Peters Street St Peters Walk St Peters Way

Stable Court Standens Barn Road Standing Stones
Stanhope Road Stanley Road Stanley Street
Station Close Station End Station Mews
Station Road Steene Street Stenson Street

Stevenson Street Stimpson Avenue Stockley Street
Stockmead Road Stone Hill Court Stonebridge Court
Stonewold Close Stoneyhurst Stratton Close
Strawberry Hill Streambank Road Streatfeild Road

STREET Strelley Avenue Stubble Close
Studland Road Sulby Road Sulgrave Road

Sunderland Street Sunningdale Close Sunset Court
Swain Court Swan Street Swan Yard

Swansea Crescent Swansea Road Swinford Hollow
Symington Street Syresham Way Taborley Close

Talan Rise Talavera Way Talbot Road
Tallyfield End Tanfield Lane Tarn Croft

Taunton Avenue Tavistock Close Taylor Avenue
Teesdale Templar Drive Temple Bar
Ten Pines Tenby Road Tewkesbury Close

Thatchfield Walk Thatchwell Court The Avenue
The Briars The Causeway The Close

The Crescent The Drive The Fairoaks
The Friary The Green The Headlands
The Leys The Mews The Parade

407



Page 12 of 13

The Pastures The Riding The Rise
The Smithy The Springs The Vale

Thebwell Road Thenford Street Thirlestane Crescent
Thirlestane Road Thirlmere Avenue Thistleholme Close

Thomas Chapman Grove Thomas Street Thorburn Road
Thorn Hill Thornapple Close Thornby Drive
Thornfield Thornton Hall Close Thornton Road

Thorpe Road Three Mile Walk Thursby Road
Thurspit Place Thwaite Walk Thyme Court
Tinsley Close Tintern Avenue Tiptoe Close

Tiverton Avenue Tollgate Close Tonmead Road
Tonmead Walk Top Meadow Walk Topgrass Walk
Topwell Court Towcester Road Tower Field Square

Tower Hill Close Tower Street Towton Court
Treetops Trenery Way Trimley Close

Trinity Avenue Trinity Road Troutbeck Walk
Trundle Jetty Trussell Road Tudor Road
Turn Furlong Turner Street Twyford Close

Tyebeck Court Tyes Court Tyringham Close
Ullswater Close Union Street University Drive

Upland Road Upper Bath Street Upper Cross Street
Upper Mounts Upper Priory Street Upper Thrift Street

Uppingham Street Upton Close Valemead Walk
Valentine Way Valley Crescent Valley Road

Vantage Meadow Vernon Street Vernon Terrace
Vernon Walk Verwood Close Vicarage Close

Vicarage Lane Vicarage Road Victoria Gardens
Victoria Promenade Victoria Road Victoria Street

Viscount Road Vokes Close Wade Meadow Court
Wade Meadow Walk Waingrove Wakefield Road

Walgrave Close Wallace Gardens Wallace Road
Wallace Terrace Wallbeck Close Walledwell Court
Wallingford End Walton Heath Way Wansford Walk
Wantage Road Warren Road Washbrook Close

Washington Street Waterfowl Walk Watermeadow Drive
Waterpump Court Watersmeet Waterview Walk

Watkin Terrace Waverley Road Waypost Court
Weedon Road Welford Road Well Yard

Wellingborough Road Wellington Place Wellington Street
Wensleydale Wentworth Way Wessex Way
West Bank West Bridge West Cotton Close

West Mead Court West Paddock Court West Priors Court
West Ridge West Street West Street Walk

Westcott Way Westerdale Western View
Westfield Walk Westleigh Close Weston Mill Lane
Weston Way Westone Avenue Westwood Way

Wetheral Close Wheatfield Close Wheatfield Gardens
Wheatfield Road Wheatfield Road North Wheatfield Road South

408



Page 13 of 13

Wheatfield Terrace Whilton Road Whiston Road
Whiteheart Close Whitehills Crescent Whitehills Way
Whiteland Road Whitfield Way Whittlebury Close
Whitworth Road Wilberforce Street Wilby Street
Wildacre Drive Wilford Avenue William Street
Williton Close Willow Brook Square Willow Rise

Wimbledon Street Wimborne Close Winchester Close
Winchester Road Windermere Way Windflower Place
Windmill Terrace Windsor Court Windyridge
Winnington Close Winsford Way Winston Close

Wisteria Way Woburn Gate Wollaton Gardens
Wood Hill Wood Street Woodborough Gardens

Woodfields Walk Woodford Street Woodford Walk
Woodland Avenue Woodland Walk Woodside Avenue
Woodside Crescent Woolmonger Street Woolston Close

Worcester Close Wycliffe Road Wysall Road
Yardley Drive Yelvertoft Road Yeoman Drive
Yewtree Court York Road

409



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 13

Community Impact 
Assessment

(Incorporating equality analysis and health considerations)

Name of Matter 
Assessed:

Designation of Additional Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 
Licencing Scheme

Who will make the 
decision:
(e.g. Cabinet/Board etc.)

Cabinet

Who has been involved 
in developing the 
matter:

NBC Officers, Councillors and stakeholders who are likely to 
be affected by the proposed designation including; residents 
and resident groups, university students, landlords and 
landlords groups, lettings agents and other local businesses, 
and statutory agencies.

What is it:
A Community Impact Assessment (CIA) is a document that summarises how the council has had due regard to 
the public sector equality duty (Equality Act 2010) in decision-making. This document can also be used to 
consider health and narrowing heath inequalities (Health and Care Act 2012)

When to assess:
A CIA should be carried out when you are changing, removing or introducing a new service, policy or function.  
The assessment should be proportionate; a major financial decision will need to be assessed more closely than a 
minor policy change.

Due Regard:
To ‘have due regard’ means that in making decisions and in its other day-to-day activities the council must 
consciously consider the need to do the things set out in the general equality duty: eliminate discrimination, 
advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations. 

In relation to health, we need to consider the potential short term and long term implication of for decisions that 
we take to support the Health and Wellbeing agendas.

How much regard is ‘due’ will depend on the circumstances and in particular on the relevance of the aims in the 
general equality duty to the decision or function in question. The greater the relevance and potential impact, the 
higher the regard required by the duty. We need to make sure that we understand the potential impact of 
decisions on people with different protected characteristics and also need to consider this information before 
and as decisions are being made.  This will help us to reduce or remove unhelpful impacts and inequalities

APPENDIX E

411



Page 2 of 13

Proposal Name:

Designation of an Additional HMO Licencing Scheme 

Aims/Objectives and purpose of the policy/service/function
Aims and objectives:

A House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) is a house or other dwelling in which 
several different households are living and sharing facilities such as a kitchen or 
bathroom.

HMOs and their concentration can be associated with: 
 poor standards of accommodation 
 increased risk from fire and other hazards 
 overcrowding 
 poor external appearance 
 accumulation of refuse 
 reduction in environmental quality 
 increased noise complaints 
 increased anti-social behaviour

In 2014, under the Secretary of State’s general approval, the Council introduced a 
five-year Additional HMO licensing scheme for a designated area of the borough. 
This was based on statistical evidence that was valid at that time. 

The Additional Licencing Scheme came into force on 3 November 2014 and will 
expire on 2 November 2019

Key actions:

If approved, the proposed designation of an Enhanced Additional HMO Licencing 
Scheme (the Scheme) will last for a period of five years commencing on 1 
February 2020, and an enhanced area of the Borough will be subject to Additional 
HMO Licensing for the following types of HMO: 
 
(i) Any HMO (irrespective of the number of storeys) that contains three or four 
occupiers who form two or more households; and 
 
(ii) All self-contained flats (irrespective of the number of storeys) that are Houses 
in Multiple Occupation and contain three or four occupiers who form two or more 
households but, where the HMO is a section 257 House in Multiple Occupation, 
this Additional HMO licensing designation will only apply to those section 257 
HMOs that are mainly or wholly tenanted, including those with resident landlords. 

As the definition of a Mandatory HMO changed in October 2018 to an HMO that is 
occupied by five people or more irrespective of the number of storeys, the 
proposed Additional HMO licensing scheme – for HMOs that are occupied by 
three or four people irrespective of the number of storeys – will complement the 
arrangements that are in place to deal with the licensing of Mandatory HMOs.

412



Page 3 of 13

Expected outcomes:

If approved, the Scheme is likely to play a vital role in controlling and regulating 
HMOs and ensuring that legal standards are in place for fire safety, housing 
related health and safety, space standards and management.

The proposed scheme will provide the Council with the opportunity to ensure that 
a wider range of HMO’s in the designated areas are managed by a ‘fit and proper’ 
person.

The anticipated improvements to the physical environment (both inside and 
outside of individual HMOs) and landlord/tenant behaviour will make a significant 
contribution to improving the health and wellbeing of the tenants and the wider 
community.  

A strengthened partnership approach across Northamptonshire’s statutory 
agencies will continue to achieve greater efficiencies when tackling substandard 
HMOs and any crimes that are committed by those running them or residing in 
them. 

Collaboration between the Council, Northamptonshire Police, Northamptonshire 
Fire and Rescue Service, Trading Standards, Social Services and the UK Border 
Agency allows for pooled resources and shared outcomes.

Who will be affected and how:

Landlords of all licensable HMOs in the enhanced area of the borough 

Landlords and letting agents that have an existing Additional HMO licence at the 
time the new scheme comes into effect will have their licence passported to the 
new scheme and will be automatically issued with a replacement licence under 
the new scheme, matching the duration of their existing licence at no extra cost.

Responsible landlords of well managed and properly maintained HMOs will be 
eligible for a reduced HMO licence fee and trusted to undertake more ‘self-
regulation’ with less local authority intrusion.

Landlords who fail to license their HMOs on time will be required to pay more for 
their HMO licence and, when they are eventually issued with an HMO licence, the 
Council is likely to issue them with a shorter licence that lasts less than the 
standard term.

Criminal, rogue and irresponsible landlords of properties that are being managed  
‘sufficiently ineffectively’ and/or are deemed not to be a  ‘fit and proper person’ will 
be refused control of an HMO and may be subject to housing enforcement action 
including written warnings, notices and orders, civil penalties, prosecution and/or  
Interim Management Orders.  

Tenants of HMOs in the enhanced area of the borough 

Tenants living in substandard HMOs and households seeking private rented 
accommodation in the designated area will benefit from the reassurance that legal 
powers are in place to ensure HMOs comply with enhanced licencing laws.

413



Page 4 of 13

The improvements will be achieved through the use of the Housing, Health and 
Safety Rating System, especially where a property is excessively cold / damp, 
lacks security or has trip or falling hazards. 

Gas and electrical installations will be safe, fire precautions will be in place and 
overcrowding will be addressed.

Neighbouring residents, businesses and community groups

The proposed Scheme will provide the opportunity to apply bespoke licencing 
conditions to individual licence holders and properties.  This will ensure that 
specific local or individual issues are addressed. 

Improvements to the condition of HMOs and the environmental impact on the 
local neighbourhood will include the control of rubbish and waste (such as  
dumped white goods), the maintenance of communal areas, gardens, and 
forecourts, and anti social behaviour.

Northampton Borough Council tax payers 

Taxpayers across the borough with benefit as the licence fees will cover the cost 
of administering the scheme.

The proposed additional HMO licencing scheme will complement the Council’s 
use of Article 4 Directions in helping to control the quality and number of HMOs in 
particular areas of the borough therebuy reducing the burden on the public purse.  

Approximately how many people will be affected:
Landlords and tenants of:

 The 844 Licenced HMOs in Northampton including the 457 with a 
mandatory HMO licence and 387 with an additional HMO licence

 Approximately 960 licensable HMOs that the Council’s intelligence 
indicates may be operating illegally without an HMO licence 

Prospective investors:
 
 Between 2011 and March 2019. the Council received 426 planning 

applications for HMOs

Local residents:
 
 A large proportion of the following complaints related to HMOs or areas with 

high concentrations of HMOs (exact figures are not known)

o 2,608 complaints about noise nuisance

o 1,357 complaints about rubbish sacks and 
accumulation of refuse in gardens

o 1,076 complaints about fly tipping 

Expected date of decision:

16 October 2019

414



Page 5 of 13

Scope/focus of the assessment:
Please outline the scope and focus of the assessment:

The assessment considers the possible impact on landlords and tenants of 
HMOs residents in the immediate locality, Council employees, and the 
community as a whole; within the additional licencing areas, and across the 
borough. 

Community Screening Outcome
Will the proposal: Yes/No

Eliminate discrimination, harassment or victimisation Yes 

Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it Yes 

Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it Yes 

Contribute towards health improvements or inequalities Yes 

Relevant data and/or research
Outline the information and research that has informed the decision:

Information and research includes:

 Priorities in Northampton Borough Council’s Corporate Plan 2018-2020

o Empowering local people – use community networks to highlight 
issues and bring neighbourhoods together to deal with them

o More homes, better homes - make effective use of of enforcement 
powers to ensure good standards in the private rented sector
 

o Keeping the town and people safe – working effectively to uphold 
licencing objectives

o Improving our governance – doing the right things, in the right way 
for the people of Northampton in an open, honest and accountable 
manner

 desktop research on legislation, regulation and preferred practice

 statutory, formal and informal consultation 

 statistical analysis of local intelligence 

415



Page 6 of 13

Sources:

 The Housing Enforcement Team local intelligence database 

 Homelessness JSNA Insight Pack August 2019

 Northampton Supplementary Planning Document (draft) July 2019

 Northampton Local Plan Part 2 (draft) 2019

 Office for National Statistics website 

 Northampton Infographic February 2019

 Northamptonshire JSNA 2019

 A Study of HMO Policy (Northampton) - Loughbrough University 2018 
 Public Health England Data 2017 

 Social Isolation in Northamptonshire - Kent & Roberts October 2015

How will the decision affect people with different protected characteristics?
If approved, the proposed Scheme will have the potential to significantly improve 
the quality of HMOs in Northampton.  Consequently, the proposed Scheme is 
likely to affect the physical, emotional, social, environmental and economic 
wellbeing of all groups within the wider local community. 

Current service provision
What are you doing now:

There is an uneven distribution of HMOs across Northampton. There is generally 
an undersupply across the borough and demand is continuing to increase. 
Conversely, however, some areas have an over-concentration of HMOs.

Mandatory HMO licensing applies to all HMOs (in all parts of the borough) that 
contain five or more occupiers that form two or more households.

In 2014, under the Secretary of State’s general approval, the Council introduced a 
five-year Additional HMO licensing scheme for a designated area of the borough. 
This was based on statistical evidence that was valid at that time. 

The Additional HMO Licencing Scheme came into force on 3 November 2014 and 
will expire on 2 November 2019.

416



Page 7 of 13

Rationale for change
What will you do if/when changes are agreed/introduced:

If approved, the proposed Scheme will provide the Council with the most appropriate 
range of tools to address the commonly interrelated issues associated with unlicenced 
HMOs in the localities concerned. 

Identification of affected groups/individuals
List the groups/individuals that may be affected by the proposal:

Those who may be affected include people with or without one or more protected 
characteristics including:

 tenants of HMOs in Northampton or households seeking affordable private 
rented accommodation in Northampton

 vulnerable individuals, and those who are victims of hate crime 

 private sector landlords and letting agencies
 

 homeless people and those threatened with homelessness

 people living, working or studying in the locality of poorly managed HMOs 
or where demand for HMOs outweighs current supply 

 local Council Tax payers

 public sector service users  

 statutory agencies and their employees 
 

 local employers  

 local businesses

Assess and/or undertake consultation

Has there been specific consultation on this decision (if not, state why not 
and/or when this may happen):

On 3 May 2019, the Council published a ‘Consultation Report’ and launched its 
10-week consultation with the residents, groups, businesses and stakeholders 
who are likely to be affected by the proposed designation.

Details of the consultation and the proposed designation, together with copies of 
the Consultation Report, were publicised using a wide range of techniques and 
communication channels, including the Council’s website, social media (Facebook 
and Twitter), The One Stop Shop, Landlords’ Forum, briefings and focus groups, 
features and an advert in the local newspaper, e-mails to hundreds of known 
landlords, letting agents, resident associations and engagement with key 
stakeholders (including the Police, Fire Service and Immigration Service) and 
Council services (including Planning, Building Control, Environmental Services, 
Revenues & Benefits, Housing Options, Legal Services and the Anti-Social 

417



Page 8 of 13

Behaviour Unit).

Consultees included other regulatory bodies, landlords and letting agents, 
accredited landlords, tenants, University students, residents and residents groups, 
parish councils, business owners and, where necessary, residents and business 
owners who are not in the Northampton borough but whose homes or premises 
are adjacent to the new designation.

All consultees were invited to share their views on the proposed scheme via the 
completion of a survey which was organised online through Survey Monkey.

A series of focus groups and briefings were held with Councillors, landlords, 
letting agents, residents, residents’ associations, the Gangmasters and Labour 
Abuse Authority, Northamptonshire Fire and Rescue Service, the University of 
Northampton, DASH (Decent and Safe Housing) and other stakeholders.

What conclusions have been drawn from the analysis on how the 
decision will affect people with different protected characteristics:

The results of the consultation are contained in the ‘Report on the findings from 
the Consultation on the Designation of an Enhanced Additional HMO Licensing 
Scheme in Northampton’.

The demographic of those consulted included a higher proportion of people with 
one or more protected characteristic than the general population. 

 62% of respondents either strongly agreed or agreed with the proposed 
designation of an enhanced Additional HMO licensing scheme

 31% of respondents expressed concerns about anti-social behaviour, parking 
issues and rubbish / fly-tipping associated with HMOs. (64% of these felt that 
the Additional Licensing Scheme would help to combat these)

 13% of replies that supported the scheme mentioned that the proposal would 
introduce a degree of control and accountability and ensure that standards 
within HMOs would be met.  The scheme would also provide good quality 
living accommodation which was important for tenants’ health and wellbeing.

 19% of respondents disagreed with the proposed designation of an enhanced 
Additional HMO licensing scheme. (The main reasons for them disagreeing 
was that they feel that HMOs are the cause of anti-social behaviour, parking 
problems and rubbish / fly-tipping issues)

 6% of respondents did not directly agree or disagree with the proposed 
designation of an enhanced Additional HMO licensing scheme but expressed 
their disapproval of HMOs in the area.

 6% of all respondents were concerned about how the Council will enforce the 
proposed scheme. (80% of these were in favour of the proposal)

 3% of respondents said that there were too many HMOs 

 4% of respondents wanted all HMOs to be licensed.

418



Page 9 of 13

Assessment of impact on staff
Please give details of impact on staff, including staffing profile if/as 
appropriate:

The impact on staff is anticipated to be largely positive due to the opportunity for 
continuing professional development and access to improved systems 

There is the possibility that expanding the area covered by the Scheme will result 
in an increased workload for the Housing Enforcement Team

There may be an increased risk to the health, safety and wellbeing of the Housing 
Enforcement Team responsible for dealing with rogue and criminal landlords and 
disgruntled tenants 

Assessment of impact on the wider community
  Please give details of any impacts to the community as a whole:

Local Government has a responsibility to help ensure the safety, security and 
wellbeing of citizens and their communities. Appropriate licensing is one way to 
deliver on this responsibility.

Assess the relevance and impact of the decision to people with 
different characteristics
                  Relevance = High/Low/None                                 Impact = High/Low/Neutral

Characteristic Relevance Impact

Age High High

Disability          Low High

Gender reassignment Low Low 

Marriage and civil partnership High High

Pregnancy and maternity Low High

Race High High 

Religion or belief High High

Sex High High

Sexual orientation Low Low 

Other socially excluded groups (include 
health inequalities) High High 

*when assessing relevance and impact, make it clear who the assessment applies to within the 
characteristic category. For example, a decision may have high relevance for young people, but low 
relevance for older people; it may have a positive impact on women but a neutral impact on men

419



Page 10 of 13

  Please provide details:

Positive impact: Age 

Children – health and wellbeing, fire safety 
Children will be protected from living in overcrowded and/or unsafe conditions, 
and unlawful eviction, all of which are known to have a significant impact on 
their health, wellbeing and life chances 

Young single people - protection from harassment, health and wellbeing, 
fire safety

Single people under 35 with limited financial means (including students and 
those claiming universal credit or housing benefit and affected by the shared 
room rate) are statistically most likely to live in an HMO and therefore most likely 
to benefit from improved conditions resulting from the Additional HMO licensing.

The average age range for HMO tenants is between 20-39. This age group 
represents approximately 30% of Northampton’s population. 

Older people – condition of property, health and wellbeing, safety  social 
isolation, protection from eviction

National research shows that older infirm people are less likely to complain 
about unsafe housing due to the challenges associated with accessing 
alternative accommodation. 

Poor living conditions have a disproportionately adverse effect on the health, 
wellbeing and life expectancy of older people. The negative impact increases 
with age.

Older people in urban environments are at most risk of feeling isolated and 
lonely and being affected by crime, the fear of crime and a lack of community 
resulting from an increase in HMOs that tend to be occupied short term and 
have a higher turnover of occupants than family homes. 

Positive impact: Disabilities and learning difficulties – protection from 
harassment, health and safety, social isolation, fire hazards

People with disabilities, and learning difficulties in particular, are statistically at 
greatest risk of harassment, exploitation, accidents in the home and social 
isolation.  

The proposed Scheme is likely to be of benefit to people with disabilities and 
learning difficulties.

Positive impact: Gender reassignment – protection from harassment, 
unlawful eviction  

Data on gender re-assignment is not available at a borough level, but a Home 
Office funded study for the Gender Identity Research and Education Society 
estimated there are 300,000-500,000 transgender people in the UK. 

The NHS Choices website estimates that one in 4,000 people in the UK are 
undergoing medical treatment to make the transition from one gender to the 
other.

420



Page 11 of 13

Positive impact: Marriage and civil partnership – protection from 
harassment 

Profiling information is not available at borough level

Positive impact: sexual orientation

Profiling information is not available at borough level

Positive impact: Pregnancy and maternity – protection from harassment, 
health and wellbeing, protection from eviction 

Profiling information is not available at borough level

Positive impact: Race – protection from harassment, health and wellbeing, 
protection from eviction 

The ethnic profile of the general population within Northampton is:
White 84.5 % 
Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups 3.2%
Asian/Asian British 6.5% 
Black/ African/ Caribbean/ Black British 5.1%
Other Ethnic Groups 0.7%

There is an over representation of mixed, multiple ethnic groups and 
Black/African/Caribbean/Black British and other ethnic groups on low incomes. 
Due to their low income, they are more likely to rely on HMOs to meet their need 
for affordable housing. 

The positive impact of the proposed Additional HMO licensing scheme is likely 
to be highly relevant to these groups. 

Positive impact: Religion or belief – protection from harassment, health 
and wellbeing, protection from eviction 

Profiling information is not available at borough level

Positive impact: sex 

Women 

In Northampton the average female salary is £21,554 per annum, compared to 
an average male salary is £34,422 per annum. Due to their lower incomes, 
working women may be more reliant than working men on HMOs to meet their 
need for affordable housing. 

Other socially excluded groups 

Negative impact: Homeless households and those at risk of homelessness 
including care leavers, and those people leaving prison, approved 
premisis and the armed forces

It is highly probable that some criminal, rogue and irresponsible landlords will 
decide (or be forced to) stop operating their HMOs. 

Although this is an intended outcome, it may have an adverse effect on existing 
tenants and prospective tenants who are statistically at greatest risk of 

421



Page 12 of 13

homelessness due to past trauma or complex needs.    

Fuel poverty in Northampton 

Cold homes are linked to a range of health problems 

Statistically the level of fuel poverty in Northants is significantly lower than the 
England average. However, there is a wide variation in deprivation index scores 
across the borough.  The pockets with a high level of fuel poverty correlate to 
the distribution of HMOs.  The proposed Scheme will have a positive effect on 
fuel poverty. 

Mitigation of adverse impact on staff/service/people

Where any negative impact has been identified, please outline the measures taken 
to mitigate against it:

Staff 
The risk of verbal abuse and aggression towards staff by disgruntled rogue 
landlords or concerned tenants will be mitigated through the application of a 
comprehensive health and safety policy including training, risk assessments and 
issuing personal safety devices.  

Services
The possible adverse effect on service demand will be mitigated by the 
introduction of an on-line HMO licencing system and if necessary, the 
recruitment of more officers to manage the demand, funded by the recovery of 
fees and charges.  

People 

The potentially adverse effect on socially excluded groups being put at risk of 
homelessness by having to leave unfit premisis will be mitigated by the use of 
Interim Management Orders and the increased investment in the supply of 
HMOs by good landlords (which is predicted to continue). 

The potentially adverse effect on landlords who are subject to additional 
licencing and fees and charges will be proportionate, fair and transparent,

The Council has published an Amenities and Facilities Guide for Landlords, 
along with the policies on Fees and Charges, Civil Penalties and Housing 
Enforcement.

Only those who break the law will risk prosecution and financial penalties. 

Publication of results

This Impact Assessment will be published on the Council’s website

Monitoring and review

Please give details of how the changes will be monitored, and when the next review 
is due:

422



Page 13 of 13

The Council and its partners will undertake regular monitoring and ongoing 
evaluation of the Designation of an enhanced Additional Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO) Licencing Scheme through monthly management meetings, 
quarterly performance review meetings and periodic Landlord Forums.

Conclusion

There should be no unlawful discrimination arising from the decision.

Please state how “Due regard” has been taken to the equality duty, and public 
health considerations:

The detailed proposals within this assessment have due regard to the equality 
duty and public health considerations. 

The actions seek to eliminate discrimination, harassment or victimisation, advance 
equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it, foster good relations between 
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not 
share it, and contribute towards health improvements and inequalities in 
Northampton.

Please advise on the overall equality implications that should be taken into account 
in the final decision, considering relevance and impact:

The overall equality implications that should be taken into account in the final 
decision are as follows:

 It is considered that an Additional Licensing Scheme for HMOs will 
have an overall positive impact for landlords, tenants, residents 
and businesses by the potential improvement to the condition and 
management of HMOs. 

 The inspection and licensing of HMOs, together with the imposition 
of conditions as part of the licence, will help to ensure that they 
meet basic minimum standards including in relation to matters 
such as fire safety, overcrowding and the provision of amenities.

 There are potential benefits arising from the increased choice of 
high quality, well managed affordable housing.   

Signed:
Phil Harris 

Janice Nuth 

Date:
30 April 2019 (Updated on 16 July 2019 and 3 September 2019)

423



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 2

APPENDIX F

HMO Study by Loughborough University

There is an under supply of HMOs in Northampton and the demand is likely to increase. 
There is therefore a need to update the current planning policies for HMOs in order to 
more effectively manage the concentration of HMOs.

It is recognised that HMOs are an important sector of the local housing market. 
However, over-concentrations of HMOs in Northampton have had detrimental effects 
on the character of local communities and neighbourhoods. Therefore, HMOs need to 
be located and managed in effective ways in order to ensure they do not result in over-
concentrations and that they provide high quality accommodation.

The relocation of the University of Northampton has shifted the geographical demand 
for HMOs to the town centre. However, the increase in demand for HMOs is not solely 
attributable to students. It is also caused by a wider range of social groups, including 
young professionals, workers in temporary jobs and vulnerable social groups. 

In Northampton, there are employment opportunities associated with the logistics 
distribution centres and industrial estates taking advantage of being located near to 
junctions on the M1 and in relatively close proximity to London. Further planned 
expansion for business operators will also result in workers seeking accommodation – 
particularly in the sectors such as general industrial, warehousing and retail – and add 
to the demand for private rented housing.

Unless properly managed, HMOs can have a detrimental effect on the occupants, the 
neighbours and the physical environment of the neighbourhood.

During field visits and the focus groups with residents, landlords, letting agents, the 
University of Northampton, Council Officers and Councillors, the Loughborough 
University study observed the following impacts of over-concentrations of HMOs on the 
local characteristics of neighbourhoods:

 Poor management and maintenance of private rented housing 

 Dilapidation of some housing stock and housing facades

 Increased noise nuisance 

425



Page 2 of 2

 Unkempt gardens and yards, and overspill from refuse sacks and wheelie bins 
(especially in alleys) affecting the appearance of the neighbourhood and 
resulting in more pressure on the refuse collection teams

 Increased dumping of unwanted white goods and furniture in the streets

 Removal of some garden hedges / fences / walls to allow tarmacking for car 
parking on gardens and driveways

 Seasonal de-population of neighbourhoods (especially where there are a lot 
of students) causing high levels of population transience and turnover.

426



Page 1 of 2

APPENDIX G

Principal benefits of the proposed designation

 As HMO licensing is compulsory, the onus is on the landlord to apply for a 
licence and, if they operate a licensable HMO without a licence, they will be 
committing a criminal offence, any section 21 Notice they serve will be invalid 
and the Council may prosecute them or impose a civil penalty;

 Where a landlord has a portfolio of properties, they will have to identify (in the 
first licence application they submit) the locations of all of their HMOs, reducing 
the amount of time the Housing Enforcement Team spends chasing landlords 
and enabling it to focus on intelligence-led, targeted enforcement;

 A comprehensive database of all licensed HMOs within the designated area will 
be created and maintained and, because landlords are required to provide the 
Council with their contact details, they can be contacted more easily in the event 
of any issues arising in relation to their properties;

 It will enable the Council to recognise those responsible landlords of well 
managed and properly maintained HMOs who will not only be eligible for a 
reduced HMO licence fee but will also be trusted to undertake more ‘self-
regulation’ with less local authority intrusion;

 The burden on the council taxpayer will be reduced because the licence fees will 
cover the cost of administering the scheme;

 Problematic HMO properties can be targeted and it will be easier for the Council 
to identify and tackle those landlords whose accommodation and/or 
management is inadequate and to ensure that steps are taken to bring those 
properties up to the required standard;

 It will enable the Council to control the maximum number of occupants   allowed 
to reside in a property, preventing unlawful overcrowding in HMOs;

 Criminal, rogue and irresponsible landlords will be identified and only those 
landlords that are ‘fit and proper’ will be allowed to have control of an HMO;

 It will enable the Council to devise and apply bespoke licensing conditions 
against individual licence holders in order to ensure that specific risks and/or 
concerns can be appropriately addressed; 

427



Page 2 of 2

 Where a landlord has had an HMO licence revoked and/or they have been 
prosecuted and convicted for housing-related offences, fraud or violence, they 
will be deemed not to be a ‘fit and proper person’ and, if they submit an HMO 
licence application to the Council, their application will be refused; and

 A better and more co-ordinated enforcement approach can be formulated with 
partner agencies (such as Northamptonshire Police, Northamptonshire Fire and 
Rescue Service, Trading Standards, Social Services and the UK Border Agency) 
when tackling substandard HMOs and any crimes that are committed by those 
running them or residing in them.

 The proposed designation will have a significant impact because landlords of all 
licensable HMOs within the proposed area (irrespective of the number of storeys) 
will be required to apply for a licence to operate their HMOs.  This will provide 
the Council with enhanced controls and the ability to target enforcement 
resources at criminal, rogue and irresponsible landlords.

428



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC 

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Service Area:

Accountable Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

16 October 2019

YES

YES

YES

PLANNING

Councillor James Hill

All wards

1. Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to ask Cabinet to approve, for public consultation, 
the proposal to introduce a Borough wide Article 4 Direction for the remaining 
areas of Northampton.

2. Recommendations

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet approves, for public consultation, the Council’s 
proposal to introduce a Borough wide Article 4 Direction for houses in multiple 
occupation (HMO).  This Direction, if it were to come into effect, would 
withdraw permitted development rights for the change of use from Class C3 
Dwellinghouses to Class C4 Houses in Multiple Occupation for areas of the 
Borough not currently covered by an Article 4 Direction.

2.2 That the Head of Planning be given delegated authority in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Planning to make minor non-material spelling, 
formatting and other amendments to the consultation notices and documents 
where they do not alter the intent of the Direction.

Report Title BOROUGH WIDE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION

Appendices

429

Agenda Item 14



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

3. Issues and Choices

3.1Report Background and Legal Overview

3.1.1 In 2010, the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (Use 
Classes Order) was amended which created a new use class for small 
Houses in Multiple Occupation, Use Class C4 (HMO) and amended Use Class 
C3 (Dwellinghouses).  Class C4 covers shared dwellinghouses or flats 
occupied by between 3 and 6 unrelated people who share basic amenities.  

3.1.2 The change of use of a property from Class C3 (Dwellinghouses) to Class C4 
(HMO) is likely to be a material change of use requiring planning permission. 
However, deemed planning permission is granted for such a use by Class L(b) 
of Part 3 (Change of Use) of Schedule 2 to the General Permitted 
Development Order 2015 (GPDO).  This permitted development right may, in 
exceptional circumstances, be removed by an Article 4 Direction, in which 
case, express planning permission will be required from the Local Planning 
Authority (LPA).

3.1.3 An Article 4 Direction is a direction under Article 4 of the GPDO which enables 
the Secretary of State or the LPA to withdraw specified permitted development 
rights across a defined area.

3.1.4 Provided there is justification for both its purpose and extent, an Article 4 
Direction can:

 Cover an area of any geographic size, from a specific site to a local 
authority wide area

 Remove specified permitted development rights related to operational 
development or change of use

 Remove permitted development rights with temporary or permanent 
effect

3.1.5 The use of an Article 4 Direction to remove permitted development rights 
should be limited to situations where this is necessary to protect local amenity 
or the wellbeing of the area.  The particular harm that a Direction is intended 
to address should be clearly identified.  There should be particularly strong 
justification for the withdrawal of permitted development rights relating to a 
wide area for instance covering the entire area of a Local Planning Authority.

3.1.6 An Article 4 Direction does not prohibit development but enables the LPA to 
have some control over the proposed development.

3.1.7 Where an Article 4 Direction is effective, a planning application will be made to 
the Local Planning Authority in the usual way.    The planning application will 
be considered on its merits, the LPA will assess the proposed development in 
the light of policies in the development plan and consider any other factors 
that are material.

430



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

3.1.8 The normal right of appeal to the Secretary of State is available if permission 
is refused, granted subject to unacceptable conditions, or is not determined 
within the statutory eight week period.

3.1.9 If a LPA makes an Article 4 Direction, it can be liable to pay compensation to 
those whole permitted development rights have been withdrawn, but only if it 
subsequently:

 Refuses planning permission for development which would otherwise 
have been permitted development

 Grants planning permission subject to more limiting conditions than the 
GDPO

3.1.10 The grounds on which compensation can be claimed are limited to abortive 
expenditure or other loss or damage directly attributable to the withdrawal of 
permitted development rights.

3.1.11 Section 108(2A) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that 
compensation is only payable if an application for planning permission for the 
development formerly permitted by the GPDO is made within 12 months of the 
Article 4 Direction taking effect.  However, no compensation is payable if an 
LPA gives notice of the intended withdrawal between 12 months and 24 
months in advance.

3.1.12 An Article 4 Direction cannot prevent development which has commenced, or 
which has already been carried out. 

3.1.13 An Article 4 Direction needs to be drafted, made (which means sealed, 
publicised and subject to due consideration of any representations by Cabinet) 
and confirmed.

3.1.14 The Council is proposing to introduce a non-immediate Article 4 Direction on 
the rest of the Borough not currently covered by an Article 4.  A non-
immediate Article 4 Direction must specify the date that the Direction comes 
into force.  This date must be within 28 days and two years following the date 
on which the public consultation period began.  An Article 4 Direction must be 
confirmed by the LPA before it comes into force.  The LPA must take into 
account any representations it receives during the consultation period when 
deciding whether or not to confirm the Article 4 Direction. 

3.1.15 A LPA must, as soon as practicable after confirming an Article 4 Direction, 
inform the Secretary of State.  The Secretary of State does not have to 
approve Article 4 Directions, and will only intervene where there are clear 
reasons for doing so.

3.1.16 As the Council is proposing a Borough wide Non Immediate Article 4 
Direction, it is important to outline a strong case as to why this is considered 
necessary.

3.2Issues

a.  Current Position on Article 4 Directions in Northampton

431



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

3.2.1 Houses in multiple occupation play an important role in providing affordable 
accommodation for a range of people including students, key workers, young 
professionals, migrant workers and transient workers.  However, several 
issues have been identified in areas of high concentrations of HMOs.  One of 
the ways in which high concentrations are being managed is through the 
introduction of Article 4 Directions for houses in multiple occupation.    

3.2.2 Northampton currently has 4 Article 4 Direction Areas associated with houses 
in multiple occupation (HMOs), covering the following areas: Sunnyside Ward, 
St David’s Ward, Obelisk Ward, Northampton North and Central, parts of Far 
Cotton and Delapre and parts of Cliftonville (see Map 1). This means that 
within these areas, planning permission is required for the change of use from 
a dwellinghouse to an HMO for 3 – 6 unrelated persons sharing basic 
amenities.  Map 2 shows the extent of planning approvals granted in areas 
with Article 4 Directions.  Further information on the Article 4 Directions can be 
found by accessing the following link:
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning-
applications/986/permitted-development-rights---article-4-directions

b.  Justification for a Borough wide Article 4 Direction on the remaining 
parts of Northampton

3.2.3 Since the introduction of the existing Article 4 Directions, further evidence has 
come forward which suggests that the remaining parts of the Borough should 
have an Article 4 Direction.  In preparing the submission draft to the 
Northampton Local Plan Part 2, the Council appointed Loughborough 
University (2018)1 to undertake a technical study as evidence to inform policy 
formulation on HMOs.  This study also provided information and 
recommendations which were used to update the principles contained in the 
Interim Planning Policy Statement (IPPS) 20142 on houses in multiple 
occupation.  To manage the concentration of HMOs within areas covered by 
Article 4 Directions, the IPPS stipulates that planning permission for new 
HMOs should only be granted, subject to other considerations, where they do 
not cause the concentration of HMOs within a 50m radius of the application 
site to exceed 15%.  

3.2.4 The Loughborough Study outlined the issues associated with over 
concentrations of HMOs within Northampton.  The Study concluded there 
were incidences of general poor upkeep and maintenance of private rented 
housing as well as dilapidation of some housing stock and housing facades.  
In addition, there was evidence of unkempt gardens, fly tipping, overspill from 
refuse bags and streets crammed with parked cars.  Noise and anti-social 
behaviour were also reported to be an issue in areas of high concentration of 
HMOs.  It was noted that concentrations of HMOs can result in seasonal 
depopulation, which points to relatively high levels of population transience 
and turnover.  This means that at times, properties will be left empty when the 
students return to their own homes.  All of these issues can potentially have a 

1 https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/11015/02-houses-in-multiple-occupation
2 https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning-for-the-future/2011/himo-draft-interim-planning-
policy-statement

432

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning-applications/986/permitted-development-rights---article-4-directions
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning-applications/986/permitted-development-rights---article-4-directions


Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

detrimental impact on the physical, environmental, the built environment, and 
social and wellbeing aspects of the community.  

3.2.5 In progressing the study, the Loughborough team also undertook a series of 
workshops with Councillors, landlords, Council Officers and other relevant 
stakeholders.  They concluded that the existing over concentrations of HMOs 
are intensifying, and new concentrations are forming within other parts of the 
Borough.  This was attributed in part to the dynamics of the HMO market in 
Northampton, which are clearly being influenced by the relocation of the 
University of Northampton, and a more general trend of other social groups 
seeking private rental accommodation in the Borough.  

3.2.6 The University came up with several recommendations, which would enable 
the Council to more fully regulate and effectively plan for the distribution of 
HMOs across the wider Borough, as well as ensure that high quality and well 
managed HMOs are available to a range of groups including students, key 
workers and people who do not wish to purchase their own homes.  The 
recommendations included the implementation of a blanket Article 4 Direction 
across Northampton.  Over time, the Study concluded, a town wide Article 4 
Direction may enable a reduction in the concentration on HMO within existing 
pockets of over concentration, resulting in a more acceptable spread across 
the town. 

3.2.7 The study also recommended that the threshold for the consideration of 
planning applications be amended to 10% within 50 metres, which is a change 
from the existing IPPS2014. This was considered to be more impactful in 
terms of identifying when a possible new over concentration of HMOs may be 
forming.  This recommendation is included as a policy in the submission draft 
Northampton Local Plan Part 2, which was released for consultation in May 
2019.  In addition, the Council also prepared a Supplementary Planning 
Document (which would update the IPPS2014), which provides details of 
updated principles to assist in the determination of planning applications.  The 
SPD includes the recommendation to use the threshold of 10% within 50 
metres.  The SPD was the subject of a public consultation exercise in the 
summer of 2019.  

3.2.8 In May 20193, the Private Sector Housing section of the Council consulted on 
the proposed implementation of an enhanced designation for additional HMO 
licensing in Northampton.  The evidence provided to justify this extension 
includes complaints about noise, complaints about rubbish sacks and the 
accumulation of refuse in gardens, and complaints of fly tipping in and around 
HMOs (see Map 3).  This reinforced the evidence provided by the 
Loughborough Study, confirming that HMOs can result in a range of issues to 
the extent that extending the requirements for additional licensing to wider 
areas outside an Article 4 Direction was considered to be justifiable. 

c.  Non Immediate Article 4 Direction

3.2.9 It is recommended that a Non Immediate Article 4 Direction is introduced 
across the remaining parts of the borough which are not currently covered by 

3 https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200024/consultations/1939/additional-licensing-for-houses-in-multiple-
occupation-hmos-consultation

433



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

an Article 4 (see Map 4).  As mentioned earlier, the use of an Article 4 
Direction should be limited to situations where this is necessary to protect 
local amenity or the wellbeing of the area.  It is evident that there is 
justification for the introduction of a borough wide Direction.  

3.2.10 The reason why a Non Immediate Article 4 Direction is the preferred option 
(compared to an Immediate Direction) is that Section 108(2A) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 provides that compensation is only payable is an 
application for planning permission formerly permitted by the GDPO is made 
within 12 months of the Article 4 Direction taking effect.  This is applicable 
when an Immediate Article 4 Direction is introduced.  However, no 
compensation is payable if the Council gives notice of the intended withdrawal 
between 12 months and 24 months in advance, which is what this proposed 
Non Immediate Article 4 Direction will do.  In addition, an Immediate Article 4 
Direction can be introduced if the development presents an immediate threat 
to local amenity or prejudice the proper planning of an area.  The evidence 
identified to date does not conclusively demonstrate that an Immediate Article 
4 Direction is justified.

3.2.11 This Non Immediate Article 4 Direction, as mentioned in section 2, will remove 
the permitted development right that allows a change of use from a 
dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) to a house in multiple occupation for three to 
six unrelated persons (Use Class C4).  Without the Article 4 Direction, people 
are able to undertake these conversions without the need for planning 
approval.  However, it should be noted that the introduction of the Article 4 
Direction does not mean that planning permission will be refused.  It means 
that if an application comes in, the Council will consider the planning 
application against a variety of planning considerations including the 
threshold.  

3.2.12 If agreed, the Council will consult on the Article 4 Directions for a minimum of 
21 days.  The outcome of the consultation exercise will be reported back to 
Cabinet in Spring 2020.  Statutory consultees and the Secretary of State will 
be automatically consulted.  Other consultees will be at the discretion of the 
Council.  

3.2.13 The Council is required to take into account any representations received 
during the consultation period and determine whether or not to proceed 
towards confirming the Non Immediate Direction.  In the event that there are 
no issues to resolve, the Council can seek to approve the confirmation of the 
Article 4 Direction at Cabinet.  This means that the Direction can come into 
force within 12 months from the date of the public consultation.  This is the 
minimum period required to avoid any compensation claims. 

3.2.14 It should be noted that the Secretary of State does not have to approve the 
Article 4 Direction, but they can intervene if there are clear reasons for doing 
so.

3.3Choices (Options)

Option 1: Agree to the recommendation

434



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

3.3.1 Currently, planning approval is not required for the change of use from 
dwellinghouses to HMOs in areas on Northampton outside the Article 4 
Direction areas.  If Cabinet approves the Non Immediate Article 4 Direction for 
consultation, the Council will be able to go out to consultation to statutory 
consultees, non-statutory consultees and residents for a minimum of 21 days, 
seeking views on whether this should be extended to the rest of the borough.

3.3.2 If agreed, and when the Non Immediate Article 4 Direction comes into effect, 
all potential landlords and property owners who own properties in 
Northampton will need to apply for planning permission prior to their property 
being converted and used for HMOs for between 3 and 6 unrelated persons 
who share basic amenities.

 
Option 2: Do not agree to the recommendation

3.3.3 Cabinet could decide not to approve the proposed Non Immediate Borough 
wide Article 4 Direction for consultation. This means that within the areas not 
currently covered by Article 4 Directions, people can continue to change the 
use of their properties from dwellinghouses to HMOs without the need for 
planning permission.  This would make it difficult for the Council to manage 
the concentration of HMOs, the character of the area and the wellbeing of 
occupants and adjoining residents. 

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1 Policy

4.1.1 The Non Immediate Article 4 Direction will not introduce any new planning 
policies.  Rather, it is a legal procedure which seeks to remove an existing 
permitted development right.  If approved, planning permission will be required 
for the change of use from a dwellinghouse to a house in multiple occupation 
for 3 – 6 unrelated persons sharing basic amenities.  Consideration of a 
planning application will take into account the planning policies contained in 
the development plans.  

4.2 Resources and Risk

4.2.1 Sufficient resources have been incorporated into the budget for 2019/20 to 
fund the next stage of the Article 4 Direction. There will be implications on staff 
resource, particularly Enforcement, as the likelihood of complaints about 
HMOs without planning approval is likely to increase and in Planning Policy, 
where additional mapping services will be required.  However, there will be an 
increase in the planning application fees which could be used to contribute 
towards a more effective planning service delivery.

4.3 Legal

4.3.1 The proposals would require the making of a Non Immediate Article 4 
Direction following due legal process as prescribed by the Town and Country 

435



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

Planning (General permitted Development Order) 1995 (as amended) as 
summarised above.  

4.3.2 Legal support and advice will be required until the Article 4 Direction comes 
into effect. 

4.4 Equality and Health

4.4.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment has recently been carried for the submission 
draft Northampton Local Plan Part 2 (LPP2). As this Article 4 Direction is being 
introduced across the remaining parts of the Borough, and planning 
applications will be determined using existing policy directions, including those 
contained in the emerging LPP2, the Equalities Impact Assessment 
undertaken for the draft LPP2 is relevant for this project. The Equalities Impact 
Assessment is available at: 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning_for_the_future/1746/  

4.5 Consultees (Internal and External)

4.5.1 The proposal to manage the concentration of HMOs borough wide, including 
during the duration of the Loughborough Study, was subject to internal 
consultation (Development Management/ Enforcement/ Private Sector 
Housing).  External consultees were also consulted (Councillors/ Landlords 
Forum/ property agents).

4.6How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

4.6.1 The introduction of the Non Immediate Article 4 Direction across the remaining 
areas of the Borough means that planning approval will be required for the 
change of use from a dwellinghouse to an HMO for 3 to 6 unrelated people 
who share basic amenities.  This will contribute towards the delivery of 
Northampton’s Corporate Plan 2018-20 including “more homes, better homes” 
and “a clean, green and tidy town”.  It will also contribute towards place 
shaping and driving growth by keeping the town and people safe.  It is 
considered that the introduction of a Borough Wide Article 4 Direction across 
the remaining parts of Northampton will result in the effective management of 
HMOs which will result in balancing the demand for HMO units against the 
needs to protect the physical character, the environment and the residents 
affected by the HMO.

4.7 Other Implications

4.7.1 There are no other implications arising directly from the proposals in this 
report.

5. Background Papers

5.1National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019, Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government  

436

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning_for_the_future/1746/


Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--
2 

West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy, December 2014, West 
Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit - 
http://www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org/connect.ti/website/view?objectId=27374
24 

Northampton Local Plan Part 2 Submission Draft, May 2019, Northampton 
Borough Council
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning-for-the-
future/2426/northampton-local-plan-part-2-proposed-submission

A study of Northampton Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) policy, November 
2018, Loughborough University
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/11015/02-houses-in-multiple-
occupation

Consultation Report: proposed implementation of and enhanced designation for 
Additional HMO Licensing in Northampton, May 2019, Northampton Borough 
Council
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/11035/additional-hmo-licensing-
scheme-2019---2024-consultation-report

Section 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015

The Town and Country Planning (Compensation) (England) Regulations 2015

Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as 
amended)

Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended)

6. Next Steps

6.1 The results of the Non Immediate Article 4 Direction will be reported in Cabinet in 
early 2020.  If there are no issues to resolve, the Council will be seeking Cabinet 
approval for the confirmation of the Non Immediate Article 4 Direction, allowing it 
to come into effect within 12 months from the date of the consultation.

Peter Baguley 
Head of Planning 
Tel. 01604 838921

437

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
http://www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org/connect.ti/website/view?objectId=2737424
http://www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org/connect.ti/website/view?objectId=2737424
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning-for-the-future/2426/northampton-local-plan-part-2-proposed-submission
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning-for-the-future/2426/northampton-local-plan-part-2-proposed-submission
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/11015/02-houses-in-multiple-occupation
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/11015/02-houses-in-multiple-occupation
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/11035/additional-hmo-licensing-scheme-2019---2024-consultation-report
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/11035/additional-hmo-licensing-scheme-2019---2024-consultation-report


Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

MAP 1:
Existing Article 4 Directions in Northampton

438



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

MAP 2
Planning Activity in Northampton as of August 2019

439



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

MAP 3:
Amalgamation of data on:

Location of licensed HMOs in Northampton
Location of HMOs in which the occupant is exempt from Council Tax 
because they are a student
Location of properties for which an HMO planning application has been 
received
Location of properties that have been the subject of complaints about 
noise
Location of properties that have been the subject of complaints about 
rubbish sacks and the accumulation of refuse in gardens
Location of fly tipping

 

Source: 
Private Sector Housing Consultation report – proposed implementation of an 
enhanced designation for additional HMO licensing in Northampton

440



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

MAP 4:
Remaining area for the introduction of an Article 4 Direction

441



This page is intentionally left blank



September Cabinet 2019.

1

 

CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC

Expected Date of Decision:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Directorate:

Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

October 2019

No

Yes 

No

Deputy Leader

Cllr. P. Larratt,

Talavera

1. Purpose

1.1 To seek the authority of Cabinet to advertise the proposed disposal of public 
open space at Stone Circe Road in accordance with section 123 (2A) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 and to seek authority to agree a proposed 25-
year lease of area of land designated as public open space to Thorplands 81 
to facilitate the football club’s expansion.

2. Recommendations

It is recommended that:

2.1 Cabinet approve “in principle” the disposal by way of a long lease the land at 
Stone Circle Road subject to (1) the intended disposal being advertised in 
accordance with statutory requirements and (2) any objections arising from 
this process being considered by Cabinet prior to any disposal taking place.

Report Title Long Lease of Public Open Space at Stone Circle Road

Appendices  

443

Agenda Item 15



September Cabinet 2019.

2

2.2 Cabinet authorises the advertisement of the proposed long lease (25 years) of 
public open space at Stone Circle Road in accordance with the requirements 
of the Local Government 1972, section 123 (2A) of the local Government Act 
1972 as amended by the Local Government Act 1980, relating to the disposal 
of public open space 

2.3 Cabinet authorises in the event of there being no objections received to the 
proposed disposal of public open space, that authority be delegated to the 
Economic Growth and Regeneration Manager in consultation with the Lead 
Member for Regeneration and Enterprise, the Chief Finance Officer and 
Borough Secretary to approve and conclude terms of the long lease to 
Thorplands 81. 

3. Issues and Choices

3.1 Report Background

3.1.1 Northampton Borough Council owns approximately 48,000 square metres of 
land located off Stone Circle Road (shown edged red on the attached plan).

3.1.2 The Council acquired the land from Homes England (formerly known as the 
Northampton Development Corporation) in 1985. The land has a live overage 
clause which is for a period of 50 years and expires in 2035. 

3.1.3 The majority of the land in question, has been used by Thorplands 81 for the 
last 5 years for football pitches with only a small amount unused.

3.1.4 The Council has a statutory requirement under Section 123 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 to advertise its intention to dispose of public open 
space and consider any considerations which may be made.

3.1.5 The Council was approached by Thorplands 81 to discuss the opportunity of 
them securing a 25-year long lease. The length of the lease is crucial for them, 
so they can apply for various funding streams.

3.1.6 Homes England/legal have been engaged and have confirmed that this 
agreement or development to enable the community group activity would not 
trigger the overage clause on the land.

3.1.7 It is understood by Thorplands 81 that any future developments on the site will 
need to get statutory planning approvals. 

3.2 Issues

3.2.1 The terms are still to be agreed with Thorplands 81. Within the agreement The 
Council maintains the ability to place controls on the usage of the land and will 
ensure that suitable provisions are included to protect this as Open Space.

3.2.2 This land is designated as Public Open Space. Any proposal to dispose of 
land designated as Public Open Space will require the Council to comply with 
S.123 (2A) of the Local Government Act 1972. The Council will be required to 

444



September Cabinet 2019.

3

advertise its intention in a local newspaper for two consecutive weeks and to 
consider any objections prior to any final decision on the disposal is taken.

3.3      Choices (Options)

3.3.1   That the Council could choose to retain control of the land with the associated 
management costs that include maintenance and repairs.

3.3.2 That the Council, could enter into a 25-year lease with Thorplands 81 subject 
to no objections received in response to the advertisement of the proposed 
disposal of public open space off Stone Circle Road.

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1 Policy 

4.1.1 There are no policy implications from this proposal

4.2 Resources and Risk

4.2.1 Clauses to protect the use of the Open Space will be included within the 
form of lease in order to protect the land and only community development 
associated with the Thorplands 81 will be permittable.

4.3 Legal

4.3.1 Legal Services have been consulted, and have advised in relation to the 
proposed disposal of public open space, that the process of public 
advertisement and consideration of objections is required to be 
undertaken pursuant to the provisions of Section 123 (2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972,

4.4 Equality

4.4.1 This project will keep the space as public open space and not change the 
functional use of the area. By enabling Thorplands 81 to access finance 
they will be able provide facilities to support the community activity 
enabling increasing provisions within the locality.

4.4.2 Given the small scale of this Disposal an Equality Impact Assessment is 
not considered necessary.

4.5 Consultees (Internal and External)

4.5.1 Ward Councillors have been consulted previously; no issues/objections 
had been received.

4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

4.6.1 This proposal will help a long established community group to make 
improvements to the local area to enable better use of the space.

445



September Cabinet 2019.

4

4.6.2 The project will also remove liabilities from The Council with Thorplands 
81 taking up some of the responsibilities for the up keep of the open 
space.

4.7 Other Implications

4.7.1 None 

5. Background Papers

      5.1      N/A

Contact: Kevin Langley, Economy, Assets and Culture, Ext.7740

446



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Service Area:

Accountable Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

16th October 2019

NO

YES

NO

Borough Secretary

LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

ALL

1. Purpose 
 
To update Cabinet on the enforcement actions following the successful Court 
Judgment relating to the case of NBC –v- Anthony Cardoza, David Cardoza and 
Christina Cardoza. 
 
 
2. Recommendations 

Cabinet is asked to note the actions that are being undertaken to recover the 
judgement debt and in particular to note that:

2.1 The Council is in the process of agreeing transfers to it of residential properties 
from Artefact Investments Limited.

2.2 That the Council has commenced possession proceedings for Christina and 
David Cardoza’s property outside Northampton.

2.3 That FRP Advisory Insolvency Practitioners LLP (Paul Allen) has been 
appointed as the Trustee in Bankruptcy for Anthony Cardoza.

Report Title Sixfields – Enforcement Strategy - update

Appendices

447

Agenda Item 16



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

2.4 That discussions are ongoing with Deloitte about the recovery of monies for 
NBC as major creditor through the First Land Limited liquidation.

2.5 That of the £200k maximum legal costs spend agreed by Cabinet at its meeting 
on 3rd April 2019 £141,564 has been spent

3. Issues and Choices

3.1 Report Background 
 
3.1.1 Cabinet received reports at its meetings on 28th April 2018, 9th May 2018, 13th 

March 2019 and 3rd April 2019 relating to the key actions the Council were taking 
to recover lost loan monies through the High Court and through liquidation 
processes.  

 
3.1.2 The Council secured judgment in its High Court claim against Anthony Cardoza; 

David Cardoza and Christina Cardoza held in the Birmingham registry of the 
High Court between 2-6th July and 9-13 July 2018.  The Cardozas did by formal 
application seek to appeal the High Court’s judgment, but that application was 
firmly rejected by the Court of Appeal.  The judgment debt is therefore secure 
in terms of liability and the main focus is now on enforcing the judgment debt.

 
3.2 Issues 
 
Court Judgment

3.2.1 Cabinet will recall that the Council obtained a debt assignment from 
Northampton Town Football Club (“NTFC”) which assigned the right for NBC to 
pursue claims on behalf of the football club as one avenue of loan recovery. 

 
3.2.2 The Court ruled that Anthony and David Cardoza were in breach of their 

fiduciary duties as directors of NTFC and as a consequence are obliged to 
compensate Northampton Borough Council for sums outlined further below.   

 
3.2.3 The Court, in its judgment declared that:  Anthony and David Cardoza were in 

breach of their fiduciary duties to NTFC by causing the total sum of £2.050,000 
and the sums of £140,000 and £600,000 to be paid to or for the benefit of 
Anthony Cardoza.  The Court also ruled that the transfer of his half of a jointly 
owned property ("Cheriton") by David Cardoza to Christina Cardoza was a 
transaction defrauding creditors.  Accordingly, the Court ruled that Christina 
Cardoza must pay the sum of £365,975.97 to the Council, which represented 
the benefit received by her from David Cardoza as a result of the transfer 
referred to above. 

 
3.2.4 The Court also ruled that Anthony and David Cardoza were entitled to some 

credit in relation to the £2,790,000 paid out to them, in the amount totalling 
£774,975, which represented sums paid back into NTFC by them during the 
relevant period.  This resulted in a net loss figure of £2,168,025.  On top of that 
figure, interest is to be added which forms a judgment debt of £2,168,025 and 
interest of £229,810.14, bringing this to a total of £2,397,835.14 which Anthony 
and David Cardoza are liable to pay in compensation to NBC.  NBC is also 
entitled to recover its legal costs, such amount to be determined by agreement 

448



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

or assessed by the court if agreement is not reached, although NBC has been 
awarded an interim payment on account of its costs totalling £496,000.

Enforcement Action

3.2.5 There were a number of other orders sought by the Council to enable it to trace 
and follow the trail of money from NTFC in order to help the Council to enforce 
the judgment debt.  The Court Order provides for an Inquiry into payments made 
by Anthony Cardoza to a variety of known and unknown parties (“payment 
Inquiry”).  One line of inquiry from the Council’s perspective was that NBC loan 
monies were used to purchase properties by a company called Artefact Property 
Investments Limited (“Artefact”).  The Order also granted the Council permission 
to join Artefact to any claim, this being a company that is now owned by parties 
related to Anthony Cardoza.  The two properties are located in Milton Keynes.  
Artefact were formally joined to the legal action and have now agreed to transfer 
the two properties into the Council’s ownership.  An informal valuation suggests 
that the two properties are worth in the region of £680K.  Action is being taken 
to secure the maximum recoverable equity in the two properties referred to 
above.

 
3.2.6 As set out above, a further claim by the Council related to the transfer by David 

Cardoza to Christina Cardoza his interest in Cheriton, a residential property in 
Northampton that was held initially in both their names and which has now been 
sold (“the section 423 claim”).  The Council has protected the £365,975.97 by 
formal legal charge in relation to the new residential home of David and 
Christina Cardoza.  For security reasons raised by the Cardozas it had originally 
been agreed by the Court that the identity and address of David and Christina’s 
family home be kept confidential and that confidentiality has been respected in 
this report.

3.2.7 The Council has now initiated court proceedings for the sale of the Cardoza’s 
property in order to recover the charged amount.  As matters currently stand 
Christina Cardoza is seeking to defend these proceedings.  Ultimately, the 
Council’s charge in the property is safe but it will be unable to obtain access to 
the funds without an order for sale of the property and this is being progressed 
vigorously.

 
Bankruptcy Action

3.2.8 It has been the Council’s intention to commence Bankruptcy Proceedings to 
enforce the judgment debt.  A formal statutory demand for payment was made 
to Anthony Cardoza.  He has, of his own volition, formally declared himself 
bankrupt.  These proceedings are a form of insolvency proceedings.  Following 
various discussions with the Insolvency Service (on behalf of the Official 
Receiver) the Council has supported the appointment of FRP Advisory LLP as 
trustee in bankruptcy and this appointment has been confirmed.  It is important 
to note that the Trustee is acting independently of the Council.  Trustees in 
bankruptcy have extensive and intrusive powers to conduct inquiries into the 
Bankrupt's assets and estate with a view to realising these assets and 
distributing them to creditors.  We understand that NBC’s judgment debt against 

449



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

Anthony Cardoza makes it the major creditor in his estate.  As far as the Council 
is aware the Trustee is actively undertaking inquiries.

3.2.9 It is also worth noting that the Council still has the ability to issue bankruptcy 
proceedings against David Cardoza.  However, this is not yet being pursued but 
shall be kept under review.

 

Liquidation 1st Land Limited
3.2.10 This work stream considers the recovery of loan monies from 1st Land Limited 

(in Liquidation).  This latter company received circa £7million from Northampton 
Town Football Club (“NTFC”) in order to develop the East Stand at Sixfields.  
However, 1st Land Limited was put into liquidation by a third party.  

3.2.11 The Council is, through NTFC, the largest creditor of 1st Land Limited.  Deloitte 
have been formally appointed as Liquidators of 1st Land Limited.  As “Office 
Holders” the liquidators do not work directly to the Council but it’s interests are 
aligned in that any recovery of monies improperly used by individuals or 
companies would, after the removal of certain costs be paid to the Council as 
major creditor.

3.2.12 1st Land Limited as an entity does not have any discernible assets.  
Consequently, the liquidator would not independently act without financial 
support for the liquidation process.  The liquidator has been in discussions with 
external “no win no fee” lawyers under a conditional fee arrangement (CFA) and 
with the Council to provide a funding agreement for them to pursue 
individuals/companies for monies that were dissipated from 1st Land.  The 
proposed funding agreement requires the Council to fund the liquidator and 
consequently, dependent on the final agreement, outlines how recovered 
monies will be shared between the liquidator, the Council as funder, creditor and 
CFA lawyers.

3.2.13 The Council had agreed a payments waterfall, which was reported to Cabinet 
at its meetings on 25th April 2018 and 9th May 2018.  This was the position 
agreed by Deloitte.  However following a change of lawyers, Deloitte have 
changed their position and proposed a different payments waterfall which would 
disadvantage the Council substantially.  In order to find a compromise, the 
Council has suggested a compromise position. 

Funding Agreement and liability Issues
3.2.14 The liquidator is entitled as part of the office they hold to seek external funding 

to seek to obtain monies dissipated from 1st Land Limited.  They could seek this 
funding from other commercial funders, of which there is an established market.  
These funders would, like the Council seek to have their funding paid early in 
any waterfall and would want a success fee.  The Council as creditor would 
always be entitled to receive surplus funds.  

450



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

3.2.15 The issue between the Council remains that it should only agree to fund the 
liquidation if the benefits outweigh the costs. 

3.2.16 Currently, from the information the Council has from the liquidators, the cases 
they are ready to proceed against appears to amount to circa £380K and the 
Council is seeking clarity on this.

Next Steps
3.2.17 The Council’s external Solicitors are in the process of arranging a meeting with 

Deloitte to discuss the proposed compromise waterfall and they have been 
asked to expedite this meeting.  The plan is to bring a report to Cabinet at the 
next available meeting seeking authority to enter into the Funding Agreement, 
the associated costs and any other ancillary matters. 

 
3.3 Choices (Options) 
 
3.3.1 Do nothing.  There is no strict legal requirement to pursue enforcement action.  

However, the Council does have fiduciary duties to recover public monies and 
in this case the Council does have a judgement in its favour for the substantial 
amounts outlined in this report.  This is not recommended. 

 
3.3.2 To continue along the enforcement path already set out in this report.  This is 

recommended. 

4. Implications (including financial implications) 
 
4.1 Policy 
 
None directly arising from this report. 

4.2 Resources and Risk 
 
4.2.1 There have been a number of litigation risks associated with this case and the 

Council has crossed many of the key litigation ones.  The Order of Sale of the 
Cardoza property is being defended, but the full defence has not been filed with 
the court as yet and the Council is unsure of the grounds.  Each step will be 
carefully risk assessed on a cost benefit basis and prudent but robust action will 
be taken to implement the enforcement to ensure that the judgement debt is 
recovered. 

4.2.2 In order to manage the risk it is recommended that the Council follows a strong 
risk assessed approach to recovery.

4.2.3 Cabinet have already agreed funding for the enforcement action and no further 
funding is being sought in this report.

4.3 Legal 
 
These are considered in the body of the report. 
 

451



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/10/19

 
4.4 Equality and Health 
 
Nothing directly arising from the report. 
 
 
4.5 Consultees (Internal and External) 
 
Chief Finance Officer; Chief Executive 
 
 

4.7 Other Implications None specifically 
 
 
5. Background Papers 
 Confidential Sixfields Litigation File
 
 
 
Francis Fernandes Borough Secretary and Monitoring Officer 
Email: FFernandes@northampton.gov.uk Tel: 01604 837334

452


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) Policy Update
	373093 - 373089 - RIPA Policy Nov 2016 amended Clean

	8 Review of Public Spaces Protection Order 2017
	9 Public Spaces Protection Order - Jeyes Jetty
	10 Draft Northamptonshire Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy 2019-2022
	11 Museum Policy Documents
	NMAG Collections Development Policy_ISSUE_V01_190924
	NMAG Care of Collections and Conservation Policy_ISSUE_V01_190924
	NMAG Documentation Policy_ISSUE_V01_190924
	NMAG Access Policy_ISSUE_V01_190924

	12 Town Centre Masterplan
	05807_StakeholderConsultation_Summary
	05807_Workbook 02_Rev06 (Low Res)

	13 Proposed Designation of an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme
	Appendix A Consultation Report (Additional HMO Licensing Scheme) 3 May 2019
	Appendix B (Report on the Findings from the Consultation on Additional HMO Licensing)
	Appendix C (Hazards identified during HMO inspections)
	Appendix D (Proposed Additional HMO Licensing Scheme) Map and Street Names
	Appendix E (Community Impact Assessment Enhanced Addtional Licencing scheme)
	Appendix F (HMO Study by Loughborough University)
	Appendix G (licensing scheme offers the following benefits)

	14 Boroughwide Article 4 Direction for Houses in Multiple Occupancy
	15 Long Lease of Public Open Space at Stone Circle Road
	16 Sixfields - Enforcement Strategy - update

